CORPORATE OWNERSHIP & CONTROL

Editorial Address:

Assistant Professor Alexander N. Kostyuk Department of Management & Foreign Economic Activity Ukrainian Academy of Banking of National Bank of Ukraine Petropavlovskaya Str. 57 Sumy 40030 Ukraine

Tel: +38-542-288365 Fax: +38-542-288365 e-mail: alex_kostyuk@mail.ru alex_kostyuk@virtusinterpress.org www.virtusinterpress.org

Journal Corporate Ownership & Control is published four times a year, in September-November, December-February, March-May and June-August, by Publishing House "Virtus Interpress", Kirova Str. 146/1, office 20, Sumy, 40021, Ukraine.

Information for subscribers: New orders requests should be addressed to the Editor by e-mail. See the section "Subscription details".

Back issues: Single issues are available from the Editor. Details, including prices, are available upon request.

Advertising: For details, please, contact the Editor of the journal.

Copyright: All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission in writing of the Publisher.

Corporate Ownership & Control

ISSN 1727-9232 (printed version) 1810-0368 (CD version) 1810-3057 (online version)

Certificate № 7881

Virtus Interpress. All rights reserved.

КОРПОРАТИВНАЯ СОБСТВЕННОСТЬ И КОНТРОЛЬ

Адрес редакции:

Александр Николаевич Костюк доцент кафедры управления и внешнеэкономической деятельности Украинская академия банковского дела Национального банка Украины ул. Петропавловская 57 г. Сумы 40030 Украина

Тел.: 38-542-288365 Факс: 38-542-288365 эл. почта: alex_kostyuk@mail.ru alex_kostyuk@virtusinterpress.org www.virtusinterpress.org

Журнал "Корпоративная собственность и контроль" издается четыре раза в год в сентябреноябре, декабре-феврале, марте-мае, июнеавгусте издательским домом Виртус Интерпресс, ул. Кирова 146/1, г. Сумы, 40021, Украина.

Информация для подписчиков: заказ на подписку следует адресовать Редактору журнала по электронной почте.

Отдельные номера: заказ на приобретение отдельных номеров следует направлять Редактору журнала.

Размещение рекламы: за информацией обращайтесь к Редактору.

Права на копирование и распространение: копирование, хранение и распространение материалов журнала в любой форме возможно лишь с письменного разрешения Издательства.

Корпоративная собственность и қонтроль

ISSN 1727-9232 (печатная версия) 1810-0368 (версия на компакт-диске) 1810-3057 (электронная версия)

Свидетельство КВ 7881 от 11.09.2003 г.

Виртус Интерпресс. Права защищены.

VIRTUS NTERPRESS®

РЕДАКЦИОННЫЙ СОВЕТ

Александр Косток, к.э.н., Украинская академия банковского дела (Украина) - Главный редактор;

Сэр Джордж Бэйн, д.э.н., проф., президент и проректор Королевского университета (Великобритания) - почетный член Редакционного совета;

Сэр Джеффри Оуэн, д.э.н., проф., Лондонская школа экономики (Великобритания) - почетный член Редакционного совета;

Майкл Дженсен, д.э.н., проф., Гарвардская школа бизнеса (США) - почетный член Редакционного совета;

Стефан Дзвис, д.э.н., президент компании Davis Global Advisors, Inc. (USA); Брайен Чеффинс, д.э.н., проф., Кембриджский университет (Великобритания); Бернард Блэк, д.э.н., проф., Стэнфордский университет (США); Симон Дикин, д.э.н., проф., зав. кафедрой корпоративного управления, школа бизнеса, Кембриджский университет (Великобритания); Дэвид Ермак, д.э.н., проф., университет Нью-Йорка (США); Понгджи Ким, д.э.н., заместитель декана школы международных отношений, университет Йонсей (Южная Корея); Джеффри Неттер, д.э.н., проф., кафедра банковского дела и финансов, колледж бизнеса Терри, университет Джорджии (США); Ян Рамси, д.э.н., проф., Мельбурнский университет (Австралия); Джонатан Бэйтс, директор компании Institutional Design (Великобритания); Лиу Джунхай, д.э.н., проф., заместитель директора Института права Китайской академии наук (Китай); Джонатан Мейси, д.э.н., проф., директор учебных программ по праву и экономике школы права Корнельского университета (США); Роберт МакГи, д.э.н., проф., проректор школы бизнеса, университет Барри (США); Фианна Есовер, ОСЭР, департамент корпоративного управления (Франция); Александр Лок, д.э.н., проф., Национальный университет Сингапура (Сингапур); Анил Шивдасани, д.э.н., проф., школа бизнеса Кенан-Флагер, университет Северной Каролины (США); Радо Бохинк, д.э.н., проф., Люблянский университет (Словения); Гарри Бродман, д.э.н., главный экономист Мирового банка в Европе и Центральной Азии (США); Родольфо Апреда, д.э.н., проф., университет Десема (Аргентина); Андреа Мелис, д.э.н., проф., университет Кальяри (Италия); Хаген Линдитадт, ректор школы менеджмента, университет Карлсруе (Германия); Хулио Пиндадо, д.э.н., проф., университет Саламанка (Испания); Петр Тамович, д.э.н., проф., Гданьский институт исследований рынка (Польша); *Посер Гадхоум*, д.э.н., проф., университет Квебека (Канада); Виктор Мендес, д.э.н., кафедра экономики университета Порту (Португалия); Александр Краковский, управляющий компанией Ukraine Investment Advisors, Inc. (США); Петр Михали, д.э.н., проф., кафедра экономики, Центрально-Европейский университет (Венгрия); Вольфганг Дробец, д.э.н., проф., Базельский университет (Швейцария); Джен Чен, д.э.н., проф., директор Центра корпоративного управления в развивающихся странах, университет Сюррей (Великобритания); Клаус Гуглер, д.э.н., проф., кафедра экономики, Венский университет (Австрия); Аждар Карами, д.э.н., проф., университет Уельса (Великобритания); Карстен Спренсер, кафедра экономики и бизнеса, университет Помпеу Фабра (Испания); Тор Эриксон, д.э.н., проф., бизнес-школа Аархус (Дания); Норвальд Инстефьорд, д.э.н., проф., колледж Биркбек, Лондонский университет (Великобритания); Джон Ирль, д.э.н., проф., директор Института исследования занятости (США); Том Кирхмайер, д.э.н., проф., Лондонская школа экономики (Великобритания); Теодор Баумс, д.е.н., проф., Франкфуртский университет (Германия); Джулия Элстон, д.э.н., проф., университет Центральной Флориды (США); Демир Енер, д.э.н., проф., USAID (Босния и Герцеговина); Мартин Конйон, д.э.н., проф., Вартонская школа бизнеса (США); Джэф Стаплдон, д.э.н., проф., Мельбурнский университет (Австралия); Евгений Расторгуев, Исполняющий менеджер, издательский дом «Виртус Интерпресс» (Украина).



EDITORIAL

Dear readers!

This issue of the journal is devoted to the issue of corporate ownership that is originated from the title of our journal. We tried to consider the issue of corporate ownership from various positions. A focus was done toward the markets of different countries and regions such as Asia and Europe, Canada, the USA, UK and others. Authors of the papers on corporate ownership made their utmost to deliver the new findings to the reading audience.

The very progressive element of the research on corporate ownership presented in the journal is a very thorough comparative analysis of corporate ownership structure in various countries both developed and developing. That gives a new incentive to investigate the issue of corporate ownership more.

Besides that we introduce you papers on such challenging issues in corporate governance as corporate control with application to European countries, corporate governance and financial system with application to Japan, employee stock options, mergers and acquisitions and few others. We expect that these papers will be interesting for you and make you consider an opportunity to submit a paper to the journal.

A special section on corporate governance in a particular country is devoted to Germany. The papers published in this section concerns the major direct impacts of SOX on the European Union (EU) and Germany as a Member State, the importance of corporate governance for growth companies, derives specific requirements for them and evaluates the corporate governance quality for companies listed on Tec-Dax, the financial impact of initial IFRS adoption on the statement of changes in equity and the income statement of German companies. All these issues are on the forefront of corporate governance in Germany.

"Practitioner's corner" narrates on the research of the corporate board practices. Special attention is paid to the issue of the director independence. Moreover, this is a detailed analysis of factors influencing the board composition.

We hope that you will enjoy the journal content and join the author or subscriber groups of our journal.

VIRTUS

CORPORATE OWNERSHIP & CONTROL

Volume 3, Issue 3, Spring 2006

CONTENTS

Editorial



5

9

27

SECTION 1. ACADEMIC INVESTIGATIONS AND CONCEPTS

Corporate control and relationship finance by banks or by non-bank institutional investors? A review within the theory of the firm

Ettore Andreani, Doris Neuberger

In continental Europe, banks are more and more replaced by non-bank institutional investors in the financing and control of firms, which may imply a shift from relationship finance with insider control to arm's length finance with outsider control. However, non-bank institutional investors may develop relationships with firms similar to the traditional long-term bank-firm relationship, providing substitutive services. The present paper differentiates between relationship banking and relationship investing within the theory of the firm and reviews the financial and corporate control services provided by both arrangements.

The Financial System and Corporate Governance in Japan

Mitsuaki Okabe

Corporations may be said to be engines of any market economy and their proper behavior is a key to economic, hence human, security. This paper argues that one of the most important causes for the prolonged period of recessions of the Japanese economy in the 1990's is deeply rooted in the long-established financial structure of the economy and in the closely related issue of corporate governance. Although Japanese corporations have been traditionally understood that their activities are monitored and governed by "main banks," this framework has been changing over the last 10-15 years toward corporate governance driven by pressure from capital markets.

Managerial Discretion in Non-Profit Organizations: an Application to Spanish Work Accident Mutuals

Eugenia Suárez Serrano

This paper explores the problems of managerial discretion in the non-profit sector, with special consideration to Spanish Work Accident Mutuals (MATEPs). Firstly, from Transaction Costs, Property Rights and Agency perspectives, the economic rationale of mutuals is analyzed, paying particular attention to MATEP's peculiarities and incentives in terms of competition, regulation and ownership. Subsequently, the effectiveness of governance mechanisms is discussed, showing that the status quo leaves excess power in the hands of the managers of these organizations.

Employee Stock Option Exercises - an International Analysis

39

Steven Balsam, Richard Gifford

In this paper we use a proprietary data set that consists of all stock option grants and exercises for a Fortune 100 multinational corporations from 1990 to 1999 to show that the exercise patterns of employees varies across countries. When we examine the variables overall exercise responds to we



find evidence that the variables vary with culture, e.g., in general patterns in English speaking countries appear to be comparable, but not so for other countries. We found it also varies across countries.

Mergers and Acquisitions: a Review of the Literature

Raymond A. K. Cox

This paper is a selected literature review of the theories and empirical evidence on mergers and acquisitions. Initially, the fundamental factors, and the underlying theories, causing mergers is explored. Subsequently, the empirical evidence is examined on: (1) the operating performance of the acquirers and the acquired firms before and after the merger, (2) stockholder wealth impact, (3) form of payment used to complete the acquisition, (4) conglomerate mergers, and (5) corporate governance affecting the firm's ownership and control.

SECTION 2. CORPORATE OWNERSHIP

The Asian crisis and corporate governance- ownership structure, debt financing, and corporate diversification60

Masaharu Hanazaki, Qun Liu

Based on firm-level analysis, this paper suggests that ownership concentration enabling controlling shareholders to expropriate other shareholders; fund raising through debt that is short of effective monitoring by creditors; and inefficiency caused by the ill effects of diversification are all associated with significantly worse performance during the Asian crisis. The region's predominant governance structure, characterized by family control and conglomerates, was considered a factor in its miraculous economic development but has been seen since the crisis as the origin of crony capitalism.

Ownership structure and expropriation in stock exchange listed firms 79

Yoser Gadhoum, Jean-Pierre Gueyié, Mohamed Hentati

This paper analyses firms' ownership structure and corporate governance in seven countries, with an emphasis on stock exchange listed firms. This focus is, in our view, important because these firms are more representative of the economies of countries included in our sample. Our results indicate that in Canada, Europe and East-Asia, ownership structure is highly concentrated. In the U.S., firms' ownership structure is more diffuse. Being listed on the stock exchange can explain the firm's ownership structure.

Agency Costs, Ownership Structure, and Corporate Governance in Pre-and Post-Ipo Firms 88

Wallace N. Davidson III, Amani Khaled Bouresli, Manohar Singh

Following the approach in Ang, Cole, and Lin (2000), we estimate the impact of CEO ownership on agency costs in pre-IPO firms and again in the post-IPO period when they have become publicly traded companies. We find that CEO ownership is large in both the pre and post-IPO firms. Greater CEO ownership is associated with lower agency costs both before and after the IPO, and CEO ownership in these firms seems to dominate all other agency control mechanisms.

Ownership Structure, Large Inside/Outside Shareholders, and Firm Performance: Evidence from Canada 96

Eduardo Schiehll

This study gathers additional evidence on the association between ownership concentration and firm performance, as measured by the firm's Q ratio. I examine whether direct and indirect monitoring on the part of large shareholders has an impact on the association between ownership concentration and firm performance. Along with the distinction between large inside and outside shareholders, this study also investigates whether concentration of voting rights is associated to firm performance, and whether the identity of the owner affects this association.

VIRTUS

55

8

SECTION 3. NATIONAL PRACTICES OF CORPORATE **GOVERNANCE: GERMANY**

Extraterritorial Impacts of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act on External Corporate Governance – Current Evidence from a German Perspective 113

Axel Haller, Jürgen Ernstberger, Christian Kraus

The paper analyzes the major direct impacts of SOX on the European Union (EU) and Germany as a Member State. The focus of the analysis is on rules concerning external corporate governance instruments. Additionally, the paper investigates whether the contemporary regulatory activities in the EU and Germany concerning external corporate governance can be explained as indirect institutional consequences of SOX. The paper demonstrates that several rules of SOX quite obviously served as a model for the EU regulatory activities. The same phenomenon can be observed for the new German regulations of external corporate governance.

Corporate governance of German growth companies. Empirical analysis of the corporate governance quality and the structure of supervisory boards of companies listed on TEC-DAX

Alexander Bassen, Maik Kleinschmidt, Christine Zöllner

This article analyses the importance of corporate governance for growth companies, derives specific requirements for them and evaluates the corporate governance quality for companies listed on Tec-Dax. Growth companies' characteristics imply a comparatively high importance of corporate governance due to a high level of business and agency risk. The empirical results imply a high conformity of the Tec-Dax companies with the GCGC criteria with some exceptions for specific companies and criteria.

Voluntary Adoption of IFRS in Germany: A Regulatory Impact Study

Soledad Moya, Ester Oliveras

The purpose of this paper is to analyse the financial impact of initial IFRS adoption on the statement of changes in equity and the income statement of German companies. The results are that the impact of initial adoption of IFRS was, both individually and overall, significant. In relation to the specific sectors analysed, impact is also relevant, although not as much as in DAX companies, but differs between the sectors.

SECTION 4. PRACTITIONER'S CORNER

How independent should the board be? Corporate board structure from a voting perspective

Haiying Huang

This paper proposes a model of corporate voting in which private information and individual preferences of board directors drive the board decisions. The optimal board structure and optimal firm value are solved numerically and their dependence on director and firm characteristics are studied. The optimal board structure is determined by outside and inside directors' relative informedness about the firm, insiders' bias, outsiders' advisory ability as well as the characteristics of the projects that the firm have. Voting rules other than the majority voting rule are considered. It is found that the majority rule often is not the optimal rule and it is optimal for a firm to have more inside directors while adopting a tougher voting rule.

SECTION 5. CORPORATE WORLD NEWS

Reported by Alex Kostyuk

Instructions to authors/Subscription details





148

128

157

РАЗДЕЛ 1 НАУЧНЫЕ ИССЛЕДОВАНИЯ И КОНЦЕПЦИИ

SECTION 1 ACADEMIC INVESTIGATIONS & CONCEPTS

CORPORATE CONTROL AND RELATIONSHIP FINANCE BY BANKS OR BY NON-BANK INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS? A RE-VIEW WITHIN THE THEORY OF THE FIRM

Ettore Andreani, Doris Neuberger*

Abstract

In continental Europe, banks are more and more replaced by non-bank institutional investors in the financing and control of firms, which may imply a shift from relationship finance with insider control to arm's length finance with outsider control. However, non-bank institutional investors may develop relationships with firms similar to the traditional long-term bank-firm relationship, providing substitutive services. The present paper differentiates between relationship banking and relationship investing within the theory of the firm and reviews the financial and corporate control services provided by both arrangements.

Keywords: corporate control, relationship banking, relationship investing, banks, institutional investors, theory of the firm

* Department of Economics, University of Rostock, Ulmenstr. 69, D-18057 Rostock, e-mail: doris.neuberger@uni-rostock.de For helpful comments and suggestions we thank Martina Eckardt and Solvig Räthke.

1. Introduction

The financial systems of continental Europe are under change, driven by population ageing, wealth accumulation, technological change and financial market integration. Demographic trends with a move towards funded pension systems will boost capital markets and enhance the shift from traditional bank intermediation to intermediation by non-bank institutional investors, mainly pension funds, mutual funds and life insurance companies (Davis 2003, Schmidt et al. 1999). Increasing competition between large publicly held companies for international capital market funds and between performance oriented asset managers for mobilizing savings put pressure on management to increase shareholder orientation and improve investor relations, in particular by the release of more public information. Since the professional institutional investors hold internationally diversified portfolios of investments, whose returns are periodically evaluated against international benchmarks, their activities have induced an international standardization of investments policies and performance measurements (Moerland 1995). This puts the control–oriented financial systems with their reliance on insider control, long-term implicit contracts and stakeholder orientation under pressure, in particular regarding the role of banks as an effective instrument of control in such systems as the German and the Japanese ones (Neuberger, 2000).

This development may be seen as a move from continental European bank-based financial systems towards the Anglo-Saxon market-based system. According to a well established literature the contrast



between both systems is exemplified by the contrast between short-termism and long-termism (Kaplan 1994). The Anglo-Saxon market-based system is characterized by a large number of institutional investors who have a short-term investment approach, focusing their attention on annual and inter-annual results and on return ratios, and by companies that finance themselves first of all through the capital market, while using bank loans mainly to finance day-to-day operations. On the contrary, the German and Japanese bank-based model is characterized by a small number of sizeable investors, mainly banks and insurance companies, which have a long-term investment approach and are less committed with investigating how the company is managed in the short run.¹ On the one hand, they finance directly the companies' long-term investments through long term credits, on the other hand, they are often among the biggest shareholders of the companies they have financed (Wenger/Kaserer 1998). In this sense Carlin and Mayer (2000) argue that economies of scale in monitoring make banks more efficient monitors than individual market participants, in particular when good investments require the costly accumulation of available information on the quality and performance of borrowers. This is brought about especially in long-term bank-firm relationships.

However, a movement from bank-based intermediation to intermediation by non-bank institutional investors is not necessarily a shift from relationship finance to arm's length provision of finance. To the extent that institutional investors are active holders of shares and/or debt securities, they develop relationships with firms that may have features of the traditional bank-firm relationship (Perée/Riess 2003, p.24). Whether this shift from relationship banking to relationship investing will ultimately lead to efficiency gains, is an open question. In Germany, the general public is concerned about the dissolution of housebank relationships which are seen as valuable for the financing of small and medium-sized enterprises. At the same time, in the U.S. there is concern about the behavior of institutional investors, mutual funds being accused of hurting investors by pursuing their own goals (see e.g. The Economist 2003a,b).

While the benefits and costs of institutional investors' relationships with firms are primarily examined within the corporate governance literature and the literature on efficient markets (Davis 2003, Gillan/Starks 2000, Menkhoff 2002), the pros and cons of relationship banking are mainly discussed within contract theory (Boot 2000, Ongena/Smith 2000). The present paper attempts to integrate both forms of relationship finance within the theory of the firm. We will compare three alternative relationships: (1)

relationship banking (or lending) as a close relationship between an industrial firm and a bank, resulting from long-term lending with inside information, (2) relationship investing as a close relationship between an industrial firm and a non-bank institutional investor, where direct control is exerted via large holdings of publicly traded shares or inside equity; (3) transaction finance (lending or investing) by publicly traded bonds or stocks on the capital market or by arm's length provision of finance by intermediaries.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 defines the different concepts of relationship finance and reviews the literature. In section 3 we review the relevant theories of the firm and use them to discuss the corporate control and financial services provided by both types of relationship finance. Section 4 concludes.

2. Concepts of Relationship Finance and Literature Review

2.1. Transaction Finance, Relationship Finance and Intermediation

The provision of external finance to firms can be transaction-based or relationship-based. Transaction finance may be viewed as arm's length finance which typically involves one-time or short-term interactions of contracting partners without accumulation of confidential or private information. Thus, we define transaction finance as the provision of financial services by an investor or lender that

- focuses on a single transaction rather than multiple interactions with the same contracting partner;

- involves only publicly available information.

Transaction finance may be provided directly by individual investors who buy stocks or bonds issued by firms on the capital market. In this case, the investors share directly the risks of the projects financed, relying only on public information. Typically, their available funds are too small to make costly information gathering in a single firm profitable and at the same time reduce risk by holding a diversified portfolio of investments.

Therefore, individual investors gain by delegating fund management and/or monitoring of borrowers to financial intermediaries who (1) are better informed and thus may realize a superior investment performance, (2) can diversify more broadly because they have larger funds, and (3) can reap economies of scale in investment management and/or monitoring of borrowers. In this case, direct finance is replaced by intermediated finance, where banks or non-bank financial intermediaries, so-called institutional investors, collect funds of individual investors to invest them in productive firms. The terms "financial intermediaries" and "institutional investors" are synonymous terms: institutional investors are investors in financial markets which are neither private households nor public institutions (Menkhoff 2002, p. 909). They comprise banks and non-bank financial

¹ See among others Allen/Gale (1995, 2000), Albert (1991), Guatri/Vicari (1994), Neuberger (2000). Kaplan (1994) argues that empirical findings call into question the view that the relationship oriented systems of Germany and Japan are able to ignore current measures of performance.

intermediaries like mutual funds, pension funds, insurance companies or venture capital firms.

While non-bank financial intermediaries specialize in brokerage services (like transaction services, screening, certification), banks² provide more services of qualitative asset transformation (like monitoring, liquidity creation and claims transformation (see Greenbaum/Thakor 1995, Bhattacharya/Thakor 1993). Thus, as shown in figure 1, intermediation by banks differs in two important aspects from intermediation by non-bank institutional investors:

- On the liability side, banks typically take funds with standard debt contracts, called deposits, which are not only risk-free (because of diversification and deposit insurance), but also highly liquid (because of liquidity insurance). Non-bank institutional investors take funds with different risk-sharing contracts (e.g. mutual fund contracts, insurance contracts) and provide risk diversification, but not liquidity transformation.

- On the asset side, banks typically provide direct loans to firms whom they screen and monitor, while non-bank institutional investors invest in publicly traded bonds and shares or in private equity of the firms which they screen and monitor.

Both types of intermediated finance also involve transaction finance, if the loans provided by banks and the investments of non-bank institutional investors are made at arm's length, without gathering of proprietary information by repeated transactions with the same contracting partner. In the case of (typically) short-term, arm's length lending by banks we speak of transaction lending, in the case of bond holdings and/or share holdings by non-bank institutional investors we speak of transaction investing. In contrast to transaction finance, we define relationship finance as the provision of financial services by an investor or lender that

- evaluates the profitability of his or her investments through multiple interactions with the same customer over time and/or across products;

- invests in customer-specific, often proprietary information (Boot 2000, p. 10).

Since such investments are typically made by financial intermediaries and not by individual savers, the term relationship finance can be equated with the term relationship intermediation.

2.2. Relationship Banking

The term relationship banking is not sharply defined in the literature.³ Mostly, it is used to describe lending relationships of (commercial) banks, but it has also been used to address customer relationships of non-bank financial intermediaries.

We define relationship banking as

- the above defined relationship intermediation

- provided by a bank.

Since close relationships between banks and their customers typically originate from the lending business, relationship banking and relationship lending can be used as synonymous terms. In the stricter sense, the term relationship lending only involves close relationships in lending, while the term relationship banking encompasses relationship lending and close relationships from other bank services.

A bank-customer relationship arises when the frequent provision of loans, and usually also of other services, leads to benefits that accrue through time to both the bank and the customer. Often the practitioners' view of a relationship is based on concepts like "trust", "commitment", "mutual understanding" and "professionalism", without pointing out specific advantages of such a relationship relative to alternatives (Ongena/Smith 2000).

According to the modern theory of financial intermediation, the benefits of relationship banking arise mainly from a reduction of agency and information problems by unique contractual features of implicit, long-term contracts and by the use of information reusability over time. From the view of the bank, the proximity to the borrower facilitates its monitoring activity, thus minimizing the moral hazard problem of asymmetric information and providing a source of comparative advantage versus de novo lenders and capital markets who are less informed about the borrower (Boot 2000). From the view of the firm, an advantage of relationship banking is that the bank is not likely to withdraw as soon as the first problems occur, obtaining a kind of liquidity insurance over time.

Moreover, relationship banking helps to reduce financing constraints due to asymmetric information. Monitored firms can finance new projects with less informative constraints, while unmonitored firms, which cannot defend the viability of each project to individual investors, must time investments to their liquidity or internally generated funds, or to the wealth of the entrepreneur (Frohlin 1998). These benefits mainly accrue to small and medium-sized enterprises, which are informationally more opaque than large, publicly listed firms. Beyond lending, relationship banking includes various other financial services, e.g. deposits, check, clearing and cash management services. They represent both a source of revenue and information for the banks (Boot 2000), and may help to evaluate better the riskiness of lending to a firm.

The inside information accumulated by the bank in the course of a relationship represents "specific knowledge", i.e. knowledge that is transmitted between agents only at high cost⁴ (Jensen/Smith 1985).

⁴ Without considering monetary costs it is sufficient to recall the opportunity costs of time spent by bankers in order to evaluate the project, visit the firm, keeping in touch with the entrepreneur, screening the balance sheets and so on.



² The term "bank" is used for banks that provide commercial banking services. Investment banks, which do not provide these services, are considered as non-bank financial intermediaries.

³ For reviews see Boot (2000), Ongena/Smith (2000), Elyasiani/Goldberg (2004).



Figure 1. Intermediated vs. direct financing of firms

Let us review the benefits and costs related to information exchange. A borrower might reveal proprietary information to its bank that it would never have disclosed to the financial markets and at the same time could be "forced" to unveil some information, and to be closely monitored by the bank⁵. Because of long-term efficiency gains, the effects of bank affiliations may be more pronounced with time: for example attached firms' investment sensitivity to liquidity should be lower in the longer run, even if the evidence about this point is not unanimous (Frohlin 1998). At the same time the costs associated with the search for the most convenient bank in the retail fields are high and the expected return of search is low for most of the retail banking customers. As a consequence the demand for most of the standard retail banking services is likely to be characterized by "bank loyalty", i.e. the tendency to maintain a banking relationship after having chosen a bank (Neuberger 1998). As a matter of fact in order for the client to obtain a competitive offer from another bank, the de novo bank must be provided with references and other pertinent information, involving costs to the applicant and the bank, while the applicant cannot be sure that the savings associated with the new conditions can overcome the search costs. This is due both to the firm's difficulty in conveying information about its superior performance to other banks and to adverse selection, that makes it difficult for one bank to attract another

⁵ Hoshi/Kashyap/Scharfstein (1993). According to Stiglitz (1985) the nature of loan contracts enables the banks to focus their attention in information gathering about a particular set of issues, those associated with the probability of default and the net worth of the firm.

bank's best customers without attracting first the less desirable ones (Sharpe 1990). At least three costs are borne by banks when entering into and executing a debt contract: agency costs from ex ante information asymmetries, monitoring costs linked to the control of the correspondence between the contract's clauses and the development of the financed project, and enforcement costs derived from ex post information asymmetries (Ferri/Messori 2000).

In universal banking systems, bank-customer relationships encompass commercial banking. A common source of costly information is the placement of bank directors on the firms' board of directors, as best exemplified by the German stylized tradition of having bankers on the boards of non-financial companies (Frohlin 1998). Even if Baums (1994) argues that seats on the supervisory boards don't seem to provide always better information than a large creditor has, the "information gathering activity" of the single board member is likely to differ from the information access of a large "outside" creditor. Having one or more of its managers on a client firm's board is likely to provide the financial institution access to proprietary information as well as some influence over the firm's actions (Booth/Deli 1999). The presence of bankers on boards has been considered also as a "credible message" of a close firm-bank relationship (Schäfer 2003).⁶ A banker may also be appointed on the board in order to signal to other banks that an expert in bank debt is on the board to protect creditors, a role that could be performed both by affiliated and unaffiliated bankers (Booth/Deli 1999). As a matter of fact it is quite

⁶ The message is credible, because on the one hand the bank risks its own funds, and on the other hand the bank risks its "standing", i.e. its external image within the financial community.

difficult to distinguish between commercial bankers supplying expertise and commercial bankers monitoring lending relationships. Berglöf and Sjögren (1998) investigated the case of a bank providing loans to a borrower while an investment company, controlled by the bank⁷, holds a relevant block in the borrowing company. Some authors (Albert 1991; Guatri/Vicari 1994, Albach 1997) underline another by-product of relationship banking, the stability in the control of the firm and a reduction of the myopia of some institutional investors, for example through a higher dividend retention and a lower interest in the annual and infra-annual pay out ratio, thus providing evidence for a strict preference for the "pecking order of financing".

2.3. Relationship Investing

We define relationship investing as

- the above defined relationship intermediation
- provided by a non-bank institutional investor.

The term "relationship investing" has been used to describe the shareholder activism of non-bank institutional investors in the control of publicly traded companies (Chidambaran/John 1998, Gillan/Starks 2000). Even if they mostly invest in publicly traded securities, institutional investors may obtain firm-specific, private information by multiple interactions with the same corporate customer over time. Such relationships are likely to arise, if large share blocks are held in a single corporation: they increase the incentive to invest in information gathering and monitoring through control rights and may provide special information rights by a representation on the firm's board.⁸

While this only applies to the financing of large corporations, the term "relationship investing" may also be used to describe the activities of non-bank institutional investors such as investment banks or venture capital firms in providing inside or private equity to smaller, non-listed firms. The partnership between a venture capitalist and an entrepreneur is characterized by the accumulation of firm-specific, proprietary information during the start-up and growth phase of the firm, where the venture capitalist provides screening and certification, funding, monitoring and management expertise. A venture capital contract has the following features: the entrepreneur cannot "walk away" after obtaining financing, the venture capitalist gains control of the firm after buying out the entrepreneur if a minimum performance requirement is not met, and both partners receive equity payoffs, if control remains with the

entrepreneur (Greenbaum/Thakor 1995, pp.68).9 Thus, equity contracts are the key financial instrument of relationship investing. Even if both equity and debt contracts may be written by banks as well as non-bank institutional investors, we focus on debt contracts in the case of relationship banking and on equity contracts in the case of relationship investing. While bank loans, but not investments in equity are necessary for relationship banking, investments in equity, but not bonds are necessary for closer relationships between non-bank institutional investors and firms. Non-bank institutional investors have become increasingly important as equity holders both in the American and European financial markets. The equity ownership of investment trusts and advisors and pension funds increased dramatically during the last years, and enjoys a high level of internationalization, both on the management side (the asset management companies) and on the investment side. In particular some public pensions funds began to abandon their traditional passive shareholder role and became more active participants in the governance of their corporate holdings (Gillan/Starks 2000, Woidtke 2002). Institutional investors that hold publicly traded shares use different mechanisms of corporate control: they may exercise their pressure on firms both by selling shares in underperforming firms or in firms that don't follow international recognized corporate governance standards ("Wall Street Walk") and by exercising direct control over the incumbent management of the respective firms ("voice") (Drobetsz/Shillhofer/Zimmermann 2003). Qualified investors often negotiate directly with the managers and submit shareholder proposals only if the negotiations don't have any relevant effect (Gillan/Starks 2000). When shares are held for a longer time institutions will become aware of the use and consequences of discretionary accounting, thus reducing incentives for the earning management (Chung/Firth/Kim 2002). Institutional investors are willing to pay significant premiums for well governed companies, or significant discounts for bad governed ones (McKinsey&Co. 2000). The body of the research has focused on the virtues of institutional investors in forcing management to focus on economic performance and eschewing opportunistic self-serving behavior, even if some research underlined the myopia of those who focus on the shortterm performance of the firm to the detriment of its longer-term prosperity (Chung/Firth/Kim 2002)¹⁰. The primary emphasis of activist shareholders has been to focus on the poorly performing firms in their

⁷ In particular they use the term "related ownership" in order to refer to holdings owned within a sphere of influence.

⁸ However, the value of large share blocks may not only be maximized by a tighter control over managers, but also by extracting transfers from small shareholders, a process generally addressed within the frame of "private benefits of control"(La Porta et al. 1999).

⁹ As a matter of fact the role performed by German housebanks at the end of the 19th century could be considered as a first kind of venture capitalism, thus representing an ideal link between relationship banking and relationship investing. Already at the beginning of 20th century Riesser (1905) provides wide evidence about the role of German banks in financing railways and iron industry, that could be considered the start-up industries of that time.

¹⁰ For an overview on the empirical evidence see Menkhoff (2002).

portfolio and to pressure the management of such firms for improved performance, thus enhancing shareholder value (Gillan/Starks 2000). Moerland (1995) argues that the excessive functioning of the market for corporate control with practices such as corporate raiding, crude hostile takeovers or junk bonds, has lost importance having been partially replaced by active investors' diplomacy and persuasion as disciplining mechanisms. This could represent a turnover in respect of the role traditionally addressed to hostile takeovers (Manne 1965, Jensen 1986). The different types of institutional investors differ with respect to their monitoring incentives and capabilities. Pound (1988) notes that institutional investors such as banks should be effective monitors because they have frequent business contact to their clients, even if they might become entrenched and support incumbent managers. For example, business relationships between banks and management are likely to be associated with voting behavior that is conductive to continuance of the relationships, thus being supportive of management proposals, as are banks sharing one or more directors with the firm. Director interlocks between banks and firms are related to the outcome of the vote, with affiliated banks supporting management proposals, and unaffiliated ones opposing them (Payne/Millar /Glezen 1996). According to these conflicts of interests, investment or pension funds could be better monitors than banks or insurers, even if they also face some of these conflicts (Charny 1995). Empirical evidence shows that the results of negotiations and shareholder proposals are associated with the sponsor identity, which seems to sort out a leading effect, with a "leader" making the first step, and the other investors following the leader approach: this is generally recognized in the role of some prominent institutions, as for example the American CALPERS. Moreover the identity of the sponsor could be analyzed distinguishing two different groups, i.e. big individual investors and institutional investors. Proposals sponsored by the first group generally garner fewer votes, while the impact of the second group enjoys the above described lead effect (Gillan/Starks 2000).

3. Relationship Finance and Corporate Control within the Theory of the Firm

3.1. Theories of the Firm Relevant for Financial Relationships

To work out the services provided by the different sorts of financial relationships, we resort to different theories of the firm. Broadly, we may differentiate between the neoclassical and the contractual theories of the firm. In the neoclassical economic school, a firm is just described by efficient relationships between inputs and outputs, using the concept of a production function. Even if this black-box concept cannot explain the functions of intermediaries, we will use it to describe which inputs to firm production are provided by different forms of external finance. The contractual theories of the firm, which have been developed along with the theory of incomplete markets since the 1970s, yield explanations both for the existence of financial intermediaries and their contractual relationships with firms. Despite their heterogeneity, they have the common focus of explaining firms as organizations under two aspects: first, the substitution of short-term contracts on the product markets by long-term contracts between input owners, and second, the substitution of market mechanisms by hierarchy.¹¹ They may be broadly divided into two groups: principal-agency theory and transaction-cost theory.

The principal-agent theory deals with bilateral contractual relationships between two partners, the principal and the agent, which are affected by problems of asymmetric information, i.e. the principal cannot directly observe the activities of the agent or the agent has more relevant information than the principal.¹² The focus is on designing an optimal contract which will motivate the agent to share his private information so that the action expected by the principal will be effectively realized. The classical agency-theory problem was posed by Berle and Means in 1932 for the public company with dispersed shareholders, where the separation between owners (principals) and managers (agents) causes agency costs by suboptimal control of the management. Within this theory, firms have been considered as "...simply legal fictions which serve as a nexus for a set of contracting relationships among individuals" (Jensen/Meckling 1976, p.325). It has been applied both to explain financial intermediation as an optimal nexus of contracts and the problems of optimal corporate control. Beyond the 'nexus of contracts view' (Alchian/Demsetz 1972, Jensen/ Meckling 1976, Fama 1980), another view is that firms are characterized by more than the legal status, since they provide a solution to moral hazard in teams (Alchian/Demsetz 1972, Holmström 1982). This view emphasizes the technology of team production, where marginal products are costly to measure, and shows the circumstances under which it may be optimal to appoint a monitor who has the rights to the residual income of the team. Another view of team production has been provided by Aoki (1986) and Marschak/Radner (1972), who consider a firm as a group of input owners with a common goal. According to this view, team production does not serve to prevent opportunism, but to gather and share information under uncertainty. It emphasizes "...the image of a firm which must develop its resources by learning new informational relations before being able to use them" (Krafft/Ravix 1998, p. 248).¹

¹¹For overviews see Cheung (1983), Foss/Lando/Thomsen (2000), Krafft/Ravix (1998), Richter/Furubotn (1997)

¹²See Jensen/Meckling (1976), Alchian/Demsetz (1972), Fama (1980), Holmström (1982).

¹³This team theory has been considered as an extension instead of an alternative to the principal-agent theory, since the agents are still optimizing, making their decisions on the basis of imperfect

Since incomplete information is the central problem of external finance, we will use also this theory to study the functions of financial relationships.

The transaction-cost theory is based on the question posed by Ronald Coase in 1937: when do firms produce to their own need (backward, forward or lateral integration) and when do they procure in the market? It explains the use of markets for some transactions and the use of hierarchical forms of organization for others by transaction-cost differences between markets and hierarchies (Williamson 1988, p. 568). In contrast to the principal-agent theory, the focus is not on the ex ante incentive alignment of contracts under asymmetric information, but on the ex post governance of incomplete contracts. Since not all contingencies can be contractually covered, contracts are incomplete, and there is a need of adaptation to changing circumstances. This applies above all to long-term contracts such as the long-term loan contracts between banks and firms. Like long-term labor contracts, they are likely to be implicit.¹⁴ An implicit contract describes complex agreements, written and tacit, which govern the exchange of services when various types of specific investments inhibit the mobility of production inputs, and opportunities to shed risks are limited by imperfect markets for contingent claims (Azariadis 1990, p. 132). It results from bargaining of the contractual partners over sharing the returns of their relationship-specific investments in various possible future circumstances (Azariadis 1990, p. 138). By forming such relational contracts, the parties generally commit to some common goal rather than to a specific course of conduct (Boatright 2002).

Within the transaction-cost theory, the property rights theory of the firm focuses on the allocation of ownership as the possession of residual control rights, i.e. rights to control the uses of assets under contingencies that are not specified in the contract. It considers a firm as a collection of jointly-owned assets (Grossman/Hart 1986, Hart/Moore 1990, Hart 1995) and is relevant for the question of optimal corporate control. The second major branch of transaction-cost theory is the governance structure approach of Williamson (e.g. 1975, 1979, 1985, 1988). Its basic idea is to assign transactions to alternative governance structures on the basis of their transaction properties, which are determined above all by the degree of asset specificity. In long-term financial relationships, asset specificity results from the acquisition of private information.

Figure 2 illustrates the relevance of the different contractual theories of the firm for the explanation of

financial contracts, intermediaries and relationships, which we will review in more detail below. After a view on the neoclassical production function (3.2), we will discuss financial intermediation as a nexus of contracts (3.3), relationship intermediation as team production (3.4), corporate control rights of financiers (3.5) and the governance of incomplete financial contracts (3.6). The results are summarized in tab. 1.

3.2. Financial Contracts and the Production Function of a Firm

The usual neoclassical production function relates firm output to capital and labor inputs, which are financed by the firm's revenues. In this case of internal finance, contracts with external financiers are irrelevant. However, if the scarcity of internal funds limits production, external finance is a further production factor with positive marginal returns. Financial contracts with external financiers differ with respect to two fundamental inputs which they provide: bearing of risk and information. Therefore, we consider the more general production function

q = f(risk, information),

with q as output and f as the neoclassical production function.

Given that individuals are risk-averse, risk can be considered as a scarce production factor with a positive marginal productivity (Sinn 1986). Along this line of reasoning the production function coincides with the efficiency line of the capital asset pricing model. The supply of the factor risk can be increased by different risk-bearing institutions or organizations such as insurance and stock markets, financial intermediaries, but also special financing relationships. It depends on the type of the contract: in a standard debt contract, the lender has a constant interest and capital claim and bears the risk that the borrower cannot repay. In the case of insolvency, the whole property rights on the firm are transferred to the lender. In an equity contract, on the other hand, the equity owner has a state-dependent claim on the residual in solvent states, bearing the residual claim risk. As a second production factor we consider information as the knowledge or competence of the financier to allocate the funds to their best possible use. We presume that a financier is better informed if he has gathered not only publicly available information but also inside or private information about the state and the prospects of the firm. The higher this stock of information, the lower is the information asymmetry between the firm and its financier and the lower are the concomitant agency costs of external finance. Like a technical or an organizational progress, an increase in information may be described by an outward shift of the production function rather than a move along its frontier. From a macroeconomic perspective, the above production function may be used to describe the contributions of a whole financial system to an economy's production capacitv.

information, where the variables designating the optimum form of organization are all known (Krafft/Ravix 1998, p. 251).

¹⁴According to Frank Knight (1921), labor contracts are implicit in the sense "...that inherently 'confident and venturesome' entrepreneurs will offer to relieve their employees of some market risks in return for the right to make allocative decisions" (Azariadis 1990, p. 133).



Figure 2. Explanation of financial contracts and intermedianies by contractual theories of the firm

Provision of Services	Relationship Banking	Relationship Investing	Transaction Finance
Inputs to Firm Production:	insolvency risk,	residual claim risk, inside infor-	insolvency risk or residual
q = f(risk, information)	inside information	mation	claim risk, outside information
(see chapter 3.2)			
Nexus of contracts by	banks as delegated monitors:	non-bank institutional investors as	direct contracts, no delegation
delegation	- economies of scale in contracting	delegated monitors:	
(see chapter 3.3)	and monitoring	- economies of scale in contracting	
	- liquidity creation with disciplinary	and monitoring	
	mechanism of runs	- agency costs between institu-	
	- agency costs between bank and	tional investor and fund owners	
	depositors		
Team Production	cooperation between bank and	cooperation between venture	no cooperation
(see chapter 3.4)	borrower:	capitalist and firm:	
	- information	- information	
	- risk sharing	- risk sharing	
Corporate control	reduction of agency costs of debt	reduction of agency costs of equity	high agency costs of external
(see chapter 3.5)	and equity		finance
Governance of incomplete	implicit loan contracts with state-	explicit equity contracts with state-	explicit contracts with state-
contracts	dependent claims:	dependent claims	independent or state-
(see chapter 3.6)	- intertemporal contract design	-	dependent claims
	 renegotiability: insurance in 		
	distress states	-	
	incentives:		
	- reputation		
	- collateral	incentive:	
	problems:	- long-run profit maximization	
	- hold-up	problems:	
	 soft budget constraint 	- hold-up	
		 soft budget constraint 	

Table 1. Comparison of Different Financing Relationships: Overview

According to Hellwig (2000), following the way paved by Jensen (1986), the main problem of a financial system is not the scarcity of funds, but rather the misallocation of funds, e.g. by retained earnings, hidden reserves, disposal of assets or opportunistic behavior of managers in the presence of asymmetric information. In such an economy the task of the financial system is not only to channel the funds from households to firms, but also to channel the funds within the corporate system, from firms with excessive cash flow to firms with insufficient funds or from X-inefficient firms to more efficient ones. The allocative competence of a financial system thus depends on its ability to reduce information asymmetries and provide possibilities of risk sharing and information sharing.

Given the above definitions of relationship banking and relationship investing, both kinds of relationship finance are superior to transaction finance in providing inside information, while they differ with respect to the provision of risk bearing. Being based on debt financing, relationship banking bears the insolvency risk, while the equity-based relationship investing bears the residual claim risk.

3.3. Financial Intermediation as a Nexus of Contracts

Within the agency-theoretic nexus of contracts view, firms come into existence as intermediaries that reduce the number of direct market contracts between individuals and the associated contracting and monitoring costs. Likewise, the existence of financial intermediaries, and their special relationships with contracting partners, can be explained by their functions of delegated contracting and monitoring on behalf of individual investors. If they have gathered specific information about borrowers or investment projects, the reusability of this information can be used to reap economies of scale in long-run relationships. The new theory of financial intermediation (developed since Diamond 1984, Caloromis/Kahn 1991, Allen 1990) shows that banks are financial intermediaries which can solve specific information and incentive problems in the relationships with savers and investors better than this could be done by non-bank financial intermediaries or direct financing. Within the theory of asymmetric information, Diamond (1984) shows that a special role of banks is to minimize the agency costs between borrowers and lenders by monitoring the borrowers at low cost, while Diamond and Dybvig (1983) find another special function of banks in their role of transforming illiquid assets into liquid liabilities, providing insurance against liquidity risk with private information to agents. Diamond and Rajan (2001) show that relationship lending is the best way to create efficient monitoring and maximum liquidity simultaneously. Real assets or projects are illiquid, because the entrepreneur can always threaten to withhold his specific skills in the future and thus capture a rent. A relationship lender who has gained knowledge about the project has a better liquidation threat than any other financier and thus can extract a larger fraction of the cash flows generated. When the relationship lender is a bank, issuing demand deposits, it cannot hold up depositors by not paying them the promised amount. Demand deposits are fixed claims with a sequential service constraint, where the depositors get their money back until the bank runs out of money. Any attempt by the bank to extort a rent from depositors by threatening to withdraw her specific abilities would cause a run, where the depositors demand back their money simultaneously without renegotiating. Hence, the fragility of the bank's deposits ensures that the bank provides the maximum amount of credit it can offer.¹⁵ Non-bank institutional investors, in contrast, do not create liquidity and hence do not have this disciplinary mechanism

of runs. A depositor of a mutual fund has the right to seize that proportion of assets that equals his proportion of total deposits. Thus, the holdings are marked to market and the mutual fund is run-proof. If mutual funds are actively engaged in monitoring, providing relationship investing, depositors are not able to discipline them and the managers may capture rents. This applies also to insurance firms that unlike banks, provide payments only when liquidity needs are observable and verifiable.¹⁶ Also investment banks or venture capitalists differ from commercial banks in this respect: because their value lies largely in future transactions, they cannot be efficiently cut out of the deal, hence demand deposits are unlikely to provide discipline (Diamond/Rajan 2001, pp. 317). A problem with both relationship banking and relationship investing is that the delegation of monitoring to an intermediary involves by itself agency costs, so-called delegation costs. In the case of relationship banking, they arise from the asymmetric information between bank managers and bank depositors/shareholders, while in the case of relationship investing, they arise from the asymmetric information between institutional investors and their funds' beneficial owners. According to Diamond (1984), the delegation costs for bank depositors go to zero, if the bank is large enough to diversify its loan portfolio so that the depositors are shielded from credit risk.¹⁷ This results from the debt contracts of banks, so that a similar conclusion cannot be drawn for the equity contracts of (non-bank) institutional investors.

While the theory of financial intermediation is unanimous about optimal debt contacts, it is indeterminate about the effects of delegated monitoring in the case of sub-optimal equity contracts (Schneider 2000, p. 215). Institutional owners function as principals to corporate managements and as agents for their beneficial owners or, in their intermediary role of monitoring for beneficial owners, as 'agents monitoring other agents'. Within this 'nexus agency model' it has been argued that institutional investors are complex organizations which pursue their own goals and the goals of their stakeholders apart from those of beneficial owners (Schneider 2000). Additional agency costs result from detrimental incentives that divert the behavior away from maximizing investment performance: especially the requirement to conform with short-term evaluations leads to shortterm orientation, distorted risk consideration and

¹⁵In a world of uncertainty, it is optimal for the bank to finance itself not only by deposits, but also by outside capital, which is a softer claim that can be renegotiated in bad times (Diamond/Rajan 2000).

¹⁶Only life insurance companies may have partly demandable claims that allow withdrawal of a fixed amount even if the insurable event does not occur, making them prone to runs.

¹⁷In Diamond's model of financial intermediation, banks are all deposit funded. In reality, bank deposits are not risk-free and the remaining risk is borne by the bank's shareholders (and a deposit insurance fund). However, the shareholders only have the incentive to monitor the bank managers, if they hold large blocks in the respective bank. At least in Germany, where the big stock banks are mostly held in dispersed ownership, this does not seem to be the case. It is an open question whether this monitoring problem may be solved by (bank or non-bank) institutional investors.

useless activities (Menkhoff 2002). Whether these additional agency costs outweigh the cost reductions brought about by intermediation (portfolio diversification, better corporate monitoring) cannot be answered a priori, because it depends on the effectiveness of the legal and regulatory environment and the governance mechanisms in protecting the interests of the beneficial owners. Empirical studies that concentrate on non-bank institutional investors that invest in US stock portfolios show that their investment performance is usually below the market benchmark. While they realize advantages of diversification, they fail to realize information advantages. The benefits of improved corporate governance go along with costs of generating short-term strategies, increased volatility and less sensitivity toward social issues in the managed companies. The agency costs depend on the type of institutional investor, e.g. pension funds having higher agency costs than mutual funds (Menkhoff 2002, 2001, Schneider 2000).

3.4. **Relationship** Intermediation as **Team Production**

As argued by Alchian and Woodward (1987, p. 118), "...long-term, or what the law calls relational, contracts are essential to continuity of teamwork with dependent resources". Moreover, "Teamwork seldom appears without a nexus of contracts, and a nexus of contracts seldom appears in the absence of teamwork" (Alchian/Woodward, 1987, p.111). Hence, long-term contracts of financial intermediaries should involve elements of team production. According to Aoki, the capability of the firm of having positive economic returns rests on "the willingness of the employees to cooperate and the ability of the employer to adapt and monitor production effectively under uncertainty" (Aoki 1984, p.30). A cooperative team or organization could be considered a system for allocating the resources better than a sequel of unique transactions, above all due to the saving of risk cost, the reduction of shirking and the enhancement of informational efficiency in regulating the formation and utilization of the team element of human resources (Aoki 1984, p. 30). Cooperation in production is cooperation between suppliers of inputs (Alchian 1993, p. 367). Applied to relationship banking, we may consider it as cooperation within a team constituted by the bank and the firm in supplying risky capital and information. Within such a team, the borrowing firm must be willing to provide information about investment opportunities and risks to the bank, which in turn provides capital and risk bearing to the firm. According to Alchian and Woodword (1987), teams arise where information is costly: gathering information about the borrower is likely to be a very resource expensive process, and relationship banking rests on information cost savings. The informational efficiency of utilizing special human resources in lending relationships is not only brought about by the bank's inside information, but also by social interactions between loan officers and VIRTUS

firm managers which may create mutual understanding and trust. Empirical studies on relationship lending in Germany show that such social interactions do indeed lead to more favorable lending terms for small and medium-sized firms (Harhoff/Körting 1998, Lehmann/Neuberger 2001). Differences in this sort of team production brought about by different histories or development levels might explain why we observe lending gaps between different regions of the same country (Ferri/Messori 2000, Lehmann/Neuberger/Räthke 2004). Critics of this view of relationship lending as a cooperative team argue that banks can exploit influenced firms, being able to earn profits in excess of the competitive level. According to the team theory, external agents are necessary to induce efficient equilibrium in team production settings. However, while external agents may be necessary, they cannot sustain an efficient outcome if the internal members of the team don't have some assurance that their product will not be expropriated (Falaschetti 2002). According to Köke (2001), ownership concentration and bank debt, as well as market discipline reflected by product market competition, are positively related to productivity growth. However, creditor influence depends on a strong position measured as a large fraction of bank debt. Thus, the reduction of bank lending, for example through increasing securitization or issue of corporate bonds, could negatively affect the banks' incentives or ability to monitor (Köke 2001).

Also relationship investing can involve a kind of team production, considering the cooperation between firms and institutional investors to share information and equity risks. This applies above all to the relationships of firms with venture capitalists, but less to those with institutional investors that invest only in publicly traded shares and are less likely to have long-term, social interactions with firm managers. As already mentioned above, these institutional investors do not seem to reap efficiency gains by information advantages.

3.5. Corporate Control Rights of Financiers

According to Berle and Means (1932) conflicts of interest arise between managers and residual claimants when risk bearing is separated from management of the firm. Here we face the problem that the monitoring activity has the nature of a public good. Every shareholder is aware of the fact that it is too expensive for him to exercise an effective monitoring activity on the management, and that at the same time all the other shareholders would take advantage of his efforts, giving rise to a free riding process (Stiglitz, 1985). In the public company, characterized by the so-called absent property (Galbraith 1958), the residual claimants try to solve the problem by delegating the management of the firm to a group of people who professionally do it, the managers, while their relationship is regulated by a contract, that just gives some guidelines to the directors (Berle/Means,

1932). The result of this contract is that the corporation is managed through an agency relationship between the shareholders on the one side and the managers on the other, going along with agency costs.¹⁸ The so-called consumption of agency goods by managers may include not only the consumption of perquisite, but also avoiding effort, avoiding risk, building empires, establishing golden parachutes, subsidizing their favorite activities, discriminating in lay off and implementing strategies to increase the managers' control and to reduce the probability of takeovers. Managers' consumption of agency goods reduces the firms' financial performance and can be undertaken only to the extent that the managers are able to resist principals' disciplining. The reduction of agency costs by different control rights of the external financiers are the main objects of corporate governance studies¹⁹. The role of banks and nonbank institutional shareholders' activism arises due to the conflict of interests between managers and shareholders, and to the free rider problems connected with the lack of incentives for small investors in monitoring. Investors with large blocks appear to be the only ones which have the incentives to undertake such monitoring activities, as it is more likely that the large shareholders' increased return from monitoring is sufficient to cover the associated monitoring costs (Gillan/Starks 2000). When a firm is financed partially with debt moral hazard arises, because the equity holders don't bear the full consequence of negative outcomes, while enjoying the full positive consequences of their decisions. The main sources of conflicts are a redistribution from bondholders to stockholders that would arise from an increase in dividend payout, higher leverage, substitution of high-risk for low risk projects (asset substitution), and underinvestment in projects that would vield a higher benefit to bondholders (Jensen/Smith 1985). This bondholder vs stockholder conflict would not be solved simply by giving the bondholders control over the firm: bondholders would have incentives to pay too few dividends, issue too little debt, and choose projects with too little risk. Within the theoretical frame of state-dependent control, the control over the firm should be exerted by shareholders in non-default states and by creditors in default states. In the event of the borrower's default, it is efficient to delegate the control to banks, to bundle the creditors' claims and reduce costs of free-riding by bondholders (Aghion/Bolton 1992). In nondefault states, corporate control should be exerted by financial intermediaries that hold large blocks, thus bundling the interests of dispersed shareholders and preventing actions of firm managers against the interests of minority shareholders and bondholders.

¹⁸Jensen and Meckling (1976) define agency costs as the sum of the costs of structuring, administering and enforcing contracts, plus the residual loss. Agency costs include all costs frequently referred as contracting costs, transaction costs, moral hazard costs and information costs (Jensen/Smith 1985). This may also be done by banks via voting rights from equity holdings, proxy voting rights or supervisory board mandates. Equity holdings by banks reduce their incentives to pose creditor over shareholder interests, providing a solution to the bondholder vs. shareholder conflict (Stiglitz 1985).²⁰

Thus, relationship banking may reduce not only the agency costs of external debt by monitoring borrowers in long-term relationships, but also the agency costs of external equity. However, given the fact that a bank's debt claims are mostly bigger than its share blocks in a firm, it is rational for it to act primarily in the creditor interests, and the effectiveness of banks as actively monitoring in the shareholder interests is still an open question (Boehmer 2000). As shown by Chirinko and Elston (1996), one of the advantages of bank influence over firms is that, at least in the German environment, banks reduce agency costs associated with corporate control and at the same time lower finance costs due to superior information and more effective monitoring of management activity. Anyway, according to Schäfer (2003) relationship banking and a bank's control over a firm "are just the two sides of the same coin": she provides examples on how this "domination" could affect the management incentives and the banks' incentives to monitor the managers of the "supposed to be" controlled company. Demsetz and Villalonga (2001) argued that the greater is the degree to which shares are concentrated in the hands of outside shareholders, the more effectively management behavior should be monitored and disciplined. This seems to be the case for the role of banks as external monitors in Continental Europe. Dherment-Ferere et al. (2001) found a positive disciplining effect of qualified banking share blocks, while Lehmann and Weigand (2000) found that financial institutions as largest shareholders of traded corporations enhanced profitability. Baums (1994) argues that the presence of major lenders in the board could represent by itself a limit of managers' ex post moral hazard. When the stock market is (ab-) used by managers the awareness of being monitored can reflect in an excessive myopia of the managers, i.e. in the willingness of improving the company's results (e.g. by creative accounting, sudden appreciation of assets, manipulation of the accounting data), in order to show their capability as business leaders. The presence of long-term shareholders prevents such behavior, at least as long as they perform a real monitoring activity. Also in market-based financial systems with less control rights of banks, relationship banking lowers agency costs of external finance. Jensen (1986) argues that debt financing reduces free cash flow and therefore has a disciplinary effect on management: managers can use high leverage to signal credibly that they maximize profits. Likewise, any disciplinary impact creditors have on management

²⁰For a further argument in favor of simultaneous lending and shareholding by banks (Neuberger/Neumann, 1991).



¹⁹Shleifer/Vishny (1997), La Porta et al. (1999)

should be the greatest when a large fraction of debt is bank debt. This is backed by empirical evidence: stock prices respond positively and significantly especially to announcements of bank loans (James 1987, Lummer/McConnell 1989), and the cost of issuing public securities is significantly lower for firms with borrowing relationships to banks (James/Wier 1990, Datta et al. 1999). This evidence about the uniqueness of bank loans makes clear that relationship banking is superior to relationship investing in reducing agency costs of external finance: non-bank institutional investors may only lower agency costs of external equity by active monitoring in the interest of shareholders.

3.6. Governance of Incomplete Financial Contracts

Transaction cost theory focuses on the ex post governance of incomplete contracts to answer Coase's question about the boundaries between firms and markets. Incompleteness of contracts means that not all contingencies are contractually covered, and is the more relevant the longer the term of the contract. Relationship finance is by definition long-term finance and thus carries the feature of a firm described by Coase: "A firm is likely therefore to emerge in those cases where a very short term contract would be unsatisfactory. It is obviously of more importance in the case of service- labor - than it is in the case of buying commodities" (Coase, 1937, p.392). This applies to the financial services provided by banks and non-bank institutional investors. The long-term nature of these services is above all inherent in relationship lending. Like long-term labor contracts, these loan contracts may be perceived as implicit contracts, in which banks offer to relieve their borrowers of some market risks in return for the right to make allocative decisions. They result from bargaining between the bank and the borrowing firm over sharing the returns of their relation specific (informational) investments. Within this frame relationship banking represents a specific asset whose value cannot be independent from the firm itself. The provision of risk by an implicit long-term loan contract implies that the bank's claims are no longer stateindependent. One benefit of relationship lending is seen in its intertemporal contract design. The basic idea is that the long-term binding of the borrower to the bank enables the bank to compensate losses in some periods by gains in other periods.²¹ This permits the funding of loans (relationship loans) that are not profitable for the bank from a short-term perspective but may be profitable if the relationship with the borrower lasts long enough $(Boot 2000)^{24}$ enabling e.g. long-term investment projects (Ongena/Smith 2000). Long-term relationships make possible value-enhancing intertemporal transfers in loan pricing, with the bank charging different interest rates according to different business situations of the borrower, even if in the long run the total amount of interests paid is equal to the case of a fix interest rate contract. Moreover when firms have financial or industrial problems they look for help by their relation bank or housebank. They know that their housebank, having made costly investments in order to build up a long-term relationship, would not have an advantage in letting the client go bankrupt (Macey/Miller 1995, Das/Nanda 1999). Indeed, housebanks are more committed to their clients, providing more finance if the firm faces sudden and temporary difficulties (Elsas/Krahnen 1998, p. 1284).²³ Another aspect of intertemporal contract design is given by the refinancing of the banks by standard debt (deposit) contracts. Through long term commitments to their borrowers, banks can compensate losses in some periods by gains in other periods, facilitating intertemporal risk diversification (Allen/Gale 2000): systematic risk may not be diversified at a specific point in time, but across generations by long-term, long living banks. Since an incomplete contract does not specify rules for each possible state of the world, the optimal contract should be structured to provide incentives to both parties to take mutual beneficial actions. In relationship lending, this is done by the possibility of renegotiations (Elsas 2001, p. 19). While in the case of arm's length debt the borrower cannot credibly commit to liquidate its firm in a distress situation, the power of its housebank to renegotiate will lead to more efficient decisions about firm liquidation or continuation (Rajan 1992). This can be interpreted as a kind of insurance service provided by the housebank: the ex ante choice of relationship lending prevents negative value effects of opportunistic behavior by one contract partner, which cannot be prevented by alternative financial arrangements (Elsas 2001). According to Chemanur and Fulghieri (1994) banks use the ability to renegotiate as a means to acquiring reputation. Reputation building provides the bank with the incentive to establish a long-term relationship with a firm.²⁴ In their model, banks also have the choice between liquidating the firm when distressed or renegotiating the loan contract. Banks wishing to establish a reputation for financing productive firms, monitor the firms more intensively, which in turn leads to more efficient continuation decisions in Bester/ renegotiations (Ongena/Smith 2000). Scheepens (1996) underline that the advantages connected with establishing a debt history can in the

²¹See e.g. Greenbaum et al. (1989), Petersen/Rajan (1995). For a detailed discussion of the theoretical literature see Elsas (2001, pp.56).

²²Boot/Thakor (2000) provide a further definition of a relationship loan as "a loan that permits the bank to use its expertise to improve the borrower's project payoff".

 $^{^{23}}$ For measurements of housebanking in Germany see Elsas (2005).

²⁴Generally, reputation is an incentive mechanism for long-term implicit contracts: "if somebody deviates from the terms of the contract, the deviation becomes widely known, and the deviant finds it difficult to locate trading partners in the future" (Azariadis 1990, p. 138).

long-run overcome the costs associated with an initial debt. Their result goes against the first argument of the pecking order hypothesis of Myers and Majluf (1984), according to which internal finance should be preferred to bank debt. They consider the decision to finance an investment by bank debt rather than by internal funds. In taking into account the costs associated with bank debt, side by side with the advantages of establishing a positive debt history, we expect that if the bank relationship is publicly observable, the reputation for both the bank and the firm improves as the length of the relationship increases.²⁵

On the one hand, bank relationships are credible signals since the bank places its own wealth at the borrower's disposal (Collin 1997), and also its own reputation (Stiglitz 1985). On the other hand, the longevity of the relationship should not be informative for new entrants since competitors don't know the prices and the terms associated with the relationship. Thus the incumbent bank may have a long relationship with a very risky borrower only because the bank is able to be compensated by an appropriate interest rate (Greenbaum et al. 1989).²⁶

Another incentive for banks to enter a lending relationship is collateral provided by the borrowing firm. Longhofer and Santos (1998) show that by increasing the seniority of the bank's debt claims, inside collateral provides incentives for efficient monitoring in distress situations, since in such states the most senior claimant benefits first from improving the quality of the firm, "...and it is in such states that the true value of relationship lending comes to light. If banks are made junior to other creditors, they will have little incentive to build a relationship that might allow them to determine the value of such an investment" (Longhofer/Santos 1998, p. 2). If there are more than one debt claimant, it may be optimal to determine the structure of seniority strategically ex ante, anticipating future renegotiations in which conflicts between the different claimants are likely to cause net welfare losses. Such losses may be reduced by allocating ex ante the strongest bargaining position to the debt claimant which is expected to have the highest bargaining power ex post, by increasing his or her seniority (Welch 1997). Banks and especially inside banks are likely to be such claimants, because they have comparative advantages vis-à-vis bondholders or outside banks in organizing distress situations, having built up law departments or special reorganization capacities. Hence, housebanks with the most inside information

should obtain the highest seniority position by inside collateral (Elsas 2001, p. 191).²⁷ The cost of collateralization may further explain while it should be more important in long-term lending relationships. Lenders must evaluate and monitor collateral and bear the related administrative expenses. Given that evaluation costs and security registration fees represent fix costs, paid just once, the costs per unit time can be reduced by increasing the length of the lending relationship. At the same time collateralization imposes high costs to the borrower because it limits his or her freedom in using the collateral. As argued by Parlour and Rajan (2001), collateral can be considered as a commitment on the part of a borrower to accept only one contract, because usually the same collateral can be used to secure just one loan. These benefits of relationship banking, however, go along with costs due to two problems: the hold-up problem and the soft budget constraint problem. The hold-up problem results from the information monopoly the bank generates in the course of lending, that may allow it to make loans to the borrower at non-competitive terms in the future. Sharpe (1990) argues that bank relationships arise in competitive loan markets because a bank, which has privately observed customer quality, can "lock in" the customer, and charge above-cost interest rates, while Greenbaum, Kanatas and Venezia (1989) provide a further explanation when considering the costs borne by the firm in searching for competing bank offers. Because of this "central conflict between commitment and competition" (Mayer 1988, p. 1179), the informational advantage of the inside bank is a "double-edgedsword" (Rajan 1992, p. 1369, see also Elsas 2001, p. 48). The soft budget constraint problem results from the potential lack of toughness of the bank in enforcing credit contracts that may come alongside with relationship banking proximity (Boot 2000). This refers to the possibility that a relationship bank is unable to commit not to refinance unprofitable projects ex post, in particular when the borrower faces financial problems. In time of financial distress a relationship bank may extent further credit even to unprofitable projects in the hope of recovering its initial loan (Guatri/Vicari, 1994). Dewatripont and Maskin (1995) argue that multiple banking may represent a solution, as it offers a way for banks not to commit to refinance unprofitable projects, or worst, gambling for resurrection projects, while Bolton and Scharfstein (1996) show that multiple banking complicates debt renegotiations due to communication problems and asymmetry of information among the different creditors.²⁸ As a conse-

²⁸Alchian (1993) argues that in every situation where we find a party that depends from a single supplier the input user could protect himself through a multiple suppliers agreement, even if at higher costs than a contract that restrains the single supplier from not performing as promised.



²⁵Also the status of the committed part (e.g. an international bank vs a regional one) may be a source of reputation (Schäfer 2003), or at least of creditworthiness (Chirinko/Elston 1996, Collin 1997, Ferri/Messori 2000).

²⁶Within the frame of implicit contracts a similar result may be obtained in the labor market where the unknown variable is the workers' productivity: a very low productivity can be compensated by an even lower wage. In a lot of labor intense industries, cooperatives among the workers arise, among others, due to the signaling problems connected with employees' productivity (Dow 2003).

 $^{^{27}}$ For empirical evidence on a different role of collateral in emerging and mature markets see Menkhoff/ Neuberger/Suwanaporn (2005).

quence Carlin and Mayer (2000) argue that multibank systems are superior in imposing tough budget constraints on inefficient projects but the other side of the coin is, they are too myopic and fail to sustain efficient long term projects characterized by short term uncertainty.

The feature of a long-term, incomplete contract applies also to relationship investing, however with a different contract design implying different risksharing and informational properties. Capital issued as public equity is a long-term claim with no other right but to liquidate the equity-financed project at any point in time. The decision to do so by selling shares is mainly based on public information. The use of private information by institutional investors is restricted by insider trading regulations, in particular in order to avoid that managers and relevant shareholders collude in order to trade at the expense of "uninformed" or "small" shareholders (Maug, 2002). Dherment-Ferere, Köke and Renneboog (2001) underline that little corporate monitoring is to be expected from institutional investors, because, due to insider trading regulation non public corporate information may temporarily reduce the liquidity of an institution's investments. In contrast to relationship banking, relationship investing on the capital markets does not go along with implicit contracts. The state-dependent claims to the residual are explicitly defined by the equity contract. Institutional investors bear equity risk (and as bondholders also debt risk) without providing insurance services by intertemporal smoothing or renegotiability.

However, by gathering information and exercising direct control over the management, they reduce moral hazard risk to the benefit of individual shareholders or fund holders, providing insurance against this risk in non-distress states. The incentive for relationship investing is likely to be long-run profit maximization rather than reputation. Since the building up of a close relationship with a firm involves costs, institutional investors should only make such relationship-specific investments if they are compensated for these costs by higher returns in the future, given by a higher shareholder value and lower losses from liquidating unprofitable investments. Reputation as an incentive mechanism may be only important in an implicit contract, if the time horizon is fairly long or the future is fairly important relative to the present (Azariadis 1990, p. 138). Even if we consider the insurance against moral hazard risk provided by relationship investing as an implicit contract, the right to liquidate the equity investment at any time is likely to shorten the time horizon relative to that of a long-term lender. Of course, this argumentation does not apply to venture capitalists or other investors in long-term, private equity. To the extent that relationship investing involves a binding of an institutional investor to a firm, the hold-up problem and the soft budget constraint problem arise here, too. Such a binding may be caused by the holding of large blocks. Traditionally one way for unsatisfied shareholders of an underperforming firm is to sell out the shares. The fact is that often the holdings are so large that the shares cannot be sold without driving the price down and suffering further losses, so they are less marketable (Chung/Firth/Kim 2002). As a consequence institutional investors face a trade off between keeping underperforming shares and suffering a long-term (comparative) loss or selling out the shares and suffering a sudden loss. If they keep the shares, they find themselves in a hold-up situation and the firm managers may exploit their lock-in by opportunistic behavior. Proponents of institutional investors' activism argue that as a consequence such activity focuses on the long term and in doing so it helps management to improve longterm performance. As in the case of relationship banking, the binding is a "double-edged-sword". The soft budget constraint problem may arise from a potential lack of toughness of the relationship investor in controlling managers on behalf of shareholders. Opponents of the institutional investors' activism maintain that the activism detracts from the primary duties of asset management's managers, which is managing money for investors or other beneficiaries (Gillan/Starks 2000).

Jarrow and Leach (1991) note that fiduciaries are confronted with conflicting interests and must determine whether to maximize their own wealth or that of the beneficiaries (Jarrow/Leach 1991): some authors note that institutions, who maintain business relationships with firms, may be biased in favor of management in matters pertaining to control²⁹.

On the other hand, an open question is still if relevant institutional investors have the incentives to build up relevant shareblocks and thereafter to exercise an effective monitoring activity on the company. Admati, Pfleiderer and Zechner (1994) demonstrate that in equilibrium the monitoring activity is below the optimal level. The fact is that every investor, no matter if it is institutional or private, faces a trade-off between the benefits of diversification and the benefits associated with monitoring a firm. On the contrary a shareholder which does not hold any relevant blocks cannot be considered as a suitable monitor, given the well know contrast between the private costs of monitoring and the public good feature of monitoring benefits. Maug (1998, p. 89) demonstrates that the probability of monitoring increases in the liquidity of the market, since the liquidity of markets allows also large investors to benefit from monitoring, and helps to overcome the free-rider problem.

²⁹ Coffee (1991). For a good example see Berglöf and Sjögren (1998) who presented a model with a bank providing loans to a borrower while an investment company, controlled by the bank, holds a relevant block in the borrowing company. Baums (1996) and Baums and König (1997) find a high correlation between the underwriting and investment policy of bank-controlled investment companies (Publikumsfunds) and the role of the bank as coordinator of the IPO.

4. Conclusion

The shift from bank intermediation to intermediation by non-bank institutional investors which we experience in continental Europe has invoked concern about the dissolution of valuable long-term bankfirm relationships and their replacement by arm's length finance. However, non-bank institutional investors are also actively engaged in the firms they finance, providing a kind of relationship finance. The present paper reviewed the literature on both kinds of relationship finance to examine their relative merits. Within the theory of the firm, we made a comparison along the following criteria: provision of the input factors risk and information; provision of delegated monitoring by intermediation; increase in productivity by team production; reduction of agency costs by corporate control; governance of long-term, incomplete contracts. We found that while relationship banking and relationship investing are both superior to transaction finance in providing these services, none of them is superior to the other in all respects. They tend to be complements rather than substitutes, their relative merits depending both on the type of the intermediary and the type of the firm to be financed. The comparative advantage of relationship investing by venture capital firms lies in the provision of equity (bearing of residual-claim risk) to innovative, start-up firms, whereas relationship banking has its comparative advantage in the debt

References

- Admati, A.R., Pfleiderer P., J. Zechner (1994): Large Shareholder Activism, Risk Sharing and Financial Market Equilibrium. Journal of Political Economy, 102, 6, 1097-1130.
- 2. Aghion, P. and P. Bolton (1992), An Incomplete Contracts Approach to Financial Contracting, Review of Economic Studies 59, 473-494.
- Albach, H. (1997): Gutenberg und die Zukunft der Betriebswirtschaftslehre. Zeitschrift f
 ür Betriebswirtschaft, 67, H 12, 1257-1283.
- 4. Albert, M. (1991): Capitalisme contre capitalisme. Edition du Seuil, Paris.
- Alchian, A. (1993): Thoughts on the Theory of the Firm. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics, 149, 2, 365-369.
- Alchian, A. and H. Demsetz (1972): Production, Information Costs, and Economic Organization. The American Economic Review, 62, 777-195.
- Alchian, A., S. Woodward (1987): Reflections of the Theory of the Firm. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics, 143.
- 8. Allen F. (1990): The Market for Information and the Origin of Financial Intermediation. Journal of Financial Intermediation, 1, 3-30.
- Allen, F. and D. Gale (1995), A Welfare Comparison of Intermediaries and Financial Markets in Germany and the US, European Economic Review 39, 179-209.
- 10. Allen, F. and D. Gale (2000): Comparing Financial Systems, Mit Press, Cambridge.

financing (bearing of insolvency risk) of informationally opaque small and medium-sized firms in more mature markets or traditional industries. For these firms, relationship banking delivers unique monitoring and insurance services through implicit contracts. Large companies, on the other hand, may profit from relationship finance by both banks and non-bank institutional investors (insurance firms, pension funds, mutual funds), if these hold large blocks of their publicly traded shares to exercise corporate control. Here, however, non-bank intermediaries seem to be an imperfect substitute for banks: First, their incentives to actively invest in long-term relationships are lower because of a conflict between the use of inside information and the liquidity of their investments. Secondly, their disciplinary effect on management tends to be lower than that of banks. Third, since they do not provide liquidity, they are less disciplined by their depositors to provide efficient delegated monitoring. The costs of delegation to non-bank institutional investors are comparatively high, because they have more scope to pursue their own goals apart from those of their funds' beneficial owners. Finally, the pros and cons of the different forms of relationship finance depend on the liquidity of the respective financial market and on the regulatory environment. The present paper just developed a theoretical framework for more comparative research in this regard.

- 11. Aoki, M. (1984): The Co-operative Game Theory of the Firm. Oxford University Press.
- 12. Aoki, M. (1986): Horizontal vs Vertical Information Structure of the Firm, American Economic Review 76, 971-983.
- Azariadis, C. (1990), Implicit Contracts, in: Eatwell, J., Milgate, M. and P. Newman (eds.), Allocation, Information and Markets, The New Palgrave, Macmillan Press, London and Basingstoke, 1990, 132-140.
- 14. Baums, T. (1994): "The German Banking System and its Impact on Corporate Finance and Governance" in Aoki, M. and H. Patrick, The Japanese Main Bank System: Its Relevance for Developing and Transforming Economies. Oxford University Press, 1994.
- Baums, T. (1996): Universal Banks and Investment Companies in Germany. In Saunders, A. and I. Walter (eds) Universal Banking: Financial System Design Reconsidered. Irwin Professional Publishing, New York, 126-160.
- Baums, T. and M. König (1997): Investmentfonds im Universalbankkonzern: Rechtstatsachen und aktuelle Reformfragen. In "Aktien und Bilanzrecht-Festschrift für Bruno Kroff", Foster K. H. (eds). IDW Verlag.
- 17. Berglöf, E. and H. Sjögren (1998): Combining Arm's-Length and Control Oriented Finance. Evidence from Main Bank Relationships in Sweden. In Hopt, K. et al. (eds), Comparative Corporate Governance: The State of the Art and Emerging Research. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1998, 787-808.
- 18. Berle, A. and G. Means (1932): The Modern Corporation and Private Property. Macmillan, New York.



- 19. Bester, H. and J.P.J. Scheepens (1996): Internal Finance versus Bank Debt: The Gains from Establishing a Debt History. Kredit und Kapital, 4, 1996, 565-591.
- Bhattacharya, S. and Anjan V. Thakor (1993): Contemporary Banking Theory, Journal of Financial Intermediation 3, 2-50.
- 21. Boatright, J. (2002): Contractors as Stakeholders: Reconciling Stakeholder Theory with the Nexus of Contracts Firm. Journal of Banking and Finance, 26.
- 22. Boehmer, E. (2000): Business Groups, Bank Control and Large Shareholders: an Analysis of German Takeovers. Journal of Financial Intermediation, 9.
- 23. Bolton P. and D. Scharfstein (1996): Optimal Debt Structure and the Number of Creditors, Journal of Political Economy, 104, 1-25.
- 24. Boot, A.W. (2000): Relationship Banking: What do we Know? Journal of Financial Intermediation, 9.
- Boot, A. W. and A. V. Thakor (2000): Can Relationship Banking Survive Competition? Journal of Finance, 55, 2, 679-713.
- 26. Booth, J. R., D. N. Deli (1999): On Executives of Financial Institutions as Outside Directors. Journal of Corporate Finance, 5, 227-250.
- 27. Calomiris, C.W. and Kahn C.M. (1991) The Role of Demandable Debt in Structuring Optimal Banking Arrangements. American Economics Review, 81.
- Carlin, W. and C. Mayer (2000): How do Financial Systems Affect Economic Performance? In Vives X. (ed.), Corporate Governance: Theoretical and Empirical Perspective. Cambridge University Press.
- 29. Charny, David (1995): Workers and Corporate Governance: The Role of Political Culture in Blair M. and M. Roe (eds) Ownership and Control: Rethinking Corporate Governance in the Twenty-First Century. Washington DC: The Brooking Institution, 1995.
- Chemanur, T. J. and P. Fulghieri (1994), Reputation, Renegotiation, and the Choice Between Bank Loans and Publicly Traded Debt, Review of Financial Studies 7, 475-506.
- 31. Cheung, S. (1983): The contractual Nature of the Firm. Journal of Law & Economics, 26, 1.
- 32. Chidambaran, N.K. and Kose John (1998): Relationship Investing: Large Shareholder Monitoring with Managerial Cooperation, Working Paper, New York University, 1998.
- 33. Chirinko, R. and J.A. Elston E. (1996): Finance, Control and Profitability: an Evaluation of German Bank Influence, Discussion Paper FS VI 96-5, Wissenschaftliches Zentrum Berlin.
- Chung, R., M. Firth, J. B. Kim (2002): Institutional Monitoring and Opportunistic Earnings Management. Journal of Corporate Finance, 8, 29-48.
- 35. Coase, R. (1937): The Nature of the Firm. Economica, 4, 1937, 386-405.
- Coffee, J, C. (1991): Liquidity vs Control: the Institutional Investors as Corporate Monitor. Columbia law Review, 91, 1277-1368.
- 37. Collin S. O. (1997): Financial Intermediation through Markets and Organizations: an Information-boundary Argument for Financial Organizations. Scandinavian Journal of Management, 13, 2, 175-189.
- 38. Das, S. and A. Nanda (1999): A Theory of Banking Structure, Journal of Banking and Finance 23.
- Datta, S., Iskander-Datta, M. and A. Patel (1999), Bank Monitoring and the Pricing of Corporate Public Debt, Journal of Financial Economics 51, 435-449.

- Davis, E. P. (2003), Institutional Investors, Financial Market Efficiency, and Financial Stability, EIB papers 8:1, 77-107.
- 41. Demsetz, H., B. Villalonga (2001): Ownership Structure and Corporate Performance. Journal of Corporate Finance, 7, 209-233.
- Dewatripont M., E. Maskin (1995): Credit and Efficiency in Centralized and Decentralized Economies, Review of Economic Studies, 62.
- 43. Dherment-Ferere, I., Köke J. and L. Renneboog (2001): Corporate Monitoring by Blocksholders in Europe: Empirical Evidence of Managerial Disciplining in Belgium, France, Gemany and the UK. ZEW Discussion Paper 01-24, 2001.
- 44. Diamond D.W. and P. Dybvig (1983): Bank runs, Deposit Insurance and Liquidity. Journal Political Economy, 91, 401-419.
- Diamond, D. (1984): Financial Intermediation and Delegated Monitoring. Review of Economics Studies, 51, 1984, 393-414.
- 46. Diamond, D. W., R. G. Rajan (2000), A Theory of Bank Capital, The Journal of Finance 55.
- 47. Diamond, D. W. and R. G. Rajan (2001), Liquidity Risk, Liquidity Creation, and Financial Fragility: A Theory of Banking, Journal of Political Economy 109, 287-327.
- Dow, G. (2003): Governing the Firm: Workers' Control in Theory and Practice, Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- 49. Drobetsz, W., Shillhofer A. and H. Zimmermann (2003): Corporate Governance and Expected Stock Return: Evidence from Germany. ECGI Working Paper Series in Finance N°011/2003.
- 50. Elsas, R. (2001), Die Bedeutung der Hausbank. Eine ökonomische Analyse, Gabler, Wiesbaden.
- Elsas, R. (2005), Empirical Determinants of Relationship Lending, Journal of Financial Intermediation 14.
- 52. Elsas, R. and J. P. Krahnen (1998), Is Relationship Lending Special? Evidence from Credit-File Data in Germany, Journal of Banking and Finance, 22.
- Elyasiani, E., L. Goldberg (2004), Relationship Lending: A Survey of the Literature, Journal of Economics and Business 56, 315-330.
- Falaschetti, D. (2002): Golden Parachutes: Credible Commitments or Evidence of Shirking? Journal of Corporate Governance, 8.
- 55. Fama, E. (1985): "What's Different About Bank's?" Journal of Monetary economics, 15.
- 56. Fama, E. (1980): Agency Problems and the Theory of the Firm. Journal of Political Economy, 88, 1980.
- Ferri, G, and M. Messori (2000): Bank-firm Relationships and Allocative Efficiency in Northeastern and Central Italy and in the South. Journal of Banking and Finance, 24, 1067-1095.
- Foss, N.J., Lando, H. and S. Thomsen (2000), The Theory of the Firm, in: De Geest, G. and B. Bouckaert (eds.), Encyclopedia of Law and Economics, Vol. 3, Cheltenham, 631-658.
- 59. Frohlin, C. (1998): Relationship Banking, Liquidity, and Investment in the German Industrialization. Journal of Finance, 53, 5.
- 60. Galbraith J.K. (1958): The Affluent Society, Houghton and Mifflin, Boston.
- Gillan, S., L. Starks (2000): Corporate Governance Proposal and Shareholders Activism: the Role of In-

VIRTUS

24

stitutional Investors. Journal of Financial Economics, 57, 275-305.

- Greenbaum S.I., G. Kanatas and I. Venezia (1989): Equilibrium Loan Price under the Bank-client Relationship. Journal of Banking and Finance, 13.
- 63. Greenbaum, S. I and A. V. Thakor (1995), Contemporary Financial Intermediation, Dryden, Fort Worth.
- 64. Grossmann, S. and O. Hart (1986): The Costs and Benefits of Ownership: a Theory of Vertical and Lateral Integration. Journal of Political Economy, 94.
- 65. Guatri, L., S. Vicari (1994): Sistemi d'impresa e capitalismi a confronto, Egea, Milano.
- Harhoff, D. and T. Körting (1998): Lending Rlationships in Germany. Empirical Eidence from Survey Data. Journal of Banking and Finance, 22, 1317-1353.
- 67. Hart, O.D. (1995): Firms, Contracts and Financial Structure, Oxford, Clarendon Press.
- Hart, O.D., J. Moore (1990): Property Rights and the Nature of the Firm, Journal of Political Economy 98.
- 69. Hellwig, M. (2000): On the Economics and Politics of Corporate Finance and Corporate Control. In Vives X. (ed.), Corporate Governance: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives. Cambridge University Press.
- Holmstrom, B. (1982): Moral Hazard in Teams. Bell Journal of Economics, 13, 324-340.
- Hoshi, T., Kashyap A, and Scharfstein D (1993): The Choice between Public and Private Debt: an Analysis of Post-deregulation Finance in Japan. NBER Working Paper, 4421.
- Hovenkamp, H. (1993): "Market Efficiency and the Domain of the Firm", Journal of Corporate Law, 173.
- 73. James, C. (1987), Some Evidence on the Uniqueness of Bank Loans, Journal of Financial Economics 19.
- James, C. and P. Wier (1990), Borrowing Relationships, Intermediation and the Cost of Issuing Public Securities, Journal of Financial Economics 28.
- Jarrow R.A., and J.C. Leach (1991): The Relevance of Fiduciary Conflict-of-interests in Control versus Issue Proxy Contests. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 26.
- Jensen, M. (1986): Agency Costs of Free Cash Flow, Corporate Finance and Takeovers. American Economic Review, 76, 2, 323-329.
- Jensen, M. and W. Meckling (1976): Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs, and Ownership Structure. The Journal of Financial Economics, 3, 1976, 305-60.
- Jensen, M. and C. Smith (1985): Stockholders, Manager, and Creditor Interests: Application of Agency Theory. In Jensen, M. (2000): The Theory of the Firm: Governance, Residual Claims and Organizational Claims. Harvard University Press, 2000.
- 79. Kaplan, S. (1994): Top Executives, Turnover, and Firm Performance in Germany. Journal of law, economics and organization, 10, 142-159.
- Knight, F. (1921): Risk, Uncertainity and Profit. Houghton Mifflen &Co., New York.
- Köke J. (2001): Corporate Governance, Market Discipline, and Productivity Growth, ZEW Discussion Paper N° 01-55.
- Krafft, J. and J.-L. Ravix (1998), Theories of the Firm, in: Arena, R. and C. Longhi (eds.), Markets and Organization, Berlin, 237-261.
- La Porta, R., Lopez De-Silanes, F., and A. Shleifer (1999): Corporate Ownership around the World, The Journal of Finance 53, 491-517.

- Lehmann, E., D. Neuberger (2001): Do Lending Relationships Matter? Evidence from Bank Survey Data in Germany, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 45, 339-359.
- Lehmann, E. Neuberger, D. and S. Räthke (2004): Lending to Small and Medium-Sized Firms: Is there an East-West Gap in Germany?, Small Business Economics 23, 23-39.
- Lehmann, E. and J. Weigand (2000): Does the Governed Corporation Perform Better? Governance Structures and Corporate Performance in Germany, European Financial Review 4, 157-195.
- 87. Longhofer, S. D., and J.A. Santos (2000) The Importance of Bank Seniority for Relationship Lending. Journal of Financial Intermediation, 9.
- Lummer, S.L., J.J. McConnell (1989), Further Evidence on the Bank Lending Process and the Capital Market Response to Bank Loan Agreements, Journal of Financial Economics 25.
- Macey, J., G. Miller (1995): Corporate Governnace and Commercial Banking: a Comparative Examination of Germany, Japan and the Unites States. Stanford Law Review, 48.
- Manne, H. (1965): Mergers and the Market for Corporate Control. Journal of Political Economy, 73.
- 91. Marschak, J. and R. Radner (1972): The Economic Theory of Teams, New Haven.
- 92. Maug, E. (1998): Large Shareholders as Monitors: Is there a Trade off between Liquidity and Control? Journal of Finance, 58, 65-98.
- Maug, E. (2002): Insider Trading Legislation and Corporate Governance. European Economic Review, 46, 2002, 1569-1597.
- 94. Mayer, C. (1988): New Issues in Corporate Finance. European Economic Review, 32.
- 95. McKinsey&Co. (2000): Investor Opinion Survey on Corporate Governance, London.
- 96. Menkhoff, L. (2001), Privatanleger delegieren an institutionelle Investoren: Bringt dies Fortschritte im Anlageverhalten?, Kredit und Kapital 3, 418-454.
- Menkhoff, L. (2002), Institutional Investors: The External Costs of a Successful Innovation, Journal of Economic Issues 36, 907-933.
- Menkhoff, L., Neuberger, D., Suwanaporn, C. (2005), Collateral-based Lending in Emerging Markets: Evidence from Thailand, Journal of Banking and Finance, forthcoming.
- 99. Milgrom, P and J. Roberts (1990): Bargaining Costs, Influence Costs and the Organization of Economic Activity. In Alt, J. and K. Shepsle (eds) Perspectives on Positive Political Economy, Cambridge University Press, 57-89.
- 100. Moerland, P. (1995): Corporate Ownership and Control Structure: An International Comparison. Review of Industrial Organization, 10.
- 101.Molho, I. (1997): The Economics of Information: Lying and Cheating in Markets and Organizations, Blackwell Publishers, Oxford, 1997, 98.
- 102. Myers, S.C. and N.S. Majluf (1984): Corporate Financing and Investment Decisions". Journal of Financial Economics, 13, 187-221.
- 103.Neuberger, D. (1998): Industrial Organization of Banking: a Review. International Journal of the Economics Business 5, 97-118.



- 104.Neuberger, D. (1999): Finanzsysteme in Europa: Harmonisieren? Anglifizieren?, Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftspolitik 48, Heft 1, 11-26.
- 105.Neuberger, D. (2000): Evolution of Financial Systems: Convergence towards higher or lower Stability?, in: Karmann, A. (ed.), Financial Structure and Stability, Berlin: Physica, 11-33.
- 106.Neuberger, D. and M. Neumann (1991), Banking and Antitrust: Limiting Industrial Ownership by Banks?, Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics 147, 188-199.
- 107.Ongena S. and D.C. Smith (2000): Bank Relationships: a Survey, In: P. Harker and S.A. Zenios (eds), The Performance of Financial Institutions, Cambridge University Press.
- 108.Parlour C.A. and U. Rajan (2001): Competition in Loan Contracts. American Economic Review, 90.
- 109.Payne, T. H., J. A. Millar, W. G. Glenzen (1996): Fiduciary Responsibility and Bank-firm Relationship: An Analysis of Shareholder Voting by Banks. Journal of Corporate Finance.
- 110.Perée, E. and A. Riess (2003), The Transformation of Finance in Europe: Introduction and Overview, EIB papers 8:1.
- 111.Perlitz, M, and Seger F. (1994): The Role of Universal Banks in German Corporate Governance. Business & the Contemporany World. Wiley, New York.
- 112.Petersen, M. A. (1995): The Effect of Credit Market Competition on Lending Relationships. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 110, 403-444.
- 113.Pound, J. (1988): Proxy Contests and the Efficiency of Shareholder Oversight. Journal of Financial Economics, 20, 237-265.
- 114.Rajan, R. G. (1992), Insiders and Outsiders: The Choice between Informed and Arm's Length Debt, Journal of Finance 47, 1367-1400.
- 115.Richter, R., E.G. Furubotn (1997): Institutions and Economic Theory: The Contribution of the New Institutional Economics, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- 116.Riesser, J. (1905): Zur Entwicklungsgeschichte der deutschen Großbanken mit besonderer Rücksicht auf die Konzentrationsbestrebungen. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena.
- 117.Roe, M. (2002): Political Determinants of Corporate Governance. Political Context, Corporate Impact. Oxford University Press.
- 118.Schäfer, D. (2003): Die "Geiselhaft" des Relationship-Intermediärs: Eine Nachlese zur Beinahe-Insolvenz des Holzmann-Konzern. Perspektiven der Wirtschaftspolitik, 4, 1, 65-84.
- 119.Shleifer A. and R. Vishny (1997): A Survey of Corporate Governance. The Journal of Finance, 52, 1997.
- 120.Schmidt, R, A. Hackethal, e M. Tyrell (1999): Disintermediation and the Role of Banks in Europe: an In-

ternational Comparison. Journal of Financial Intermediation, 8, 36-67.

- 121.Schneider, M. (2000): When Financial Intermediaries are Corporate Owners: an Agency Model of Institutional Ownership. Journal of Management and Governance, 4, 2000, 207-237.
- 122.Sharpe S.A: (1990): Asymmetric Information, Bank Lending and Implicit Contracts: a Stylized Model of Customer Relationships. Journal of Finance, 45, 1069-1087.
- 123.Sinn, H. W. (1986), Risiko als Produktionsfaktor (Risk as a Factor of Production), Jahrbücher für Nationalökonomie und Statistik 201, 557-571.
- 124.Stiglitz J.E. and A. Weiss (1981): Credit Rationing in Markets with Imperfect Information, American Economics Review, 71.
- 125.Stiglitz, J. E. (1985): Credit Markets and the Control of Capital. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 17.
- 126.The Economist (2003a), Perils in the Savings Pool, Special Report Mutual Funds, The Economist November 8th 2003, 69-71.
- 127. The Economist (2003b), American Mutual Funds: No End in Sight, The Economist November 22nd 2003.
- 128. Welch, I. (1997), Why is Bank Debt Senior? A Theory of Asymmetry and Claim Priority Based on Influence Cost, Review of Financial Studies 10.
- 129.Wenger, E. (1998): German Banks and Corporate Governance: A Critical View. In Hopt K. et (eds) Comparative Corporate Governance: The State of the Art and Emerging Research. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1998, 499-535.
- 130.Williamson, O.E. (1975): Markets and Hierarchies: Analysis and Antitrust Implications, New York: Free Press.
- 131.Williamson, O.E. (1979): Transaction-Cost Economics: The Governance of Contractual Relations, Journal of Law and Economics 22.
- 132.Williamson, O. E. (1985): The Economic Institutions of Capitalism, New York: Free Press.
- 133.Williamson, O.E. (1988): Corporate Finance and Corporate Governance, The Journal of Finance 43, 567-591.
- 134. Woidtke, T. (2002): Agents Watching Agents? Evidence from Pension Fund Ownership and Firm Value. Journal of Financial Economics, 63.
- 135.Yafeh Y and O. Yosha (2001): Industrial Organization of Financial Systems and Strategic Use of Relationship Banking. European Financial Review, 5.



THE FINANCIAL SYSTEM AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN JAPAN*

Mitsuaki Okabe**

Abstract

Corporations may be said to be engines of any market economy and their proper behavior is a key to economic, hence human, security. This paper argues that one of the most important causes for the prolonged period of recessions of the Japanese economy in the 1990's is deeply rooted in the long-established financial structure of the economy and in the closely related issue of corporate governance. Although Japanese corporations have been traditionally understood that their activities are monitored and governed by "main banks," this framework has been changing over the last 10-15 years toward corporate governance driven by pressure from capital markets. This change has been necessitated by: (a) less need on the part of corporations to rely on banks in acquiring funds, (b) ongoing dissolution of cross shareholdings, (3) an increasing importance for the role of institutional investors, and (4) innovations in information and communication technologies. The change may be regarded as being one from "process innovation" toward a system conducive to "product innovation;" hence a desirable shift. There remain, however, a number of policy tasks, such as institutional investors.

Keywords: corporae governance, Japan, financial system

* This paper was presented at the First Keio-UNU-JFIR Panel Meeting "Economic Development and Human Security: How to Improve Governance at the Inter-Governmental, Governmental and Private Sector Levels in Japan and Asia," held at the United Nations University in Tokyo, February 13-14, 2004, organized under the auspices of Keio University COE (Center of Excellence) Program. The author acknowledges comments by Dr Seok-Dong Wang (United Nations) and other participants of the conference.

** Graduate School of Media and Governance, Keio University, Japan (okabe@sfc.keio.ac.jp)

Introduction

For the Japanese economy, the 1990's was characterized by a prolonged period of recessions, and is commonly called "the lost decade." Upon entering the 2000's, and at present (in February 2004), it has not yet become clear whether the economy has been moving on the direction of renewed sustainable development. In a market-based economy, commercial corporations are the engines of macroeconomic activity. The pattern of long-running, or long-term, economic activities are substantially determined by how such corporations are organized and how their behavior is motivated and how disciplined it is. It is therefore no wonder that, over the last ten years or so, there has been increased interest in looking at corporations from the viewpoint of corporate governance. Since this also has much to do with public policy, research has been conducted not only by academic researchers but also by international organizations.

This paper focuses on corporate governance and aims: (a) to explain how the Japanese financial system is linked to corporate governance, (b) to show how the difficulties faced by the Japanese economy have roots in financial and corporate governance systems, (c) to evaluate recent changes in the financial system, and (d) to provide a brief prospect of what is ahead, and to point out some important, and relevant, public policy issues.¹

After this introduction, section 1 first argues that the basic and determining factor for corporate governance are the methods of corporate financing, and then points out characteristic features of the Japanese financial system. Section 2 explains the corporate monitoring system operated by the main banks as being a traditional Japanese corporate governance system, and makes an assessment of its efficiency. Section 3 first presents two typical financial systems and the resulting corporate governance; then argues how changing circumstances necessitated a weakening of corporate discipline since the 1980's and has been experiencing further changes in recent years. The final section, section 4, presents a brief outlook on the Japanese system and points out public policies that are required.

1. Two views on corporate governance and the Japanese financial system

The term corporate governance has been used to mean a variety of things². However, broadly it can be

 $^{^2}$ Many overview papers have been written on recent research on corporate governance. Okabe (2002b) is an example of a concise



¹ This paper draws heavily on the author's earlier paper in Japanese, Okabe (2003), with the appendix added which draws on Okabe and Fujii (2004).

classified into two kinds. The first is to view corporate governance as a framework by which shareholders ("owners") of corporations discipline or monitor managers of corporations so that an efficient operation can be maintained. This understanding may be called a "finance approach," since it is based on the authority of the provider of funds to corporations; or an "agency view" since it regards managers of corporations as agents to operate corporations on behalf of the shareholders. The second understanding is to regard the issue not simply as a shareholder-manager relationship but to first regard the corporation as a coalition of stakeholders (shareholders, managers, employees, the firm's bank, and so forth) and then regard corporate governance as a complexity of relationships through which various interests are arbitrated; thus, eventually leading to, and disciplining, the behavior of corporations. That is, the latter view regards the firm as belonging not simply to shareholders but basically to all stakeholders. It analyzes the structure of authority and responsibility among stakeholders as well as the outcome of their overall interactions. This understanding may be called a "stakeholder view," in contrast to the first type, the "shareholder view" type. The first view is based primarily on US and British corporations, while the second view on Japanese and German ones. Accordingly, research done in the US and the UK are dominated by those from the shareholder viewpoint; a typically example is the well-known survey article by Shleifer and Vishny (1997). On the other hand, the second view is more commonly found in studies of Japanese corporations or in comparative studies, for example as in Aoki (2000). It is difficult to say which approach is superior; though our view is that the way corporations are financed o provides a basis for understanding corporate governance, even if we the second view is taken. In other words, the issue of corporate governance basically comes down to corporate financing. Hence, it is appropriate that here we review the basics of Japanese finance.

Characteristics of the Japanese finance

To understand the main features of Japanese finance, it is helpful to compare it with that in the US, which provides quite a contrast in many respects. Let us begin with the supply side of funding, namely the household sector that is the largest fund-supplying sector in the economy. The composition of financial assets held by this sector, namely the form of funds provision, is shown in Figure 1. We can see that in Japan the dominant portion of savings of the household sector is allocated (invested) in the form of bank deposits. Put differently, the transfer of funds from the household sector to other sectors is channeled overwhelmingly by way of banks (deposit-taking financial institutions); implying that corporations acquire funds mainly in the form of debt, as opposed to equity. While, in the United States the share of bank deposits in the household portfolio is far smaller, and other type of assets relatively have higher shares; such as various equity-type financial assets including shares and other equities, investment trusts, or marketable bonds. This implies that US firms raise funds mostly by issuing marketable securities, rather than borrowing from banks.

Figure 1: Around here

Financing patterns are thus quite different in the two countries. However, some notes of caution are in order. First, the above statistics may overemphasize the difference between the two countries, since the price of company shares in the US has generally been on an upward trend while that in Japan has trended downward. Second, the financing pattern of corporations reflects not only institutional factors but also cyclical factors, particularly the attitude of the suppliers of funds. In particular, Japanese households have continuously shown risk-averse investment attitudes due to the prolonged economic stagnation in Japan, thus hindering the development of a somewhat riskier financing channel for the economy.

Generally speaking, the financial system of a country is a reflection of not only the demand and supply situation but also of social, cultural and historical factors. In the case of Japan, the heavy reliance on debt financing, rather than equity financing, is characterized by heavy bank-borrowing under the socalled "main bank" system, a form of close and continuous bank-firm relationship. In equity financing, also, a unique feature has prevailed: new shares are not often sold into the market to be held by those in the household sector (individuals), but rather they are allocated to financial institutions or non-financial firms, or they are mutually held in the form of "cross shareholdings" among allied companies.

These features have made Japanese corporate governance rather unique when compared with the Anglo-American style of governance. Next, let us provide an overview of the main bank system that has characterized the institutionalized Japanese corporate finance scene, and then critically evaluate how it functions for corporate governance.

2. Corporate governance in Japan (1): Monitoring by the main bank

Corporate governance in Japan has two basic distinctive features. One is that, as mentioned above, the main bank of a firm has had an important role in monitoring and disciplining the client firm. The other is that equity funding, in which shareholders are theoretically expected to discipline corporations, has had only a limited role in corporate governance, since shares have been extensively cross-held between banks and corporations or between non-bank corporations. These two features have substantial

one in Japanese; Shleifer and Vishny (1997) deals with theoretical aspects, while Bolton et al. (2002) offer a more comprehensive and recent overview. In the present paper, the term "corporations," "companies," and "firms" are used interchangeably.

limiting factors for corporate governance in Japan. Here let us review the first feature³, while we discus the second feature later in section 3-2.

2-1. The meaning of a main bank

Financing patterns of an economy can be classified, as mentioned already, into two: indirect finance, or a bank-based financial system; and direct finance, or a market-based financial system⁴. In Japan, indirect financing has dominated the financial system for all the more than 50 years since World War II; and long-term close relationships between firms and banks have in fact been observed. For instance, even in 1993, when direct financing was gradually biting into the field dominated by indirect financing, more than 90% of large listed corporations still had a "main bank" or two (on average, 1.6 main banks).

A main bank relationship between a firm and a bank is usually characterized as having all or most of the following elements: (1) the firm continuously has had a large (or the largest) borrowing for a long period of time, (2) the bank is a main shareholder of the firm, (3) the bank carries out a variety of banking and other transactions with the firm, such as foreign exchange business and trustee function of corporate bonds, (4) the bank maintains a close human relationship by dispatching executives to the client firm, and (5) the bank often rescues the client firm when the latter is in financial distress, provided that the firm is judged as eventually being viable.

2-2. The function of the main bank and the assessment

The main bank has been understood to have had three functions. First, as an efficient provider of funds to the client firm. The reason for this is that the main bank relationship ameliorates the informational asymmetry in bank lending (since the bank is able to acquire pertinent information on the firm's financial position as well as on the risk of the investment project financing is needed for), and this makes it possible to place a loan at a lower lending rate than in the case without a main bank relationship. Second is monitoring, disciplining and, when necessary, controlling the client firm. This has been possible since a main bank, a creditor and shareholder of the client firm, is effectively in a position to monitor and control the firm on behalf of all the other shareholders. This practice has been widely recognized to have existed. Third, is the provision of 'insurance' against the client firm when the firm is in financial distress. It has been widely observed that the main bank of a firm often rescues the client firm, so long as the firm is deemed viable, by making emergency

loans or by arranging a rescue package involving all creditors. To sum up, the main bank system may be said to have: (a) enabled corporations to efficiently obtain financing, favorable in both quantity and cost aspects, (b) contributed to maintaining efficient business operations by disciplining corporations, and (c) to have assisted corporations to invest in more risky projects. Thus the system was a propelling force for the post-War high-growth of the Japanese economy. In fact, the main bank system attracted a great deal of attention internationally, especially in late 1980s and early 1990s when the Japanese economy was booming due to soaring of asset prices. For instance, the World Bank initiated a large-scale international research project on this in 1990, and it publicized not only the research results but also recommendations to developing and emerging economies to introduce a more or less similar system (for instance, Aoki and Patrick 1994)⁵.

However, it is important, and interesting as well to note that the assessment of main bank system by researchers has altered quite substantially over the last 10 years or so. Up until the mid-1990s, the corporate monitoring role of main bank was highly praised, as in the World Bank reports. But in recent years, number researchers have increasingly shown theoretically and empirically that the monitoring function of a main bank should, and in fact did, function not at any time but only when a set of conditions were satisfied. An econometric study reported in the Appendix shows that main banks were not performing a disciplining function as early as 1989, the peak period of the asset price bubble. The prolonged difficulty faced by the Japanese economy in a changing domestic and international environments actually provides evidence for this observation that implementation of the traditional functions is no longer expected⁶. Thus let us turn to recent developments in Japanese corporate governance.

3. Corporate governance in Japan (2): Recent developments

In this section, we discuss how Japanese corporate governance has changed, and what have been the causes that necessitated those changes. But before that, it is helpful to introduce a conceptual framework for the two kinds of financial systems. Since the mode of corporate financing determines the base of corporate governance, as mentioned earlier, the two financial systems define two types of corporate governance, as shown in Table 1^7 .

³ For detailed discussion, refer to Okabe (1999: chapters 1 and 2).
⁴ This dichotomy, while quite simple and easy to understand, has an inaccuracy in one important respect: the actual US system should be described not as direct finance but as a market-based indirect financial system, and the desirable future Japanese system should also be characterized by the same terminology, as will be discussed in section 4.

⁵ After this, the World Bank conducted research on what kind financial system is to be recommended to developing countries. The most recent comprehensive research outcome is compiled in Demirguc-Kunt and Levine (2001).

⁶ For theoretical and empirical analyses of these functions, refer to Okabe (2002a: chapter 5).

⁷ For details of the following discussion, refer to Okabe (1999: chapter 1), and Okabe (2002a: chapter 6). The most comprehensive description on this theme is probably Allen and Gale (2000).

3-1. Two types of financial system Table 1: Around here

First type is the "Anglo-American model," or the "market-based financial system." In this, the financial transaction, in principle, takes place in an open market between the market participants keeping each other at arm's length; each transaction is theoretically independent of previous and future transactions. Here, financing takes place in the form of securities; by selling them when procuring funds and by buying them when providing funds. It is from this characteristic that this type is sometimes known alternatively as security-based finance, a marketbased system, or an open-market model. In this system, firms procure long-term funds in the capital markets; depending on banks for only short-term funds, so that bank dependency is relatively low. As the relationship between a firm and a bank remains relatively weak, it becomes necessary for firms to hold abundant internal funds for conducting daily transactions and some capital expenditure.

Further, it is the pressure of a hostile takeover coming from the stock market, not the bank, that monitors and controls the firm and indirectly secures the efficiency of the form's operation. Accordingly, the Anglo-American model is often called the 'outsider' model, from the viewpoint of corporate governance. Contrarily, in the second type, namely the Japanese-German model, financial transactions take place basically between banks (or other financial intermediaries) and a client firm in a bilateral manner that has a continuous element comings from the maintenance of a close long-term relationship. In this case, the main financing method is bank lending (loan), so that this system is often known alternatively as loan-type finance, bank-based finance, an institution-based system, a bank-based system, or a bilateral model. Here, banks provide not only short-term but also long-term funds, either by making a loan or by acquiring corporate bonds or equities issued by corporations; so that the firm's dependency on the bank is high. Banks may often acquire stocks issued by the client firm and hold that stock in a 'stable' manner. Accordingly, a bank is both lender and shareholder for the client firm, so that the bank comes to participate in the management of the client firm in both these capacities. Thus corporations are said to be monitored and disciplined by banks (especially main banks), rather than controlled by the pressure of the stock market. Therefore, the Japanese-German model is sometimes called the 'insider' or networktype model, again from the viewpoint of corporate governance.

For a firm, the maintenance of a close and continuous relationship with a bank means that the firm can count on timely and flexible borrowing from the bank; thus it is not necessary for the firm to maintain to hand abundant internal funds or liquidity. Further, if this kind of bank-firm relationship is maintained, it generates to the bank a large flow of information about the client firm (thus reducing the information asymmetry), and this may somewhat reduce the cost of funding for the firm since the risk premium in the borrowing rate is smaller.

Functional properties of the two financial systems

These two systems naturally display distinctive performance characteristics. In terms of information processing, the Anglo-American model is a system in which all the information is brought into the market, which tends to have well-developed systems for the acquisition and distribution of information. So the cost of information is low, and the risk involved in initiating a project is basically dispersed onto market participants. Accordingly, this system is more responsive to changes in circumstances, and is suited for riskier economic activities, such as developing new industries or new technologies. In particular, the system is suitable for establishing new firms, because such firms usually cannot borrow from banks due to a lack of physical collateral, usually a prerequisite for bank borrowing. In fact, this kind of performance nature of the system has been seen in the invention and development of railways, the computer and biotechnology. We can state here that the system is well suited to 'product innovation.'

In contrast, the Japanese-German model, which is characterized by the delegation of the funding process to intermediaries, does not work well when there is a diversity of opinion and high risk. But it is a superior system for finance in cases where agreement of opinions among stakeholders is important; because, in this system a long-term relationship is maintained and items of private information are shared among the various stakeholders. Accordingly, this system is suited for financing where a business enterprise may be redeemed as a going concern, and the firm's goal is to accelerate capital investment or to accumulating firm-specific labor skills, both of which are crucially important for mass-scale production of existing products. Thus this system is suited for financing existing products or industries where innovation and risk are relatively small, and improving technological and production efficiency is more important. This interpretation can be validated when we see that both Japan and Germany have had competitive edges in industries such as automobiles and electronics. We can state here that system is good for 'process innovation.'

In addition to the above two types, financing through venture capital needs to be noted. Venture capital is a financing institution whose main activity is to supply money to risky newly established firms by acquiring shares and to proffer advice on the business operation to those firms. Venture capital has offered a way to combine funding of high-risk projects and managerial support in a flexible way for new and innovative firms, which typically lack collateral, track record and managerial experience (CGFS 2002). Accordingly it has a character resembling the Anglo-American or capital-market based system. Since the Japanese economy now requires product innovation, as will be discussed later, it is important for this mode of financing to grow in Japan in future.

3-2. Changing environment and weakening of corporate governance

What is the historical evolvement of main bank system based Japanese corporate governance? Up until the late 1980s, the Japanese economy seemed to be performing marvelously well, especially in the late 1980s when the economy boomed from the rise of asset prices, giving the appearance that there was no problem in the financial system. Rather, many observers, both Japanese and overseas, pointed out that the Japanese financial system was one of the factors contributing to the booming economy. However, it was in this period that the previously much praised financial system and its resulting corporate governance system began to show its limitations, and to fail to carry out the functions required of it. This fact, unfortunately, was not properly recognized by either the policy makers or academic researchers. Malfunctioning of the financial system started due to changes in the economic environment, as follows.

First, accumulation of business profits had strengthened financial positions and self financing capacities of firms; along with a decline of corporate dependency on banks. Second, blue chip firms had been able to raise funds in overseas markets (by issuing securities) more easily, in greater volumes and at less cost than in the tightly regulated domestic markets. This also lead corporations to rely far less on bank borrowing than before, so that banks had increasingly lost their basis for monitoring corporations. Consequently, in the late 1980s, Japanese corporations had lost the basis of their efficient operations and increasingly went on to speculatively acquire real estate. Banks, on the other hand, also revealed their own problems in the lack of a disciplinary mechanism, which lead to seeking business scale rather than efficiency and to insufficient screening when making loans. This situation brought about unsound bank loan practices and, after the mid-1990s, those loans turned out to be non-performing, and this continues to distress Japanese banks even today.

Put simply, changes in the economic conditions after the 1980s rendered the traditional corporate governance mode no longer workable or effective. In fact, recent research, such as Hirota (1996), Weinstein and Yafeh (1998), Horiuchi (2002), Osano and Hori (2002), in increasing numbers strongly confirm this observation. Accordingly, it has been more customary in recent years to say that one of the important causes of the bubble economy in late 1980s was the fragile nature of both the monitoring power of main banks and corporate governance of banks themselves. That is to say, it has become a general understanding that the "vacuum of corporate governance" of Japanese firms, or its weakening, emerged during the bubble period and has become an important structural problem for the Japanese economy. For a detailed discussion, please refer to Okabe (1999: chapter 2) and Okabe (2002a).

The above argument leads to the following general conclusions. First, there is no single answer to the question of what the "best" financial system is; that answer depends on various economic and other conditions. One size does not fit all nor does it even fit all the time. Second, conditions to determine an optimal financial system include such factors as the stage of economic development, effectiveness of regulation, degree of openness of the economy or of financial globalization, and information and communication technology. These factors can jointly determine an optimal financial system for a country. If given these factors, then, can we say that the Japanese financial system has been, and is, changing for the better? Let us first sort out the recent developments that have altering the Japanese financial system, and then in section 4 we hope to answer that question.

3-3. Changing environment and changes in the financial system

The weakening of corporate governance, as mentioned above, is an outcome of a mix of a variety of factors. Of these, the four factors that follow are ones that have already had an effect and are particularly important in formulating any forecast regarding the future financial system. They are: (1) changing patterns of corporate finance, (2) dissolution of cross shareholding, (3) increased role of institutional investors, and (4) effects of innovations in information and communication technology (ICT). Let us briefly review them in turn.

(1) changing patterns of corporate financing: notable, growing out of debt

How has the financing pattern of Japanese corporations, on which corporate governance is based, evolved in recent years? Statistics for 1991-2001 are shown in Table 2. From this, we can note the following: (1) the total amount of funds acquired maintained a clear downward trend throughout this period, (2) internal funds have always had an overwhelming importance, (3) acquisition of external funds declined drastically (for the period of 1998-2001 such acquisitions actually were negative; that is, there was a net repayment of debt), and (4) of all external finance sources, bank borrowing rapidly decreased while equity funding remained rather stable.

Table 2: Around here

Does negative external funding (net repayment) mean that corporate financing has lost meaning for corporate governance? Not so, for the following reasons: even though the yearly acquisition of funds, as shown in the table, is negative for these years, the aggregate amount of this flow of funds, namely the net amount outstanding (financial assets minus fi-



nancial liabilities) still show a position of net fund acquisition. In fact, the corporate sector is still the largest fund raising sector in the economy; on the basis of stock. To use the statistics as of the end of March 2002; business corporations (non-financial private corporations) had financial assets of 688 trillion yen, and with financial liabilities of 1,101 trillion ven. This is a net balance of financial liabilities of 413 trillion yen. Of the financial liabilities, 419 trillion yen was in bank borrowing, 354 trillion yen was in shares and other equities, and 81 trillion yen was in debentures and issuance of commercial papers⁸. To conclude, corporate financial structure as stock still shows net financial liabilities (and traditional indirect financing still dominates); so basically, the disciplining mechanism coming from the financial structure has not lost its validity, even though corporations rapidly decreased borrowing on a net flow basis. Of the four characteristics above, (1) is obviously a reflection of stagnant capital investment due to the prolonged economic depression. But what about items (2), (3) and (4); what do they mean to corporate governance? A fundamental theory of corporate finance, the Modigliani-Miller theorem, asserts that under a set of assumptions (perfect market, absence of tax, etc.) the value of a firm is not affected by its method of finance, whether debt financing or equity financing. But in reality this is not so. In Japan and the US, an explanation called the "pecking order hypothesis," or the hierarchy theory of financing, has been recognized as describing the actual situation⁹. According to this hypothesis, a firm is behaves in the following way: in the first place it will have an order of preference for choosing a method of finance, and then it will successively utilize the method of finance with the least cost, thus minimizing the total cost of funding. The feature (2) can be explained by this hypothesis.

But it is difficult to interpret features (3) and (4) by applying this hypothesis. The reason for this comes from the hypothesis' presumption. The pecking order hypothesis does not properly take bankruptcy risk into consideration, thus limiting its applicability. This is quite an important limitation, since bankruptcy risk has been generally rising during the long period of stagnation of the Japanese economy through the 1990s and early 2000s. In other words, when a firm tries to raise funds, its concern is more with bankruptcy risk than the cost of funds. This is because the cost of funds is Japan is extremely low due to the historically unprecedented easy monetary policy overseen by the Bank of Japan, on the one hand, and bankruptcy risk is generally high, on the other. Accordingly it becomes rational behavior for firms to reduce debt that would increase corporate risk and to increase owned capital, a financial buffer. It can be understood that the this kind of corporate

behavior resulted in features (3) and (4). As seen above, corporations have rapidly decreased borrowing from financial institutions, banks in particular, and even when borrowing has not decreased, the bargaining position of banks has been substantially eroded in the extremely loose monetary environment. It is therefore natural that the monitoring authority and power of main banks has rapidly declined. A good example to demonstrate this situation is the "forbearance lending;" the behavior of banks to refinance firms even in cases where there is little prospect of firms repaying the loans extended. Various statistics show that in the first half of the 1990s banks extended further loans to, real estate and service industries whose profitability was hovering at low levels rather than force them to repay. Consequently banks assisted in slackening the business operations of these firms, still less monitored them to assist in efficient operations (Sekine, Kobayashi, and Saita 2003). This kind of bank behavior indicates that the ability of banks to discipline corporate behavior has declined drastically. It is certainly true that the disciplining function of debt has not been not lost; in as far as firms have debt outstanding. But we can see that the traditional corporate governance framework---banks monitoring client firms---has now collapsed and the disciplining function of the stock market has been gaining importance.

(2) Dissolution of cross shareholding

Another important feature of Japanese corporate finance, or of the Japanese economic system more generally, is "cross shareholding," or mutual holding of shares between banks and their client business corporations, or between non-financial business corporations¹⁰. When shares are held mutually, there two potentially serious problems arise. First, it is likely that the disciplining pressure coming from the capital market is relatively weak. This happens because, when shares are held mutually, managers of both corporations are likely to implicitly agree not to intervene in the management of the counterpart corporation; and because the possibility of bloc share trading or a hostile takeover is decreased. The second problem is that, when equities are mutually held between banks and insurance companies, mutual equity holding increases the systemic risk of the entire financial system (BIS 2002, p135). This is all the more likely, since in recent years the financial positions of Japanese insurance companies have been rather fragile. Further, this kind of mutual equity holding reduces the monitoring and disciplining function of insurance companies vis-a-vis banks, and tends to induce forbearance lending by banks, thus generating a serious issue regarding the efficiency of the entire economy.

VIRTUS

⁸ Author's calculation based on Bank of Japan Financial and Economic Statistics Monthly, September 2002, page 255.

⁹ For details, see Okabe (1999: chapter 1, section 4).

¹⁰ Detailed analysis of cross shareholding, including the reasons for, its effects, and the future outlook is presented in Okabe (2002a).

Figure 2: Around here

Cross shareholding, which involves the above problems, has been unraveling especially after the mid-1990s, as seen in Figure 2. This has important implications for corporate governance. When crossheld shares are released from both parties and are sold in the market, a substantial part of such shares have been acquired by Japanese institutional and foreign investors. Important here is that foreign investors have traditionally been keen on a return on equity (ROE) in their investment (see Appendix for empirical evidence), and that Japanese investors (pension trusts, investment trusts) have in recent years likewise become increasingly keen on ROE. This means that the higher the ROE of the share, the more it is preferred and consequently acquired by investors in the stock market. This kind of selective investment attitude of investors implies that Japanese corporations are likely to feel more pressure from the capital market and from shareholders; and that governance is likely to have an Anglo-American element of efficiency rather than an expansion of business volume. Accordingly, we can state that the dissolution of cross shareholding, as observed in recent years, has somewhat rectified the "vacuum of corporate governance" and has contributed to raising the efficiency of Japanese corporations.

(3) Increased role of institutional investors

When we discuss the prospect of Japanese corporate governance, we cannot dismiss the possibility of the increased role of domestic institutional investors. Institutional investors are specialized financial institutions that manage savings collectively on behalf of small investors, governed by a specific objective in terms of acceptable risk, return maximization, and maturity of claims (Davis and Steil 2001). Typical institutions include pension funds, investment trusts, and life insurance companies.

Institutional investors have shown remarkable growth in the major countries of Europe and in North America over the last ten years (Davis and Steil 2001). However, in Japan their growth has remained moderate, even though some improvements have been made in the legal framework (regarding securities investment trusts) under which they operate, and deregulation has taken place (such as allowing banks to sell investment trusts at their counters). But a great increase in growth can be expected in Japan because the kind of financial assets (instruments) that institutional investors provide have good potential for growth. Until recently, and even now, alternative financial assets available to households have been quite limited, as shown earlier in Figure 1, and households are now much more willing to diversify their portfolio than previously, as various surveys have indicated. Given these circumstances and the traditional risk-averse attitudes of Japanese households, they are more likely to choose medium-risk mediumreturn financial assets (such as investment trusts) rather than to suddenly invest in high-risk highreturn assets. Another reason is that pension funds, already an important institutional investor, are expected to increase in size and number due to the aging of Japan's population; thus the assets held by those funds are also expected to grow.

If institutional investors grow in number and in the financial activities they participate in, corporate governance will be profoundly affected. It is because that, above all, institutional investors are subject to a fiduciary duty, the responsibility imposed upon agents (such as insurance companies and pension funds) to manage entrusted funds for the ultimate benefit of the principal (individuals). Therefore, when institutional investors choose financial assets, company shares in particular, for their portfolios, it is natural that they tend to focus on the rate of return, and to prefer shares with higher rates of return. As a result, the pressure coming from the stock market encourages corporations to operate more efficiently. In fact, in the United States, since mid-1980s a series of laws have been passed regarding financial investment by pension funds, and trustees of pension funds have been required to be actively involve in the management decisions of the corporations in which they invest (such as by exercising voting rights). As a result of this, US corporate governance has been said to have been strengthened. In Japan, on the other hand, the fiduciary duties of institutional investors are rather ambiguous, hence clarification of this situation remains an important public policy issue; nevertheless the influence of institutional investors on corporate governance is sure to steadily increase in the coming years.

(4) Effects of information and communication technology (ICT) innovation

Information and communication technology (ICT) innovation is also likely to affect the various modes of corporate governance. Since the real extent of the influence of ICT on the economy is not yet clarified, suffice it to mention here two aspects regarding financial markets. One is that ICT innovation enables the valuation of a firm, by financial markets, to be more accurate since ICT generally tends to provide financial markets with more information of all aspects of a corporation, and to provide it more efficiently ands in a more timely manner. Therefore, continually evolving situation of ICT and its effects on financial markets is conducive to promoting the operational efficiency of corporations. In fact, in the US, changes in the character of financial markets that have been driven by ICT innovation are reported to have strengthened the disciplining of corporations through the market-based corporate governance mechanism (mergers, acquisitions, and takeovers) or by restructuring business operations (Holstrom and Kaplan 2001).

The other effect is that ICT innovation has brought about a revolution in financial transactions



and financial products, since it enables instantaneous acquisition and processing of massive amounts of financial and other data. For instance, derivatives (financial contracts of trading risk or other property as derived from an underlying asset), and assetbacked securities (ABS, a marketable security that is issued by bundling, and backed up by relatively smaller assets) are good examples. If the transaction of these financial products increases in Japan, corporations will be able to rely more on market-based finance or to diversify their methods of financing; consequently risk can be more widely dispersed, from financial institutions to various economic agents (CGFS 2002). This will promote efficiency within the entire economy, and probably strengthen corporate governance by market forces.

4. Prospect and policy issues

Four factors mentioned above, namely the changing patterns of corporate finance, the dissolution of cross shareholding, the increased role of institutional investors, and ICT innovation, all have been instrumental in driving the changes that are moving Japanese corporate governance from a bank-based to a market-based corporate governance system. Thus the system is anticipated to change, from one in which disciplining pressure comes from a single institution (the main bank), to one in which various markets (such as stock, debenture, ABS, and derivatives markets) take over that role. This change in how disciplining power on corporations is exercised is likely to show three characteristics.

First, as mentioned several times, change will take place from an overall bank-centered governance to more or less a shareholder- or stock marketcentered corporate governance. However, this change is not as simple as "from indirect finance to direct finance," but it is rather a change "from a bilateral or relationship centered indirect finance to a marketbased indirect finance." The point is that indirect finance will probably still dominate but that market elements will increase. In reality, the US financial system should be characterized basically as "marketbased indirect finance," rather than "direct finance" (Okabe 1999: chapter 1, section 2); which is precisely the system that is expected to evolve in Japan, and is the one deemed desirable (Royama 2002).

Second, corporate governance is not expected to converge to one kind of system but rather to diversify. The reason being that corporate governance systems involve a variety of aspects, not only economic but also historical, social and cultural ones; and there is probable no one universally accepted optimal model. For instance, the number of "good" Japanese companies whose top priority is that of the shareholders' interest is comparatively few (Niihara 2003). Also, the recent amendment of the Business Law (enacted in April 2003) aiming to strengthen corporate governance offers two options to choose from for a corporate governance structure¹¹. This is one of the factors that will cause the Japanese corporate governance system to diversify. Further, a recent survey (Policy Research Institute 2003) covering 400 large corporations has revealed that in the manufacturing industry, diversity in terms of business areas, organizational structure, and corporate governance structure has increased since 1990.

Third, although there is a definite and strong trend for Japanese corporate governance moving toward an Anglo-American or market-based governance system, there is little possibility that it will converge on that mode. One reason is that there are two kinds of factors determining corporate governance: one is the factors that converge easily internationally, such as financial markets reflecting financial globalization, financial data, and accounting rules; the other is those that are less likely to converge, such as the social system of a nation, commercial and corporation laws that reflect history and commercial practices. Another reason is that to efficiently achieve sustainable economic growth, both institutions and markets have their own roles and either one alone would not make for an efficient system (Levine 2002, Bech and Levine 2000). This conclusion is also confirmed from an analysis (Shirai 2003) of the late 1990s economic crisis of East Asian countries and the lessons derived from the policy responses of the nations effected.

In summary, we can state that there is are indications that disciplining mechanisms are being reestablished for Japanese corporations (see Appendix for an econometric evidence), after a vacuum of corporate governance was experienced for close to fifteen years. This means that Japanese firms have been increasingly obliged to emphasize efficiency of capital, ROE, or efficiency of assets, ROA, rather than to merely expand sales volume. Financial system also may be said to have been changing to a more desirable one in two respects, commensurate with changes in economic environment.

The system may be said to have been changing from what was suitable for "process innovation" to what is suitable for "product innovation." The traditional, well-established, Japanese financial system that has historically played an important role, has now lost the validity for its functioning under a new set of domestic and international circumstances. That is, many Japanese products, such as fiber, iron and steel, chemical products and machinery, in which Japan once enjoyed comparative advantages, are now facing keen competition of China and other East Asian countries, and cannot compete on price, and

¹¹ In addition to the existing system, where an auditors' committee audits the board of directors, a US-type governance institution was introduced as a new option. In this, executives are stipulated to literally execute company operations, while the board of directors specializes in monitoring the company operations conducted by executives, and within which duty the board is required to establish auditing and another two committees of which half the members must be chosen from outside the corporation.

gradually on quality as well. Accordingly, Japanese industries need to shift the products toward a more technology-intensive mix to survive internationally; therefore, the financial system must change to foster such industrial change. Continuing changes in recent years can be usefully evaluated in accordance with this evolutionary trend.

Another aspect is that the changes in the system toward a market-based one may be said to be in a direction that will ensure a more stable system or to a system more resilient to various shocks. In a bankbased system, risks inevitably concentrate in banks, while in market-based system, risks are broadly dispersed to various agents within the economy. Indeed, these characteristics have been confirmed in the period of the late 1990s to the early 2000s when the stability of financial institutions (especially banks) in Europe and the US remained remarkably stable, even though a number of defaults of debentures occurred owing to some general depression. This was in sharp contrast with the bitter experiences of the late 1980s to early 1990s (CGFS 2002).

However, issues of public policy remain to be addressed, if the recent trends are to yield the expected results. One area is to nurture an environment for company shares to be held more extensively throughout the economy, and for companies to be more appropriately monitored by shareholders¹². This would include improvements in the legal and institutional frameworks of securities investment trusts, and the establishing of a system of effective corporate governance by institutional investors. Also, there are many lessons to be learned from the drastic improvement in the US situation, regarding accounting disclosure and auditing systems; these should improve the framework of Japanese capital markets. The recent amendment of Japanese Commercial Law, enacted in April 2003, now provides an improved legal framework, but in reality there remains work to substantiate this new framework: such as adjusting monitoring capacity of boards of directors, and substantiating the contribution to come from outside directors for better corporate management and governance.

References

- 1. Allen, F. and Gale, D. (2000) Comparing Financial Systems, Cambridge, Mass. : MIT Press.
- Aoki, M. (2000) Information, Corporate Governance, and Institutional Diversity: Competitiveness in Japan, the USA, and the Transitional Economies, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Aoki, M. and Patrick, H. (eds.) (1994) The Japanese Main Bank System: Its Relevance for Developing and Transforming Economies, Oxford: Clarendon Press Oxford.

- 4. Bank for International Settlements (BIS) (2002) "The interaction between the financial sector and the real economy," chapter 7, 72nd Annual Report, July, pp. 122-140. http://www.bis.org/>
- Bank of Japan (2000) "Japan's Financial Structure--in View of the Flow of Funds Accounts," Bank of Japan Research Monthly, December 28. http://www.boj.or.jp/en/ronbun/00/data/ron0012a.pdf
- Beck, T. and Levine, R. (2000) "New firm formation and industry growth: Does having a market- or bankbased system matter?," World Bank working paper no. 2383, June.
- Bolton, P., M. Becht, and A. Roell (2002) "Corporate governance and control," NBER Working Paper, no. 9371, December.
- Committee on the Global Financial System (CGFS) (2002) IT innovations and financing patterns: implications for the financial system, Bank for International Settlements. http://www.bis.org/index.htm
- 9. Davis, E. P., and B. Steil (2001) "The development of institutional investors," chapter 1, Institutional Investors, Cambridge, Mass. : MIT Press.
- Demirguc-Kunt, A., and R. Levine (eds.) (2001) Financial Structures and Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Comparison of Banks, Markets, and Development, Cambridge, Mass. :MIT Press.
- Hirota, S. (1996) "Nihon no kin-yuu shouken shijyou to kouporeto gabanansu" (in Japanese) (Money and securities markets and corporate governance in Japan), in T. Tachibanaki and Y. Tsutsui, (eds.), Nihon no shihon shijyou (Japanese capital Markets), Tokyo: Nihon hyouron sha.
- Holstrom, B. and Kaplan, S. N. (2001) "Corporate governance and merger activity in the United States: making sense of the 1980s and 1990s," Journal of Economic Perspectives; 15(2), pp. 121 -144.
- Horiuchi, A. (2002) "Nihon no kin-yuu shisutemu" (in Japanese) (Japanese financial system) in K. Kaizuka and Policy Research Institute (eds.), Saihou nihongata keizai shisutemu (Japanese economic system revisited), Tokyo: Yuuhikaku.
- 14. Levine, R. (2002) "Bank-based or market-based financial systems: which is better?" NBER Working Paper, no. 9138, September.
- 15. Niihara, H. (2003) "The skills of the best managers at superior companies," a paper presented at "Corporate Governance from an International Perspective: Diversity or Convergence," Research Institute of Economy, Trade and Industry, January 10, 2003, Tokyo.
- Nippon Life Insurance (NLI) Research Institute (2003) "Kabushiki mochiai jyoukyou chousa: 2002 nendo han" (in Japanese) (A survey of cross shareholdings: fiscal year 2002), September.
- 17. Okabe, M. (1999) Kankyouhenka to nihon no kinyuu: baburu houkai, jyouhou gijuku kakushin, koukyou seisaku (in Japanese) (Finance and the financial system of contemporary Japan: changes in the environment and required public policy), Nihon-hyouron sha.
- Okabe, M. (2002a) Cross Shareholdings in Japan: A New Unified Perspective of the Economic System, Edward Elgar Publishing, U. K.
- Okabe, M. (2002b) "Kooporeito gabanansu no kenkyuu doukou: Tenbou (in Japanese) (Researches on corporate governance: a survey), Keio SFC Journal, Keio University Shonan-Fujisawa Academic Society, 1 (1). < http://fklab.net /journal/>



¹² Since employees of corporations are important stakeholders, particularly in Japan, there is validity for their representatives to participate in company management. In this regard, the German system is highly suggestive (Okabe 1999: Box 2-1).

- 20. Okabe, M. (2003) "Kin-yuu shisutemu to kooporeto gabanansu (in Japanese) (Financial system and corporate governance), in M. Okabe ed., Sougou Seisakugaku no Saisentan (Frontiers of policy and governance research), Tokyo: Keio University Press.
- 21. Okabe, M. and K. Fujii (2004) "Nihon keizai anteisei no kiso to shiteno kooporeito gabanansu: Teiryouteki bunseki" (in Japanese) (Corporate governance as a basis of Japanese economic stability: an empirical analysis), Policy and Governance Working Paper.
- 22. Osano, H., and K. Hori (2002) "Mein banku-kigyou kan no shikin choutatsu kankei to kabushiki mochiai (in Japanese) (Funding relationship and cross shareholding between main bank and business corporations), Shouken Anarisuto jyaanaru (Security Analysts Journal), 40 (12), December.
- 23. Policy Research Institute (2003) "Report of the research committee on the diversification of Japanese companies and corporate governance--analysis of business strategy, group management, and decentralized organizations,' Ministry of Finance.

(原則として続ける)

- 24. Royama, S. (ed.) (2002) Kin-yuu shisutemu to gyousei no shourai bijon (in Japanese) (Future vision of financial system and government administration), Tokyo: Zaikei shouhou sha.
- 25. Sekine, T., K. Kobayashi, and Y. Saita (2003) "Forbearance lending: the case of Japanese firms," Monetary and Economic Studies; 21(2), Institute for Monetary and Economic Studies, Bank of Japan, August.
- Shirai, S. (2003) "Kin-yuu shihon shijyo no genjyou, 26 kaikaku, oyobi seisaku kadai: kankoku, tai, indoneshia, mareishia, chuugoku no keiken wo motomishite (in Japanese) (The present state, reforms, and policy agenda of financial and capital markets: an analysis based on the experience of Korea, Indonesia, Malaysia, and China), in M. Okabe ed., Sougou Seisakugaku no Saisentan (Frontiers of policy and governance research), Tokyo: Keio University Press.
- 27. Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. W. (1997) "A survey of corporate governance," Journal of Finance; 52 (2), June, pp. 737-783.
- 28. Weinstein, D. E. and Yafeh, Y. (1998) "On the costs of a bank-centered financial system: evidence from the changing main bank relations in Japan," Journal of Finance; 53(2), April, pp. 635-72.

Appendix: Corporate governance structure and company performance: an empirical study

How, and to what extent does corporate governance, in particular the ownership structure, affect the performance of companies? Here an empirical study conducted jointly by the author and his student, and reported elsewhere¹³, is briefly summarized. The study aims to investigate how various "governance variables," namely debt and the ownership structure, affect company performance or the value of the company. Specifically, the following multiple regression model was estimated:

$TOBIN = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 DEBT + \alpha_3 MB + \alpha_4 DIR + \alpha_5 FOREIGNER$ $+\alpha_6 INDIVIDUAL +\alpha_7 FINANCIAL +\alpha_8 CORP +\varepsilon$

where

TOBIN: Tobin's q

Tobin's q = (Total market value of issued shares + Interest- bearing debt) / (Owned equity + interest-bearing debt).DEBT: Debt to asset ratio

Debt to asset ratio = Total debt / Total asset.

MB: Dependency on main bank

MB = Amount of lending by the top lending bank / Total debt.

DIR: Directors' shareholding ratio

FOREIGNER: Foreigners' shareholding ratio INDIVIDUAL: Individuals' shareholding ratio

FINANCIAL: Financial institutions' shareholding ratio¹⁴

CORP: Other corporations' shareholding ratio

 ε : Error term

Estimations were run using cross-section accounting data of large (listed) companies for two years: 1989 (for 501 companies) and 1999 (for 499 companies). 1989 was the peak period of the "bubble economy," and 1999 was the most recent year for which consistent statistical data is available. For the details of the data and the basic statistics of the sample¹⁵, refer to Okabe and Fujii (2004).

Table A: around here

Estimated results, shown in Table A, are generally satisfactory with all the variables highly significant. From this, we can make following observations: (1) Debt had a steady disciplining role, as expected, for both 1989 and 1999.

(2) Having a main bank had a negative effect on company performance for both years. This implies that the monitoring and disciplining function of a main bank, if it existed, had already disappeared as early as in 1998. This result is broadly consistent with other recent research, quoted in the main text of this paper. We may interpret this result to imply that one of the causes for the asset price bubble in late 1980s was that of the vacuum of bank corporate governance.

VIRTUS

¹³ Okabe and Fujii (2004).

¹⁴ Excluding investment trusts and pension funds.

¹⁵ Some interesting figures are: the average of Tobin's q is 2.31 for 1989, indicating asset price bubble, while 0.60 for 1999; the debt to asset ratios are high for both years with 68.69 and 64.36, respectively, reflecting the reliance on bank finance; and individuals' shareholding ratio rose from 25.77 to 30.57.

(3) Shareholding by foreigners had consistently positive effects on company performance (disciplining function). This is because their motives are usually to obtain high investment returns and sometimes discipline the company with their "voice."

For the others of the four explanatory variables, the nature of the influences changed (signs of the parameter reversed) between these two years, statistically significantly. For each of these cases, the following interpretation can be made, with reasons presumably effecting the change.

(4) Directors' shareholding had a negative effect on company performance in 1989, but became positive in 1999, although the size of the parameter in the latter is quite small. The negative effect in 1989 is due probably to moral hazard on the part of directors, while the change to a positive value in 1999 is due presumably to the increase in incentives, or the tightening of the role of directors as seen in the increased amount of litigation against directors for poor or illegal company performances.

(5) Both financial institutions' shareholding and other corporations' shareholding ratios had negative effects on company performance in 1989, but both became positive in 1999. This result is rather difficult to interpret, since various theoretical analyses conclude that there is no unique direction (the sign of the parameter) for the effect of bloc shareholders. But the results indicate that bloc shareholders have positively influenced company performances in more recent years.

(6) The shareholding ratio of individuals' changed, quite contrary to the above three cases, from positive in 1989 to negative in 1999. The positive effect in 1989 is due probably to more concentrated shareholding among individuals thus having a disciplinary effect. While the negative effect in 1999 may be explained by a dispersion of shares to more individuals, implying that (smaller) individual shareholders are reluctant to monitor the company by putting in time and other resources to this end, but that they prefer a "free ride" on the disciplining activities by other types of shareholders. All in all, the results suggest that the disciplinary effect on corporations coming from shareholders, except for shareholding by individuals holding smaller blocs, seems to have increased in recent years.

Table 1. Two types of financial systems and their properties: Anglo-American and Japanese-German models

	Anglo-American model	Japanes	e-German model
Main financial transaction	Open market		Bilateral transaction
Main funding instrument	Securities		Loan
Dependence on banks	Low		High
Nature of bank loan	Short term	Short term and long term	
importance of internal funds	High		Low
Shareholding by banks	Not important		Important
Major shareholders	Households Institutional investors	Banks	Intercorporate shareholding
Block share trading	Frequent		Not frequent
Corporate control	Stock market	Banks (main banks)	
information processing	Market acquires and distributes diversity of opinion and risk; Information cost is low		Banks and client companies jointly own information by keeping long-term relation- ship; economies of scale in information acquisition
Allocation of risk to various economic agents	Risk is dispersed broadly concentrated in banks		Risk is essentially
Performance characteristics	More responsive to change		Superior at implementing corporate policies that require agreements among various groups
Suitable economic activity	Developing new industries, new techno- logies and starting up new businesses (Product innovation)	Improvi process existing	ng the production and efficiency of products (Process innovation)
industry examples	Railways, computer and biotechnology	Automo	biles and electronics

(Source) Okabe (2002a) Table 6.1, with some revision and expansion.

Table 2. Sources of funds of private non-financial corporations, yearly average in trillion yen

	1990-93	1994-97	1998-2001
Acquired funds total	86.2	53.0	37.7
Internal funds	52.5	48.1	43.6
External funds	33.7	4.9	-5.9
New stock issue	2.7	2.4	2.1
Debenture	2.7	-0.8	-0.7
Bank borrowing	28.3	3.3	-7.3

(Source) Calculated by the author using Financial Statements Statistics of Corporations, Ministry of Finance. http://www.mof.go.jp/1c002.htm



	1989	1999	
Debt	0.05620 *** (77.57)	0.00991 *** (83.81)	
Main bank	-4.35247 *** (-31.15)	-0.64923 *** (-33.07)	
Directors' shareholding ratio	-0.02989 *** (-14.82)	0.00420 *** (83.81)	
Foreigners' shareholding ratio	0.07965 *** (24.32)	0.02829 *** (45.60)	
Individuals' shareholding ratio	0.01697 *** (17.27)	-0.00704 *** (-104.77)	
Financial institutions' shareholding ratio	-0.01918 *** (-32.79)	0.00155 *** (12.04)	
Other corporations' shareholding ratio	-0.01578 *** (-23.63)	0.00307 *** (20.43)	
Adjusted-R ²	0.9939	0.9983	
Ν	501	499	

Table A. Regression results of the relative value of corporations

(Note) t-values in parentheses; asterisks ***, **, * indicate the significance at 1%, 5%, 10% levels, respectively. (Source) Okabe and Fujii (2004), Table 4-3.





Figure 1. Financial assets held by households: Japan and the US end of March 2000

Source: Bank of Japan (2000, chart 8)

Figure 2. Stable shareholding ratios and cross shareholding ratios (in per cent, at the end of March)

Source: NLI Research Institute (2003)
MANAGERIAL DISCRETION IN NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS: AN APPLICATION TO SPANISH WORK ACCIDENT MUTUALS

Eugenia Suárez Serrano*

Abstract

This paper explores the problems of managerial discretion in the non-profit sector, with special consideration to Spanish Work Accident Mutuals (MATEPs). Firstly, from Transaction Costs, Property Rights and Agency perspectives, the economic rationale of mutuals is analyzed, paying particular attention to MATEP's peculiarities and incentives in terms of competition, regulation and ownership. Subsequently, the effectiveness of governance mechanisms is discussed, showing that the status quo leaves excess power in the hands of the managers of these organizations.

Keywords: Work Accident Mutuals, non-profit sector, managerial discretion, corporate governance, Agency Theory, Property Right, Transaction Costs, Spain

* Universidad de Oviedo, Escuela Universitaria Jovellanos, C/ Francisco Tomás y Valiente 1 33201 – Gijón (Spain), Teléfono: + 34 985 182 177, Fax: + 34 985 182 161 E-mail: meugenia@uniovi.es

1. Introduction

The problems of managerial discretion that are usually studied in the field of corporate governance can also arise in other types of organizations in which a delegation of the capacity of decision occurs. This article analyses the possible existence of managerial discretion in Work Accident and Occupational Disease Mutual Insurance Companies (MATEPs), entities of a great economic and social significance in Spain.

MATEPs are voluntary associations of employers, which act as collaborating entities of the Social Security in the carrying out of occupational risk insurance¹. They are financed by compulsory employer's contributions and, as a counterweight, offer to the associated companies a comprehensive service that includes: (i) preventive measures; (ii) health care for workers affected by occupational accidents and diseases; and (iii) monetary compensations in case of incapacity, disability or death. Because they manage public funds, the functioning of the MATEPs is, moreover, subject to strict and exhaustive controls

This sector, originally highly diffused and of a marked regional and sectoral nature, has experienced an intense process of realignment and concentration in the last decade, propitiated mainly by the tightening up of constitution requirements. In a short period, two out of three MATEPs disappear, allowing nearly thirty better prepared entities and of a greater geographic implantation to assume the new competences conferred on by the Social Security (Suárez and Ventura, 1999). Likewise, the government introduced, some years ago, a new Regulation of Collaboration² aiming to rationalize the MATEPs governance.

The paper first approaches, from the Economy of the Organizations perspective -Transaction Costs, Property Rights and Agency- the economic rationale of non-profit organizations and of the MATEPs, in particular. Next, we study and discuss in detail the MATEPs and their external and internal governance mechanisms to, finally, draw a series of conclusions regarding the degree of managerial discretion in these entities.

2. Economic Analysis of Non-Profit Sector

2.1 Economic Rationale of Non-Profit Sector

The non-profit organizations (NPOs) coexist with for-profit and the public sector. However, fixing the limits that separate such organizations from the rest is not an easy task; although private, they actively collaborate in the aiming of public objectives. Thus, the NPOs are set in the so-called Third Sector³ con-

³ The Third sector delimitation is in many cases confusing, as this term, of Anglo-Saxon origin, tends to be used as a synonym of the



¹ The insurance of labour contingencies is compulsory; however, employers are free to choose between the Social Security and MATEPs. Now, the whole market is practically controlled by the latest.

 $^{^2}$ RD 1993/1995 December 7, in substitution of RD 1509/1976, May 21.

text, as a residual group of neither capitalist nor state organizations (Mertens, 1999). However, what makes an organization be non-profit? According to Hansmann (1980), the NPOs differ in the following characteristics: a) they are not allowed to pay their surplus and b) their functions are limited to certain activities.

The importance of this sector to the economy is not questionable, since, from the eighties, its contribution to the Welfare State is increasing. However, which have been the causes that lead to this expansion? In other words, which is the economic rationale underlying this mixed form of transactions governance? The three theories taking part in the socalled Economy of the Organizations -Transaction Costs, Property Rights and Agency- will help us to explain the emergence of the NPOs⁴.

According to the Transaction Costs Theory, only those organizational forms, which reduce the transaction costs derived from the asymmetries of information, will survive (Williamson, 1975). In this way, Hansmann (1980) suggests that the origin of the NPOs is based on the 'contract failure' associated to certain transactions. In his opinion, these organizations arise when a separation between the purchaser and the beneficiary takes place, when strong investments in specific assets -which generate conflicts in the appropriation of quasi rents- are required and/or when the characteristics of the product -complexity, intangibility, multidimensionality - make its evaluation difficult. Under these circumstances, the donor or the client, facing possible opportunistic behaviour from the suppliers of such services, may choose a NPO to compensate the problem of asymmetric information (Weisbrod, 1988). Although, corporations own mechanisms to protect buyers -as warranties- (Williamson, 1985), some transactions are subject to uncertainty and to which a failure in the service can be so costly that the ex-post compensation would not be enough for the client (Holtmann and Ullmann, 1991).

Another theory related to the 'contractual failure' is that of the Property Rights. The property of an asset means the right to the appropriation of the residual rent (Alchian and Demtsetz, 1972) and to the residual control (Grossman and Hart, 1986). Both concepts are linked to the absence of full contracts; otherwise, everything would be contractually specified and assigned and the residual rights would have no significance. The efficiency of the non-profit governance mechanism can be explained by the specific distribution of property rights in these organizations, as it mitigates 'contract failure' -that together with government and philanthropic failures are regrouped around the concept of 'coordination failure'- (Enjolras, 2000).

Gui (1991) and Mertens (1999) distinguish the NPOs from the rest of organizations according to two categories⁵: the 'beneficiary category', which acts as a claimant, that is, it is entitle to receive the residual rent; and the 'dominant category' on which the residual control rights lay. Whereas the investors assume both roles in corporations, in the NPOs the beneficiaries are different from the investors. In other words, facing market failures -asymmetric information, market power, public goods-, the NPOs come out as organizations where residual rent does not relay on the owners but on the consumers. Nevertheless, as Mertens (1999) explains, this definition should not confuse the NPOs with the Public Sector, since in the former the residual control is not in the State hands.

From an Agency perspective, the survival of an organizational form will depend on its comparative advantage to control agency costs resulting from the conflict of interest between the parts (Jensen and Meckling, 1976). In this way, the peculiarities of the residual claimants will help to distinguish one organization to the others and to explain their survival (Fama and Jensen, 1983b). These authors suggest that NPOs appear to be the solution to solve the agency problems derived from donations: making inalienable the right to demand residual claims and agreeing with donors that in the future, all surplus will be applied to services. Furthermore, these authors affirm that the larger the quantity of donations and the easier to separate the executive and control decisions, the more successful the organization will be.

Although all the analysed theories point to the asymmetric information problem as the factor to justify the creation and survival of the NPO, they also agree to emphasize that these organization show limits in their functioning, motivated by the ineffectiveness of the imposed restrictions on the profitmaking (Figure 1)⁶. Despite the fact that surplus cannot be distributed as dividends, in practice they are distributed in other ways. From the Transaction Costs approach, the donors and clients who choose a NPO, to protect them from the suppliers' opportunistic behaviour, have some difficulty to control the managers' opportunism (Hansmann, 1980). According to the Property Rights Theory, the residual rent was placed in the client, but the reassignment of the residual control right could turn managers into the 'dominant category' (Hansmann, 1988; Gui, 1991). In that case, how can it be guaranteed that clients

French term Social Economy, which includes not only NPOs but also cooperatives and certain types of profit making mutuals.

⁴ Nevertheless, many other theories are used to justify the survival of NPOs, for instance, those based in tax incentives, institutional inertia or altruism.

⁵ Gui (1991) makes a distinction between NPOs and corporations; and Mertens between NPOs and public organizations.

⁶ Which would explain that non profit, for-profit and public institutions survive in the same industry (Handy, 1997). For instance, the following sentence by Rose-Ackermann (1996:717) is very controversial "NPOs emerge due to, not despite of, their inefficiencies.

have more control over the managers than the shareholders do? Finally, based in the Agency Theory, Fama and Jensen (1983b) suggest that the surplus generated by NPOs is assigned, although nobody has property rights over it, and they state that donors (and/or clients) face problems of managerial discretion similar to those in other organizations subject to the separation between ownership and control. In addition, Rose-Ackerman (1966) points out that this is a particularly serious problem in the non-profit sector, since the absence of a market for corporate control does not allow disciplining the managers in a proper manner.

Figure 1

As it is not clear that the limit imposed on the profitmaking leads the organizations to focus exclusively on the attention to the clients, it will be precise to find a mechanism of control to prevent managers from appropriating parts of the surplus in form of salary increase, excessive expenditure, overinvestments and risky growth strategies. Easly and O'Hara (1983) affirm than it is necessary to introduce an additional restriction on managers' compensations. Fama and Jensen (1983b) suggest that, to control the managerial discretion in the NPOs, there must be an effective separation between execution and control decisions. According to Knapp and Kendall (1991), the main point is to make NPOs more transparent and able to provide disintegrated information about their activities and results, highlighting the significance of self-regulation through Codes of Good Practice. Other authors give perhaps more influence to the external mechanisms. Thus, Hansmann (1980) maintains that the competition in markets against other organizations leads the NPOs to maximize the output to satisfy their clients. In other cases, the protection of the users' rights by the government intervention is defended (Krashinsky, 1986; Gui, 1991). Nevertheless, Rose-Ackermann (1996) proposes that, even if the supervision makes sense to avoid the managers' opportunism, there is a risk that an excessive intervention could lead to a loss of the advantages that NPOs offer in terms of quality and differentiation.

Mutuals in The Non-Profit Sector

So far the criteria used to classify the organization have been the profit restriction, distinguishing between the profit-making and non-profit organizations. Nevertheless, The NPOs might have different legal forms and seek diverse goals (Salamon, 1991). For a better understanding of the non-profit sector, we opt to divide the organization according to their objectives⁷. Thus, as we can observe in Figure 2, there are two different types of NPOs: a) the mutual interests organizations, focused in the rendering of goods and services to its members –mutuals, unions, clubs, professional associations-; and b) the public interest organizations, which contribute to the general welfare, offering services to social groups with great sanitary, cultural and educative needs.

Figure 2

According to the classification stated above, mutuals are included into the 'member oriented' NPOs; in other words, they are organizations with an 'internal projection' and with performance aim to improve their associates' welfare (Montserrat, 1991). Not all the authors include mutuals in the profit-making sector. For instance, Gui (1991) states that the lack of profit making of these organizations cannot be asserted, since they seek their associates' interests. Hasnmann (1980) goes further and declares that mutuals are even closer to the cooperatives than to the non-profit sector. On the other hand, Mertens (1999), with a more European vision, defends the explicit inclusion of mutuals into the Third Sector because although the 'dominant' and 'beneficiary' categories fall on the same person -the service's target group- this category does not have the condition of investor. In his opinion, despite the fact that the members of a mutual play a double role, they are not interested in increasing the profitability of their contributions -as associates- but in obtaining the greatest benefits -as users.

Once mutual organizations have been placed in the non-profit sector, we return to the three theories analysed in the previous epigraph. As stated by the Transaction Costs perspective, mutuals would allow solving information problems present in certain transactions. Therefore, the pursuers of a difficult evaluation product will overcome their lack of information by taking part in the donor organization (Ben-Ner, 1986). Consequently, mutuals would be a hybrid governance mechanism that, through relational contracts, would ease the control of an activity without requiring its integration. Figure 3 shows the relation of substitution between the incentives and the control proposed by Rumelt (1995), to whom relational contracts⁸ are explicitly added as an intermediate solution able to generate mayor incentives than those of the hierarchy, but reaching a superior coordination to that of the market. Precisely, Kay (1991) asserts that the main advantage of mutual forms is based in the easy development of relational contracts, as it can be observed in the underlying culture of the most successful mutuals.

⁸ Relational contracts appear when the recurrence of the exchange justifies an ad-hoc instrument to rule long-term and continuous relationship between the parts. Their terms are usually explicit and based on a mutual necessity of continuing the relations in the future (Williamson, 1985).



⁷ It is commonly said that profit-making companies have private objectives, but, as showed in Figure 2, there are also certain public companies which, despite their legal form that allow them to share the surplus, their objectives are public -employment promotion, exploitation of local resources or strategic sectors protection.

What usually happens in these organizations is that, in many cases, the benefits are not distributed since they are loss-making.

Figure 3

The Property Rights approach highlights the double role given to the clients of mutuals, as a way to solve the 'contractual failure'. Since the organization control is held by the 'beneficiary category', the clients will be in a position to ensure them that in case the surplus occurs, it will be in their benefit. This peculiarity allows mutuals to have an implicit distribution, to the detriment of explicit causes of distribution (Gui, 1991). Moreover, Kay (1991) suggests that the relative ambiguity in the distribution of the residual rent could be one of the factors that explain the success of some mutual organizations, since they are capable of accumulating substantial reserves to finance their development. Finally, the Agency Theory emphasises once more that clients have the right to demand residual claims in mutuals, which means a restrain on managerial discretion in comparison with the NPOs of general interest. Nevertheless, as maintained by Fama and Jensen (1983b), the mutuals survive due to a singular characteristic by which, each client can exercises the above mentioned right at any moment, for a value calculated according to an established regulation. This form of partial liquidation minimizes the agency costs, since it reduces the managers' control over the entity's assets⁹. Moreover, mutuals either usually limit the acceptable risk because their activities are restricted by regulatory imposition or voluntarily established in their articles of association (Kay, 1991). Therefore, the agent's margin of action is restricted so as not to deviate from the principal's objective. From the above argument, it can be stated that, mutual organizations main advantage is their capacity to facilitate the observance of the performance and, thus, to mitigate informative problems¹⁰. However, this type of organization is not exempt from inconvenient. Firstly, clients usually subsidize other clients; because the condition of associate guarantees their contribution is to be used as services for the members, but not entirely in their own benefit (Hansmann, 1980). Secondly, as the title of mutualist is not transferable trough a market, an improvement in the management is not immediately capitalized as the associates' wealth, which propitiates the managers' negligence (Alchian and Demtsetz, 1972); what is more, this does not allow the existence of a market for corporate control as strong as at the public limited companies. Finally, the lack of clarity in the residual rent distribution is reflected in a less effective way of managers' accountability (Kay, 1991). In any case, if mutual forms are to survive in an increasingly global and competitive environment, they

VIRTUS

will need to adopt effective corporate governance rules to safeguard members' control (Chaddad and Cook, 2004).

3. Description of MATEPs

The uncertainty and the limitations of civil law with respect to responsibility have justified the development of labour contingencies insurances. Therefore, although the financial burden derived from the worker's accident or damage fall on the employer, the difficulties to determine the fault on the part of the company have led to substitute possible litigations for an insurance coverage. In Spain, once the Law of Work Accidents, which held companies responsible for such accidents, came into force in 1900, voluntary mutuals of employers started to be set up to share occupational risks. The asymmetries of information induced these organizations to have a rapid expansion as a more efficient formula than capitalist companies. Later, the insurance became compulsory and profit-making insurance companies disappeared from the section of occupational risks. In 1974, MATEPs were incorporated into the Social Security as collaborating entities and they have been progressively subject to an exhaustive regulation, which, not only establish tariffs but also covers from their functioning delimitation to the surplus application. This wide regulation in the sector has created a complex agency relations network, in which MATEPs act as double agents in front of the companies and the Social Security. As it can be observed in Figure 4, when an employer -responsible for the working health of his employees- chooses a MATEP, he delegates on it the necessary services caused by occupational risks, in exchange for the compulsory tariffs to be paid to the Social Security. At the same time, this institution -competent organ in the field of occupational contingencies insurance- transfers the coverage to the MATEP and, therefore, the management of such risks. Nevertheless, in case surplus occurs, mutualists will not share it by way of bonus, but -according to the regulator- by applying it to social funds.

Figure 4

To sum up, MATEPs appeared as NPOs of 'mutual interest' with the aim of safeguarding the rendering of certain services -preventive, sanitary and economic- to their members. Nevertheless, contrary to the conventional mutuals, residual claim and control rights do not exactly fall on the same people: on the one hand, employers are, along with workers, the target group of the MATEPs services and, on the other, the residual control is shared by mutualists and the Social Security. The complexity of the system generates, therefore, problems of decisors behaviour observance, closer to the ones existing in the 'general interest' than in the 'mutual interest' NPOs. The most part of the MATEPs compensations are assigned to protected workers, so employers will have difficulties to control services. Likewise, being

⁹ The facility associates have to abandon the entity makes necessary a compulsory secondary market, where its assets can be exchanged and valued to a low cost. This allows explaining the reason why mutuals are typical organizations of the financial sector.

¹⁰ Some authors have found evidence that changing form a stock to a mutual-ownership structure is on average efficiency enhancing (Mayers y Smith, 1986).

MATEPs financed by social contributions paid by companies to the Social Security, a separation between the donor of the cause -public funds- and the beneficiaries may occur. In conclusion, the carried out analysis points out that the problems of asymmetric information regarding managers will be more noticeable in MATEPs than in conventional mutual organizations, generating a greater margin of managerial discretion. However, the appearing of opportunistic behaviour will depend, in the last place, on the effectiveness of governance mechanisms, which will be discussed in the following epigraph.

4. Evaluation of The Managerial Discretion in MATEPs

There is a wide range of instruments that can condition and limit the managerial discretion¹¹. On the one hand, the external mechanisms, related to the different markets capacity to discipline decisors. On the other hand, the internal mechanisms emerged from the assignment of residual control rights in the core of an organization. However, we should take into consideration that empirical research on non-profit boards suggests governance being a complex, inherently difficult and problematic activity; so only multiple theoretical perspectives allows to explain the ambiguities that these boards face (Jegers, 2002; Cornforth, 2004).

4.1 External Governance Mechanisms

Product Market Competition

If a company acts in a competitive product market, the managerial discretion will be limited, since an inadequate administration would be reflected in the entity's result. However, while the company holds certain market power, managers will have a margin to meet the principal's objectives and dedicate part of the surplus to satisfy their own utility functions (Holmstrom and Tirole 1990)

The market where MATEPs perform is very peculiar. MATEPs cannot compete through the price mechanisms, since the State, according to the occupational risk in each working post, fixes prices to the entire system. Nevertheless, as Lewis and Sappington (1988) suggest, it is necessary to establish prices that are sufficiently high enough to ensure quality services. However, if they are excessive, inefficiency and waste may occur (Pope, 1990). In the case under discussion, it is commonly agreed the existence of a gap between risks and prices (Suárez and Loredo, 2001). During the last twenty years, the pricing framework has just suffered light modifications and a 10% reduction. Despite this situation, the permanent and almost generalized generation of surplus indicates that prices, once the mutualist expectation was covered, allows a wide actuation margin to the

managers. Additionally, the existence of overinvestments and excessive administration costs would corroborate this affirmation (Loredo, Suárez and Ventura, 2001). The quality-price ratio will also depend on the existence of competitors. In this sense, Joskow and Rose (1989) affirm that when prices are regulated, companies tend to compete in other variables, so if these tariffs were fixed above market prices, the competition between entities would encourage a quality improvement. It seems that the MATEPs regulator has consciously opted for fixing high prices and letting competition to promote the quality of services. Thus, associates could change entity voluntarily, providing that contracts are renewed on an annual basis and applications requested a month ahead. Moreover, any mutual chosen by an employer must admit him as an associate, since MATEPs cannot openly select their risks. This situation causes a low cost change, giving the employer an advantageous negotiating position against his present mutual.

Nonetheless, this result can be achieved by giving users real freedom to choose and exercising this right properly. Several factors prevent an intense competition among MATEPs. Firstly, the strong asymmetric information employers suffer; since, in most cases, they are not aware of the advantages they have been conferred by their associate position premiums are considered as taxes-. Similarly, mutuals have restricted actions in the commercial field, so problems of information cannot be solved. Secondly, the MATEP election, especially in the case of smaller firms, is delegated on an external labour advisor who simultaneously acts as a MATEP implicit commercial agent¹². Thirdly, the company's geographic location can be another restriction as MATEPs are not distributed homogeneously throughout Spain and, depending on the region, some entities have certain market power¹³.

To sum up, the combination of high tariffs and imperfect competition confers managers a comfortable situation, allowing them a broader degree of discretionality. The product market capacity -tariffsto discipline managers gets complicated by the amplification of the given competences to the MATEPs, whether inside the Social Security system -temporary disability for common contingencies -or outside preventive measures¹⁴.

¹¹ The enumeration done in this sector is not meant to be exhaustive, since other governance mechanisms as the competition in the market for executives (Fama, 1980) or systems of incentives (Murphy, (1997) take place.

¹² In the segmentation done by Suárez and Ventura (1999), it is confirmed that inside the group of 'unsatisfied clients' is where a major number of employers delegated the election of entity on an external advisor.

¹³ This situation could have been accented by the concentration experienced in the last years, although it is also possible that the territorial expansion process undertaken by small mutuals could have intensified the competition in certain areas.

¹⁴ De las Heras (1997) and Sempere (1999) suggest that MATEPs could create an unfair competition with profit-making companies specialised in prevention management. Not for nothing, when a regulating entity is allowed to diversify towards a competitive market, it will tend to produce a quantity superior to the optimum (Averch and Johnson, 1962).

Market for Corporate Control

The market for corporate control allows substituting, through an acquisition offer, those managing teams that do not generate value (Manne, 1965). Given that this governance mechanism is usually costly, it is only activated once the rest have failed. A real control market does not exist in MATEPs, because the residual property rights are inalienable. If the management is inadequate, associates can either change the mutual or wait for the merging or taking over of the entity. Likewise, the concentration process this sector has come through during the last decade could be understood as a corrective action against inefficiency situations. Nevertheless, most merging and taking over actions among MATEPs seem to have been friendly, so this mechanism does not mean a clear limit for managers -it could be say that merging and taking over show the managers' interest in expansion strategies.

Debt

Debt introduces incentives that prevent managerial discretion (Jensen, 1989). The firm is contractually bound to pay the interest and redeem the principal. Consequently, denotes a strong commitment in comparison with equity; as it reduces the amount of free cash flow available to managers, forcing them to disgorge cash rather than waste it. However, the financial debt in MATEPs is insignificant, because, the development of their projects is commonly self-financed. Therefore, the absence of debt will not restrain the managers' opportunism.

4.2 Internal Governance Mechanisms

Exit as a Governance Instrument

As we have just indicated, Fama and Jensen (1983b) see the members' exit as a peculiar internal governance mechanism that comes to replace, in mutuals, the equity market. Although in MATEPs exit, as well as in all the Spanish mutuals, the associate is regarded as a client, not as a member. The employer leaving the entity has no right to receive compensations due to accumulate assets through surplus. Accordingly, this instrument -as Fama and Jensen stateis not present in MATEPs, despite of the exit as a client will impose an external limit to the managerial discretion through the product market.

Regulator Control

The systematic supervision practised by the regulator is usually considered as an external governance mechanism (Demsetz and Lehn, 1985). Nonetheless, in the case of MATEPs, the Social Security and mutualists jointly assume the role of principal. Therefore, the regulator control should be included within the internal governance devices.

On the one hand, the State applies a group of preventive measures to avoid misgovernment situa-

tions: submission to the public budget, audit reports, permissions to undertake investments, inspections and controls by the competent institutions. On the other hand, the regulator can also correct irregularities through penalties, restructure plans, cease of governing organs, or even the entity's liquidation. Both types of control -preventive and correctivemean a fundamental makeweight to limit the moral risk in managers' decisions inside the MATEPs.

Associates' Control

The control exercised by associates through legal established means should be the most patent device. They take transcendental social decisions by the Annual Meeting. The existence of jointly held responsibilities would encourage the participation of this organ and a greater concern about the entity good functioning. Although these incentives are undeniably present, it is also true that, as it happens in large diffused corporations, the 'free riding problem' may appear (Grossman and Hart, 1980). The supervision accomplished by an associate rewards equally the rest, including those employers who never take part in the Annual Meeting. This asymmetry between the effort and the reward obtained discourages the surveillance works. It must be taken into account that, the diffused property is maximum in MATEPs, since decision taking is based on one vote per member, regardless the contribution provided¹⁵. In corporations, on the contrary, the presence of large shareholders reduces managerial discretion (Shleifer and Vishny, 1986).

In conclusion, given the concentration process in this sector, as the entities size increases, the intensity of incentives to participate decreases and so the 'free riding behaviour' will become stronger.

Boards Composition and Functioning

The argument supported by San Sebastián (1996) in relation to corporations can be extrapolated to MATEPs: the centre of decision has been progressively shifting from Annual Meeting to the Board of Directors. The former holds just certain fundamental decision and delegates the real control of the organization to the managers. To avoid an excessive power accumulation by the directors, diverse modifications have been introduced in the MATEPs control boards' configuration, being all of them summarised and develop by the Regulation of Collaboration of 1995. These changes in the regulator framework have been permeable to the proposals of different Codes of Good Practice that have come out in the last decade (Cadbury, 1992; Vienot, 1995; Olivencia, 1998; Hampel, 1998; OCDE, 1999; OCDE, 2003):

¹⁵ According to the extension of collaboration in 1996 to temporary disability for common contingencies of self-employed workers, these will not acquire the condition of associates, so they will not bear the jointly responsibility but neither could they take part in governance control organs. In fact, they act as clients of an insurance company (Panizo, 1999).

A) Firstly, a drastic separation of functions has been chosen. The Board of Directors is constituted by non-executive members and, as it will be later seen, the executive tasks fall on a single Executive Director. The Regulation of Collaboration code establishes that the components of the Board of Directors will not work for the MATEP, have a rendering service contract, or be remunerated by the entity. This measure is just taking to the extreme the recommendations from the above-mentioned Codes of Good Practise, which defend the existence of nonexecutive members who can balance the power relation and avoid boards being dominated by executives¹⁶. The former regulation allowed, instead, executive and remunerated posts, which could have originated opportunistic behaviours. On the other hand, in contrast to the previous regulation that provided the possibility of naming a manager with an associate condition in the MATEPs, the current rules governing MATEPs force these entities to name a professional Executive Director through the Board of Directors. The Executive Director independence also introduces a second separation of power, since this person cannot be the same as the Chairman. The fact that the Executive Director can attend the Board of Directors meetings without the right to vote reinforces institutional subordination of the chief executive. The last link in this segregation of functions is jointed round two organs of participative control, in which the protected workers as well as the associated companies are represented. From 1995, each MATEP should constitute a Monitoring and Control Committee¹⁷, whose functions are to request all the necessary information regarding the mutual management and propose whatever measures aimed to best fulfil the entity's objectives. There is also a Special Social Benefit Committee, which distributes, among protected workers, the Social Assistance Fund -endowed with the 10% of generated surplus-. These organs are similar to those supervision committees in large German companies, in which workers are present. However, in the MATEPs case, the particularity lies in that the represented workers are not from the mutual, but indirectly -and through unions- from associated companies.

Overall, regarding the division of responsibilities at the head of MATEPs (Figure 5), the regulation has gone further up than in the private sector. Not even The Olivencia Report (1998) contemplates the dualism, and simply recommends non-executive members in the composition of Boards in corporations. However, in the case of MATEPs, a model combining dualist features with an almost preponderance of non-executive members has been chosen.

Figure 5

B) The size of the Board of Directors has also been limited to a maximum of twenty members. Large boards have been proved ineffective and slow. In addition, they lack the necessary cohesion and encourage passive attitudes (Yermack, 1996). Two arguments would lead us to state that MATEPs will tend to increase the Boards of Directors dimension above an optimum. On the one hand, MATEPs, to fulfil their growth targets, will offer -through a mechanism similar to the usual cooptation in Boards of Directors- posts in the Board to large employers that agree to become members¹⁸. On the other, the concentration through friendly or agreed merging taken place in this sector during the last years could have derived in an increase of the number of Board members, since all the components would like to be represented in the new entity. Taking this into account, if limits had not been imposed, the meetings would have been more complicated and the decision making slower. Nevertheless, we should bear in mind that the restrictions of twenty members surpasses even the Olivencia Report Recommendations for the private sector, which establishes the adequate size between five and fifteen members.

C) Finally, incompatibility, responsibility and retributions are reformed in depth to obtain a major transparency. It seems logical that the legislator. preoccupied by the public funds use, has made an effort to prevent any conflict of interests, thoroughly establishing the incompatibilities¹⁹ and responsibilities²⁰ of Board members. To clarify the managers' compensations, it is forbidden, according to the 1995 Law of General Budget, to give compensations charged to public funds and the existing blinded contracts became illegal²¹. In addition, the Regulation governing MATEP Collaboration limits the administration costs according to income. This represents a strong restriction, as executive personal objectives (retributions, excessive expenditure...) are charged to this entry.

5. Conclusions

In this theoretical discussion has been showed that the restriction upon the profit-making present in mutuals does not eliminate the problems of managerial discretion. In the MATEPs case, this problem is

¹⁶ Nevertheless, some authors disagree with this type of design and defend that, when in the Board's composition there is an only member with executive responsibilities, a strong informative asymmetry occurs regarding the entity's real situation (Johnson, Daily and Ellstrand, 1996).

¹⁷ This control mechanism appears with the Law 42/1994, although it is later gathered in the Regulation of Collaboration.

¹⁸ According to the Theory of Resources Dependency postulates (Pfeffer, 1972)

¹⁹ Any person who maintains a labour service, rendering or commissioner relationship with a mutual will not be legible to become a member of the Board.

²⁰ The rule regarding board members responsibility is perhaps the newest. Firstly, the MATEPs constitution articles are to establish such responsibilities, although in any case could be exonerated because the Annual Meeting authorise the detrimental act. On the other hand, according to the nature of the damage, the responsibility emerges -as an individual or jointly liability form- facing employers, the Social Security or the MATEP itself.

²¹ As a result, the Labour Department removed hundred compensations that MATEPs have agreed with their general and middle line managers.

particularly marked, since public intervention has been shaping a complex model in which managers act as agents regarding two principals -the Social Security and associates.

Some governance instruments that play an important role in corporations to mitigate agency costs are not plenary present: the financial debt is inexistent and the market for corporate control weak. This deficit has been compensated through a strict supervision by the regulator and facilitating the change of entity. However, the laxity of the established tariffs and the lack of effective competition have generated a comfortable environment for managers. The existence of excess in those inputs in which managerial discretion is clearly observed -assets overinvestments and administration overstaffing- would confirm this argument. The associate control underlying in the MATEPs spirit- should also contribute to restrict the manager opportunism. Originally, employers felt as a part of their MATEP and, therefore, they were interested in exercising their control rights. Nonetheless, the concentration process and the extension of competences to new activities have adversely affected the sense of identity among associates and led them to behave as clients.

Consequently, the control has been displaced towards the Boards, as in large corporations. The legislator reaction to rationalise the MATEPs governance -imposing separate functions, restricting the size of Boards and limiting responsibilities, incompatibilities and remunerations- runs in the same direction as the different proposals to reform Boards of large public limited companies.

References

- ALCHIAN, A. and H. DEMSETZ (1972): "Production, information and economic organization", American Economic Review, 62, 777-795.
- AVERCH, H. and L. JOHNSON (1962): "Behaviour of the firm under regulatory constraint", American Economic Review, 52.
- 3. BEN.NER, A. (1986): "Non-Profit Organizations: Why do they exist in market economies", in Rose-Ackerman (ed.), The Economics of Nonprofit Institutions, Oxford University Press.
- 4. CADBURY, A. (1992): The financial aspects of corporate governance. London: Gee.
- 5. CHADDAD, F.R. and M.L. COOK (2004): "The economics of organization structure changes: a US perspective on demutualization", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 75(4).
- CORNFORTH, C. (2004): "The governance of cooperatives and mutual associations: a paradox perspective", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 75(1).
- DEMSETZ, H. and K. LEHN, (1985): "The structure of corporate ownership: causes and consequences", Journal of Political Economy, 93 (6), 1155-1177.
- EASLEY, D. and M. O'Hara (1983): "The economic role of the non-profit firm", Bell Journal of Economics, 14, 531-538.
- 9. ENJOLRAS, B. (2000): "Coordination failure, property rights and non-profit organizations", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 71(3), 347-374.

- 10. FAMA, E. (1980): "Agency problems and the theory of the firm", Journal of Political Economy, 88.
- FAMA, E. and M.C. JENSEN (1983a): "Separation of ownership and control", Journal of Law and Economics, XXVI (2), 301- 326.
- 12. FAMA, E. and M.C. JENSEN (1983b): "Agency problems and residual claims", Journal of Law and Economics, XXVI (2), 327-349.
- GROSSMAN, S.J. and O.D. HART (1980): "Takeover bids, the free-rider problem, and the theory of the corporation", Bell Journal of Economics, 11 (1).
- GUI, B. (1991): "The economic rationale for the 'third sector'. Nonprofit and other noncapitalist organizations", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 62 (4), 551-572.
- 15. HAMPEL, R. (1998): Report of the Committee on corporate governance. London: Gee.
- HANDY, F. (1997): "Coexistence of nonprofit, forprofit and public sector institutions", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 68 (2).
- HANSMANN, H.B. (1980): "The role of nonprofit enterprise", The Yale Law Journal, 89 (5), 835-901.
- HANSMANN, H.B. (1988): "Ownership of the firm", Journal of Law, Economics and Organization, 4.
- HERAS, A. de las (1997): "Problemática de la actuación de las Mutuas de Accidentes de Trabajo y Enfermedades Profesionales de la Seguridad Social como servicios de prevención ajenos", Revista Estudios Financieros, de Trabajo, Seguridad Social y Recursos Humanos, 171, 47-58.
- HOLMSTROM, B.R and J. TIROLE (1990): "The theory of the firm", in R. Schmalensee y R.D. Willig (eds.), Handbook of Industrial Organization, North-Holland, Amsterdam.
- HOLTMANN, A.G. and S.G. ULLMANN (1991): "Transaction Cost, uncertainty and non-for-profit organizations", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 62 (4), 641-654.
- JEGERS, M. (2002): "The economics of non profit accounting and auditing: suggestions for a research agenda", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 73(3), 429-451.
- JENSEN, M.C. (1989): "Eclipse of the public corporation", Harvard Business Review, 5.
- JENSEN, M.C. and W.H. MECKLING (1976): "Theory of the firm: managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure", Journal of Financial Economics, 3 (4), 305-360.
- 25. JOHNSON, J.L.; C.M. DAILY and A.E. ELL-STRAND (1996): "Boards of directors: a review and research agenda", Journal of Management, 22 (3).
- JOSKOW, P.L. and N.L. ROSE (1989): "The effects of economic regulation", in R. Schamlensee y R. Willing (eds.), Handbook of Industrial Organization. Amsterdam: North Holland.
- KAY, J. (1991): "The economics of mutuality" Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 62 (3), 309-318.
- KNAPP, M. and J. KENDALL (1991): "Problemas de política pública en el sector voluntario del Reino Unido en los años 90", Economistas, 51, 12-27.
- KRASHINSKI, M. (1986): "Transaction Costs and a Theory of Non-Profit Organizations", in Rose-Ackerman (ed.), The Economics of Nonprofit Institutions, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- LEWIS, T. and D. SAPPINGTON (1988): "Regulating a monopolist with unknown demand", American Economic Review, 78.

VIRTUS

- LOREDO FERNÁNDEZ, E.; E. SUÁREZ SERRA-NO and J. VENTURA VITORIA (2001): "Discrecionalidad directiva en las Mutuas de Accidentes de Trabajo", Cuadernos de Economía y Dirección de la Empresa, 10, 465-483.
- 32. MANNE, H.G. (1965): "Mergers and the market for corporate control", Journal of Political Economy, 73.
- MAYERS, D. and C.W. SMITH (1986): "Ownership and control. The mutualization of stock life insurance companies", Journal of Financial Economics, 16.
- MERTENS, S. (1999): "Nonprofit organisations and social economy: two ways of understanting the third sector", Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 70 (3), 501-520.
- MONTSERRAT, J. (1991): "Hacia una teoría económica del tercer sector: una primera aproximación", Economistas, 51, 48-55.
- MURPHY, K.J. (1997): "Executive compensation and the modern industrial revolution", International Journal of Industrial Organization, 15 (4), 417-425.
- NEWHOUSE, J.P. (1994): "Frontier estimation: how useful a tool for heath economies?", Journal of Health Economics, 13, 317-322.
- OCDE (1999): Principles of corporate governance. París: OCDE.
- OCDE (2003): Recommendation on guidelines for managing conflict of interest in the public service. París: OCDE.
- OLIVENCIA, M. (1998): El gobierno de las sociedades cotizadas, Madrid: Comisión Especial para el estudio de un Código Ético de los consejos de administración de las sociedades.
- PANIZO ROBLES, J.A. (1999): "Los órganos de gobierno y participación de las Mutuas de Accidentes de Trabajo y Enfermedades Profesionales de la Seguridad Social", Tribunal Social, Revista de Seguridad Social y Laboral, 100, 47-61.
- 42. PICAZO, A.J. (1995): "La eficiencia en los seguros", Revista de Economía Aplicada, 3 (8).
- PFEFFER, J. (1972): "Co-optation and the composition of electric utility boards of directors", Pacific Sociological Review, 3.
- POPE, G.C. (1990): "Using hospital-specific costs to improve the fairness of prospective reimbursement", Journal of Health Economics, 9 (4), 327-251.

- 45. ROSE–ACKERMAN, S. (1996): "Altruism, nonprofits and Economic Theory", Journal of Economic Literature, 34 (2), 701-728.
- 46. RUMELT, R.P. (1995): "Inertia and transformation", in Montgomery C. (ed.), Resource based and evolutionary theories of the firm: towards a systhesis, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston.
- SALAMON, L.M. (1991): "El sector no lucrativo en los Estados Unidos de América: una introducción", Economistas, 51, 6-11.
- SAN SEBASTIÁN, F. (1996): El gobierno de las sociedades cotizadas y su control, Madrid: Centro de Documentación Bancaria y Bursátil.
- 49. SEMPERE NAVARRO, A.V. (1999): "La incesante metamorfósis de las mutuas patronales: ideas para el estudio", Revista de Seguridad Social y Laboral, 100.
- 50. SHLEIFER, A. and R.W. VISHNY (1986): "Large shareholders and corporate control", Journal of Political Economy, 94 (3), 461-488.
- 51. SUÁREZ SERRANO, E. and E. LOREDO FERNÁNDEZ (2001): "Organizational alternatives for companies' management of occupational risks: The examples of Spain and Argentina", International Social Security Review, 54 (1), 41-57
- SUÁREZ SERRANO, E. and J. VENTURA VICTO-RIA (1999): "Las Mutuas de Accidentes de Trabajo dentro de la Seguridad Social: ¿colaboración o competencia", Hacienda Pública Española, 151 (4), 71-83.
- SUÁREZ SERRANO, E. and J. VENTURA VICTO-RIA (2001): "Managed competition and user satisfaction: the case of Spanish Work Accident Mutuals", International Journal of Public Sector Management, 14 (2), 149-164.
- VIENOT, M. (1995): Le conseil dádministration des sociétés cotées. París: CNPF y AFEP.
- 55. WEISBROD, B. (1988): The non-profit economy, Harvard University Press, Harvard.
- WILLIAMSON, O.E. (1975): Markets and hierarchies: analysis and antitrust implications. New York: Free Press.
- WILLIAMSON, O.E. (1985): The economic institutions of capitalism: firms, markets, relational contracting. New York: Free Press.
- YERMACK, D. (1996): "Higher market valuation of companies with a small board of directors", Journal of Financial Economics, 40 (2), 185-211.

VIRTUS

Appendices



Figure 1. Economic rationale and limits of the NPOs



Figure 2. Classification of organizations



Figure 3. Relation between coordination and incentives





Figure 5. The MATEPs Governance



EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION EXERCISES - AN INTERNATIONAL ANALYSIS

Steven Balsam*, Richard Gifford**

Abstract

In this paper we use a proprietary data set that consists of all stock option grants and exercises for a Fortune 100 multinational corporations from 1990 to 1999 to show that the exercise patterns of employees varies across countries. When we examine the variables overall exercise responds to we find evidence that the variables vary with culture, e.g., in general patterns in English speaking countries appear to be comparable, but not so for other countries. When we examine variables that determine the length of time an individual option is held before exercise, we also find it also varies across countries. Further analysis indicates that these differences are tied to systematic differences in national income and tax rates.

Keywords: stock options, employees, tax rates

* Department of Accounting, Fox School of Business and Management, Temple University, Philadelphia, Pa 19122, email: drb@temple.edu, phone: 215-204-5574, fax: 215-204-5587 **Department of Accounting, Jones School of Business, State University of New York – College at Geneseo Geneseo, NY 14454-1401

1. Introduction

Huddart and Lang (1996) show that, among other things, exercise patterns differ across employee levels. This paper extends their findings by showing that exercise patterns differ across countries. Like Huddart and Lang (1996) we use a proprietary data set that consists of all stock option grants and exercises for a Fortune 100 multinational corporation from 1990 to 1999.

This paper continues with section 2 which provides some background on the use of options and variables that might affect their use across the globe. Section 3 then discusses the data, and section 4 provides the empirical analysis. The paper concludes with a summary in section 5.

2. Background

Companies grant options to employees to both compensate them for previous service and to give them incentive to increase shareholder value. These options typically give the employee the right to purchase shares in his or her employer, at a fixed price, normally the share price on the grant date, over a period of time. If the share price rises above the exercise price, the employee can exercise his or her option to purchase the shares, and then either hold the shares or sell them at the then current market price.¹ As discussed below, our data set is unique, in that one company granted a constant number of options to all of its employees (i.e., broad-based grants) across the world (25 countries with at least 200 individual grants are considered in this study),² at the same time with the same terms on three occasions during the 1990's. Yet at an employee level there are differences in income, wealth, education, and culture, differences that are greater when examining employees across a variety of countries than within a given country. And tax incentives, which are somewhat constant within a country, differ greatly across countries.³

As an example of these differences, note that income and wealth range dramatically across the globe. At their peak, an employee who was still holding the options granted in the broad-based grants (see below) was in-the-money to the tune of almost \$20,000. While a substantial sum in the United States, in countries like Mexico and Brazil, where average annual manufacturing wages were \$2,600 and 3,048, respectively, this sum was enormous.⁴ Presu-

⁴ Unfortunately the test company did not provide us wage data for all of the countries in which they operate. Consequently average



¹ Some companies, including the one studied in this paper, have set up programs with investment bankers that allow the employee to realize the profits from their stock options without ever taking

share ownership. In these programs the employee merely calls up the broker and says that he or she wants exercise the option and simultaneously sell the shares, and the net proceeds are later deposited in his or her account.

 $^{^2}$ In countries where stock options were not allowed the company granted stock appreciation rights in their place.

³ Ignoring local taxes, e.g., state taxes in the U.S., provincial taxes in Canada, etc.

mably the desire to exercise, for example to diversify risk, is greater in countries with lower levels of income, ceteris paribus. At the extreme an employee in one of these countries could retire on the proceeds of the option exercise.

Taxes which influence the amount of profits retained by the employee also vary greatly. The tax rate paid by the average manufacturing worker ranged from five percent or less in Hong Kong and Thailand to over 25 percent in countries such as Australia, Canada, India, and Ireland.

3. Data

The test firm, a Fortune 100 multinational, with both a management and broad based stock option plan, has generously provided data that will permit an indepth analysis of the exercise patterns discussed above. As noted above these plans cover both domestic and international employees.

The company made multiple management grants and three broad-based grants to its global workforce over the years 1990 to 1999. The exercise period used in this study and included in the test company database represented 1,949 trading days from February 15, 1992 to November 2, 1999, the last day on which an exercise is recorded in the database. While the size of the management grants varied, the broadbased grants were consistent, i.e., each active fulltime employee received a grant of 100 options in 1991, 1995, and 1997.⁵ In total our database has information on 362,989 individual grants, 294,732 of which pertain to U.S. employees and 68,257 of which pertain to international employees. Table 1 provides some descriptive information about the sample and exercise patterns by country, i.e., percentage of options exercised, as well as average age of option at exercise. In untabulated correlation analysis we find that the percentage of options exercised in a country varies inversely with national income. This is consistent with employees in low income countries exercising more quickly, as the options and the potential gains represent a larger amount of their income/wealth and hence they are more risk averse.

The vast majority of the grants in the database consist of three broad-based grants made on February 15, 1991, January 25, 1995, and January 29, 1997.⁶ To some extent the broad-based grants dominate the data set as the number of employees per grant ranged from 127,027 in 1991 to 83,522 in 1997 and totaled 306,819 for the three grants. In contrast the number of management grants totaled 56,170. Consequently while analysis conducted below is reported for all grants, we verify that the results hold for both the broad-based and management grants independently. Through November 2, 1999, the last date for which the test company provided employee exercise data, 205,415 grants or 56.59 percent of the total grants had been exercised.

Insert Table 1 about here

4. Empirical analysis

The study uses regression analysis to investigate the theory suggested above. We posit that after taking other known factors into consideration, employee exercise differs across borders. We conduct our analysis using two broad models. The first model examines whether the proportion of options exercised on a given day differs across countries, after controlling for known covariates, while the second examines the time to exercise of the options. Since the dependent variable is our first regression is bounded by 0 and 1 we use a Tobit model, whereas in our second regression we utilize ordinary least squares.

Proportion Exercised = $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \text{Lag}$ Exercise + α_2 Grant Recently Vested + α_3 Share Price Exceeds High for Year + α_{4-7} Prior Stock Return + α_{8-11} Subsequent Stock Return + α_{12-35} Country Indicator Variables + ϵ (1)

Time To Exercise = $\beta_1 + \beta_2$ Employee Age + β_3 Participant Management Plan + β_4 Left Company Voluntarily + β_5 Left Company Due To Layoff + β_6 Left Company Retired + β_7 Left Company Death + β_8 Terminated For Cause + β_{9-33} Country Indicator

+ β_8 Terminated For Cause + β_{9-33} Country Indicator Variables+ ϵ (2)

where the variables are described below:

Dependent variables

The dependent variable in model (1) represents the proportion of stock options exercised to options available to be exercised during a given trading day_n . It is calculated as follows:

Proportion Exercised = Options exercised on day $n / (\Sigma \text{ Options granted and vested through day } n - \Sigma \text{ Options exercised prior to day } n)$

The dependent variable in model (2) represents the time to exercise for a given grant of options.⁷ It is calculated as follows:

Time To Exercise = Exercise date less grant date

Test and Control Variables

Since the objective of our paper is to examine exercise patterns across the globe our test variables are the country indicator variables, where we use the United States as the comparison country, i.e., its' coefficient is included in the intercept. In model (1)

gross monthly earnings, by country, for manufacturing were obtained from International Marketing Data Statistics (EURO-MONITOR, 2000). ⁵ The company declared a 2 to the interview.

⁵ The company declared a 2:1 stock split in 1997. All grants have been adjusted to 200 shares to reflect the split.

⁶ The 1991 and 1995 grants vested one year from the date of the grant and expired 10 years from the date of grant. The 1997 grant vested after one year and could be exercised after the stock exceeded a hurdle price for five consecutive trading days. The hurdle price was exceeded in April, 1998. The 1997 grant also expired 10 years from the date of grant.

⁷ While in theory the options in a given grant can be exercised over multiple dates, our database only provides one date per grant. The plan manager at the corporation indicates that for the vast majority of grants (remember most of the grants in the database were 100 shares) all options were exercised at the same time.

we also include the following control variables, which we believe may influence option exercise patterns. Lag Exercise the cumulative exercise over the five days prior to day n in country i is included to control for the potential autocorrelation in exercise patterns. We believe that this effect will be positive because of both information flow and herding instincts. We include an indicator variable, Grant Recently Vested, which takes the value of 1 in the 180 day window after a grant vests, because prior research, i.e., Gifford (2001), Balsam and Gifford (2004), shows that exercise activity increases in the period immediately after option vesting. This study adopts variables similar to those of Heath et al. (1999) to test for the influence of psychological variables on exercise behavior. As in Balsam and Gifford (2004) returns for each of the four five-day periods immediately prior to the exercise day (Prior Stock Return) are examined to determine if employees react to recent changes in market prices (beliefs). To determine if reference points (values) influence employee decisions to exercise, stock highs are identified for the one-year period (Share Price Exceeds High for Year) prior to the exercise day. More recent research (Balsam and Gifford 2004, Bartov and Mohanram 2004, Huddart and Lang 2003) show that stock option exercise has information about future returns, i.e., possibly revealing inside information, also found evidence that employees may also be exercising options in anticipation of future (downward) movements in stock prices. Consequently analogously to our prior return variable we include returns for each of the four five-day periods immediately after the exercise day (Subsequent Stock Return). Stock returns prior to and following exercise were calculated for the test period February 15, 1992 through November 2, 1999, as obtained from the CRSP database.

Once again, in model (2) where we examine the time to exercise for those options that have been exercised by the end of our sample period, our test variables are the country indicator variables. We also include following control variables, which we believe may influence option exercise patterns. We include Employee Age as an control variable because risk aversion with respect to financial returns increases with age (Weagley and Gannon, 1991; Schooley and Worden, 1999) as individuals anticipate retirement and other commitments that place claims on income. Accordingly, older employees may be less willing to hold options. However, options may also represent a higher proportion of a younger individual's wealth and may influence a younger individual to exercise early because of liquidity requirements. Because of these potentially conflicting motivations, no prediction of direction is made. We also include and indicator variable that takes the value of one if the employee participates in the management plan (Participant Management Plan), as these employees have knowledge about options that differ significantly from those employees who only participate in the

broad based plan and in addition, are likely to hold significantly more options. Last we include control variables that take the value of one if the employee has left the company and indicate the reason he or she has left, i.e., Left Company Voluntarily, Left Company Due To Layoff, Left Company Retired, Left Company Death, and Terminated for Cause.

Results

Table 2 provides the results for model (1). Looking at the country indicator variables we see that all 24 are significantly different from zero, i.e., the base country the United States. Of these differences 23 are negative and only one, the Columbia, is positive. Consequently we observe that in terms of proportion of options exercised in a given day, there is a wide variation across the globe. Or perhaps more appropriately, the proportion of options exercised in a given day that are not explained by the control variables varies. Looking at the control variables we see that as expected the coefficients on Lag Exercise and Grant Recently Vested are positive and significant. In contrast the coefficient on Share Price Exceeds High for Year is insignificantly different from zero. In general the coefficients on the return variables are positive both before and after exercise, inconsistent with prior research indicating that individuals exercising stock options used their insider knowledge to time exercise. Of course that previous research focused on executives and the vast majority of the exercises in our sample were by non executive personnel.

Given that the results indicate differences in exercise patterns between employees in the United States and employees elsewhere we reran the model separately for each of the 25 countries omitting the country indicator variables and focusing on the relationship between the proportion exercised and control variables in each country. We found (untabulated results) that the coefficient on Lag Exercise was positive and significant in 24 of 25 individual regressions. The only time it was insignificant was in the Thailand model. This may be because Thailand had the fewest grants 284, and exercises 180, in the sample, creating a preponderance of days in which the dependent variable is zero, which may bias the coefficients on the variables towards zero.

The coefficient on Grant Recently Vested which was positive and significant in the overall regression was positive and significant in 18 of the individual regressions, negative and significant in six of the regressions, and insignificant in one. We had a hard time explaining how vesting, which gives employees the right to exercise shares, could result in lower exercise. The only explanation we could come up with was that, as noted in footnote 6, the third broadbased grant only became exercisable when the stock price hit a certain level, effectively a new high. As discussed below, individuals can have differing expectations in this situation. That is, while some take it as a selling opportunity, others expect the price to continue to rise further and consequently delay exer-



cise. To try to control for this possibility we reran our analysis stopping just prior to the vesting date for the third broad-based grant. The results were somewhat improved, as of the six coefficients that were negative and significant, one became positive and significant and two became insignificant. Three (France, Japan, and Spain) were still negative and significant.

The coefficient on Share Price Exceeds High for the year, which was insignificantly different from zero in the pooled regression, was where we found the biggest divergence in the sample. We found it positive and significant in 17 of the regressions, including the one for the United States, negative and significant in five of the regressions, and insignificant in four of the regressions. This seems to indicate that employees in different countries paid differing amounts of attention to the company's share price, and reacted differently to it. That is in all the English speaking countries, e.g., United States, United Kingdom, Canada, and Australia, employees perceived the stock price hitting a new high as a selling opportunity. In contrast in other cultures, i.e., Brazil, Columbia, France, Italy and Japan, it seems that employees held back on exercise, presumably because they expected the price to go even higher.

Insert Table 2 about here

Table 3 provides the results for model (2). In the first set of columns we present the parameter estimates and p-values for model (2) itself. Since the first set of columns shows significant variation across countries, in the second set of columns we replace the country indicator variables with average national income for a manufacturing worker and the tax rate faced by that worker to further investigate the causes of these differences.

Looking at the country indicator variables we see that 20 of the 24 are significantly different from zero, i.e., the base country the United States. Of these differences 16 are negative and four are positive. The four countries in which the time to exercise is greater than the United States are Belgium, Canada, Luxemborg, and Spain, all developed countries. The 16 countries in which the time to exercise is less than the United States are primarily developing nations, e.g., Argentina, Brazil, Columbia, and Mexico, but also include developed countries such as Germany, Netherlands and the United Kingdom. Consequently we observe that in terms of time to exercise, there is a wide variation across the globe. As noted above, in the second set of columns we replace the country indicator variables with average national income for a manufacturing worker and the tax rate faced by that worker to further investigate the causes of these differences. We observe that time to exercise increases with national income, which is what we would expect, and we also observe that it decreases with tax rate, i.e., as the after-tax benefits to additional gains decrease, employees exercise earlier. Looking at the control variables we see that time to exercise increases with employee age and employee participation in the management plan. It is also higher for employees who left the company either voluntarily, due to layoff, or because they retired, and it is lower for employees terminated for cause, probably because they had to exercise at the time of termination.

Insert Table 3 about here

5. Summary

In this paper we use a proprietary data set that consists of all stock option grants and exercises for a Fortune 100 multinational corporation from 1990 to 1999 to show that the exercise patterns of employees varies across countries. When we examine the variables overall exercise responds to we find evidence that the variables vary with culture, e.g., in general patterns in English speaking countries appear to be comparable, but not so for other countries. When we examine variables that determine the length of time an individual option is held before exercise, we also find it also varies across countries. Further analysis indicates that these differences are tied to systematic differences in national income and tax rates.

References

- 1. Balsam, S. and R. Gifford (2004) The effect of taxes on the timing of stock option exercises. *Journal of Derivatives Accounting* 1 (1): 81-88.
- Bartov, E. and P. Mohanram (2004) Private information, earnings manipulations, and executive stockoption exercises. *The Accounting Review* 79(4): 889-920.
- 3. Gifford, R. (2001) An analysis of the market response to announcements of broad-based stock option plans and an analysis of the effects of broad-based plans on firm performance, employee behavior, and employee retention, Dissertation, Temple University.
- Heath, C., Huddart, S., & Lang, M. (1999). Psychological factors and stock options exercise. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 114 (2), 601-627.
- Huddart, S. and M. Lang (1996) Employee stock option exercises: An empirical analysis. *Journal of Accounting and Economics* 21 (February): 5-43.
- _____. and _____. (2003). Information distribution within firms: Evidence from stock option exercises. *Journal of Accounting & Economics*, 34 (1-3), 3-31.
- Schooley, D., and Worden, D. (1999). Investors' assets allocations versus life cycle funds. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 9 (September/October), 37-43.
- Weagley, R. and Gannon, C. (1991). Investor portfolio allocation. *Financial_Counseling and Planning*, 2, 131-154.



Appendices

Table 1. Exercise by Country

		% options	Age at	Exercise
Country Name	#grants	exercised	Mean	Median
Argentina	774	56.66%	25.86%	22.77%
Australia	2,790	59.61%	24.92%	19.67%
Belgium	1,730	45.82%	32.80%	29.10%
Brazil	2,705	65.33%	20.88%	13.85%
Canada	5,362	48.72%	28.95%	23.26%
Columbia	531	77.24%	21.02%	13.89%
France	2,756	57.62%	28.00%	22.23%
Germany	12,630	56.76%	27.26%	21.84%
Greece	306	75.82%	28.87%	22.40%
Hong Kong	636	50.67%	27.24%	21.88%
Ireland	914	65.23%	24.06%	19.92%
Italy	321	56.13%	29.23%	23.14%
Japan	2,169	50.42%	25.98%	20.60%
Luxembourg	4,230	47.07%	21.97%	25.26%
Mexico	4,542	68.68%	21.47%	16.82%
Netherlands	1,996	49.69%	20.78%	15.99%
Puerto Rico	1,882	66.41%	21.22%	14.37%
Singapore	1,810	52.11%	19.93%	13.01%
South Korea	840	60.63%	22.68%	16.48%
Spain	4,091	46.04%	30.21%	29.05%
Switzerland	4,019	47.73%	25.51%	19.75%
Taiwan	1,747	54.28%	20.58%	15.42%
Thailand	284	63.30%	25.53%	22.00%
United Kingdom	8,933	58.28%	19.77%	13.37%
USA	294,730	56.85%	29.93%	24.38%
Total	362,989*	56.59%	28.87%	22.79%

* Column does not sum to 362,989 because countries with less than 200 observations were omitted.

 Table 2. Tobit Analysis

 Dependent Variable – Proportion of Options Exercised

Variable Name	T-statistic	P-Value
Intercept	0.0057	<.0001
Lag Exercise	0.2550	<.0001
Grant Recently Vested	0.0147	<.0001
Share Price Exceeds High for Year	-0.0001	0.786
Stock return week prior to exercise	0.0356	<.0001
Stock return second week prior to exercise	0.0232	<.0001
Stock return third week prior to exercise	-0.0096	<.0001
Stock return fourth week prior to exercise	0.0220	<.0001
Stock return week subsequent to exercise	0.0005	0.7273
Stock return second week subsequent to exercise	0.0150	<.0001
Stock return third week subsequent to exercise	0.0226	<.0001
Stock return fourth week subsequent to exercise	0.0072	<.0001
Argentina	-0.0061	<.0001
Australia	-0.0064	<.0001
Belgium	-0.0063	<.0001
Brazil	-0.0063	<.0001
Canada	-0.0064	<.0001
Columbia	0.0532	<.0001
France	-0.0064	<.0001
Germany	-0.0065	<.0001
Greece	-0.0057	<.0001
Hong Kong	-0.0060	<.0001
Ireland	-0.0062	<.0001
Italy	-0.0046	<.0001
Japan	-0.0064	<.0001
Luxembourg	-0.0064	<.0001
Mexico	-0.0038	<.0001
Netherlands	-0.0063	<.0001
Puerto Rico	-0.0062	<.0001



Table 2 continued

Singapore	-0.0056	<.0001
South Korea	-0.0045	<.0001
Spain	-0.0064	<.0001
Switzerland	-0.0064	<.0001
Taiwan	-0.0054	<.0001
Thailand	-0.0047	<.0001
United Kingdom	-0.0049	<.0001

Table 3. OLS Analysis. Dependent Variable - Time to Exercise

Variable Name	Estimate	P-Value	Estimate	P-Value
Intercept	431.2699	<.0001	441.7598	<.0001
Employee Age	0.0382	<.0001	0.04021	<.0001
Participant Management Plan	350.2565	<.0001	359.3768	<.0001
Left Company Voluntarily	27.97593	<.0001	34.82606	<.0001
Left Company Due To Layoff	32.19782	<.0001	35.46106	<.0001
Left Company Retired	348.1259	<.0001	351.5472	<.0001
Left Company Death	23.47075	0.6395	22.51678	0.6552
Terminated For Cause	-135.918	<.0001	-147.063	<.0001
National Income			0.00104	<.0001
Tax Rate			-579.797	<.0001
Argentina	-176.404	<.0001		
Australia	-130.226	<.0001		
Belgium	196.7345	<.0001		
Brazil	-216.664	<.0001		
Canada	24.64217	0.0458		
Columbia	-247.313	<.0001		
France	-14.8251	0.3539		
Germany	-89.2306	<.0001		
Greece	44.95351	0.2708		
Hong Kong	-0.98064	0.9796		
Ireland	-201.977	<.0001		
Italy	48.28634	0.3055		
Japan	-76.7888	0.0001		
Luxembourg	40.04035	0.0046		
Mexico	-190.908	<.0001		
Netherlands	-298.79	<.0001		
Puerto Rico	-197.812	<.0001		
Singapore	-185.874	<.0001		
South Korea	-81.6743	0.0035		
Spain	48.92731	0.0007		
Switzerland	-118.094	<.0001		
Taiwan	-215.566	<.0001		
Thailand	-86.3563	0.0653		
United Kingdom	-300.246	<.0001		

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS: A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Raymond A. K. Cox*

Abstract

This paper is a selected literature review of the theories and empirical evidence on mergers and acquisitions. Initially, the fundamental factors, and the underlying theories, causing mergers is explored. Subsequently, the empirical evidence is examined on: (1) the operating performance of the acquirers and the acquired firms before and after the merger, (2) stockholder wealth impact, (3) form of payment used to complete the acquisition, (4) conglomerate mergers, and (5) corporate governance affecting the firm's ownership and control.

Keywords: Mergers, acquisitions, conglomerates, corporate control, governance

* Chairman, Department of Finance & Law, Central Michigan University, Mt. Pleasant, Michigan, USA 48859 989-774-3362 (phone), 989-774-6456 (fax), cox1r@cmich.edu (email)

Mergers and acquisitions is an enduring phenomenon. Year after year firms acquire other firms both big and small, private and public, foreign and domestic, and inside and outside their industry. The merger decision involves corporations choosing to acquire existing companies as opposed to internal growth and expansion. Thus, in general, existing larger firms take ownership and control of other small firms. The purpose of this paper is to review the mergers and acquisition literature to answer the questions of why they occur, who benefits from them, and what is their ensuing performance.

Why do firms merge? Several reasons explain the motivation of firms to acquire other firms. The reasons for a specific merger are not mutually exclusive. That is, one or more reasons may be driving a particular combination. The causes of mergers include investment theory where the target firm to be acquired is a profitable investment in a capital budgeting sense with a positive net present value. How the target firm will generate the returns above that which is required in the capital markets is another matter. The target firm may be underpriced in the stock market causing a value creating opportunity. This underpricing, may be due to an information asymmetry between investors and the firm.

A disequilibrium in the physical asset market may be attributed to the undervaluation. That is, the Tobin's Q ratio (market value of assets divided by the replacement cost of assets) may be less than one. This would give rise to purchasing already in-place assets through merger to enjoy a cost savings versus constructing the assets onself.

Other sources of value augmentation may come from a differential efficiency between the management of the acquirer and the target company. This is where the acquirer management efficiency exceeds that of the target management efficiency. Thus, upon combining the two entities the efficiency of the combined firm increases to the higher of the two management efficiencies resulting in increased value. Another root of increased worth may be derived from synergy when the firms coalesce into one organization. These synergies may be due to the amortization of fixed costs on a greater volume level and, therefore, lowering the average cost per unit. Furthermore, the synergy may come from economics of scale or scope or both. When two firms combine and become larger, in a horizontal merger, this may enable the organization to choose a different technology or organization structure that is of lower per unit cost when the quantity produced is great. For example, a nuclear powered electrical generating plant, as opposed to a coal fired electrical generating plant, may be cheaper to operate when electrical power production levels are gargantuan. A merger with economies of scope produces a decline in per unit costs. This occurs in a congeneric merger where two firms that are allied-in-nature join. An illustration of this is when a commercial bank (doing business in deposit instruments, checking accounts, consumer and small business loans) joins with an investment bank (doing business in retail brokerage accounts, corporate fund raising, managing mutual funds). A fount of value may come from tax considerations such as in the U.S. with unused tax loss carryforwards, underutilized depreciation tax shields, interest expense tax deductions, inheritance taxes, et cetera. A market power reason for a merger is where the acquirer gains a dominating market share in the product market that the firm sells in. Because of the heightened market power, with lesser competition due to the competitor being bought out, the firm has influence if not control (for a monopoly) over market



prices and therefore can better manage its profits. This concentration of power placing the ownership and control of an industry in a few may be thwarted by government and its regulatory agencies. For example, in the U.S. the Department of Justice oversees all mergers and a regulatory agency is assigned for a particular industry such as the Federal Communications Commission in the television and radio industry. Vertical integration mergers are another form of market power, either upstream or downstream in the supply chain, giving more control to the firm to affect prices at which distribution channel point the profit is made so as to provide fiercer competition where needed.

Diversification reasons for mergers are at the heart of conglomerate mergers. If there is an amalgamation of firms whose cash flows are less than perfectly positive correlated than by their melding together the overall variance of cash flows is reduced. This diversification effect, or risk sharing, is analogous to that delineated by the Markowitz-Roy Covariance Model and Sharpe-Lintner-Mossin Capital Asset Pricing Model. Another aspect of the risk sharing effect through diversification is when there are financial distress costs. One extreme version of financial distress costs equals the expected deadweight bankruptcy costs multiplied by the probability of bankruptcy. Of course, there are other financial distress costs like lost customer sales due to uncertainty of a continued replacement parts supply, higher employee turnover, creditors unwillingness to extend further debt, suppliers discontinuing service and so on. In a conglomerate merger the likelihood of financial distress is lessened due to this coinsurance effect. This outcome brings about cost savings to the conglomerate corporation.

Large conglomerates may also provide an internal capital market for funds at a lower cost of capital (such as from reduced transaction and flotation costs) compared to securing money from the external market. This cheaper financing makes for additional investments to be considered profitable and therefore spurs further mergers and growth. The free cash flow theory is applicable to companies contemplating mergers who possess excess positive free cash flows coupled with poor internal investment opportunities. The process of acquiring other existing firms provides an outlet for this excess free cash flow. This scenario may persist in the future and accounts for a prolonged merger and acquisition binge.

As growth through mergers is an alternative to internal growth some distinction between the two is in order. Internal growth in a market expansion, or branching out to another industry, requires time to assemble the assets, hire the workforce, train the personnel, acquire government licenses and permits, develop the clientele base and so on. In addition to the potentially lengthy time the costs are somewhat unknown and uncertain. This is in contrast to a merger where the timeframe is much shorter and costs are relatively known. Simultaneously, an acquisition eliminates a competitor whereas internal growth gives notice to competitors of a firm's intentions. More importantly, there are businesses that can only be obtained by an acquisition. For example, a company that has a patent on a pharmaceutical drug. If you want to be in that drug business you can wait for the patent to expire or you can buy the firm. Another example is when a government issues a finite number of licenses to conduct business in an industry. Therefore, you must choose to buy an existing company that holds a license or not enter that business segment. Companies that occupy land with rare minerals found nowhere else on earth are prime candidates for acquisition. That is, if these scarce elements are required in some manufacturing process then this would necessitate that company being acquired by the firm desiring to be in that line of business. A fatuous rationale to effect a merger is the follow-theherd argument. That is, as everybody else is doing it so too should we do it. We may not be able to elucidate why we are acquiring firms but so as not to look different and possibly inferior to other firms we mimic their behavior. In the least the firm, by replicating the actions of others, may mirror their average performance and not be below average achievement. Strategic planning reasons for mergers seem elusive at the consummation of the acquisition but nevertheless may be the cause. Firms aim to enter a new business line with a toehold investment to establish their presence. The actual current entry appears to have dubious value inasmuch a net present value analysis calculates a negative figure. Nevertheless, this acquisition gives the firm growth options to expand at a subsequent date. These call options have value now and possibly more so later.

Government fiat describes the rationale for some mergers especially in developing nations that necessitates the formation of a joint venture between a foreign firm, wishing to enter the country, and a local company. This proposition occurs for those craving to penetrate the market in China and to some extent in Eastern Europe and Central Asia.

The agency theory denoting the conflict between the interests of stockholders to that of managers underlies the impetus for some mergers. Managers of large firms, on average, earn higher compensation and consume greater perquisites than managers of small firms. Accordingly, in their own self interest managers have an incentive to conduct empire building. That is, growth in the size of assets or sales is pursued regardless of the prudence of the investments with the intention of maximizing manager's utility as opposed to shareholders. This gives rise to the overinvestment problem of selecting impoverished investment opportunities. There is a restraint on managerial hubris in the capital markets through hostile acquisition bids. That is, an outside investor may acquire an effective ownership stake in a bloated underperforming company and with its control status effect changes to discharge the peccant management. The impact of mergers revolves around the

subsequent operating performance of the combined entity as well as the stock market reaction to the merger surrounding the announcement date. These responses have been extensively examined in the literature. A selection of the empirical evidence is furnished. The operating performance of the acquired firm subsequent to a merger can be difficult to discern as its operations are melded and entangled with its new parent partner. Lang, Poulsen and Stulz (1995) find the combined corporation conducts asset sales following poor firm-level performance. John and Ofek (1995) ascertained that the remaining assets of the firm improve in performance after asset sales that subsequently leave the firm more focused. These results are confirmed by Maksimovic and Phillips (2001). Saffieddine and Titman (1999) display evidence where targets that terminate takeover offers significantly increase their leverage ratios, reduce capital expenditures, sell assets, reduce employment, increase focus and realize cash flows and share prices that outperform their benchmarks in the five years following the failed takeover. Heron and Lie (2002) found no evidence that the method of payment conveys information about the acquisition's future operating performance. In one of the seminal articles investigating merger buyer and seller premiums Halpern (1973) found a significant stock price increase for both buyers and sellers. These results were supported by Mandelker (1974). However, Ellert (1976) indicates only the acquired firms have statistically significant gains from mergers. The finding of significant gains to the target company only is bolstered by Langetieg (1978), Dodd (1980), Malatesta (1983), and others. Moreover, Noe and Kale (1997) found that takeovers offer target premiums that are less than post takeover value with no relation to pre-announcement stock price runups according to Schwert (1996). Nonetheless, Cotter, Shivdasani and Zenner (1997) show that target firm's independent outside directors driving takeover attempts by tender offers enhance shareholder wealth. Moeller, Schlingemann and Stulz (2005) report acquirers lose money and perform poorly afterwards. Eckbo and Thorburn (2000) discovered Canadian bidders earn significantly positive abnormal returns versus American bidders acquiring Canadian targets.

The form of payment employed to execute a merger and characteristics of the firms involved affects the returns of bidders and targets. Dodd and Ruback (1977) analyzed both successful and unsuccessful cash tender offers. Both bidders and targets earned statistically significant abnormal returns prior to the announcement date. Furthermore, the target firms earned greater excess returns than bidder companies. Moreover, successful tender offers generated even greater positive residuals versus unsuccessful tender offers but nevertheless both created significant stockholder wealth. These findings are partially supported by Bradley (1980) for the target corporations but rather negative returns for the acquirer com-

pany. Travlos (1987) reports negative abnormal returns for firms financing a takeover with common stock and no abnormal returns for those financing with cash. This outcome parallels the empirical evidence of a public offering of new equity. Faccio and Masulis (2005) promulgated results where cash payments are used by bidders when their dominant voting control is threatened. Otherwise, stock financing is employed as the bidder's financial condition weakens. For privately held targets Chang (1998) hypothesized that when the acquisitions market is uncompetitive bidding firms can reap positive gains as the probability of underpayment is high. Pulvino (1998) provided support for this concept contrasting differentially financially constrained airlines in the sale of assets. Loughran and Vijh (1997) showed that for the five-year period following an acquisition, on average, firms that complete stock mergers have significant negative excess returns and cash tender offers earn significant positive excess returns. Martin (1996) published findings that support the notion that the higher the acquirer's growth opportunities the more likely the acquirer is to use stock to finance the acquisition. Stock financing increases with higher pre-acquisition market and acquiring firm stock returns. It decreases with an acquirer's higher cash availability, higher institutional shareholdings and block holdings, and in tender offers. Lang, Stulz and Walkling (1991) present results that bidder returns are significantly related to cash flow for low Tobin Q bidders but not for high Tobin Q bidders. The former Tobin Q firms have poor investment opportunities whereas the latter Tobin Q firms have good investment opportunities. These results are amplified by Rau and Vermaelen (1998) who found poor postacquisition performance of low book-to-market firms. Business cycle conditions can influence the choice of stock or cash. Choe, Masulis and Nanda (1993) and Taggart (1997) support a non-recession state of the economy as favorable to the use of stock to consummate a merger. Rhodes-Kroph and Viswanathan (2004) found a positive correlation between merger activity and when the stock market is high. A subfield in the merger literature is that of conglomerates. Lewellen (1971) demonstrated diversified firms enjoy greater debt capacity and debt tax shields relative to pure play firms due to lower risk. This study is confirmed by Amihud and Lev (1981) showing lower firm risk due to multiple lines of business with imperfectly correlated returns. In addition, they show managers engage in corporate diversification, even if it reduces shareholder value, to reduce their own human capital risk. In fact, mergers oftentimes are in lines of business with poor investment opportunities (Jensen (1986) and Stulz (1990)). Meyer, Milgrom and Roberts (1992), Berger and Ofek (1995) and Mansi and Reeb (2002) show that conglomerates cross-subsidize poorly performing divisions. While Stein (1997) discusses that diversification can create internal capital markets, which may increase investment efficiency, Rajan, Servaes



and Zingalesm (2000) explain that conglomerates can have internal power struggles causing resource allocation distortions. Scharfstein and Stein (2000) show how divisional managers subvert internal capital markets in their pursuit of rent-seeking investments leading to inefficiencies. Thus, Lins and Servaes (1999) and Lamont and Polk (2001) exhibit data of conglomerates priced at a discount versus comparable single line of business corporations while on the contrary Graham, Lemmon and Wolf (2002) casts doubt, based on methodology, on the conglomerate discount. Weston (1970) expounded on the ability of diversified organizations to leverage economies of scale due to their efficient and profitable operations rather than stand-alone firms.

Mergers and acquisitions play a role in corporate governance. While there are both internal controls, such as independent boards and effective executive incentive compensation plans, and external checks, such as legal protection for minority stockholders and monitoring of the firm by accountants, creditors and rating agencies, certification by investment banks and stock exchanges; nevertheless, the market for corporate control through takeovers can motivate a management with astigmatism or hyeropia. The response of managers to takeover bids is correlated to the degree of agency costs. Shleifer and Vishny (1988) show that equity-based compensation (EBC) of executives has the effect of reducing the nonvalue maximizing behavior of acquiring managers. Datta, Iskandar-Datta and Raman (2001) present evidence that high EBC firms experience positive stock returns versus low EBC firms suffering negative returns. Furthermore, the merger premium paid by high EBC firms is less than low EBC firms. Moreover, high EBC firms experience higher growth rates and stock return performance in the 3 year postmerger period. Berger and Ofek (1996) found that those firms who endured greater losses from diversification were more likely to be taken over. Agrawal and Walkling (1994) discovered that acquisition attempts occur more frequently in industries where chief executive officers have positive abnormal compensation. Boot (1992) furnishes proof that a takeover threat may deter a manager from persisting with a suboptimal project. Berkovitch and Khanna (1990) and DeAngelo and Rice (1983) supply results of how managers will implement defensive strategies such as crown jewel sales, lock-up options, litigation, white knight arrangements, purchases of undesirable assets, and greenmail to thwart a hostile takeover or at least extract additional rents from the potential acquirer. Sinha (1991) shows that takeover target managers repurchase stock to bond themselves to reduce agency costs of overconsumption of perquisites and underinvestment of the firm. Servaes (1994) corroborates the previous finding with evidence that takeover targets have not previously overinvested in capital expenditures. Berkovitch and Khanna (1991) create an acquisition market model to demonstrate how target shareholders must design golden parachutes for managers to foster higher payoff tender offer bids as opposed to merger bids. Kini, Kracaw and Mian (2004) show how corporate takeovers provide an external source of discipline after internal control mechanisms failed.

The preceding overview testifies to the depth and breadth of the mergers and acquisitions literature. Mergers are fascinating in their impact on competition, the upheaval in employees, the relocation of company headquarters, the gains and losses to investors, the attempts to thwart the combination, the legal machinations, and the ramifications on corporate ownership and control. Empirical evidence supporting or refuting hypothesis are ex post in nature and only ex ante studies will prove the efficacy of the theories. No matter, merger waves will continue to transform the global market far into the future.

References

- 1. Agrawal, Anup and Ralph A. Walkling, 1994, Executive careers and compensation surrounding takeover bids, *Journal of Finance* 49.
- 2. Amihud, Yakov and Baruch Lev, 1981, Risk reduction as a managerial motive for conglomerate mergers, *Rand Journal of Economics* 12.
- Berger, Philip and Eli Ofek, 1996, Busting takeovers of value - destroying diversified firms, *Journal of Finance* 51, 1175-1200.
- Berger, Philip and Eli Ofek, 1995, Diversification's effect on firm value, *Journal of Financial Economics* 37, 39-65.
- Berkovitch, Elazar and Naveen Khanna, 1991, A theory of acquisition markets; mergers verses tender offers, and golden parachutes, *Review of Financial Studies* 4, 149-174.
- Berkovitch, Elazar and Naveen Khanna, 1990, How target shareholders benefit from value - reducing defensive strategies in takeovers, *Journal of Finance* 45.
- 7. Boot, Arnoud W. A., 1992, Why hang on to losers? Divestitures and takeovers, *Journal of Finance* 47.
- Bradley, M., 1980, Interfirm tender offers and the market for corporate control, *Journal of Business* 53.
- Chang, Saeyoung, 1998, Takeovers of privately held targets, methods of payment, and bidden returns, *Journal of Finance* 53, 773-784.
- Choe, H., R. W. Masulis and V. Nanda, 1993, Common stock offerings across the business cycle: Theory and evidence, *Journal of Empirical Finance* 1.
- 11. Cotter, James F., Anil Shivdasani and Marc Zenner, 1997, Do independent directors enhance target of shareholder wealth during tender offers? *Journal of Financial Economics* 43.
- Datta, Sudip, Mai Iskandar-Datta and Kartick Raman, 2001, Executive compensation decisions, *Journal of Finance* 56, 2299 – 2336.
- 13. DeAngelo, Harry and Edward M. Rice, 1983, Antitakeover charter amendments and stockholder wealth, *Journal of Financial Economics* 11.
- Dodd, P., 1980, Merger proposals, management discretion, and stockholder wealth, *Journal of Financial Economics* 8, 105-137.
- 15. Dodd, P., and R. Ruback, 1977, Tender offers and stockholder returns: An empirical analysis, *Journal of Financial Economics* 5, 351-374.



- Eckbo, B. Espen and Karen S. Thorburn, 2000, Gains to bidder firms revisited: Domestic and foreign acquisitions in Canada, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 35, 1-25.
- 17. Ellert, J. C., 1976, Mergers, antitrust law enforcement and stockholder returns, *Journal of Finance* 31.
- Faccio, Mara and Ronald W. Masulis, 2005, The choice of payment method in European mergers and acquisitons, *Journal of Finance* 60.
- Graham, John R., Michael L. Lemmon and Jack G. Wolf, 2002, Does corporate diversification destroy value?" *Journal of Finance* 57, 695-720.
- Halpern, P. J., 1973, Empirical estimates of the amount and distribution of gains to companies in mergers, *Journal of Business* 46, 554-575.
- Heron, Randall and Eric Lie, 2002, Operating performance and the method of payment in takeovers, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 37.
- Jensen, Michael C., 1986, Agency costs of free cash flow, corporate finance, and takeovers, *American Economic Review* 76, 323-329.
- John, Kose and Eli Ofek, 1995, Asset sales and the increase in focus, *Journal of Financial Economics* 37.
- Kini, Omesh, William Kracaw and Shehzad Mian, 2004, The nature of discipline by corporate takeovers, *Journal of Finance* 59, 1511-1552.
- Lamont, Owen A. and Christopher Polk, 2001, The diversification discount: Cash flows versus returns, *Journal of Finance* 5, 1693-1721.
- Lang, Larry H.P., Annette Paulson and Rene Stulz, 1995, Asset sales, firm performance, and the agency costs of managerial discretion, *Journal of Financial Economics* 37, 3-38.
- Lang, Larry H.P., Rene M. Stulz and Ralph A. Walkling, 1991, A test of the free cash flow hypothesis: The case of bidder returns, *Journal of Financial Economics* 29, 315-335.
- Langetieg, T., 1978, An application of a three-factor performance index to measure stockholder gains from merger, *Journal of Financial Economics* 6.
- 29. Lewellen, W. G., 1971, A pure financial rationale for the conglomerate merger, *Journal of Finance* 26.
- Lins, Karl and Henri Servaes, 1999, International evidence on the value of corporate diversification, *Journal of Finance* 54, 2215-2239.
- Loughran, Tim and Anand M. Vijh, 1997, Do longterm shareholders benefit from capital acquisitions, *Journal of Finance* 52, 1765-1790.
- 32. Maksimovic, Vojislav and Gordon Philips, 2001, The market for corporate assets: Who engages in mergers and asset sales and are there efficiency gains? *Journal* of Finance 56.
- Malatesta, P. H., 1983, The wealth effect of merger activity and the objective functions of merging firms, *Journal of Financial Economics* 11, 155-181.
- 34. Mandelker, G., 1974, Risk and return: The case of merging firms, *Journal of Financial Economics* 1.
- Mansi, Sattar A. and David M. Reeb, 2002, Corporate diversification: Who gets discounted? *Journal of Fi*nance 57, 2167-2184.

- Martin, Kenneth J., 1996, The method of payment in corporate acquisitions, investment opportunities, and management ownership, *Journal of Finance* 51.
- Meyer, Michael, Paul Milgrom and John Roberts, 1992, Organizational prospects, influence costs, and ownership changes, *Journal of Economic and Mana*gement Strategy 1, 9-35.
- Moeller, Sara B., Frederick P. Schlingemann and Renee M. Stulz, 2005, Wealth destruction on a massive scale? A study of acquiring-firm returns in the recent merger wave, *Journal of Finance* 60.
- Noe, Thomas H. and Jayant R. Kale, 1997, Unconditional and conditional takeover offers: Experimental evidence, *Review of Financial Studies* 10, 735-766.
- 40. Pulvino, Todd C., 1998, Do asset fire sales exist? An empirical investigation of commercial aircraft transactions, *Journal of Finance* 53.
- 41. Rajan, Raghurm, Henri Servaes and Luigi Zingalesm, 2000, The cost of diversity: The diversification discount and inefficient investment, *Journal of Finance* 55, 35-80.
- 42. Rau, P. Raghavendra and Theo Vermaelen, 1998, Glamour, value and the post- acquisition performance of acquiring firms, *Journal of Financial Economics* 49, 223-253.
- Rhodes-Kropf, Matthew and S. Viswanathan, 2004, Market valuation and merger waves, *Journal of Finance* 59, 2685-2718.
- 44. Saffieddine, Assem and Sheridan Titman, 1999, Leverages and corporate performance: Evidence from unsuccessful takeovers, *Journal of Finance* 54.
- 45. Scharfstein, David and Jeremy Stein, 2002, The dark side of internal capital markets: Divisional rent-seeking and inefficient investment, *Journal of Finance* 55, 2537-2564.
- Schwert, G. William, 1996, Markup pricing in mergers and acquisitions, *Journal of Financial Economics* 41, 153-192.
- 47. Servaes, Henri, 1994, Do takeover targets over invest? *Review of Financial Studies* 7, 253-277.
- 48. Shleifer, Andrei and Robert Vishny, 1988, Value maximization acquisition process, *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 2, 7-20.
- Sinha, Sidharth 1991, Share repurchase as a takeover defense, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 26, 233-244.
- Stein, Jeremy, 1997, Internal capital markets and the competition for corporate resources, *Journal of Finance* 52, 111-133.
- 51. Stulz, Rene, 1990, Managerial discretion and optimal financing policies, *Journal of Financial Economics* 26, 3-27.
- 52. Taggart, James H., 1997, Autonomy and procedural justice: A framework for evaluating subsidiary strategy, *Journal of Information Systems* 28, 51-76.
- 53. Travlos, Nickolas G. 1987, Corporate takeover bids, methods of payment, and bidding firms stock returns, *Journal of Finance* 42, 943-963.
- 54. Weston, J. Fred, 1970, The nature and significance of conglomerate firms, *St. John's Law Review* 44, 66-80.



РАЗДЕЛ 2 КОРПОРАТИВНАЯ СОБСТВЕННОСТЬ

SECTION 2 CORPORATE OWNERSHIP

THE ASIAN CRISIS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE, DEBT FINANCING, AND CORPORATE DIVERSIFICATION

Masaharu Hanazaki*, Qun Liu**

Abstract

Based on firm-level analysis, this paper suggests that ownership concentration enabling controlling shareholders to expropriate other shareholders; fund raising through debt that is short of effective monitoring by creditors; and inefficiency caused by the ill effects of diversification are all associated with significantly worse performance during the Asian crisis. The region's predominant governance structure, characterized by family control and conglomerates, was considered a factor in its miraculous economic development but has been seen since the crisis as the origin of crony capitalism.

Keywords: asian crisis, ownership structure, debt financing

* Research Institute of Capital Formation, Development Bank of Japan ** Institute of Economic Research, Hitotsubashi University

1. Introduction

East Asia, the focus of the financial crisis of 1997, was a region (*see endnote 1*) that had only recently achieved unparalleled economic development. The conventional view has held that investor attitude, along with economic fundamentals, helped to cause the collapse. Also coming in for analysis have been the mechanisms which could allow a country to suffer substantial successive damage after the crisis.

However, our analysis – which used firm-level data on the East Asian area – indicated that the outbreak of the Asian crisis was followed not only by a generally negative impact on the performance of firms, but also by expanded cross-firm variation in performance. This suggests that the effects of the Asian crisis were not necessarily uniform across the corporate sector. Another possibility to be considered is that performance may have been influenced significantly by elements peculiar to individual firms.

In this paper we focus on the corporate governance problems in a firm's idiosyncratic elements. We develop our argument around the close relationship of corporate governance problems, such as immaturity and inefficiency, to the Asian crisis. We use firm-level data from the five East Asian crisis economies of Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, the Philippines, and Thailand to study the impact of corporate governance on the performance of firms. We



examine three aspects of corporate governance in particular. We will now briefly summarize our findings on how these factors affected corporate performance during the crisis.

The first aspect, ownership structure, is one of the key determinants of corporate governance. We highlight the agency problem between large shareholders and minority shareholders and measure it in terms of the ownership concentration of controlling shareholders and the divergence between the voting rights and cash flow rights of the controlling shareholders in the firm. We find that in general, these two variables are associated with significantly worse performance during the Asian crisis.

The second aspect is debt. We examine two hypotheses here - the free-cash-flow hypothesis and the debt-overhang hypothesis. We find that the debtoverhang hypothesis is supported in a very limited number of cases, and fail to detect a mechanism by which the free-cash-flow hypothesis asserts itself. Rather, higher debt is associated with significantly worse corporate performance during the Asian crisis. This finding suggests that banks did not efficiently monitor the firms to which they lent their money, and that they tended to engage in "crony lending." The last aspect is corporate diversification. We investigate the effects of diversification on the performance of firms and find strong evidence that diversification worked to worsen performance during the crisis, perhaps because inefficiency involving diversification surfaced at that time.

2. Macroeconomic and Microeconomic Theory on the Asian Financial Crisis

2.1. Traditional Theory on the Asian Financial Crisis

The causes of the Asian financial crisis of July 1997 have been analyzed mainly from the viewpoints of macroeconomics and international finance theory. These theories form the basis for several explanations, such as a mid-term acceleration of external debt (from the private as well as the public sector), an aggravation tendency among economic fundamentals, and panic fund recovery by some investors (*see endnote 2*). The IMF is also accused of accelerating the crisis by insisting on conditionality involving major structural reform in its midst.

The mechanism of the Asian financial crisis

Although there are several theoretical models that dealt with the mechanism of the currency crisis (*see* endnote 3), we focus here on the contagion model. The characteristic feature of the Asian financial crisis is that currency collapsed simultaneously with the contraction of production. Other conditions being equal, currency depreciation will enlarge external demand; this is not, however, observed here. The positive effect of relative price change on the de-

mand side is offset completely by its negative effect on the supply side.

Kiyotaki and Moore (1997), in analyzing a dynamic economy, demonstrate that in such an economy durable assets, such as land, play a dual role. Not only are they factors of production, but they also serve as collateral for loans. The dynamic interaction between credit limits and asset prices turns out to be a powerful transmission mechanism by which the effects of shocks persist, amplify, and spill over to other sectors. The land collateral system equalizes the idiosyncratic features, such as differences in credit risk, possessed by individual firms. While it makes external financing easier for firms, the system cannot serve as an effective barrier to a macroeconomic shock that influences land prices throughout the country. Miller and Stiglitz (1999) try to explain why the East Asian crisis worsened, using the collateralized borrowing model by Kiyotaki and Moore (1997), hereafter referred to as the KM model. In their model, bankruptcy law and balance sheets play the same roles as land plays in the KM model. Bankruptcy law is designed to solve problems of creditor coordination in the absence of contracts. It aims to restructure credits so as to avoid premature liquidation and to divide up the assets in cases where liquidation is necessary.

In normal times, bankruptcy conveys a lot of information about the quality of a firm's management and the firm's long-term viability. But in the context of a system-wide failure, little information is imparted. The mechanisms designed to handle small, idiosyncratic shocks simply cannot cope with a macroeconomic shock of this magnitude. This is because when a large number of firms, say two-thirds of the firms in a country, are insolvent, there are not sufficient resources – human or pecuniary – to address each bankruptcy individually.

Moreover, the systemic nature of the bankruptcies makes sorting out net asset positions even more difficult than in normal situations, since the assets of bankrupt firms consist of claims on other firms that are also bankrupt. A further problem is the difficulty of finding new managers or trustees to oversee all of the restructured firms. In the context of the Asian crisis, therefore, even a well-managed firm could easily go bankrupt, simply because it failed to plan for a large-scale devaluation and a substantial rise in interest rates. It thus could generate large-scale connective bankruptcy as a result (*see endnote 4*). Miller and Stiglitz suggest that the Asian crisis had a serious, uniform influence on corporate sectors in the countries concerned.

2.2. Is the Influence of the Asian Crisis Uniform?

In this section, we use firm-level data to investigate whether the Asian crisis had a uniformly negative influence on the corporate sector of each country.



Data description

We collected financial data from the Worldscope database for all firms in Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, the Philippines, and Thailand from 1994 until 2000. The five countries suffered disproportionately in terms of currency depreciation and stock market decline (Mitton 2001). We eliminate firms for which there is not sufficient data from 1994 to 2000. We exclude the period before 1994, as Worldscope provides little data for this period. We eliminate firms that include an unusual value of financial variables even in one year (see endnote 5). This process is done twice, as after the first deletion we can still find unusual values included in the data set. Data that exceed plus-or-minus three standard deviations from the average value are defined as unusual values. By performing these processes we obtain a balanced data set (see endnote 6).

Since the crisis clearly began in July 1997, we compare a within-country deviation of performance index between firms before 1997 with that after 1997. If the deviation after 1997 shows little change or shrinks, we will conclude that the Asian crisis had a uniform and serious influence on the corporate sector of the country concerned. If the deviation grows larger after 1997, we will conclude that the Asian crisis had varied influences on the corporate sector in light of the idiosyncratic factors of each firm.

We use three typical performance indices for individual firms. The first is ROA (the current return on firms' total assets); the second is ROE (the net return on firms' equity); and the third is PMA (the business profits-to-sales ratio). Summarized statistics for the three indexes are shown in Table 1. We also include standard deviation, standard deviation/mean, and standard deviation/median in Table 1 as deviation indices.

Enlarged deviation

We differentiate Table 1 by performance indices. A general deterioration tendency of performance can be observed after 1997 by mean and median. However, by the indices characteristic, the deterioration of PMA is smaller than that of ROA and ROE. Except for the Philippines, performance indices in all our sample countries are negative; the Philippines was comparatively stable during the crisis period both by mean and by median. The deviation enlarges after 1997 in general, although the extent of expansion varies by country and by index. The deviation indices for Indonesia, Thailand, and Korea showed particular expansion.

On the other hand, the expansion was comparatively smaller for Malaysia. For the Philippines, standard deviation/mean, standard deviation/median expanded due to declining mean and median, but standard deviation did not. The result indicates that the Asian crisis had different influences on corporate sectors in light of the idiosyncratic factors of individual firms.

This contradicts any idea that the Asian crisis had a uniform influence on the corporate sector of a given country.

3. The Influence of the Asian Crisis Analyzed from the Viewpoint of Corporate Governance

3.1. The Features and Problems of Family Control

In the West and Japan, ownership of big firms is comparatively dispersed. East Asian firms, even large ones, are generally owned by one family or by a group corporation under the family's control. These families have close connections with the government and politicians, and dominate the national economy to a significant extent.

Claessens, Djankov and Lang (2000) indicate that families control two-thirds of firms in Indonesia and Korea, over half in Malaysia and Thailand, and 40% in the Philippines (*see endnote 7*). To discuss corporate governance in East Asian firms, we have to take the family control problem into consideration.

Ownership of firms and the agency problem

One important issue in the organization of firms is how to solve or mitigate the agency problem that derives from asymmetric information (see endnote 8). But the problems that arise when firm ownership is dispersed are different than when it is concentrated. When ownership is dispersed, as in the US, conflicts of interest between managers and shareholders are the central problem. When ownership is highly concentrated, as in East Asia, conflicts of interest between controlling shareholders and minority shareholders become the main problem. As Shleifer and Vishny (1997) point out, controlling shareholders may not have a convergence of interests with minority shareholders. A greater degree of control by controlling shareholders implies a greater ability to expropriate minority shareholders (see endnote 9).

Voting rights and cash flow rights

The separation of voting rights and cash flow rights is another dominant characteristic of the ownership structure of family-controlled firms in East Asia. "Voting rights" refers the degree of control of a company, while "cash flow rights" refers to shareholdings in the firm. If, for example, a family owns 60% of Firm A's equities, and Firm A owns 30% of Firm B's equities, the family owns 30% of the voting rights but only 18% of cash flow rights in Firm B. When voting rights and cash flow rights diverge, the agency problem between large shareholders and minority shareholders becomes more serious. This is because when family-controlled firms suffer a loss,

VIRTUS

the family is required to pay for only 18% of the loss, not 30%.

Ultimate ownership structure

Claessens, Djankov, and Lang (2000) (see endnote 10) show that the widespread use of pyramidal ownership structures in East Asian firms allows insiders to exercise effective control over a company even when they own relatively few of its cash flow rights. Pyramid structures (see endnote 11) and cross-shareholdings are two of the ways in which families tend to control firms. To clarify the ultimate ownership structures (see endnote 12), therefore, we have to take pyramid structures and cross-shareholdings into consideration. Based on this view, we examine the link between ownership structure and firm performance during the crisis using firm-level data.

Survey

We discuss some relevant literature, which focuses primarily on the relationship between the Asian crisis and corporate governance.

Johnson, Boone, Breach and Friedman (2000) study country-level data and find that the extent of exchange rate depreciation and stock market performance decline are indeed correlated with aggregate measures of legal protection. Mitton (2001) studies five East Asian countries at the firm level and finds evidence that during the crisis period, firms with greater disclosure performed better than other firms; corporate diversification is associated with significantly worse performance; and the separation of cash flow rights and control rights did not affect firm performance to a significant extent. Lemmon and Lins (2001) study eight East Asian countries, also at the firm level, and find strong support for the view that firms with greater separation of cash flow rights and control rights performed worse than others.

3.2. Examination of the Hypotheses concerning Ownership Structure

In this section, we examine whether firm-level differences in corporate governance can explain differences in corporate performance during the Asian crisis. To that end, we match the initial sample of firms that we described in Section 2 with ownership data from Claessens, Djankov,Lang (2000) which contains data from the 1995/1996 time period on control rights and cash flow rights. To assess the impact of corporate governance variables on corporate performance during the crisis, we estimate the following model using the random effects method (*see endnote 13*): PER_{it} = $a + b_0 \times CG_{it} + b_1 \times CG_{it} \times D95 + b_2 \times CG_{it} \times D96 + b_3 \times CG_{it} \times D97 + b_4 \times CG_{it} \times D98 + b_5 \times CG_{it} \times D99 + b_6 \times CG_{it} \times D00 + c \times LTA_{it} + \sum d_j \times DIN_j + u_{it}$ (1)

in which the corporate governance variables included will change according to the specification, and other variables are defined as follows:

PER: performance indices (ROA, ROE, PMA).

CG: corporate governance variables, which will be indicated afterwards according to the specification.

D95 ~ D00 : year dummies.

LTA: natural logarithm of the book value of total assets DIN: industry dummies (based on 4-digit SIC level) while t is time unit; i is individual firm cross-section unit; j is individual industry cross-section unit.

Formula (1) aims at measuring how the impact of corporate governance variables on corporate performance changes over time, using total firm assets and industry dummies as control variables. We particularly want to detect changes in the parameters concerning corporate governance variables just prior to and after the Asian crisis of 1997 (see endnote 14).

Concentration of ownership in firms

As we have stated, family control and concomitant high ownership concentration are predominant in East Asian firms. Claessens, Djankov and Lang (2000) find that at the end of 1996, the ratio of the voting rights of the largest shareholder to total voting rights is 10% for Japan, but 35% for Thailand, 34% for Indonesia, 28% for Malaysia, 24% for the Philippines, and 18% for Korea. The following hypothesis is drawn by the existence of controlling shareholders who have substantial control and may actually expropriate minority shareholders when conflicts of interest exist between them:

Hypothesis 1: The greater the ultimate control rights of the controlling shareholders, the more serious the agency problem between the controlling shareholders and minority shareholders, and the more inefficient the firm's management. Therefore, these kinds of firms should exhibit larger declines in performance than others during the crisis.

We substitute the voting rights of the controlling shareholders of the firm (VR) for CG in formula (1) to investigate differences in the voting rights effect on performance before and after the crisis.

Table 2 presents the regression results. The coefficients on VR are positive and significant in Korea, Thailand and Malaysia for 1994, but not significantly different from zero in other countries. The coefficients on VR for 1995 are not significantly different from those for 1994. These results indicate that high ownership concentration may not have a negative effect on the performance of firms per se.

However, the coefficients on VR after 1997 shift downward significantly in all specifications of all countries except the one in which the dependent variable is PMA in Indonesia. The magnitude of the shift is largest in 1997 for Thailand, in 1998 for Indonesia, Korea and Malaysia, and in 1998 and 1999 for the Philippines. The downward shift continues until 2000 in most specifications.

This result should be interpreted as indicating that higher ownership concentration is correlated with poorer performance during the crisis period, a deterioration that lasts right up until 2000. This finding is consistent with our hypothesis.



Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights

The separation of voting rights and cash flow rights is another consequence of a family-controlled ownership structure. Claessens, Djankov and Lang (2000) find that compared with voting rights, cash flow rights are 20% less in Indonesia, 15% less in Korea and Malaysia, 10% less in the Philippines and 6% less in Thailand. If the separation of voting rights and cash flow rights has the potential to intensify the agency problem between controlling shareholders and other shareholders, then we hypothesize that:

Hypothesis 2: The greater the separation of voting rights and cash flow rights, the greater the incentive for controlling shareholders to engage in expropriation and the more inefficient the firm's management. Therefore, firms of this sort should exhibit larger declines in performance than others during the crisis.

We substitute difference of voting rights and cash flow rights (DI) of the firm for CG in formula (1) to assess how the effect on performance of the separation of voting rights and cash flow rights will differ before and after the crisis. We eliminate firms in which there is no separation of voting rights and cash flow rights. In doing so we can include in our assessment of the data set only those firms with a divergence between voting rights and cash flow rights.

Table 3 presents the regression results. The coefficients on DI are significantly positive only in some specifications of Malaysia and the Philippines before the crisis. This result is not evidence that the separation of voting rights and cash flow rights must negatively affect the performance of firms, at least before the crisis. However, the coefficients on DI after 1997 significantly shift to negative in all specifications where the dependent variables are the ROA of all sample countries. But the coefficients on DI in the specifications where the dependent variables are the ROE and PMA of Korea are not significant; neither are the coefficients on DI in 1997 significant in specifications where the dependent variables are ROE and PMA of Thailand, where separation of voting rights and cash flow rights is relatively smaller.

This result is not identical in all specifications and all countries. But most specifications proved that a greater separation of voting rights and cash flow rights is related to worse performance during the crisis period in countries where the separation of voting rights and cash flow rights is notably large (see endnote 15).

3.3. The Role Played by Debt

In the previous section we analyzed the ownership structure effect, which is the central issue regarding corporate governance in East Asian firms. But other corporate governance mechanisms exist as well. In this section we discuss the role played by debt.

Free-cash-flow hypothesis

The free-cash-flow hypothesis proposed by Jensen (1986, 1989) indicates that debt exerts disciplinary mechanisms on corporate management. Excess cash flow can allow managers to pursue perquisite consumption for themselves. Firms with debt, meanwhile, will manage more efficiently under the monitoring of their creditors. East Asian firms in general are more likely to run into a certain amount of debt than to have a surplus cash flow. In fact, the average debt ratio (debt/total assets) of our sample firms at the end of 1996 was 51.3% for Indonesia, 75.0% for Korea, 44.8% for Malaysia, 39.8% for the Philippines and 57.1% for Thailand (*see endnote 16*).

The financial situation of East Asian firms suggests that we can expect debt to exert a disciplinary mechanism on corporate management if creditors monitor their debtors effectively.

Hypothesis 3: Firms with greater debt manage more efficiently if creditors effectively monitor their debtors; therefore, these kinds of firms should perform better than the others during the crisis period.

Debt-overhang hypothesis

Regarding the role played by debt, however, the debt-overhang hypothesis (*see endnote 18*) suggests that firms with excessive debt have trouble attracting new investment even if they bring in a profit, because profits gained from the new investment would be appropriated first to the payment of existing debt.

Hypothesis 4: Firms with excessive debt are likely to lapse into the problem of debt-overhang, lose opportunities to make new profits, and therefore become more fragile during the crisis.

These two hypotheses are contradictory regarding the role of debt. The free-cash-flow hypothesis suggests that debt has a positive effect on firm performance. The debt-overhang hypothesis, on the contrary, points to the negative effect of excessive debt. We substitute one-period previous debt ratio (DA₋₁) of the firm for CG into formula (1) to examine the relationship between debt's disciplinary mechanism and the crisis. Then we group our sample firms into three sub-samples based on the firms' debt ratio in 1996 (see endnote 19). We define the firms with the lowest 20% of debt ratio as low debt ratio firms, and those with the highest 20% as high debt ratio firms. We examine the debt-overhang hypothesis by comparing the regression results of these two sub-samples. Table 4 presents the regression results. Panel A of Table 4 assesses whether debt has a positive effect on performance as suggested by the freecash-flow hypothesis. The coefficients on debt ratio are significantly positive for 1994 in all specifications in Thailand, two specifications in the Philippines, and one specification where the dependent variable is ROE in Malaysia. This result is consistent with what the free-cash-flow hypothesis suggests, although we cannot find similar results for Indonesia or Korea. After 1997, however, the coefficients on

debt ratio become significantly negative in most specifications. These findings show that the disciplinary effect of debt becomes weaker, but still appears slightly in some specifications in Thailand and the Philippines.

But most specifications provide evidence that debt has a negative effect on corporate performance that is contrary to the free-cash-flow hypothesis (*see endnote 20*).

We examine the debt-overhang hypotheses by comparing both the magnitude and significance of coefficients on the debt ratio of low debt ratio firms (Panel B) and high debt ratio firms (Panel C). In the Philippines, we find no significant coefficients for low debt ratio firms in specifications where dependent variables are ROA and ROE. Coefficients are significantly negative for high debt ratio firms, however, and the magnitude of coefficients becomes larger after the crisis. These findings suggest that debt-overhang problems occurred in high debt ratio firms of the Philippines.

We find no evidence that debt-overhang problems occurred in other countries. In other words, excessive debt has not necessarily had the negative influence on performance that the debt-overhang hypothesis suggests. These results are contrary to the free-cash-flow hypothesis and partly consistent with the debt-overhang hypothesis. They suggest that excessive debt did not necessarily have a negative effect on performance, but rather that the funds raised by debt were used inefficiently, due to a lack of necessary skills, or a flawed monitoring system on the part of creditors, that prevented the disciplinary mechanism from working effectively. These facts might imply the moral hazard problem of crony lending - that lending by family-controlled banks went predominantly to firms controlled by the same family (see endnote 21).

3.4. Effects of Corporate Diversification

While it is not a direct corporate governance mechanism, corporate diversification could affect the expropriation problem and the effectiveness of corporate governance in the following ways. First, diversified firms offer more opportunities for expropriation through misallocation of capital, such as through cross-subsidization and over-investment.

Second, diversification may hinder corporate governance simply because of the complexity it creates. The complexity of an organization can increase the level of asymmetric information. Expropriation may be more likely if it is more difficult to detect. Third, benefits might accrue to conglomerates, particularly in countries where capital markets are less developed. Diversification is beneficial in emerging markets, because conglomerates can perform through internal markets that allow greater access to capital needed to pursue worthwhile investments. The benefits of diversification are related to capital market development.

Benefits and costs of diversification

Whether corporate diversification benefits or harms firm valuation is a main concern in corporate theory. Chandler, Jr. (1977, 1990) indicates that diversification is beneficial theoretically when merits exist in the profit or cost side, for example in economies of scope. Benefits might accrue to a firm through diversification particularly when the know-how of one industry can be exploited in other industries, or when a firm is a multidivisional structure, the overhead departments of which can be used in common by other departments.

Lewellen (1971) also indicates that conglomerates are favorable because they enable firms to save on taxes by creating more access to external debt whose interest payments are income deductible. Moreover, Stein (1997) suggests that conglomerates might achieve more efficient management by allocating capital efficiently through an internal capital market. Much of the literature, however, emphasizes the negative rather than the positive effects of diversification. Berger and Ofek (1995) and Rajan, Servaes and Zingales (2000) point to the inefficiency of cross-subsidization; Jensen (1986) stresses the evils of investing in projects that are not expected to turn a profit; and Scharfstein and Stein (2000) find that rent-seeking activities by the division managers of conglomerates cause distortion in internal capital markets. Empirical analyses of American firms find that corporate diversification harms firm valuation where, as in the United States, the problems of crosssubsidization, over- investment and inefficient allocation of capital predominate. These studies suggest that diversification is negatively related to efficiency as a consequence of over- investment (see endnote 22). If similar problems exist in East Asian firms, we can make the following hypothesis (see endnote 23):

Hypothesis 5: Diversified firms exhibit more *i*nefficient management than others. Therefore, these kinds of firms should show relatively larger declines in firm performance during the crisis.

We substitute the numbers of segments (NS) used to measure diversification levels for CG into formula (1) to investigate how the diversification effect on performance will change before and after the crisis. We also describe the average diversification levels from Worldscope information as 3.5 for Indonesia, 3.4 for Korea, 5.0 for Malaysia, 3.4 for the Philippines and 2.7 for Thailand.

Table 5 presents the regression results. The coefficients on NS have a significantly positive effect on performance in the Philippines and Korea in 1994, but do not show any significant effect in other countries. This result does not indicate that diversification has a negative effect on corporate performance, at least before the crisis. However the coefficients on NS around 1997 have a significantly negative effect on performance in all countries, and this negative influence lasts right up until 2000. Our overall findings should be interpreted as follows: Diversifi-



cation resulted in wrongs and inefficiencies that surfaced during the crisis. This is similar to Japan's experience, where diversification advanced during the bubble period but proved a serious constraint on corporate management after the bubble collapsed.

4. Conclusion

Using firm-level data on East Asia, we have shown that cross-firm variation in performance expanded after the outbreak of the Asian crisis. Much of the disparities between firms can be explained by corporate governance problems among each firm's idiosyncratic elements.

Based on firm-level analysis, this paper suggests that ownership concentration enabling controlling shareholders to expropriate other shareholders; fund raising through debt that is short of effective monitoring by creditors; and inefficiency caused by the ill effects of diversification are all associated with significantly worse performance during the Asian crisis. The region's predominant governance structure, characterized by family control and conglomerates, was considered a factor in its miraculous economic development but has been seen since the crisis as the origin of crony capitalism (*see endnote 24*). We find evidence consistent with this view.

Many subjects remain for further research. The first is the causality issue: Did the crisis expose corporate governance problems, or did corporate governance problems trigger the onset of the crisis? Other exogenous factors may have brought out the problems of corporate governance and the crisis. The causality is unknown in our analysis.

Second, the analysis in this paper did not encompass such country-specific institutional characteristics as corporate law, bankruptcy codes, corporate accounting standards, and corporate finance, which are important factors in regulating the rights and actions of investors and creditors.

Third, we did not provide enough analysis of the issue's political implications. Corporate governance showed many problems deriving from a lack of transparency in corporate management, the lack of sufficiently fair and efficient financial and capital markets, and weak property rights. These institutional vulnerabilities should be checked and corrected. However, little literature documents the quantitative effect of reform (*see endnote 25*).

Our next endeavor is to deepen the economic understanding of corporate governance in East Asia, a subject which has generated much concern in recent years.

References

- Berger, Philip G. and Eli Ofek (1995), "Diversification's Effect on Firm Value," *Journal of Financial Economics* 37:39-65.
- 2. Chandler, JR.and Alfred D. (1977), *The Visible Hand -The Managerial Revolution in American Business-*, Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

- Chandler, JR.and Alfred D. (1990), Scale and Scope The Dynamics of Industrial Capitalism, Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Claessens, Stijn, Simeon Djankov, Joseph P.H. Fan and Larry H.P. Lang (2001), "The Benefits and Costs of Internal Markets: Evidence from Asia's Financial Crisis," A paper presented at the IMF and CEI Conference on Designing Financial Systems in East Asia and Japan – Toward a Twenty-First Century Paradigm – held in Tokyo on September 24-25.
- Claessens, Stijn, Simeon Djankov and Larry H. P. Lang (2000), "The Separation of Ownership and Control in East Asian Corporations," *Journal of Financial Economics* 58:81-112.
- Claessens, Stijn, Luc Laeven (2003), "Competition in the Financial Sector and Growth: A Cross-CountryPerspective".
- Comment, Robert and Gregg A. Jarrell (1995), "Corporate Focus and Stock Returns," *Journal of Financial Economics* 37:67-87.
- Corsetti, Giancarlo, Paolo Pesenti and Nouriel Roubini (1999), "The Asian Crisis: An Overview of the Empirical Evidence and Policy Debate," *The Asian Financial Crisis*, Cambridge University Press 4:127-164.
- Denis, David J., Diane K. Denis and Atulya Sarin (1997), "Agency Problems, Equity Ownership, and Corporate Diversification," Journal of Finance 52(1):135-160.
- Denis, David J., Diane K. Denis and Keven Yost (2002), "Global Diversification, Industrial Diversification, and Firm Value," Journal of Finance 57(5):1951-1979.
- Faccio, Mara, Larry H. P. Lang and Leslie Young (2001), "Dividends and Expropriation," *American Economic Review* 91(1):54-78.
- 12. Fan, Joseph P.H. and T.J. Wong (2000), "Do External Auditors Perform a Corporate Governance Role in Emerging Markets? Evidence from East Asia," unpublished manuscript.
- Fishman, R., (2001), "Its not what you know ... estimating the value of political connections," *American Economic Review* 91, 1095-1102.
- Goldfajn, Ilan and Rodrigo O. Valdes. (1997), "Capital Flows and the Twin Crises: The Role of Liquidity," *IMF Working Paper*, 97/87.
- 15. Hausman, J. A. (1978), "Specification Tests in Econometrics," *Econometrica* 46(6):1251-1271.
- Jensen, Michael C. (1986), "Agency Costs of Free Cash Flow, Corporate Finance and Takeovers," *American Economic Review* 76:323-329.
- Jensen, Michael C. (1989), "Eclipse of the Public Corporation," *Harvard Business Review*, Sept.-Oct. 61-74.
- Jensen, Michael C. and William H. Meckling (1976), "Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure," *Journal of Financial Economics* 3:305-360.
- Johnson, Simon, Peter Boone, Alasdair Breach and Eric Friedman (2000), "Corporate Governance in the Asian Financial Crisis," *Journal of Financial Economics* 58:141-186.
- Johnson, Simon, Rafael La Porta, Florencio Lopezde-Silanes and Andrei Shleifer (2000), "Tunneling," *American Economic Review* 90(2).
- 21. Khanna, Tarun and Krishna Palepu (2000), "Is Group Affiliation Profitable in Emerging Markets? An Ana-



lysis of Diversified Indian Business Groups," *Journal of Finance* 55(2).

- Khanthavit, Anya, Piruna Polsiri and Yupana Wiwattanakantang (2002), "Did Families Lose or Gain Control after the East Asian Financial Crisis?" unpublished manuscript.
- Kiyotaki, Nobuhiro and John Moore (1997), "Credit Cycles," *Journal of Political Economy* 105(2):211-248.
- Krugman, Paul (1979), "A Model of Balance-of-Payments Crises," *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking* 11:311-325.
- 25. Krugman, Paul (1998), "Will Asia Bounce Back?" A speech for Credit Suisse First Boston, Hong Kong, March.
- Laeven, Luc (2001), "Insider Lending and Bank Ownership – The Case of Russia -," unpublished manuscript.
- Lang, Larry H. P. and Rene M. Stulz (1994), "Tobin's q, Corporate Diversification, and Firm Performance," *Journal of Political Economy* 102(6):1248-1280.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Silanes and Andrei Shleifer (1999), "Corporate Ownership around the World," *Journal of Finance* 54:471-517.
- La Porta, Rafael, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes, Andrei Shleifer and Robert W. Vishny (2000), "Agency Problems and Dividend Policies around the World," *Journal of Finance* 55:1-33.
- La Porta, Rafael, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes and Guillermo Zamarripa (2002), "Related Lending," unpublished manuscript.
- Lemmon, Michael L. and Karl V. Lins (2001), "Ownership Structure, Corporate Governance, And Firm Value: Evidence from the East Asian Financial Crisis".
- Lewellen, Wilbur G. (1971), "A Pure Financial Rationale for the Conglomerate Merger," *Journal of Finance* 26:521-537.
- 33. Mansi, Sattar A. and David M. Reeb (2002), "Corporate Diversification: What Gets Discounted?" *Journal* of Finance 57(5):2167-2183.
- 34. Miller, Marcus and Joseph E. Stiglitz (1999), "Bankruptcy Protection against Macroeconomic Shocks: the Case for a 'Super Chapter 11'," A paper presented at the World Bank Conference on Capital Flows, Financial Crises, and Policies held on April 15.
- 35. Mitton, Todd (2001), "A Cross-Firm Analysis of the Impact of Corporate Governance on the East Asian Financial Crisis".
- Myers, Stewart C. (1977), "Determinants of Corporate Borrowing," *Journal of Financial Economics* 5:147-175.
- Myers, Stewart C. and Nicholas S. Majluf (1984), "Corporate Financing and Investment Decisions When Firms Have Information that Investors Do Not Have," *Journal of Financial Economics* 13:187-221.

- Obata, Seki (2001), "Pyramid Groups, Financial Distress and Investor Protection," unpublished manuscript.
- 39. Obstfeld, Maurice (1994), "The Logic of Currency Crises," *Banque de France Cahiers Economiques et Monetaires* 43:189-213.
- Rajan R., L. Zingales (2000), "The Firm as A Dedicated Hierarchy: A Theory of the Origin and Growth of Firms," *NBER WP* w7546.
- 41. Reinhart Carmen, Kenneth Rogoff (2004), "Serial Default and the 'Paradox' of Rich to Poor Capital Flow," *NBER Working Paper* w10296.
- 42. Johnson Simon, Todd Mitton (2001), "Cronyism and Capital Controls: Evidence and Malaysia," *NBER Working Paper* w8521.
- 43. Krugman Paul (1999), "Balance Sheets, the Transfer Problem, and Financial Crises".
- Rajan, Raghuram, Henri Servaes and Luigi Zingales (2000), "The Cost of Diversity: The Diversification Discount and Inefficient Investment," *Journal of Finance* 55(1):35-80.
- Scharfstein, David S. and Jeremy C. Stein (2000), "The Dark Side of Internal Capital Markets: Divisional Rent-Seeking and Inefficient Investment," *Journal* of Finance 55(6).
- Servaes, Henri (1996), "The Value of Diversification During the Conglomerate Merger Wave," *Journal of Finance* 51(4):1201-1225.
- 47. Shin, Hyun-Han and Rene M. Stulz (1998), "Are Internal Capital Markets Efficient?" *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 113:531-552.
- Shleifer, Andrei and Robert W. Vishny (1997), "A Survey of Corporate Governance," *Journal of Finan*ce 52:737-783.
- 49. Stein, Jeremy C. (1997), "Internal Capital Markets and the Competition for Corporate Resources," Journal *of Finance* 52(1):111-133.
- Stiglitz, Joseph E. (2000), "Lessons from the Global Financial Crisis," in Joseph R. Bisignano, William C. Hunter and George G. Kaufman (eds.), *Global Financial Crises, Lessons from Recent Events*, Kluwer Academic Publishers 9:89-107.
- 51. Stiglitz, Joseph E. and Shahid Yusuf (eds.) (2001), *Rethinking the East Asia Miracle*, World Bank and Oxford University Press.
- 52. Wiwattanakantang, Yupana (2001), "Controlling Shareholders and Corporate Value: Evidence from Thailand," *Pacific-Basin Fin. Journal* 9.
- 53. Wiwattanakantang, Yupana, Raja Kali and Chutatong Charumilind (2002), "Crony Capital? Corporate Debt Maturity in Thailand before the Financial Crisis," A paper presented at 2002 FMA AM in San Antonio, Texas on October 16.
- 54. World Bank (1993), *The East Asian Miracle Economic Growth and Public Policy* -, Oxford University Press



Appendices

Table 1 Summary Statistics of Performance Indices

1. ROA								
		94	95	96	97	98	99	2000
Indonesia	Number of firms	73	73	73	73	73	73	73
	Mean	9,35	9,44	7,76	0,56	-2,14	9,22	1,15
	Min	-2,31	-6,40	-6,87	-32,35	-63,65	-18,94	-43,91
	Max	26,36	26,14	22,83	26,54	66,91	44,42	42,69
	Median	8,53	8,92	7,44	3,32	0,79	7,52	3,02
	Standard deviation	5,61	5,22	5,17	11,74	23,30	12,05	17,25
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,60	0,55	0,67	20,98	-10,90	1,31	15,05
	Standard deviation/Median	0,66	0,58	0,70	3,53	29,63	1,60	5,70
Korea	Number of firms	136	136	136	136	136	136	136
	Mean	5,27	5,27	3,38	2,56	1,37	4,31	3,60
	Min	-1,63	-0,09	-6,14	-9,80	-29,29	-18,80	-29,79
	Max	12,33	12,97	12,57	8,83	16,05	26,76	31,55
	Median	5,44	5,33	3,97	3,36	4,18	5,09	3,74
	Standard deviation	2,62	2,53	3,09	3,43	8,24	6,74	9,66
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,50	0,48	0,92	1,34	6,00	1,57	2,69
	Standard deviation/Median	0,48	0,48	0,78	1,02	1,97	1,33	2,58
Valaysia	Number of firms	159	159	159	159	159	159	159
	Mean	9,29	8,51	8,20	5,55	1,80	3,18	2,46
	Min	-3,55	-5,82	-6,12	-13,77	-31,46	-35,00	-19,69
	Max	29,96	29,11	30,21	24,33	28,06	30,92	25,25
	Median	8,33	8,17	7,50	4,94	2,31	3,28	2,41
	Standard deviation	5,89	5,54	5,57	6,26	8,54	8,93	6,08
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,63	0,65	0,68	1,13	4,74	2,81	2,47
	Standard deviation/Median	0,71	0,68	0,74	1,27	3,69	2,72	2,52
Philippines	Number of firms	46	46	46	46	46	46	46
	Mean	8,41	7,36	6,48	4,89	3,07	1,84	2,29
	Min	-7,81	-6,44	-9,98	-7,76	-22,41	-10,49	-12,90
	Max	26,98	27,87	23,99	21,59	24,79	14,22	14,63
	Median	6,35	5,56	4,29	3,50	2,31	1,00	2,58
	Standard deviation	8,28	7,48	7,44	5,02	7,64	5,25	5,21
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,98	1,02	1,15	1,03	2,49	2,85	2,28
	Standard deviation/Median	1,30	1,35	1,73	1,44	3,31	5,25	2,02
Thailand	Number of firms	150	150	150	150	150	150	150
	Mean	8,59	7,97	6,09	-8,16	5,41	2,79	4,48
	Min	-9,27	-4,65	-4,56	-50,73	-24,51	-24,00	-24,92
	Max	25,88	20,62	19,71	24,25	29,72	24,28	31,41
	Median	8,19	7,55	5,92	-4,39	5,93	3,38	4,66
	Standard deviation	5,75	4,70	4,25	15,84	9,63	8,27	8.76
	Standard deviation/Mean	0.67	0.59	0.70	-1.94	1.78	2.97	1.96
	Standard douistion/Modian	0.70	0.62	0.72	-361	1.62	245	1.89

Table 1 Summary Statistics of Performance Indices (continued)

2. ROE	-	•						
		94	95	96	97	98	99	2000
Indonesia	Number of firms	57	57	57	57	57	57	57
	Mean	15,33	14,61	13,47	1,07	-22,49	21,36	1,48
	Min	-5,82	0,74	-12,50	-28,68	-417,62	-244,98	-132,70
	Max	44,85	39,75	35,09	24,69	89,41	128,30	128,24
	Median	14,14	13,82	13,03	1,76	-0,80	15,31	7,76
	Standard deviation	10,57	8,58	9,76	9,57	83,90	54,04	40,97
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,69	0,59	0,72	8,96	-3,73	2,53	27,66
	Standard deviation/Median	0,75	0,62	0,75	5,43	-105,17	3,53	5,28
Kanaa	blumber of firms		444	444	444	444	444	444
Korea	Number of firms	144	144	144	144	144	144	144
	Mean	7,58	6,08	-0,28	-3,99	-15,59	-3,30	-6,49
	Min	-25,73	-35,54	-30,65	-80,14	-323,06	-426,15	-302,06
	Max	46,26	44,73	25,70	10,29	502,25	374,82	131,76
	Median	6,58	6,20	2,39	-0,31	-0,90	7,75	3,39
	Standard deviation	7,82	8,87	9,34	12,05	94,60	79,54	59,55
	Standard deviation/Mean	1,03	1,46	-33,41	-3,02	-6,07	-24,10	-9,18
	Standard deviation/Median	1,19	1,43	3,92	-38,79	-104,61	10,27	17,57
Malaysia	Number of firms	166	166	166	166	166	166	166
walaysia	Moon	14.24	14.01	12.05	7 70	0.57	2 50	2 2 2 2
	Min	7.04	12 02	16.07	21.02	60,07	71 97	111 70
	Mox	-7,94	-13,62	-10,97	-31,03	-02,13	-/1,0/	-111,70
	Median	47,29	47,90	41,21	40,10	1 4 2	5 50	109,70
	Median Chandrand deviation	12,01	14,24	12,20	1,05	1,42	5,50	3,56
	Standard deviation	10,40	9,61	9,00	10,57	13,75	20,72	23,60
	Standard deviation/Median	0,73	0,05	0,74	1,37	-24,33	1,41	7,39
	Standard deviation/Median	0,61	0,07	0,79	1,50	9,07	4,00	0,00
Philippines	Number of firms	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
	Mean	15.16	10.71	9.10	4.54	2.09	0.63	2.35
	Min	-17.36	-11.78	-17.38	-15.05	-51.22	-53.20	-29.23
	Max	54.18	32.84	34.08	16.97	51.40	39.61	51.17
	Median	12,19	11.99	10.81	4.17	1.97	2.48	2.17
	Standard deviation	15.67	9.75	11.48	7.46	17.66	15.23	12.77
	Standard deviation/Mean	1.03	0.91	1 26	1 64	8 4 5	24.01	5 44
	Standard deviation/Median	1,29	0,81	1,06	1,79	8,97	6,14	5,89
Thailand	Number of firms	151	151	151	151	151	151	151
	Mean	17,91	13,93	10,26	0,65	1,93	1,08	1,76
	Min	-38,07	-21,87	-21,30	-37,52	-334,84	-290,30	-172,97
	Max	76,20	51,86	45,52	38,59	264,36	412,36	118,43
	Median	17,62	13,20	9,37	1,35	7,86	2,97	5,72
	Standard deviation	15,00	11,28	10,38	12,74	72,65	76,64	36,02
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,84	0,81	1,01	19,66	37,66	70,74	20,41
	Standard deviation/Median	0.85	0.85	1 1 1	9 4 7	9 24	25.85	6.30



Та	ible 1 Summary S	tatistics	of Per	forman	ce India	ces (<i>cc</i>	ntinued	1)
3. PMA								
		94	95	96	97	98	99	2000
Indonesia	Number of firms	69	69	69	69	69	69	69
	Mean	14,95	14,97	13,17	12,47	13,03	10,00	9,7
	Min	1,29	0,32	-9,33	-14,40	-106,56	-62,28	-60,1
	Max	34,57	42,02	35,15	36,47	54,07	37,48	37,7
	Median	13,80	13,72	12,79	12,43	13,72	12,08	11,0
	Standard deviation	8,38	9,21	9,42	10,22	19,50	16,88	15,7
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,56	0,62	0,71	0,82	1,50	1,69	1,6
	Standard deviation/Median	0,61	0,67	0,74	0,82	1,42	1,40	1,43
Korea	Number of firms	164	164	164	164	164	164	16/
Rolea	Mean	7 57	6.62	5.45	5 37	0.80	5 38	5 /1
	Min	-1.12	-1.70	-9.57	-23.96	-118.09	-28.22	-54.23
	Max	24.00	19.59	18 10	20.03	25.47	32.78	18 34
	Modian	24,00	5.97	5.53	5 90	5 20	5.01	40,50
	Standard deviation	1,12	1 19	3,33	6.40	16.62	8 17	10.50
	Standard deviation/Moan	9,72	9,45	0.91	1 10	19.75	1.52	10,5
	Standard deviation/Median	0,62	0,08	0,81	1,19	3 14	1,32	1,9
	Standard deviation/wedian	0,00	0,77	0,00	1,09	3,14	1,50	1,70
Malaysia	Number of firms	178	178	178	178	178	178	178
	Mean	15,81	16,57	15,96	14,51	7,34	6,29	6,80
	Min	-16,49	-25,15	-18,40	-24,44	-69,67	-107,29	-45,12
	Max	52,64	60,99	62,29	62,40	58,05	61,79	47,64
	Median	14,02	13,65	13,38	12,14	6,93	7,34	7,1
	Standard deviation	11,38	13,12	12,97	12,45	18,09	22,53	15,44
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,72	0,79	0,81	0,86	2,46	3,58	2,2
	Standard deviation/Median	0,81	0,96	0,97	1,03	2,61	3,07	2,15
DI III - I	N	- 10	- 10	10	10	10	40	40
Philippines	Number of firms	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
	Mean	21,25	21,39	19,93	19,06	12,26	11,87	13,64
	Min	1,61	0,20	-0,81	-37,00	-29,71	-31,22	-41,3
	Max	55,13	51,44	51,79	57,75	57,29	64,59	62,44
	Median	17,01	17,27	16,44	16,02	10,36	10,33	10,6
	Standard deviation	13,55	14,01	15,20	1/,/1	17,01	19,08	17,30
	Standard deviation/Mean	0,64	0,65	0,76	0,93	1,39	1,61	1,2
	Standard deviation/Median	0,80	0,81	0,92	1,11	1,64	1,85	1,63
Thailand	Number of firms	164	164	164	164	164	164	164
	Mean	13.14	12.16	10.09	5.57	1.35	1.38	5.24
	Min	-22,48	-21.25	-28.09	-36.24	-79.92	-113,10	-45.53
	Max	47 71	47 29	42.39	48.60	42 80	47 18	67 5
	Median	12.37	10.24	9.78	6 25	4 15	5.84	5.4
	Standard deviation	11.38	11.31	10.82	13 27	19.08	22 77	14 7
			11,01	10,02	10,21	10,00		1-1,14
	Standard deviation/Mean	0.87	0.93	1 07	2.38	14 09	16.51	2.83

VIRTUS

Table 2 The Effect of Ownership Concentration on Performance

(1) Indonesia						-	
Dependent Variables		ROA		ROE			PMA
	Coefficient	Z- Value	Coefficient		Z-Value	Coefficient	Z-Value
Ownership concentration (VR)	0.07	0.51	- 0.14		- 0.08	- 0.09	- 1.14
VR*D95	0.01	0.24	- 0.04		- 0.17	- 0.01	- 0.23
VR*D96	- 0.02	- 0.32	- 0.07		- 0.33	- 0.02	- 0.44
VR*D97	- 0.18	- 2.88 ***	- 0.43		- 1.81 *	- 0.03	- 0.46
VR*D98	- 0.20	- 3.02 ***	- 0.75		- 2.93 * * *	0.03	0.54
VR*D99	0.09	1.33	0.09		0.36	- 0.09	- 1.57
VR*D00	- 0.13	- 1.83 *	- 0.54		- 2.01 **	- 0.08	- 1.28
Log (total assets) (LTA)	- 1.63	- 1.17	2.43		0.41	- 1.55	- 1.41
Intercept	27.11	1.36	- 0.75		- 0.01	38.07	2.52 **
Overall R-squared		0.441		0.244			0.506
Number of observations(Number of tirms)		392(56)		294(42)			336(48)
(2) Karaa							
Dopondont Variables		POA		POE			PMA
Dependent variables	Coofficient		Coofficient	AUL	Z Value	Coofficient	
Ownership concentration (1/P)	0.12	2 2 2 4 **	0.18		0.47	0.17	2 - value 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -
V/D* D05	0.12	- 0.21	0.10		- 0.14	0.17	- 1 17
VR 090 VR*D96	- 0.01	- 0.21	- 0.03		- 0.03	- 0.03	- 7.17
VR 090 VP*007	-0.10	- 2.74	- 0.32		- 1.93	-0.11	- 2.54
VR D97	-0.15	- 3.05	- 0.44		269 ***	- 0.10	6.00 ***
V/R* D99	- 0.10	- 4.4 2 - 1.94	- 0.93		- 2.00	- 0.29	- 1 97 **
VR*D00	- 0.05	- י.ביד _ 0 11 **	- 0.40		_ 0 07	- 0.05	- 1.57
$I \sim (total assots) (I TA)$	- 0.00	- 2.11	- 0.34		-0.57	- 0.07	- 1.54 3 35 ***
Intercent	6.73	- 1 15	- 1.45		0.00	12.49	- 1.62
Overall R- squared	-0.73	0.206	20.01	0 107	0.50	= 12.40	0.280
Number of observations(Number of firms)	7	777(111)		805(115)			812(116)
(3) Malaysia							
Dependent Variables		ROA		ROE			PMA
	Coefficient	Z-Value	Coefficient		Z- Value	Coefficient	Z-Value
Ownership concentration (VR)	0.01	0.09	0.26		2.00 **	0.40	2.28 **
	0.01	0.38	0.03		0.42	0.01	0.23
VR*D96	0.02	0.80	0.01		0.10	0.03	0.45
VR*D97	- 0.02	- 0.81	- 0.14		- 1.85 *	- 0.01	- 0.20
VR*D98	- 0.13	-4.63 ***	- 0.40		- 5.22 ***	- 0.21	- 3.22 ***
VR*D99	-011	- 3.85 ***	- 0.30		- 3.95 ***	-023	- 3.56 ***
VR*D00	-0.11	-3.96 ***	- 0.17		-219**	- 0.24	-366***
l og (total assets) (/ 74)	- 1 74	- 2.95 ***	046		0.39	1.34	1.02
Intercept	27.48	4.73 ***	3.78		0.32	- 7.54	- 0.50
Overall R-squared		0.432		0.319			0.401
Number of observations(Number of firms)		560(80)		595(85)			602(86)
(4) Philippines							
Dependent Variables		ROA		ROE			PMA
	Coefficient	Z- Value	Coefficient		Z-Value	Coefficient	Z-Value
Ownership concentration (VR)	0.16	1.10	0.26		1.06	- 0.18	- 0.62
VR*D95	- 0.03	- 0.45	- 0.20		- 1.64	0.03	0.29
VR*D96	- 0.09	- 1.47	- 0.36		- 2.91 ***	- 0.06	- 0.56
VR*D97	- 0.15	- 2.41 **	- 0.54		- 4.32 ***	- 0.10	- 0.96
VR*D98	- 0.29	- 4.57 ***	- 0.72		- 5.70 ***	- 0.44	-4.01 ***
VR*D99	- 0.30	- 4.68 * * *	- 0.71		- 5.57 ***	- 0.43	- 3.93 ***
VR*D00	- 0.27	- 4.23 ***	- 0.68		- 5.25 ***	- 0.32	- 2.81 ***
Log (total assets) (LTA)	- 0.02	- 0.03	1.75		1.37	- 0.75	- 0.51
Intercept	19.31	2.52 **	- 5.97		- 0.48	46.78	2.96 ***
Overall R-squared		0.456		0.513			0.644
Number of observations(Number of firms)		280(40)		252(36)			245(35)
(5) Thailand				26-			o. //
Dependent Variables		ROA		ROE			
	Coetticient	Z-Value	Coetficient		Z-Value	Coetficient	Z-Value
Ownership concentration (VR)	0.30	2.97 ***	0.21		0.64	0.09	0.70
VK* D95	- 0.03	- 0.61	- 0.09		- 0.47	- 0.03	- 0.40
VK^D96	- 0.07	- 1.52	- 0.14		- 0.71	- 0.07	- 0.97
VK*D97	- 0.51	- 10.82 ***	- 0.46		- 2.27 **	- 0.16	- 2.29 **
VK" 198	- 0.10	- 2.06 * *	- 0.19		- 0.93	- 0.33	- 4.66 * * *
VK*D99	- 0.15	- 3.21 ***	- 0.68		- 3.37 ***	- 0.39	- 5.44 ***
VK*D00	- 0.13	-2.84 ***	- 0.33		- 1.64	- 0.21	- 2.93 ***
Log (total assets) (LTA)	0.59	0.56	- 1.22		- 0.35	- 1.93	- 1.22
Intercept	- 14.99	- 1.58	12.48	0.05-	0.36	20.23	1.31
Overall R-squared		0.434		0.202			0.398
Number of observations(Number of firms)	<u> </u>	4Ub(58)		427(61)			4b2(6b)

(Note 1), regression results of Industry dummies as explanatory variables have been omitted. (Note 2), asterisks denote significance levels: * indicates significance at the 10%level, ** at the 5%level, *** at the 1%level.

VIRTUS

Table 3 The Effect of Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights on Performance

Decoder Continuent DECoder DECoder <thdecoder< th=""> <thdecoder< th=""> DECo</thdecoder<></thdecoder<>		-		-			
Constraint define rights and cash flow rights (7) Configured Z. Value Z. Value <thz. th="" value<=""> Z. Value Z. Value<th>Dependent Variables</th><th>R</th><th>74</th><th>R</th><th>0F</th><th>PMA</th><th></th></thz.>	Dependent Variables	R	74	R	0F	PMA	
Securation of writin notifs and cash flow notes (<i>DP</i> 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1070 1009 1007 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10		Coefficient	Z-Value	Coefficient	Z-Value	Coefficient	Z-Value
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/)	- 0.09	- 0.17	0.06	0.02	0.38	0.92
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI*D95	0.08	0.45	0.10	0.15	- 0.00	- 0.01
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI*D96	0.09	0.52	0.14	0.21	0.00	0.00
DPDBB -0.47 -2.20** 0.52 0.71 0.01 0.05 DPDB0 -0.35 1.81* 0.92 -0.77 1.02 -0.03 -0.14 DPDB0 -0.12 0.59 -0.77 1.02 -0.03 -0.14 Derate of beso react 0.00 1.07 -1.02 -0.03 -0.14 Derate of beso react 0.00 1.02 0.03 1.03 0.041 Derate of beso react 0.00 0.46 0.02 0.041 0.05 0.05 Derate of beso react 0.00 0.46 0.25 2.02 0.05 DPDB0 0.46 0.07 0.06 -0.03 0.08 0.01 0.05 0.05 DPDB0 -0.03 0.28 -0.17 0.07 0.06 -0.03 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.07 0.06 -0.06 -0.06 -0.06 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.06 0.06	DI*D97	-0.29	- 1.54	-063	- 0.89	0 10	0.55
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	DI*D98	-047	- 240 **	- 1 51	-2.06 **	0.29	1 52
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	D1 200	0.25	1 01 *	0.50	0.71	0.20	0.05
Data Data Secreta (J. 7A) 1.3 (ds 1.3 (DI D99	0.40	0.50	0.32	1.00	- 0.01	-0.03
Land India Resets (L. /A) -1.1./. -1.1.0 -1.1.2 -1.2.0		-0.12	- 0.59	-0.77	- 1.02	- 0.03	- 0.14
Interact 600 160 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 Marker of Second conductors of Errors 200/00 0.02/00 0.02/00 0.02/00 0.02/00 Carl Kross Deconded Variables 0.02 0.02 0.02/00	Log (total assets) (L/A)	- 3.05	- 1.77 *	- 1.69	- 0.23	- 2.21	- 1.37
Operating Logency 0.001 0.220 0.0451 Decorded Variables 0.002 0.002 0.002 Decorded Variables 0.002 0.02 0.046 0.25 2.92 0.53 Decorded Variables 0.02 0.90 0.46 0.25 2.92 0.53 DPCR6 0.03 0.02 0.90 0.46 0.25 2.92 0.53 DPCR6 0.02 0.90 0.46 0.25 2.92 0.53 DPCR6 0.02 0.90 0.46 0.025 0.92 0.53 DPCR6 0.02 0.23 0.017 0.16 0.15 0.179 DPCR6 0.02 2.201** 0.46 0.42 0.01 0.17 DPCR6 0.02 2.72** 1.80 0.44 0.42 0.01 0.02 DPCR6 0.02 1.72* 1.18 1.30 2.46 0.07 Decorded Variables 0.02 1.10* 1.46 0.42 0.0	Intercept	50.00	1.69 *	40.89	0.32	29.62	1 10
Number of Lines 238/34 192/26 192/26 (D) Kones Continue Contin Co	Overall R-squared	0.4	04	0.2	20	0.451	
Description Anal Operational Z. Value Description Z. Value Derosition of stription rights and cash flow rights (DD DF/D86 0.02 0.00 0.46 0.25 0.053 DF/D86 0.025 -1.85 * -0.068 -0.15 -1.27 DF/D86 0.026 -1.85 * -0.068 -0.15 -1.27 DF/D87 -0.03 0.26 -1.85 * -0.068 -0.15 -1.27 DF/D87 -0.03 0.27 1.01 -0.044 -0.08 -0.18 -1.10 DF/D87 -0.27 2.01 ** -1.28 -0.08 -0.17 -1.10 DF/D87 -0.27 2.01 ** -0.24 -0.04 -0.04 -0.07 -0.07 Decorder of iteration of othis and cash flow rights (D7 -0.01 -0.11 -1.10 -1.10 -1.10 -0.07 -1.10 -0.02 .011 -0.02 .011 -0.07 -0.02 .017 -0.01 -0.01 .011 .010 .0107 .0102 .012 <td>Number of observations(Number of firms)</td> <td>238</td> <td>(34)</td> <td>182</td> <td>2(26)</td> <td>196(2)</td> <td>3)</td>	Number of observations(Number of firms)	238	(34)	182	2(26)	196(2)	3)
Carbon December Different Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Second from of writes radius and cash flow rights (D) 0.03 0.06 0.44 0.75 2.16 0.63 DP Dati -0.05 -1.16 -1.06 -0.06 -0.05 -1.07 DP Dati -0.05 -2.01** -1.08 -0.06 -0.06 -0.07 DP Dati -0.03 -2.01** -1.08 -0.04 -0.05 -0.06 DP Dati -0.03 -2.01** -0.06 -0.04 -0.02 -0.17 -1.17 Lin host secated -0.03 -2.01** -1.064 -0.04 -0.02 -0.07 -1.01 December Variables -0.04 -0.02 -1.02* -1.064 -0.04 -0.02 -0.07 -0.06 -0.02 -0.02 -0.07 -0.06 -0.02 -0.07 -0.06 -0.02 -0.07 -0.06 -0.02 -0.07 -0.06 -0.02 -0.02							
Denoted Variables PCM PCM PCM PCM Securition of votion of votion of this and crash flow rights (D) 0.33 0.90 0.46 0.75 2.82 0.53 PC/265 -0.03 -0.26 -0.17 -0.07 -0.06 -0.53 PC/265 -0.03 -0.28 -0.06 -0.07 -0.06 -0.07 PC/265 -0.03 -0.23 -0.06 -0.08 -0.16 -1.10 PC/260 -0.03 -0.23 -0.06 -0.08 -0.16 -1.10 PC/260 -0.07 -1.80 -0.06 -0.04 -0.03 -0.24 PC/260 -0.07 -1.12 -0.04 -0.02 -0.17 -0.17 Uniter of theoretic formal 1.9977 1.9977 1.9977 1.9977 1.9977 1.9977 Challeweid -0.061 -0.11 0.05 0.17 0.11 0.51 Confidient -0.248 -0.267 2.128 -0.248 -0.207 Challeweid<	(2) Korea						
Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient Z. Value DPDa6 0.03 0.26 0.017 0.05 280 0.63 DPDa6 0.025 -1.85 0.046 0.88 0.015 1.17 DPDa7 0.035 2.51** -1.29 -1.28 0.009 0.68 DPDa8 0.027 -1.01 0.044 0.028 -0.017 -1.17 Lo India sects/ II 7A1 2.237 2.21** -0.044 -0.02 -0.07 -1.017 La India sects/ II 7A1 2.237 2.21** 1.044 -0.04 -0.07 -0.07 Deard IL scored -1.15 -1.72* -1.164 0.32 -0.07 -0.07 Deard IL scored 0.15 -1.72* -1.164 0.26 0.27*** 0.12 0.10 Deard IL scored 0.15 -1.72* -1.164 0.27**** 0.12 0.10 Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient	Dependent Variables	R	74	R	0E	PMA	
Seneration of voltion richts and cach flow richts (/// 0.00 0.046 0.05 0.028 0.03 0.05 DP/D36 -0.03 -0.26 -0.17 -0.06 -0.53 DP/D37 -0.25 -1.85* -0.088 -0.016 -1.12 DP/D37 -0.25 -2.21** -0.088 -0.044 -0.042 -0.17 -1.17 DP/D38 -0.03 -0.23 -2.01** -0.068 -0.044 -0.02 -0.17 -1.17 Denoted issease -0.03 -0.03 -0.027 -1.02* -0.044 -0.042 -0.17 -1.17 Denoted issease -0.015 -1.02* -1.02* -0.044 -0.02 -0.07 -0.05 -0.07 -0.05 -0.07 -0.05 -0.07 -0.05 -0.07 -0.05 -0.07 -0.05 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.07 -0.		Coefficient	7- \/alue	Coefficient	7- Value	Coefficient	7- \/alua
OPCODE -0.03 -0.26 -0.17 -0.17 -0.06 -0.33 DPCODE -0.25 -2.51** -1.29 -1.28 -0.09 -0.68 DPCODE -0.28 -2.51** -1.29 -1.28 -0.09 -0.68 DPCODE -0.27 -1.18* -0.06 -0.68 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.14 -0.02 -0.03 -0.02 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 -0.02 -0.01 -0.02 -0.01 -0.02 -0.01 -0.02 -0	Separation of visiting rights and each flow rights (D)	0.22	0.00	0.46	0.25	2 02	0.52
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Sebarahon or voling hunis and cash now hunis (D)	0.02	0.90	0.40	0.23	2.02	0.00
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	DI* D95	- 0.03	- 0.26	- 0.17	-0.17	- 0.06	- 0.53
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	DI*D96	- 0.25	- 1.85 *	- 0.86	- 0.88	- 0.15	- 1.27
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	DI*D97	- 0.35	- 2.51 **	- 1.29	- 1.28	- 0.09	- 0.68
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	DI*D98	- 0.29	- 2.01 **	- 0.69	- 0.68	- 0.16	- 1.10
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI* D99	- 0.03	- 0.23	- 0.86	- 0.84	- 0.03	- 0.24
Lon (trait a sected) (L7A) 2.37 2.21* R08 1.30 2.00 1.00 Decred B-sourced 0.152 -1.18.42 +1.23 -4.885 -0.75 Averbar of observation(Munche of frme) 189/270 149/270 461/23 - (9) Malaxis Bornedord Variables 60/2 PM4 - - Secaration of votino richts and cash flow richts (D7 0.48 1.99*** 1.22 2.87*** 0.12 0.10 D'256 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.03 0.06 0.22 - 0.76 0.06 0.22 0.23 -0.76 0.06 0.22 - 0.23 -0.76 0.06 0.22 - 0.23 -0.76 0.06 0.23 -0.76 0.06 0.23 -0.76 0.06 0.23 -0.77 10.46 217 177 177 177 177 177 177 177 171 10.6 0.61 0.01 0.07 177 171 10.6	DI*D00	- 0.27	- 1.80 *	- 0.44	- 0.42	- 0.17	- 1.17
Intercent -3015 -172 -1827 -11847 -122 -24855 -075 Namber of observations/Number of firms) 180/271 120/271	Log (total assets) (/ TA)	2.37	221 **	8.08	1.30	2.60	1.60
Darged Listics and consolvations (Mumber of forms) 199(27) 1015 1015 1016 1017 1018 1018		- 30 15	- 1 79 *	- 118/12	- 1 23	- 48 85	- 0.75
Link and Long Link Link <thlink< th=""> Link Link</thlink<>	Overall R aguarad	- 00.10	- 1.13	- 110.42	- 1.2.5		-0.75
Aimer of conservational and reaction of voltion rights and cash flow rights (DT Oracle of the conservational and cash flow rights (DT Oracle of	Overall R-Schared	100	(07)	100	13	0.30/	2)
Partner ADA ADE Partner Secaration of votina richts and cash flow richts (D) 0.48 1.96*** 1.22 2.87**** 0.12 0.10 DPURS6 0.01 0.05 0.017 0.11 0.05 0.017 0.11 0.51 DPURS6 0.01 0.05 0.017 0.03 0.06 0.28 DPURS6 0.023 0.078 0.06 0.23 0.076 0.04 2.78*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.04 2.29*** 0.05 0.20 7.23*** 0.00 2.29*** 0.05 0.20 7.23**** 0.06 0.05* 0.07 0.10 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.00	Number of observationsulumber of firms)	189		189	271	161(2)	31
All Marce ADA RV PMA Decordent Variables Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient Z. Value DP/D85 -0.01 -0.11 0.05 0.11 0.13 0.12 0.10 DP/D85 -0.01 -0.01 0.01 0.03 0.06 0.28 DP/D97 -0.06 -0.62 -0.23 -0.76 0.05 0.20 DP/D99 -0.27 -2.46*** -0.82 -2.67*** -0.69 -2.53*** DP/D99 -0.27 -2.46*** -0.82 -2.67*** -0.69 -2.31**** Los Intal sesses (I/TA) -0.35 -0.33 2.30 1.39 -0.00 -0.00 Interced 2.42 0.21 -19.85 -16.3 6.91 0.15 Under of breader Variables APA 2.07** -2.49 2.44 2.10.20 1.63 6.91 0.15 Under of breader Variables Coefficient Z. Value Coefficient Z. Value<							
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	(3) Malaysia	-		-			
Securities of voting rights and cash flow rights (DP 0.48 1.96*** 1.22 2.48*** 0.12 0.10 DP/D85 -0.01 -0.11 0.05 0.17 0.11 0.51 DP/D87 -0.06 -0.62 -0.23 -0.76 0.065 0.29 DP/D87 -0.06 -0.62 -0.23 -0.76 0.05 0.20 DP/D89 -0.27 -2.48*** -0.80 -2.59*** -0.59 -2.53** DP/D89 -0.27 -2.48*** -0.80 -2.59*** -0.59 -2.53** Log (rind) assets) (I 7A) -0.19 -177* -0.16 -0.51 -0.07 -3.12*** Log (rind) assets) (I 7A) -0.35 -0.33 2.30 1.39 -0.00 -0.00 Under col based Definition 2.42.02 -1.925 -1.83 6.91 0.15 Aurent col based Definition Z.Value Coefficient Z.Value Coefficient Z.Value Securation of votino rights and cash flow rights (DP	Dependent Variables	R)A	R	0F	PMA	
Secaration of votino richts and cash flow richts (DI 0.48 1.96*** 1.22 2.87*** 0.12 0.10 DP/D86 0.001 0.05 0.01 0.03 0.06 0.28 DP/D87 0.006 -0.62 -0.23 -0.76 0.05 0.20 DP/D89 -0.27 -2.48*** -0.80 -2.59**** -0.48 -2.67**** DP/D99 -0.27 -2.48*** -0.80 -2.59**** -0.64 -0.72 -3.12**** DP/D90 -0.19 -1.77* -0.16 -0.51 -0.72 -3.12**** DP/D00 -0.414 -0.35 -0.33 2.30 1.39 -0.00 -0.00 Intercent 242 0.21 -19.85 -163 6.01 0.15 Number of dissourced Adda -2.20 -163 -0.22 -2.49 2.46*** DP/D01 -0.01 -0.014 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46*** Decondert Variables Adda 1.06 -0.07 -1.13 -0.57 -1.04 -0.47 DP/D87 -0.0		Coefficient	7- Value	Coefficient	7- Value	Coefficient	7-Value
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/	0.48	1.96 **	1.22	2.87 ***	0.12	0.10
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI*D95	- 0.01	- 0.11	0.05	0.17	0.11	0.51
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI*D96	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.28
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI*D97	-0.06	- 0.62	-023	- 0.76	0.05	0.20
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	00 * 007	0.00	2.60 ***	0.20	267 ***	0.00	2.07 **
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		-0.29	- 2.00	- 0.62	- 2.07	- 0.46	- 2.07
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI 1099	-0.27	- 2.46	- 0.60	- 2.59	- 0.59	- 2.53
Lon (trical assets) (<i>LTA</i>) -0.35 -0.33 2.30 1.39 -0.00 -0.00 Overall R-sourced 0.414 0.240 0.21 -1.985 -1.63 601 0.15 Aurober of observations/Number of firms) 1.82/26) 217(31) 210(30) - (A) Ebiliproise Decendent Variables AQA AQA Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z	DI*D00	- 0.19	- 1.77 *	- 0.16	- 0.51	- 0.72	- 3.12 ***
Intercent 242 0.21 -19.85 -163 6.91 0.15 Number of observations(Number of firms) 182(26) 217(31) 210(30) (A) Publicoines 217(31) 210(30) (A) Publicoines 604 602 0.72 24.9 2.449 Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D) 0.04 0.14 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46*** 0/1/295 0.01 -0.07 -0.13 -0.25 -0.24 -0.47 DP/296 0.18 1.05 -0.07 -0.13 -0.57 -1.05 DP/297 -0.02 -0.13 -0.78 -1.40 -1.09 -1.82* DP/298 -0.46 -2.23** -1.22 -2.05** -2.19 -3.32**** DP/299 -0.46 -2.23 ** -1.12 -2.05 ** -2.19 -3.32**** DP/299 0.16 -0.30 -1.32 -1.05 -1.06** 0.44*** DP/299 0.572 0.0572 0.0572 0.06*	Log (total assets) (LTA)	- 0.35	- 0.33	2.30	1.39	- 0.00	- 0.00
Operating R-sourced 0.414 0.280 0.537 Jumber of observations/Number of firms) 182(26) 217(31) 210(30) (A) Philipoines Coefficient 217(31) 210(30) Demondent Variables ROA ROA ROA PMA Secaration of votino rioths and cash flow rioths (D) 0.04 0.14 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46** DP/D95 0.04 0.14 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46** 0.44 DP/D95 0.01 -0.07 -0.13 -0.25 -0.02 -0.13 -0.75 -1.66 DP/D96 0.18 1.05 -0.07 -1.13 -0.57 -1.66 DP/D96 -0.02 -0.13 -0.78 -1.40 -1.09 -1.82* DP/D98 -0.06 -2.23** -1.22 -2.05*** -2.19 -3.32**** DP/D90 -0.30 -1.32 -1.32 -1.32 -2.15* -2.06*** Demondent Variables QC QC QC	Intercept	2.42	0.21	- 19.85	- 1.63	6.91	0.15
Number of observations(Number of firms) 182(26) 217(31) 210(30) (4) Ebiliprines ROA ROF PMA (a) Expendent Variables ROA ROF PMA Secaration of voting rights and cash flow rights (DP) 0.04 0.14 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46** DP/D95 0.01 0.01 0.07 0.13 0.25 0.24 0.44 0.42 DP/D96 0.18 1.05 -0.07 0.13 -0.57 -1.05 DP/D97 -0.02 -0.13 -0.78 -1.40 -1.68 -2.63*** DP/D98 -0.46 -2.23** -1.18 -2.06** -2.19 -3.32 **** DP/D99 -0.46 -2.23 ** -1.12 -2.05 ** -2.19 -3.32 **** DP/D90 0.78 12.35 2.70 **** -2.16 *** -2.06 *** Demodent Variables Researction of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/) 0.06 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.000 -0.000	Overall R-squared	04	14	02	80	0.537	
A) Delivering Dependent Variables ROA ROF PM4 Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (DPI 0.04 0.014 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.40 * DPD96 0.18 1.05 -0.07 -0.13 -0.57 -1.05 DPD97 -0.02 -0.13 -0.78 -1.40 -1.19 -1.82* DPD98 -0.16 -0.81 -1.18 -2.06** -2.19 -3.32*** DPD99 -0.46 -2.23 ** -1.22 -2.05 ** -1.151 -2.06 ** DrD100 -0.30 -1.32 -1.32 -2.05 ** -1.101 -2.26 ** DrD21 -0.24 -0.24 -0.91 -0.75 -0.01 -2.06 ** Loa (total assets) (LTA) -2.29 -1.59 1.99 0.78 12.25 -2.06 ** Loa (total assets) (LTA) -2.29 -1.59 1.991 -0.35	Number of observations(Number of firms)	182	(26)	217	(31)	210(3(וו
(A) Enlinemes ROA ROE PMA Dependent Variables Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value Secaration of votino rights and cash flow rights (DT 0.04 0.14 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46** DP/D36 0.18 1.05 -0.07 -0.13 -0.25 -7.24 -0.47 DP/D36 0.18 1.05 -0.07 -0.13 -0.57 -1.105 DP/D37 -0.02 -0.13 -0.78 -1.40 -1.199 -1.82* DP/D38 -0.46 -2.23** -1.22 -2.05** -2.19 -3.32*** DP/D39 -0.30 -1.32 -1.32 -2.05** -1.18 -2.06*** Lon (total assets) (/ TA) -2.29 -1.59 1.99 0.78 12.35 2.70**** Overall R-sourced 0.728 0.72 0.615 Number of observations/Number of firms) 49(7) 42(6) 49(7) (b) Thailand Dependent Variables ROA							
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	(4) Philippines						
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Dependent Variables	R	7A	R	OF	PMA	
Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (Df) 0.04 0.14 0.62 0.72 2.49 2.46** Dif D36 -0.01 -0.07 -0.13 -0.25 -0.24 -0.47 Dif D36 0.18 1.05 -0.07 -0.13 -0.25 -0.24 -0.47 Dif D37 -0.02 -0.13 -0.78 -1.40 -1.09 -1.82* Dif D38 -0.16 -0.81 -1.18 -2.06** -2.19 -3.32 Dif D39 -0.46 -2.23** -1.32 -2.05** -1.51 -2.06*** Dif D39 -0.30 -1.32 -1.32 -2.05** -1.51 -2.06*** Loa (total assets) (L7A) -2.29 -1.59 1.99 0.78 12.35 2.70*** Loa (total assets) (L7A) -2.29 -1.59 1.99 0.75 -1.61 -2.06** Coverall R-squared 0.728 0.572 0.615 .016 .024 .047 .026** Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D7		Coefficient	7-Value	Coefficient	7-Value	Coefficient	7-Value
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D)	0.04	0.14	0.62	0.72	2.49	2.46 **
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		- 0.01	- 0.07	-013	-0.25	- 0.24	-047
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	D/ 5,5	0.19	1.05	-0.13	0.12	0.57	1.05
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	D/ D90	0.18	1.03	- 0.07	-0.13	-0.37	- 1.05
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		- 0.02	-0.13	- 0.76	- 1.40	- 1.09	- 1.02
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI*D98	- 0.16	- 0.81	- 1.18	- 2.06 * *	- 1.68	- 2.63 ***
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	DI^D99	- 0.46	- 2.23 **	- 1.22	- 2.05 * *	- 2.19	- 3.32 ***
Log (trtal assets) (LTA) -229 -159 199 0.78 12.35 2.70*** Intercent 37.49 224 ** -991 -0.35 -11002 -2.06 ** Overall R-souared 0.728 0.572 0.615 Number of observations/Number of firms) 49(7) 42(6) 49(7) (5) Thailand - 606 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.00 -0.00 Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Va	DI*D00	- 0.30	- 1.32	- 1.32	- 2.05 **	- 1.51	- 2.06 **
Intervent 3749 $224 * *$ -991 -0.35 -11002 $-206 * *$ Overall R-souared 0.728 0.572 0.615 Number of observations/Number of firms) $49(7)$ $42(6)$ $49(7)$ $42(6)$ $49(7)$ (5) Thailand Decendent Variables ROA ROF PMA Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights ($D/$ 0.06 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.00 -0.00 $D''D96$ 0.00 0.01 0.15 0.13 -0.36 -0.59 $D''D96$ 0.00 0.01 0.15 0.13 -0.36 -0.59 $D''D97$ -0.36 -17.3* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 $D''D97$ -0.36 -17.3* -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 $D''D99$ 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 $D''D99$ 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 $D''D00$ -0.0	Log (total assets) (LTA)	- 2.29	- 1.59	1.99	0.78	12.35	2.70 ***
Overall R-squared 0.728 0.572 0.615 Number of observations/Number of firms) 49(7) 42(6) 49(7) (5) Thailand ROF PMA Denendent Variables ROF PMA Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/r 0.06 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.00 -0.00 D#'D95 -0.06 -0.31 -0.30 -0.27 -0.20 -0.33 D#'D95 -0.06 -0.31 -0.30 -0.27 -0.20 -0.33 D#'D95 -0.06 -0.31 -0.30 -0.27 -0.20 -0.33 D#'D97 -0.36 -1.73* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 D#'D97 -0.36 -1.73* -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 D#'D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 D'D90 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Log (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67	Intercept	37.49	2.24 **	- 9.91	- 0.35	- 110.02	- 2.06 **
Number of observations/Number of firms) $49(7)$ $42(6)$ $49(7)$ (5) Thailand	Overall R-squared	07	28	0.5	72	0.615	
(5) Thailand Denendent Variables ROA ROE PMA Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/ P/D95 0.06 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.00 -0.00 D/*D95 -0.06 -0.31 -0.30 -0.27 -0.20 -0.33 D/*D96 0.00 0.01 0.15 0.13 -0.36 -0.59 D/*D97 -0.36 -1.73* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 D/*D97 -0.36 -1.73* -0.55 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 D/*D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 D/*D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35	Number of observations(Number of firms)	49	(7)	42	2(6)	49(7)	
(5) Thailand ROA ROF PMA Denendent Variables Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>							
Dependent Variables RO4 ROF PMA Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient Coefficient <t< th=""><th>(5) Thailand</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></t<>	(5) Thailand						
Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value Coefficient Z-Value Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/ DP/D95 0.06 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.00 -0.00 DP/D95 -0.06 -0.31 -0.30 -0.27 -0.20 -0.33 DP/D95 0.00 0.01 0.15 0.13 -0.36 -0.59 DP/D97 -0.36 -1.73* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 DP/D98 -0.16 -0.79 -0.07 -0.06 -0.75 -1.23 DP/D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 DP/D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Log (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 10.36 0.83 49.47 0.53 2920 0.48 Outral R-squared 0.314 0.172 0.109 690	Dependent Variables	R	74	R	0F	PMA	
Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (D/) 0.06 0.33 0.27 0.25 -0.00 -0.00 D#'D95 -0.06 -0.31 -0.30 -0.27 -0.20 -0.33 D#'D96 0.00 0.01 0.15 0.13 -0.36 -0.59 D#'D97 -0.36 -173* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 D#'D98 -0.16 -0.79 -0.07 -0.06 -0.75 -1.23 D#'D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 D#'D90 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Log (total assets) (L7A) -0.85 -0.67 -4.38 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 10.36 0.83 4947 0.53 2920 0.48 Overall R-sourced 0.314 0.172 0.109 6200		Coefficient	7- \/alue	Coefficient	7- Value	Coefficient	7- \/alue
Construction of both four hand but four forms Construction of both four hand but four ha	Separation of voting rights and cash flow rights (DA	20.0	0.33	0.97	0.25	_0.00	_ 0.00
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		0.00	0.00	0.21	0.20	- 0.00	- 0.00
Lur LAND U10 U11 0.15 0.13 -0.36 -0.59 DP/D97 -0.36 -173* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 DP/D97 -0.16 -0.79 -0.07 -0.06 -0.75 -1.23 DP/D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 DP/D90 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 DP/D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loc (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.38 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 10.36 0.83 49.47 0.53 2920 0.48 Overall R-sourand 0.314 0.172 0.109 -0.109		- U.UD	- U.31	- 0.50	-0.27	- U.ZU	- 0.55
UP*LBY -0.36 -1.73* -0.54 -0.48 -0.56 -0.92 DP*D99 -0.16 -0.79 -0.07 -0.06 -0.75 -1.23 DP*D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 DP*D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 10.36 0.83 4947 0.53 2920 0.48 Overall R-squared 0.314 0.172 0.109 620	נאפע דיינ	0.00	0.01	0.15	0.13	- 0.36	- 0.59
Di*D98 -0.16 -0.79 -0.07 -0.06 -0.75 -123 Di*D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 Di*D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.38 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 0.314 0.172 0.109 -0.48 Oursell R-squared 0.314 0.172 0.109	DF-D97	- 0.36	- 1.73 *	- 0.54	- 0.48	- 0.56	- 0.92
Di*D99 0.03 0.15 -0.55 -0.48 -0.67 -1.10 Di*D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 10.36 0.83 49.47 0.53 2920 0.48 Overall R-sourced 0.314 0.172 0.109 -0.09 -0.09	DI*D98	- 0.16	- 0.79	- 0.07	- 0.06	- 0.75	- 1.23
Di*D00 -0.06 -0.30 -0.43 -0.37 -0.28 -0.45 Loa (total assets) (LTA) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 0.36 0.83 49.47 0.53 29.20 0.48 Overall R-squared 0.314 0.172 0.109 62(0) 62(0)	DI*D99	0.03	0.15	- 0.55	- 0.48	- 0.67	- 1.10
Log (total assets) (L7A) -0.85 -0.67 -4.98 -0.74 -2.35 -0.53 Intercent 10.36 0.83 4947 0.53 2920 0.48 Overall R-squared 0.314 0.172 0.109 with or of observations(Number of firms) 42(6) 55(9) 62(0)	DI* D00	- 0.06	- 0.30	- 0.43	- 0.37	- 0.28	- 0.45
Intercent 10.36 0.83 49.47 0.53 2920 0.48 Overall R-squared 0.314 0.172 0.109 0.48 Number of firms 42(4) 55(2) 62(0) 62(0)	Log (total assets) (LTA)	- 0.85	- 0.67	- 4.98	- 0.74	- 2.35	- 0.53
Overall R-squared 0.10 0.11 0.17 0.10 0.10 Number of observations(Number of firms) 42(6) 55/(9) 62(0)	Intercent	10.36	0.83	49.47	0.53	29.20	0.48
Descriptions(Number of firms) U209 U11/2 U11/2 Number of biservations(Number of firms) 4/2(6) 56/0) 62/(0)	Quorall P. squared	0.00	1/		70	0.400	0.40
	Number of observations/Number of firms)	40	(6)	E0	(9)	62/01	

(Note 1). recreasion results of Industry dumnies as explanatory variables have been omitted. (Note 2). asterisks denote significance levels: * indicates significance at the 10% level. ** at the 5% level. *** at the 1% level.

VIRTUS NTERPRESS®

Table 4 The Effect of Debt on Performance											
(1) Indonesia											
Panel A: full sample firms											
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA	
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value
Debt ratio (DA ₋₁)	-13,98		-3,03	***	11,23		0,57		-2,51		-0,46
DA_1 *D95	0,63		0,19		0,11		0,01		0,60		0,15
DA_1 *D96	-1,60		-0,48		-4,53		-0,34		-2,92		-0,72
DA_1 *D97	-14,17		-4,14	***	-31,13		-2,25	**	-3,34		-0,77
DA_1 *D98	-15,99		-4,77	***	-69,47		-5,09	***	-3,10		-0,72
DA_1 *D99	3,56		1,07		-2,09		-0,15		-5,71		-1,33
DA_1 *D00	-9,59		-2,83	***	-25,19		-1,81	*	-6,70		-1,53
Log (total assets) (LTA)	0,42		0,50		2,79		0,84		0,43		0,35
Intercept	15,08		1,30		-11,61		-0,23		2,50		0,56
Overall R-squared		0,509				0,289				0,417	
Number of observations (Number of firms)		455(65)				385(55)				441(63)	
Panel B: <i>high debt ratio firms</i>											
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA	
	Coefficient	/.0/1	Z-Value		Coefficient	1.02	Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value
Debt ratio (DA_1)	-1,83		-0,15		53,88		0,91		11,73		1,02
DA_1*D95	0,56		0,09		3,21		0,11		2,64		0,44
DA_1 *D96	-1,31		-0,21		4,68		0,16		-3,30		-0,51
DA_1 *D97	-11,90		-1,73	*	-17,39		-0,61		-4,13		-0,54
DA , *D98	-21,44		-2,85	***	-100,21		-3,57	***	-0,76		-0,09
DA 1*D99	-4.83		-0.64		11.19		0.40		-10.89		-1.27
DA , *D00	-12,06		-1,59		-24,88		-0,88		-9,19		-1,02
Log (total assets) (LTA)	3,89		1,15		-8,45		-2,06	**	2,06		0,53
Intercept	-38,58		-0,83		87,82		2,08	**	-22,00		-0,42
Overall R-squared		0,382				0,335				0,493	
Number of observations (Number of firms)		91(13)				77(11)				84(12)	
Panel C: low debt ratio firms											
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA	
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value
Debt ratio (DA ₋₁)	-17,18		-1,28		-11,71		-0,47		-15,25		-0,62
DA , *D95	-3,07		-0,27		-20,03		-0,65		-1,87		-0,07
DA_1 *D96	-2,82		-0,27		-15,82		-0,59		0,48		0,02
DA_1*D97	-13,75		-1,28		-53,51		-1,83	*	-14,85		-0,55
DA , *D98	-6,20		-0,61		-32,75		-1,30		-23,99		-1,03
DA +*D99	10.91		1.06		-18.390		-0.76		13.84		0.60
DA , *D00	-3.45		-0.33		-53.03		-2.10	**	7.16		0,31
Log (total assets) (/.7A)	-1.52		-1.64	*	9.67		1,58		2.59		0.42
Intercept	33.03		2,76	***	-110.95		-1,19		-6.40		-0,07
Overall R-squared	11,00	0,275	_,			0,520	., 10		2,10	0,388	-,
Number of observations (Number of firms)		91(13)				77(11)				84(12)	
Note 1: Results regarding industry dummie	es as explana	atory va	riables ha	ave be	een omitted.						

Note 2: A+A1sterisks denote significance levels: * indicates significance at the 10% level, ** at the 5% level, *** at the 1% level.

Ta	able 4 The	effect	of Debi	on F	Performanc	ce (<i>cor</i>	tinued)					
(2) Korea												
Danal A: full completing												
Paner A. Iuli sample IIIIIs		POA				POE				DMA		
	Coefficient	RUA	7_\/aluo		Coefficient	RUE	7_\/aluo		Coefficient	PIMA	7_\/aluo	
Debt ratio (DA)	-2 69		_1.46		18 12		2-Value		0.01		2-Value 0.01	
DA = *D95	-0.16		-0.17		-2.02		-0.24		-1.62		-1 54	
DA _1 D35	-0,10		-2.95	***	-11.03		-0,24		-2.94		_2 70	***
DA *D07	-2,10		-4.16	***	-17.07		-2.05	**	-2,34		-2,10	***
DA *D00	-5.04		-5.54	***	-20.04		-2,00	***	-6.24		-5.05	***
DA *D00	-3,04		-3,34	**	-23,04		-3,33	***	-0,24		-3,35	***
DA *D00	-2,00		-2,20	***	-22,10		-2,70	***	4.50		-2,70	***
	-3,51		-3,72	***	-22,03		-2,00		-4,39		-4,29	***
Log (Iotal assets) (LTA)	-3.67		3,0Z		-24.51		-0.71		1,30		4,20	
	-3,07	0 221	-0,07		-24,31	0 1 1 6	-0,71		-0,00	0 330	-1,25	
Number of observations(Number of firms)		931(133)		(973(139))		8	389(127)	
			/			01.00	/					
Panel B: high debt ratio firms												
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	
Debt ratio (DA -1)	0,03		0,01		120,97		1,31		18,40		2,42	**
DA _1 *D95	0,32		0,22		-2,16		-0,09		-3,59		-1,25	
DA _1 *D96	-0,49		-0,34		-8,33		-0,35		-3,81		-1,31	
DA _1 *D97	-1,99		-1,37		-20,23		-0,84		-7,80		-2,64	***
DA _1 *D98	-6,33		-4,37	***	-57,98		-2,39	**	-15,56		-5,35	***
DA _1 *D99	-4,36		-3,01	***	-37,74		-1,58		-7,62		-2,61	***
DA _1 *D00	-3,62		-2,51	**	-53,92		-2,24	**	-6,92		-2,38	**
Log(total assets) (LTA)	0,38		0,69		0,22		0,02		2,80		2,21	**
Intercept	1,51		0,17		-89,53		-0,60		-40,22		-2,04	
Overall R-squared		0,428				0,177				0,356		
Number of observations(Number of firms)		182(26)				189(27)				175(25)		
Panel C: low debt ratio firms												
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	
Debt ratio (DA _1)	-10,22		-1,86	*	-31,64		-1,49		-4,70		-0,92	
DA .1 *D95	-0,34		-0,11		-5,98		-0,39		-1,86		-0,60	
DA ₋₁ *D96	-5,08		-1,54		-18,86		-1,24		-5,49		-1,72	*
DA ₋₁ *D97	-7,03		-2,11	**	-24,36		-1,62		-3,56		-1,12	
DA ₋₁ *D98	-6,54		-2,04	**	-22,39		-1,57		-3,89		-1,26	
DA _1 *D99	-3,57		-1,07		-36,15		-2,51	**	-3,79		-1,19	
DA .1 *D00	-0,16		-0,05		-9,05		-0,63		-14,59		-4,60	***
Log(total assets) (LTA)	0,53		0,50		6,30		4,09	***	2,23		2,76	***
Intercept	2,72		0,14		-57,93		-2,51	**	-16,19		-1,07	
Overall R-squared		0,235				0,148				0,475		
Number of observations(Number of firms)		182(26)				189(27)				175(25)		
(Note 1), regression results of Industry dur	nmies as ex	planator	y variable	es hav	ve been omitt	ted.						
(Note 2), asterisks denote significance leve	els: * indicate	es signif	icance at	the 1	0% level, ** a	at the 5%	5 level, **	* at th	ie 1% level.			

VIRTUS

Table	4 The Et	ffect o	of Deb	t on	Performa	ance (contin	ued	')			
(2) Malaysia												
(3) Malaysia												
Pand A: full cample firms												
Pallel A. <i>Iuli Sample IIIIIs</i>		POA				POE				DIAA		
	Coefficient	ЛОА	7-\/alue		Coefficient	NOL	7-\/alue		Coefficient		7-\/alue	
Debt ratio (D4)	-0.44		-0.25		10.31		2 41	**	-6.13		-1.65	*
D4 + 2095	-1.42		-1.05		-0.30		_0.09		0.45		0.17	
D4 *D96	-2.13		-1 54		-5.22		-1.48		_1 30		-0.51	
$DA_{-1} DSO$	-6.78		-4.86	***	-16.71		-4.76	***	-4 52		-1.62	,
D4 *D08	_13.82		-0.00	***	-35.00		_10.00	***	-17.74		-6.44	***
DA *D99	_11.00		_8 17	***	-28.52		_8 20	***	_10.04		-7.36	***
DA *000	-10.34		-7.65	***	-20,02		-0,23	***	-15.23		-7,50	***
DA_{-1} DOU	0.16		-7,00		-24,00		2 44	**	-10,20		-0,01	***
Intercent	2 25		0,49		0.72		0.11		_0.93		-0.10	
Overall R-squared	2,20	0.434	0,11	-	0,72	0.348	0,11	-	0,00	0.439	0,10	
Number of observations (Number of firms) 1	099(15	7)		1	148(164	4)	-	1	127(16	1)	
			, 								, 	
Panel B: high debt ratio firms												
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	
Debt ratio (DA -1)	-2,54		-0,65		14,25		1,20		-3,14		-0,37	
DA_1 *D95	-0,13		-0,07		-1,55		-0,27		0,76		0,19	
DA_1 *D96	-1,56		-0,77		-6,42		-1,08		-1,13		-0,27	
DA_1 *D97	-2,15		-1,03		-13,06		-2,13	**	-5,33		-1,25	
DA_1 *D98	-6,70		-3,21	***	-30,75		-5,01	***	-16,48		-3,87	***
DA_1 *D99	-7,34		-3,52	***	-31,17		-5,06	***	-25,84		-6,05	***
DA_1 *D00	-4,88		-2,37	**	-21,59		-3,56	***	-13,65		-3,19	***
Log (total assets) (<i>LTA</i>)	0,19		0,32		3,36		1,82	*	5,29		4,16	***
Intercept	7,28		1,17		-17,12		-1,03		-25,05		-2,11	
Overall R-squared		0,293				0,417				0,465		
Number of observations A1(Number of firr	ns)	217(31))			224(32)				224(32)		
Panel C: low debt ratio firms	-				x							
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	
Debt ratio (DA_{-1})	5,67		1,20		23,13		1,64		2,48		0,21	
DA ₋₁ *D95	-2,14		-0,42		-1,18		-0,07		5,23		0,44	
DA_1 *D96	-4,91		-0,96		-3,41		-0,18		3,02		0,26	-
DA_1 *D97	-8,89		-1,16		-25,14		-1,07		3,64		0,26	
DA_1 *D98	-23,13		-3,99	***	-52,12		-3,04	***	-2,11		-0,18	
DA_1 *D99	-14,71		-2,79	***	-42,51		-2,72	***	-8,19		-0,75	
DA_1 *D00	-27,17		-5,14	***	-13,59		-0,91	**	-30,61		-2,79	***
Log (total assets) (<i>LTA</i>)	2,05		2,99	***	4,38		2,63	***	0,29		0,17	
Intercept	-0,50		-0,19		-26,00		-1,72	*	11,84	0.5	0,99	
Overall R-squared		0,394		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	0,203		<u> </u>		0,525		<u> </u>
Number of observations (Number of firms)	217(31))		<u>.</u>	224(32)				224(32)		
Note 1: Results regarding industry dummi	es as explan	atory va	ariables h	ave b	een omitted.	the 501	lev el ***		0/ lawsl			
NOLE 2: ASTERISKS GENOTE SIGNIFICANCE IEVE	is. " indicate	s signifi	cance at	une 10	J% level, în al	. ine 5%	ievel, ***	at the	∃ 1% lêvel.			
Table	4 The Ef	fect c	of Debt	on	Performa	nce (contin	Jed)		1	
--	----------------	-------------------	-----------------	--------	------------------	----------	--------------	--------	-------------	---------	----------	----------
(4) Philippines												
Pand A: full campla firms												
Pallel A. Iuli Sample IIIIIs		DOA				DOE						
Dependent variables	Coefficient	RUA	7_\/alua		Coefficient	RUE	7_\/alua		Coefficient	FINA	7_\/alua	
Debt ratio $(D4)$	9.62		2-value 2.50	***	39.66		2-vaiue	***			2-value	
DA *D05	-2.17		_0.80		_0.01		-2 10	**	-0.04		_0.01	-
DA *D00	2,17		-0,03		10,01		-2,10	***	-0,04		-0,01	
DA_1 1090	-2,00		-1,17	**	-12,40		-2,00	***	-2,00		-0,47	
DA_1 D9/	-5,05		-2,20	***	-24,11		-0,10	***	-4,32		-0,90	
DA_1 1000	-8,42		-3,50	***	-27,80		-0,08	***	-17,45		-3,90	
DA_1 *D99	-11,19		-4,61	***	-32,81		-7,12	***	-21,17		-4,74	
$DA_{-1}^{*}D00$	-9,24		-3,85		-28,04		-6,19		-15,34		-3,39	
Log (total assets) (L1A)	-0,04		-0,06		1,06		1,02		1,22		0,91	
Intercept	1,81	0.410	0,41		-2,50	0 522	-0,32		19,93	0.616	1,79	
Number of observations (Number of firms)		322(46))			280(40)				252(36)		
		JZZ(40))	_		200(40)				202(00)		
Panel B: high debt ratio firms												
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	
Debt ratio (DA_{-1})	-22,54		-4,67	***	32,15		0,69		-135,27		-1,83	*
DA_1 *D95	-0,61		-0,75		-9,07		-2,44	**	-1,68		-0,29	
DA_1 *D96	0,03		0,03		-7,54		-2,00	**	-0,55		-0,10	
DA_1 *D97	-1,25		-1,49		-18,86		-4,92	***	-3,79		-0,65	
DA_1 *D98	-2,37		-2,86	***	-20,43		-5,38	***	-16,76		-2,89	***
DA_1 *D99	-3,89		-4,60	***	-25,24		-6,41	***	-20,05		-3,38	***
DA_1 *D00	-3,03		-3.58	***	-20,62		-5,21	***	-11,59		-1,95	*
Log (total assets) (<i>LTA</i>)	-0.22		-1.01		0.84		0.74		-1.32		-0.79	
Intercept	25,55		6,91	***	-13,27		-0,30		139,79		1,95	*
Overall R-squared	ĺ	0,596				0,726				0,660		
Number of observations (Number of firms)		63(9)				56(8)				49(7)		
Panel C: low debt ratio firms								-				
Dependent Variables	0 5 1	ROA	71/1		0 5 1	ROE			0 5 1	PMA	7.1.1	
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	
Debt ratio (DA_{-1})	-3,38		-0,35		22,38		1,04		8,57		0,34	
DA ₋₁ *D95	2,54		0,17		14,48		0,53		-7,83		-0,28	
DA_1 *D96	13,47		0,93		48,43		1,74		-32,65		-1,33	
DA ₋₁ *D97	16,45		0,72		52,52		1,30		-54,56		-1,/3	*
DA_1 *D98	3,66		0,26		15,65		0,61		-74,63		-2,95	***
DA_1 *D99	4,00		0,36		8,83		0,38		-35,91		-1,59	
DA_1 *D00	12,03		1,26		23,87		1,12		-15,81		-0,72	
Log (total assets) (<i>LTA</i>)	-2,66		-2,38	**	-3,47		-1,76	*	1,88		1,04	<u> </u>
Intercept	19,02		2,53	**	24,75		1,84	*	-1,35		-0,08	_
Overall R-squared		0,647				0,595				0,246		<u> </u>
Number of observations (Number of firms)		6 ය(9)	<u> </u>			56(8)				49(7)		<u> </u>
Note 1: Results regarding industry dummie	s as explana	itory vai	nables ha	vebe	en omitted.				40(1)			<u> </u>
Note 2: Asterisks denote significance levels	s: * indicates	signific	ance at th	ne 10'	% level, ** at t	ine 5% l	level, *** a	at the	1% level.			1

VIRTUS

Table 4 The effect of Debt on Performance (continued) 5) Thailand 1													
(5) I hailand													
Danal A: fill common firms													
Paner A. Iuli sample IIIIIs		DOA				DOF				DIAA			
	Coofficient	RUA	7 Value		Coofficient	RUE	7 \/elue		Coofficient	РИА	7 \/alua		
Debt ratio (DA_{-})	6 36		2-value	***	54 17		Z-Value	***	17 70		Z-Value	***	
	1 22		2,70		0.14		4,94		2 41		4,03		
DA_1 D90	-1,32		-0,73	***	-3,14		-1,00	**	-2,41		-0,94	***	
DA 100	-4,72		-2,73	***	-10,00		-2,22	***	-7,19		-2,04	***	
DA _1 *D97	-31,92		-18,50	***	-37,13		-4,47	***	-15,99		-0,31	***	
DA _1 *D98	-4,/1		-2,88		-41,15		-5,22		-22,27		-9,14		
DA -1 *D99	-10,04		-6,08		-44,21		-5,55		-25,30		-10,40		
DA -1 *D00	-7,86		-4,72	***	-37,93		-4,73	***	-17,52		-7,16	***	
Log (total assets) (LTA)	0,87		1,86	×	2,45		1,21		1,77		1,86	×	
	-2,39	0.470	-0,65		-22,22	0.000	-1,37		-4,61	0.400	-0,61		
Overall R-squared		0,478	4			0,226				0,408			
Number of observations(Number of firms)	1	008(144	+)		1	043(148	9) 		1	064(152	<u>2)</u>		
Panel B: high debt ratio firms													
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		_	
	Coefficient	-	Z-Value		Coefficient	-	Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		
Debt ratio (DA _1)	9,41		1,41		116,03		3,06	***	29,44		2,66	***	
DA _1 *D95	-0,99		-0,26		-5,24		-0,26		-3,97		-0,57		
DA_1 *D96	-1.96		-0,52		-13,39		-0,67		-7,11		-1.03		
DA , *D97	-29,70		-7,97	***	-36,23		-1,81	*	-19,50		-2,85	***	
DA_1*D98	-5.09		-1,35		-89,29		-4,50	***	-33,54		-5,00	***	
DA 1*D99	-8.86		-2.37	**	-53.20		-2.70	***	-42.99		-6.39	***	
DA , *D00	-8,08		-2,17	**	-35,54		-1,80	*	-22,95		-3,40	***	
Log(total assets) (LTA)	-0.43		-1,02		-6,00		-3,02	***	-1,66		-2,44	**	
Intercept	3,57		0,68		-8,27		-0,31		7,10		0,77		
Overall R-squared		0,354				0,150				0,272			
Number of observations(Number of firms)		196(28)				203(29)				210(30)			
Panel C: low debt ratio firms													
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA			
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		
Debt ratio (DA _1)	18,41		3,45	***	26,50		1,71	*	25,53		2,59	***	
DA _1 *D95	-4,12		-0,82		-10,37		-0,72		-5,15		-0,66		
DA _1 *D96	-13,00		-2,69	***	-22,04		-1,58		-16,72		-2,24	**	
DA ₋₁ *D97	-40,33		-7,91	***	-50,50		-3,34	***	-27,00		-3,44	***	
DA ₋₁ *D98	-15,33		-3,22	***	-60,02		-4,35	***	-37,57		-5,21	***	
DA ₋₁ *D99	-19,43		-3,79	***	-58,93		-4,00	***	-37,13		-4,96	***	
DA .1 *D00	-14,29		-2,85	***	-46,83		-3,23	***	-26,96		-3,59	***	
Log(total assets) (LTA)	3,24		3,15	***	-1,03		-0,35		2,03		0,96		
Intercept	-24,30		-2,42	**	20,29		0,70		-3,60		-0,28		
Overall R-squared		0,577				0,490				0,441			
Number of observations(Number of firms)		196(28)				203(29)				210(30)			
(Note 1), regression results of Industry dum	mies as expl	anatory	variables	have	e been omitteo	d.							
(Note 2), asterisks denote significance level	s: * indicates	signific	ance at t	ne 10	% level, ** at t	the 5%	level, ***	at the	1% level.				

Та	able 5 T	he effe	ect of [Dive	rsificatio	on on F	Perform	nan	ce			
(1) Indonesia				-								
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	1
Number of segment (NS)	-0,20		-0,25		0,01		0,20		1,23		1,50	
NS*D95	0.05		0,10		-0.00		-0,08		-0,01		-0,02	1
NS*D96	-0,30		-0,61		-0.00		-0,25		-0,29		-0,64	
NS*D97	-2.15		-4.22	***	-0.03		-1.65	*	-0.26		-0.51	1
NS*D98	-1.87		-3.58	***	-0.06		-2.98	***	-0.06		-0.12	
NS*D99	0.17		0.34		-0.00		-0.04		-0.90		-1 74	*
NS*D00	-1.86		-3 55	***	-0.00		-0,04		-0,96		-1.74	*
Log (total assists) (/ T4)	1 20		-0.00		-0,03		-1,21		1.02		0.00	
Intercent	-1,30		-1,43	**	-0,01		-0,13		-1,02		-0,03	
	31,99	0.200	1,97	-	0,40	0.196	0,77		22,20	0.400	1,30	
Number of observations(Number of firms)		511(73)				399(57)				483(69)		
(2) Korea Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	1	Coefficient		Z-Value	
Number of segment (NS)	0.39		1.36		0.01		0.53		0.21		0.64	
NS*D95	0,00		0,16		0,01		0,00		0,21		1 12	
NS*D06	-0,03		-0,10	***	-0.00		=0,20		-0,24		-1,13	**
NG 050	-0,43		-2.30	***	-0,02		-1,00		-0,51		-2.30	***
N3 D9/	-0,75		-4.36		-0,03		-1.72		-0,61		-2.76	-
NS*D98	-0,91		-5.30		-0,05		-3.15		-1,62		-7.39	
NS*D99	-0,27		-1,57	· · · · ·	-0,01		-0,96		-0,61		-2.77	
NS*D00	-0,71		-4.09	***	-0,04		-2.47	**	-0,52		-2.37	**
Log (total assets) (LTA)	1,16		4.02	***	0,01		0,28		1,26		3.81	***
Intercept	-11,43		-2,29	**	-0,07		-0,22		-6,37		-1,08	1
Overall R-squared		0,196				0,103			1	0,279		
Number of observations(Number of firms)		952(136)				1008(144)				1141(163)		
(3) Malaysia												
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		7-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		7-Value	
Number of cogmont (N/S)	0.17		0.62	1	0.01		1.24		0.92		1 10	
NG*D05	0,17		0,02		0,01		1,24		=0,02		-1,10	
NetDoe	-0,15		-1,32	**	0,00		0,23		-0,08		-0,35	
N3 D90	-0,26		-2.22		-0.00		-1,14		-0,30		-1,31	
NS-D97	-0,72		-5.86		-0,01		-4.05		-0,75		-3.12	
NS*D98	-1,41		-11.43	***	-0,03		-8.90	***	-2,01		-8.30	***
NS*D99	-1,21		-9.86	***	-0,02		-6.76	***	-2,17		-9.03	***
NS*D00	-1,25		-10.20	***	-0,02		-7.46	***	-2,17		-9.03	***
Log (total assets) (LTA)	0,58		1,41		0,02		2.04	**	3,61		4.38	***
Intercept	2,39		0,66		0,01		0,11		-4,30		-0,45	1
Overall R-squared		0,437		1		0,321		1		0,406		
Number of observations(Number of firms)		1106(158)				1155(165)				1246(178)		
(4) Philippines												
Dependent Variables		POA		_		POE				DIAA		
Dependent variables	Orefficient	RUA	7.)/-1	-	Orefficient	RUE	7.)/-1	-	Orefficient	FIMA	7.)/-	
	Coefficient		Z-value	-	Coefficient		Z-value		Coefficient		Z-value	
Number of segment (NS)	1,43		2.10	· · ·	0,03		2.21		3,24		1,42	
NS*D95	-0,43		-1,50	-	-0,01		-2.19	**	0,16		0,27	
NS*D96	-0,57		-1.93	*	-0,02		-2.77	***	-0,31		-0,51	
NS*D97	-1,01		-3.33	***	-0,03		-4.74	***	-0,48		-0,74	
NS*D98	-1,31		-4.28	***	-0,03		-4.81	***	-1,76		-2.70	***
NS*D99	-1,70		-5.51	***	-0,04		-5.64	***	-2,07		-3.14	***
NS*D00	-1,67		-5.39	***	-0,03		-5.25	***	-1,60		-2.36	**
Log (total assets) (LTA)	0.18		0.27		0.02		1.28		-0.55		-0.36	
Intercept	-1.37		-0.22		-0.05		-0.50	-	26.97		1.61	1
Overall R-squared		0.447		1		0.476		1		0.656	1.	
Number of observations(Number of firms)		322(46)				280(40)				280(40)		
(D) The line of												
				-		8.05			-	8144		+
Dependent Variables		ROA				ROE				PMA		
	Coefficient		Z-Value	·	Coefficient		Z-Value		Coefficient		Z-Value	1
Number of segment (NS)	1,39		3.13	***	0,06		3.28	***	0,91		1,24	1
NS*D95	-0,24		-0,79		-0,01		-0,92		-0,32		-0,69	
NS*D96	-0,68		-2.27	**	-0,02		-1,53		-0,87		-1.87	*
NS*D97	-4.66		-15.50	***	-0.05		-3.22	***	-2.15		-4.60	***
NS*D98	-0.83		-2 70	***	-0.03		_2 10	**	_2 78		-6.00	***
NS*D99	-0,00		-2.15	***	-0,03		-2.10	-	2,70		-0.00 E 05	***
NS*D00	-1,49		-4.99	***	-0,02		-1,08	***	-2,/1		-0.60	***
	-1,09		-3.67	-	-0,04		-2.97		-2,10		-4.54	-
Log (total assets) (L/A)	0,32		0,51	-	0,01		0,52		0,74		0,78	
	2,04		0,33	-	-0,06	0.1	-0,35		5,29	0.077	0,73	4
Overall R-squared		0,404				0,195				0,367		
Number of observations(Number of firms)		1050(150)		1	l	1057(151)				1148(164)		
(Note 1), regression results of Industry dumn (Note 2), asterisks denote significance levels	nies as explana s: * indicates s	atory variable ignificance a	es have bee t the 10% le	en omit evel, **	ted. at the 5% level	, *** at the	1% level.					

Endnotes

1. Refer to World Bank (1993). Regarding the reconsideration after the crisis, refer to Stiglitz, Yusuf (eds.) (2001).

2 .Refer to Corsetti, Pesenti and Roubini (1999) and Stiglitz(2000) for details.

3. For example, a model based on fundamentals (the first generation model) presented by Krugman (1979); a self-fulfilling speculative attacks model based on expectations of the private sector (the second generation model) by Obstfeld(1994); a crisis model by Goldfajn and Valdes (1997) analyzing the fragility of the banking sector as the cause of crisis (the third generation model).

4. They show that crisis management can, in principle, avert collapse in two ways: through forced debt rollovers in the short run; and ultimately through debt write-downs.

5. We also try to calculate deviation of performance indices including the unusual values from 1989 to 2000 and from 1994 to 2000 respectively. The results are qualitatively similar to those in Table 1. For simplicity, we only report results without unusual value.

6. Our database ends up having 564 companies for *ROA*, 558 companies for *ROE*, and 615 companies for *PMA* with a total of 2,014 companies in the 5 countries covered by Worldscope. Broken down by economies, the sample covers 73 of 220 Indonesian companies, 136 of 775 Korean companies, 159 of 541 Malaysian companies, 46 of 188 Philippine companies, and 150 of 290 Thai companies for *ROA*; 57 of 220 Indonesian companies, 144 of 775 Korean companies, 166 of 541 Ma

VIRTUS

laysian companies, 40 of 188 Philippine companies, and 151 of 290 Thai companies for *ROE*; and 69 of 220 Indonesian companies, 164 of 775 Korean companies, 178 of 541 Malaysian companies, 40 of 188 Philippine companies, and 164 of 290 Thai companies for *PMA*. Worldscope covers most of the listed companies in each country, providing, for example, the financial information for 750 of the total 857 Korean listed companies in 2003.

7. The calculation is based on a fixed cutoff of 10% ownership requirement. The calculation provides similar results even with a cutoff of 20%.

8. See Jensen and Meckling (1976).

9. There are several ways in which controlling shareholders might gain enough power to pursue objectives that may not coincide with the profit of the firm, at the expense of minority shareholders. They might use their control to link the business to other affiliated firms in which they hold shares. When the manager of the firm is a member of the controlling shareholders' family, the controlling shareholders might cause the firm's profits to be used inefficiently to enhance the manager's interest. Alternatively, they might purchase shares in troubled affiliated firms at artificially high prices as a form of bailout. Johnson, La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes and Shleifer (2000) define as "tunneling" the actions of controlling shareholders to use their control to transfer resources away from the firm, and indicate that these actions have been carried out legally as well as illegally. Moreover, La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes, Shleifer and Vishny (2000), as well as Faccio, Lang and Young (2001), study the relationship between expropriation and dividends, and provide an empirical analysis on whether dividends are raised when minority shareholders have adequate institutional protection.

10. Wiwattanakantang (2001), Khanthavit, Plsiri and Wiwattanakantang (2002) provide a detailed analysis on Thailand.

11. See Obata (2001) for examples of group firms with a pyramid structure in East Asia.

12. The study by La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes and Shleifer (1999) is the first to look at ultimate ownership structure in many firms throughout the world.

13. We also performed the Hausman test (Hausman 1978) against each model for Hypothesis 3, 4 and 5, and could not reject the null hypothesis in all cases except for the specifications where dependent variables are *ROE* in Indonesia, *ROA* and *ROE* in Korea, *ROA* in Malaysia, *ROA*, *ROE* and *PMA* in the Philippines, and *ROE* in Thailand for Hypothesis 3; and for the specifications where dependent variables are *ROE* in Indonesia, *ROA* and *ROE* in Korea, and *ROE* in Thailand for Hypothesis 5.

14. From formula (1), it is obvious that b_0 is the coefficient on *CG* for 1994, b_1 is the difference between the same coefficient for 1994 and 1995, b_2 is the difference between the same coefficient for 1994 and 1996...and b_6 is the difference between the same coefficient for 1994 and 1996...and b_6 is the difference between the same coefficient for 1994 and 2000.

15. Our result is consistent with that of Obata (2001), who focuses on the relationship between firm value and the separation of cash flow rights and voting rights, and presents that the negative effect of the separation on firm value is predominant during the financial crisis, although it cannot be observed in normal times.

16. The debt ratios of East Asian firms are not particularly high compared with the average debt ratio for listed firms in Japan in 1996 (72.1%) as reported by the financial data bank of the *Japan Policy and Investment Bank*.

17. See Myers (1977), Myers and Majluf (1984).

18. The average debt ratios for *low debt ratio firms* and *high debt ratio firms* in each country at the end of 1996 are as following:

	high debt ratio firms	low debt ratio firms
Indonesia	74.5%	22.6%
Korea	93.9%	52.4%
Malaysia	76.3%	13.4%
The Philipp	ines 81.9%	4.9%
Thailand	83.6%	28.7%

19. Among the three performance indices, ROE is directly influenced by debt level because of the inclusion of after-tax profit in its numerator. ROA and PMA, however, are not directly influenced by debt level because they encompass before-tax profit in their numerators.

20. See Laeven (2001), La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes and Zamarripa (2002) and Wiwattanakantang, Kali and Charumillind (2002) about the moral hazard problem caused by crony lending.

21. See Berger and Ofek (1995), Lang and Stulz (1994), Comment and Jarrell (1995), Servaes (1996), Denis, Denis and Sarin (1997), Shin and Stulz (1998), Denis, Denis and Yost (2002), and Mansi and Reeb (2002).

22. Claessens, Djankov, Fan and Lang (2001), and Mitton (2001) study diversification in East Asian firms and show that diversified firms perform worse than other firms owing to inefficiency caused by diversification. However, Khanna and Palepu (2000) show that affiliates of diversified business groups outperform unaffiliated firms in India.

23. See Krugman (1998).

24. In a similar vein, Fan and Wong (2000) analyze the effect on corporate performance of the outside auditing systems that are a part of corporate governance.



OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AND EXPROPRIATION IN STOCK EXCHANGE LISTED FIRMS

Yoser Gadhoum*, Jean-Pierre Gueyié**, Mohamed Hentati***

Abstract

This paper analyses firms' ownership structure and corporate governance in seven countries, with an emphasis on stock exchange listed firms. This focus is, in our view, important because these firms are more representative of the economies of countries included in our sample. Our results indicate that in Canada, Europe and East-Asia, ownership structure is highly concentrated. Most of the firms are controlled by at least one large shareholder who reinforces his or her control with devices such as multiple voting right shares, pyramidal structures, cross ownership, and reciprocal holding. In the U.S., firms' ownership structure is more diffuse. The use of means to separate ownership from control is less present and the control of the large shareholder is lower than in the other sample countries. Being listed on the stock exchange can explain the firm's ownership structure. Exchange-listed firms, which are generally larger in size than unlisted firms, tend to have more diffused ownership. Further, the legal system hypothesis formulated by La Porta, Lopez-De-Silanes, Shleifer & Vishny (1998) does not hold for the countries we analysed.

Keywords: Ownership Structure, Governance, Stock Exchanges, International Comparison

*** School of Business Administration, University of Quebec in Montreal, Montreal (Quebec), Canada

Introduction

Since Berle & Mean's research (1932), studies of firms' ownership structure has always garnered attention in the literature on finance. Through their analyses, researchers sought to know not only how firms' ownership structure was organized around the world, but what could explain different ownership structures in various countries. The general trend suggests that while U.S. firms' ownership structure is diffuse, in other countries it varies and is concentrated. While several studies have been realized on the topic, there is still room for further analyses.

The goal of this paper is to shed light on ownership structure and corporate governance by focusing on stock exchange listed firms in our view. This focus is necessary and important, for, to our knowledge, such a study has not been done before. Previous research usually has randomly selected samples in the countries analyzed, with the result that these samples where not necessarily representative of countries' economies. Conversely, stock exchanges are usually composed so as to include firms from various industries that are the most representative firms in the economy. Therefore, our exchange listed firms which highly characterize the economies of the countries included in the sample.

Our results indicate that in Canada, Europe, and East-Asia, ownership structure is highly concentrated. Most of the firms are controlled by at least one large shareholder who reinforces his or her control with devices such as multiple voting right shares, pyramidal structures, cross- ownership, and reciprocal holdings. In the U.S., ownership structure is more diffuse. The various means of separating ownership from control is less present, and control over the large shareholder is lower than in the other sample countries. There is however a large percentage of firms managed by a family member. In this country, agency problems likely stem from shareholdermanagement conflicts. In East-Asia and France, agency problems mainly come from conflicts opposing the large shareholder to minority shareholders, since diffuse-owned firms are less present. Most of the firms are controlled by families who appoint one of their members as management. German and Japanese firms are usually controlled by widely-held financial institutions that are able to monitor man-



^{*} Corresponding author: Yoser Gadhoum, School of Business Administration, University of Quebec in Montreal. P.O.Box 6192, Succ. Centre-Ville, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3C 4R2. Phone: (514) 987-3000, ext. 2358; Fax: (514) 987-0422; e-mail: gadhoum.yoser@uqam.ca.

^{**} School of Business Administration, University of Quebec in Montreal, Montreal (Quebec), Canada

agement decisions. Furthermore, the legal system hypothesis formulated by La Porta, Lopez-De-Silanes, Shleifer & Vishny (1998) does not hold for the countries analysed in this study.

The paper will proceed as follows: section 2 is a review of the literature written on the subject, section 3 presents our data, section 4 reports and discusses our results and Section 5 presents our conclusions of the study.

2. Literature review

2.1. Ownership Diffusion and Shareholder – Manager Agency Costs

Agency cost theories assume that the separation of ownership and control induces an agency problem between shareholders and managers. Although shareholders have the ultimate control rights through their votes, they are too small and too numerous to exercise this control on a day-to-day basis. They are also not usually qualified or informed enough to decide what to do. They therefore hire managers to whom they delegate the day-to-day decisions of the firm. The second issue related to a dispersed ownership is that individually, shareholders have little incentive to monitor management (Hart, 1995). Monitoring is a public good, and when one shareholder's monitoring improves company performance, all shareholders benefit. Since monitoring is costly, each shareholder free-rides in the hope that others will do the monitoring. Consequently, managers end up with substantial residual control rights over firm decisions and lack monitoring. They therefore have discretion to pursue their own interest at the expense of that of shareholders. They can, for instance, undertake projects which do not necessarily contribute to shareholders wealth maximization but from which they nonetheless derive personal benefit.1

2.2. Ownership Concentration as a Solution to the Shareholder – Manager Agency Problem

Several authors have argued that the presence of a large shareholder in the firm's ownership structure whose wealth greatly depends on firm performance is an effective means of controlling managers' actions. With a great proportion of his or her wealth invested in the firm, he or she is more motivated to control managers' actions and prevent opportunistic behavior. Shleifer & Vishny (1986) develop a model explaining the role played by large shareholders in a firm, arguing that they can effectively increase managers' efficiency through three mechanisms; first, they can make a public offer, take control of the firm, and replace inefficient managers; second, they can help outside investors take control of the firm and replace inefficient managers; Third, they can advise management on strategies that improve efficiency and increase firm value. Tosi & Gomez-Mejia (1994) show that in firms with large shareholders, the level of management control is high, and management decisions are more aligned to those of shareholders. Zeckhauser & Pound (1990) reach the same conclusion. According to them, firms with a large shareholder perform better than other firms when control of the large shareholder on managers' decisions is effective. Monitoring managers can be even more effective when the large shareholder is an institutional investor (Schleifer & Vishny, 1986). Compared to other investors, institutional investors have better expertise and can monitor managers at lower cost. This results in a positive relation between the firm value and institutional investors' percentage of firm capital. Barclay & Holderness (1990) find a positive abnormal return around announcements of acquisition of large block of share by external investors. McConnel & Servaes (1990) report a concave relation between firm value and large ownership which indicates that all agency problems are not necessarily solved by ownership concentration. However, La Porta, Lopez-De-Silanes & Schleifer (1999), and Facio & Lang (2000) among others, show that in firms with concentrated ownership, agency costs are not eliminated, they oppose the large shareholder to minority shareholders rather than shareholders to managers.

2.3. Ownership Concentration and Large Versus Minority Shareholders Agency Costs

The largest shareholder can inflict several costs on minority shareholders. He or she may put forward his or her own interests (which generally do not coincide with those of minority shareholders), and subsequently derive private benefits from control over firm decisions. Several techniques can be used to separate the firm's ownership from its control and increase the likelihood of minority shareholders' expropriation. Among these are:

Stock with multiple voting rights: These stocks confer more than one voting right to their owner, and are considered a means to separate ownership from control since they allow their owner to have more control over the firm's decisions than their percentage of the firm's share. Let us consider a shareholder who holds 60 shares (with 10 voting rights each) on a total of 100 in this category, and 10 shares (with 1 voting right each) on a total of 100 in this category. His or her ownership percentage of the firm is 35% [(60+10)/(100+100], while the voting right percentage is 55.45% [(60*10 + 10*1)/(100*10 + 100*1)]. He or she then controls the firm's decisions even thought he or she does not own the majority of the firm's shares (more then 50%). Stocks with

¹ Private benefits represent perquisites of control and diversion of resources from security holders, which benefit only company insiders, such as the large shareholder or other block holders.

multiple voting rights are usually sold at premium. According to Zingales (1995) and Nenova (1999), this is evidence of the presence of private benefits enjoyed by owners at the expense of minority shareholders.

Pyramidal structure: A pyramidal structure allows a shareholder to have voting rights in a firm without necessarily holding its shares: control is practiced through another firm. If, for instance, a family directly controls 50% of firm X which in turn controls 20% of firm Y, the family will then have 20% of firm Y's voting rights [Min (50%, 20%)] and 10% of its ownership [50% * 20%]. Wolfenzon (1999) interprets the existence of pyramidal structures as a means of expropriating minority interests, as it creates a wedge between cash flow and control rights for the controlling shareholders. The separation of ownership and control in pyramidal groups generates strong incentives for the controlling shareholder to divert resource for his or her own benefit. There is evidence of such resources diversion. For instance, Bertrand, Mehta and Mullainathan (2000) report that in Indian pyramidal business groups, the diversion of resources follows the lines of ownership, flowing from firms near the bottom of the pyramid to firms near the top of the pyramid. Similar results are found by Bigelli and Mengoli (1999) for Italy. It may be surmised that external investors regard the presence of pyramids in an ownership structure as a signal of expropriation.

Cross ownership: A third tool that main shareholders can use to expropriate minority shareholders is cross-ownership. This form of ownership structure is a mix between the direct ownership of stock and indirect ownership through a pyramid. From the above example, if additionally the family directly holds 5% of firm Y's shares, it will then control 25% of its voting rights [Min (50%, 20%) + 5%] and own 15% of its shares [50% * 20% + 5%]. As proposed by Faccio & Lang (2000) and Gadhoum (2000), large shareholders use cross ownership and pyramidal structures to reinforce the control of their firms. Reciprocal holding: Reciprocal holding consists of reciprocal ownership between two firms; that is, firm X holds part of firm Z that, in turn, holds some rights in firm X. This remains an important mechanism used by ultimate shareholders to expropriate minority shareholders.

2.4. A General Look at Ownership Structure around the World

Early in 1932, Berle & Mean showed that U.S. firms' ownership structure is diffuse. Firms are usually widely held, with no investor holding important stakes and no effective control. This reality has certainly evolved with time. Holderness, Kroszner, and Sheehan (1999) find that managers' ownership in U.S. firms is now higher than in Berle & Mean's sample period. However, Holderness & Sheehan (1988) find that only a few hundred U.S. firms have

a shareholder who directly owns more than 51% of shares. Ownership diffusion remains a predominant feature in the U.S. context, and several studies conducted in other international settings seem to conclude that ownership structure around the world is more concentrated than it is in the U.S..

La Porta, Lopez-De-Silanes, and Shleifer (1999) analyze ownership structure in 27 countries and conclude that in most of them, ownership structure is concentrated, with the majority of firms been controlled by families. Seventy-three percent (73%) of firms are managed by a family member, and 78.7% have a unique large shareholder. In most countries, ultimate owner voting rights are higher than their ownership rights.

Faccio & Lang (2000), analyze the ownership structure of 3740 firms in five European countries and also find a concentrated ownership in their sample. Direct or indirect control is exercised by a limited number of families (43.9%). In Canada, Rao & Lee-Sing (1995), Gadhoum (1995, 2000) and Gadhoum & Zhegal (1999) conducted similar analyses and reported that Canadian firms ownership structure is far from being diffuse. Most Canadian firms are directly or indirectly controlled by at least one large shareholder who holds more than 50% of voting rights. Concentration is more effective in family or group-affiliated firms. Gadhoum (1995) reported that Canadian firms' ownership structure is similar to that of the large Keiretsu Japanese group, and is characterized by inter-firm links exclusively controlled by a few individuals from the same family. Claessens, Djankov, Fan, and Lang (2000) extend that analysis to 2980 East-Asian firms and find that two-thirds of firms in their sample are controlled by a unique large shareholder who was also the manager. In Indonesia and the Philippines, they find that the 10 largest families controlled more than half of firms' assets (57.7% and 52.5%, respectively). An important question is what explains firm ownership structures around the world. La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes, Shleifer and Vishny (1998) provided the legal system hypothesis. According to them, countries can be broadly classified into two categories: Common-law countries, whose legal systems are similar to those present in the United States, United Kingdom, Canada, and the former British colonies; and civil-law countries, with a legal system similar to that in France.

Common-law countries usually have a strong legal system that protects minority shareholders' interests. Consequently, it discourages ownership concentration. There is no interest in holding a large proportion of firm capital, since legal protections in place assure that voting rights cannot confer private benefits to the large shareholder. Conversely, in civil-law countries, minority shareholders' protections in the legal system are weak. This encourages block holders to increase their ownership in order to exploit minority interests.



The nature of our sample of countries, which includes both common-law and civil-law countries, allows us to test this hypothesis.

3. Data

The stock exchange listed sample of firms used in this paper consists of 1182 firms composing stock indexes in seven countries: Among them are 500 firms from the U.S. S&P500, 300 firms from the Canadian TSE300, 40 firms from the French CAC40, 30 firms from the Germany DAX, 225 firms from the Japan NIKKEI 225, 32 firms from the Hong Kong HANG SENG, and 55 firms from the Singapore STI². In each country, we also consider a countrywide sample of firms for comparative purposes. We then use 3969 firms for the U.S., 1120 firms for Canada, 607 firms for France, 704 firms for Germany, 1749 firms for Japan, 583 firms for Hong Kong, and 266 firms for Singapore. All data are for 1996.

In Canada, we collected data from various sources, including The Financial Post (FP), Survey of Industrials, Survey of Mines and Energy Resources, "Liens de parenté entre sociétés (LP)", and the Stock Guide's "Corporate Profile" section. In the U.S., we used two information sources: the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) web site and Worldscope Global database. For the other countries, we used Worldscope database and firms' own websites. For each firm in the sample, we followed the ownership chain in order to identify the ultimate owner. The ultimate owner is defined as being a shareholder who has control of a firm (minimum 10% of voting rights) without being controlled by someone else. If a firm did not have an ultimate shareholder, it was defined as being a widely held firm. The ultimate owner can be different from the largest shareholder, since part of its control may be indirect. Additionally, the largest shareholder may be controlled, while this is not the case for the ultimate owner who is at the end of the control line. In several cases, the ultimate shareholder is an entity (firm or financial institution). In such cases, we followed the ownership line of this entity until we reached an individual or a widely-held entity. When the ultimate owner was an unlisted firm, we considered it as a family³. The exception is an unlisted financial institution that we classified as a widely-held financial institution. In East-Asian countries, there are many firms controlled by anonymous shareholders. This does not allow us to compute all variables in these countries. Finally, we do not separate families from individuals.

Ownership and control are respectively related to rights on cash flows and voting rights. These two measures may be different due to the devices used, such as multiple voting shares, pyramidal structures, cross ownership, and reciprocal holdings.

We classify ultimate owners into five categories: 1- family (which include individuals and families) 2government, 3- widely held financial institutions, 4widely held firms, and 5- miscellaneous investor (i.e., a charity, a voting trust, a cooperative, a minority foreign investor, to name few).

The definition of variables used in the paper is presented in the following table:

Take in Table 1

4. Results Analysis

Results analysis is organized as follows: First, we present the ownership structure of firms in our sample. Second, we look at the means used in the sample countries to separate firms' ownership from their control. Finally, we analyze the role of the secondultimate owner in protecting minority shareholders from expropriation. When possible, we compared our results to those of previous studies.

4.1. Ownership Structure in the Sampled Countries

Table 2 reports the ownership structure of firms in the seven countries analyzed in this paper.

Take in Table 2

We notice from Table 2 that 25.71% of the Canadian TSE300, 18.75% of the French CAC40, and 17% of the German DAX firms are widely held firms - against 60.25% for U.S. firms. For East-Asian firms, the percentage of widely held firms is lower (6.51% in Japan, 0% in Hong Kong and 0% in Singapore). We conclude that the ownership structure in the sample countries is highly concentrated; in these countries, investors usually buy stocks in order to control firms rather than diversify their risk. It is only in the U.S. that the ownership structure is diffuse and where investors seek diversification.

Families represent the most important type of ultimate owner. On average, they control 44.08% of Canadian firms, 21.33% of U.S. firms, 21.88% of French firms, 84% of Hong Kong firms, and 82.76% of Singapore firms. In Germany and Japan, it is mostly financial institutions that control exchange listed firms, with 38% and 85.80% of ownership respectively. In Canada, financial institutions control 20% of sample firms. The percentage is 16.36% in U.S. firms and 9.37% in French CAC40 firms.

Government controls only 0.21% of U.S. firms, while the percentage is 68.97% in Singapore. Glob-

VIRTUS

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ The Canadian Toronto Stock Exchange index has been renamed TSX.

 $^{^3}$ This happens because we generally cannot identify the owners of unlisted companies. As La Porta et al., (1999) and Claessens et al. (2000), we recognize that this procedure biases our measure of ultimate ownership.

ally, government's role is minor, but its importance varies from one country to another. In Singapore, public authorities highly intervene in the economy in order to regulate market and control economic aggregates. However, in the U.S., Canada, and Japan, such intervention is insignificant.

Widely held firms represent a relatively important ultimate owner in Canada and Hong Kong as compared to the U.S., France, Germany and Japan. Specifically, they control 11.48% and 31 of Canadian and Hong Kong exchange listed firms, compared to 1.65 % in the U.S., 3.13% in France, 0% in Germany, and 3% in Japan.

In most exchange listed firms, there is a unique ultimate owner. The proportion of firms is 90.04% in the U.S., 66.12% in Canada, 76.92% in France and 37.50% in Germany. In East-Asia, this percentage is 68.55%, 55.56% in Japan, and 17.02% in HongKong and Singapore.

This first analysis shows that ownership structure is concentrated in Canada as well as in European and Asian countries. The majority of firms are family firms. In the U.S., families also control an important number of firms, but ownership is less concentrated. U.S. firms' ownership structures tend to be diffuse, and there are less block holders. In several countries, mainly in Japan and Germany, financial institutions control a high number of stock exchange listed firms.

Demsetz & Lehn (1985) show that firms' size is negatively related to concentration. The percentage of stock needed to effectively control firms decrease as size increases. Consequently, when large shareholders are individuals with limited resources and higher diversification needs, one expects a negative relation between size and concentration. Furthermore, exchange listed firms are more available to investors and possess a large number of outstanding stocks. Since these firms rely highly on external financing, their ownership structure should be less concentrated than that of unlisted firms.

U.S., European, and Japanese stock exchange listed firms seem to have a less concentrated ownership structure than the overall firms in each of these countries. Gadhoum, Lang & Young (2001) find that 38.97% of their U.S. sample firms have a diffuse ownership. Focusing on S&P500 firms, we report a diffusion percentage of 60.25%. The difference is due to the higher number and the easiness of transactions when firms are listed on exchanges. Moreover, exchange listed firms are usually larger in size than other unlisted firms. This increases the diffusion of their ownership.

Family control decreases in exchange listed firms in North America, Europe and Japan: 21.33% (44.08%) of S&P500 (TSE300) listed firms are controlled by families, against 38.27% (56.17%) of firms in the whole U.S. (Canadian) sample. These percentages are 21.88% against 70.44% in France, 10.00% against 71.64% in Germany, and 5.9% against 13.1% in Japan. However, in Hong Kong and Singapore, the proportion of exchange listed firms controlled by families is higher, at 84.00% against 64.70% in Hong Kong, and 82.76% against 52.00% in Singapore.

Excluding the U.S. and France, financial institutions hold a higher proportion of exchange listed firms than in the whole country sample. The highest percentages are found in Germany (38% of DAX firms, against 10.43% for the whole sample), and in Japan (85.80% of Nikkei firms against 38.5%). Similarly, in all countries but the U.S., government holds a higher percentage of exchange listed firms than in the whole country sample.

To conclude this section, we can globally say that stock exchange listed firms'ownership structure is less concentrated than that of the countrywide sample of firms. Family control of firms decreases and financial institutions control increases in exchange listed firms. This can be explained by the availability of their shares on financial markets (which favor diffusion) and their large size (which make them difficult to be controlled by an individual).

4.2. Means Used to Separate Ownership From Control

Table 3 reports the different means used by sample firms to separate firms' ownership from their control.

Take in Table 3

The use of multiple voting right shares is generally limited for firms in the sample. Gadhoum, Lang & Young (2001) find that only 15.98% (6.83%) of Canadian (U.S.) firms use this mean, while Faccio & Lang (2000) find 2.64% for France and 17.61% for Germany. In this paper, we also find lower percentages which are still slightly higher than those reported in these previous studies. Multiple voting right shares are used by 10.86% of S&P500 firms, 23.36% of TSE300 firms, 15.63% of CAC40 firms and 34% of DAX firms.

Pyramidal structure, cross ownership, and reciprocal holding are current means used to separate ownership from control in concentrated ownership countries. Pyramidal structure are used by 34.84% of TSE300 firms (Canada), 11.54% of CAC40 firms (France), 20.83% of DAX firms (Germany), 64.50% of NIKKEI firms (Japan), 37% of Hang Seng firms (Hong Kong) and 68.97% of STI firms (Singapore). These results are significantly higher than in the U.S. S&P500 10.35%. Cross ownership is used in 13.93% of TSE300 firms and 12.5% of DAX firms, while it is almost inexistent in the U.S. (0.83%) and France (0.00%). In the U.S., Canada, and France, the use of reciprocal holding is low, while it accounts for 12.5% of German firms. Compared to Faccio & Lang (2000), Gadhoum, Lang & Young (2001), Claessens, Djankov, and Fan & Lang (1999), our



results show that more exchange listed firms use means to separate ownership from control.

The percentage of managers coming from the family which control the firm is 48.96% in the U.S., 11.6% in Canada, 60% in France, 0% in Germany, 17.7% in Japan, 41% in HongKong and 65.52 % in Singapore. From the results for exchange listed firms in the U.S., Canada, France, Germany and Japan, we notice that when the use of means to separate ownership from control is higher (Canada, Germany and Japan), families are not obliged to name one of their member as management. The percentage of managers coming from the family which control the firm is 11.60% in Canada, 0% in Germany and 17.75% in Japan. Conversely, in countries where the use of means to separate ownership from control is low (the U.S. and France), the manager usually comes from the controlling family (48.96% of U.S. firms and 60.00% of French firms). Therefore, while in Canada, Germany, and Japan the agency costs will mainly oppose the large shareholder to minority shareholders, in the U.S. and France, it will mainly be a shareholders-managers problem. The percentage of managers coming from the family which control the firm is lower in exchange listed firms than in the overall sample in all countries. This can be explained by the fact that exchange listed firms possess a very complicated management system that commands a recourse to experimented external managers.

4.3. Expropriation and the Role of a Second Large Shareholder

In firms with concentrated ownership, the large shareholder exacts several costs on the firm and minority shareholders. He or she might favor his or her own interests, which generally do not coincide with those of minority shareholders. For instance, the control of voting rights by the large shareholder enables him or her to direct the firm's projects towards those that converge with his or her personal interests; he or she thus generates private benefits for his or her own account. This creates conflicts of interest with minority shareholders. Table 4 indicates that in the U.S. and Japan, the first large shareholder controls only a small proportion of S&P500 and Nikkei225 firms' voting rights (7.31% in the U.S. and 7.93% in Japan). In the other countries, however, control of voting rights is higher: 29.77% in Canada, 32.54% in France, 25.28% in Germany, 22.81% in Hong Kong, and 22.94% in Singapore.

The ratio of ownership rights over voting rights allows us to evaluate the level of separation of ownership from control. As the separation of ownership from control increases, the ratio decreases. In Table 4, the ratio for the first larger shareholder shows that the separation of ownership from control is higher in Canada, Germany, Japan, and Singapore (0.71, 0.74, 0.60 and 0.77, respectively). France records the lowest separation of ownership from control, with a ratio of 0.92; it is followed by the U.S. and Hong Kong VIRTUS

(0.83). In several countries, the separation of ownership from control gives the first large shareholder the means to expropriate minority interests. Does he or she always succeed in this enterprise? Gomez & Novaes (1999) argue that the existence of a second large shareholder is a good means to control the first large shareholder in his or her potential opportunistic behavior. Ownership and voting rights allow him or her to take part in ordinary and extra-ordinary shareholders' meetings, and vote in a way that protects his or her own interests. By doing so, he or she indirectly protects the other shareholders against potential expropriation by the first large shareholder. Table 4 shows that in exchange listed firms, the persuasive power of the second large shareholder is limited. The ratio of the control of the first large shareholder over the control of the second large shareholder ranges from 1.34 to 2.82 times, which means that the first large shareholder always dominates the second in term of voting rights. Further, the ratio of ownership over voting rights of the second large shareholder mimics that of the first large shareholder. This means that the second large shareholder also widely benefits from means to separate ownership from control, and may also be attracted by the expropriation of minority shareholders.

5. Conclusion

This paper contributes to corporate governance literature by examining firms' ownership structure and expropriation in seven countries, with an emphasis on stock exchange listed firms. Results indicate that in Canada, Europe, and East-Asia, the ownership structure is highly concentrated. Most of the firms are controlled by at least one large shareholder who reinforces his or her control with devices such as multiple voting right shares, pyramidal structures, cross ownership and reciprocal holding.

In East-Asia and France, agency problems mainly come from conflicts opposing the large shareholder to minority shareholders, since diffuse owned firms are less present and most firms are controlled by families who appoint one of their members to management. German and Japanese firms are usually controlled by widely held financial institutions that are able to monitor management decisions.

In the U.S., firms' ownership structure is more diffuse. The use of means to separate ownership from control is less present and the control of the large shareholder is lower than in the other sampled countries. There is however a large percentage of firms managed by a family member. In this country, agency problems likely stem from shareholdermanagement conflicts.

Our results also show that being listed on the stock exchange can explain a firm's ownership structure. Exchange listed firms, which are generally larger in size than unlisted firms, tend to have a more diffuse ownership.

84

La Porta, Lopez-De-Silanes, Shleifer & Vishny (1998) attempt to explain firm ownership structure around the world through the legal system. Our results contradict this hypothesis. Canada and the U.S. belong to common law countries, however Canadian firms' ownership structure is far from being diffuse (as in the U.S.), and the use of means to separate ownership from control is frequent. Gadhoum, Lang & Young (2001) show that Canadian ownership structure is closer to that of France, than to that of U.S. or U.K. firms.

Furthermore, there is a difference in ownership structure between France and Germany, which are both civil law countries. In France, the use of means to separate ownership from control is limited, and the role of financial institutions is weak. Conversely, in Germany, the use of means to separate ownership from control is higher, and financial institutions are more present in ownership structure.

Overall, while this paper sheds light on ownership structure research, further research is necessary. A complete explanation requires complex models which associate micro and macro economic variables.

References

- Barclay, M. & C. Holderness. 1990. Negotiated Blocks, Trades and Corporate Control. Working Paper. Rochester (NY): University of Rochester.
- Berle, A.A. & G.C. Mean. 1932. The Modern Corporation and Private Property. MacMillan. New York.
- Bertrand, M., Metha, P., & Mullainathan, S. 2000. Ferreting Out Tunneling: An Application to Indian Business Groups. NBER Working Paper No 7952.
- Bigelli, M. & Mengolli, S. 1999. Private Benefits From New Acquisitions: Evidence From the Italian Stock Market. University of Bologna Working Paper.
- Claessens, S., S. Djankov, J.P.H. Fan & L.H.P. Lang. 2000. The Separation of Ownership and Control in East-Asian Corporations. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 58(1-2), 81-112.
- Demsetz, H. & K. Lehn. 1985. The Structure of Corporate Ownership: Causes and Consequences. *Journal of Political Economy*, 93.
- Faccio, M. & L.H.P. Lang. 2000. The Separation of Ownership and Control: An Analysis of Ultimate Ownership in Western European Corporation. Working Paper, Chinese University of Hong Kong.
- Gadhoum, Y. 1995. L'actionnariat canadien: analyse statistique et comparaison internationale. *Finance, Économie et Comptabilité*, 5, 5-24.
- 9. Gadhoum, Y. 2000. Ownership Concentration, Dividend Policy, and Expropriation of Minority Shareholders. Working Paper.
- 10. Gadhoum, Y., & D. Zhegal. 1999. The Effect of Ownership Structure on Corporate Performance.

Working Paper, CGA-Accounting Research Center at the University of Ottawa.

- 11. Gadhoum Y., L.H.P. Lang & L. Young. 2001. The Canadian Puzzle. Working Paper.
- Gomez, A. & W. Novaes. 1999. Multiple Large Shareholders in Corporate Governance. University of Pennsylvania, Mimeo.
- 13. Hart, O. 1995. Corporate Governance: Some Theory and Implications. *Economic Journal*, 105, 678-689.
- Holderness, C., R.S. Kroszner & D.P. Sheehan.Were the Good Old Days That Good? Changes in Managerial Stock Ownership Since the Great Depression. *Journal of Finance*, 1999, 54(2), 435-69.
- 15. Holderness C & D. Sheehan 1988. The Role of Majority Shareholders in Publicly Held Corporations: An Exploratory Analysis. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 20, 317-346.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-De-Silanes & A. Shleifer. 1999. Corporate Ownership Around the World. *Journal of Finance*, 54, 471-518.
- La Porta, R., F. Lopez-de-Silanes, A. Shleifer & W.R. Vishny 1998, Law and Finance. *Journal of Political Economy*, 106, 1113-1155.
- Mc Connel, J.J & H. Servaes. 1990. Additional Evidence on Equity Ownership and Corporate Value, *Journal of Financial Economics*, 27, 595-612.
- 19. Nenova, T. 2000. The Value of Corporate Votes and Control Benefits: A Cross-Country Analysis. Working Paper, Harvard University.
- Rao, P.S & C.R. Lee-Sing. 1995. Les structures de régie, la prise de décision et le rendement des firmes en Amérique de Nord. *Finance, Économie et Comptabilité*, 5,27-45.
- Shleifer, A. & R.W. Vishny. 1986. Large Shareholders and Corporate Control. *Journal of Political Economy*, 94, 461-488.
- 22. Tosi, H.L. & L.R. Gomez-Mejia.1994. CEO Compensation Monitoring and Firm Performance, *Academy of Management Journal*, 37, 1002-1016.
- 23. Wolfenzon, D. 1999. A Theory of Pyramidal Structures. Harvard University Mimeograph, February.
- 24. Zeckhauser R.J & J Pound. 1990. Are Large Shareholders Effective Monitors? An Investigation of Share Ownership and Corporate Performance. In Hubbard R.G. (ed) Asymmetric Information, Corporate Finance and Investment, 149-180. University of Chicago Press.
- 25. Zingales, L. 1995. What Determines the Value of Corporate Votes? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 110, 1075-1110.



Appendices

Table 1. List of Variables and Their Definitions

Variables	Definition
Widely held ownership	Firms with no shareholder who holds more than 10% of voting rights. This variable takes the value 1 if this is the case, or 0 otherwise.
Ultimate owner	An entity (individual or widely held firm) that holds more than 10% of voting rights in a firm.
Concentrated ownership	Firms that possess at least one ultimate owner. This variable takes the value 1 if this is the case, or 0 otherwise.
Family	This variable takes the value 1 if the ultimate owner is a family or an individual, or 0 other- wise.
Government	This variable takes the value 1 if the ultimate owner is a provincial, federal or municipal authority, or 0 otherwise.
Widely held financial institution	This variable takes the value 1 if the ultimate owner is a widely held financial institution, or 0 otherwise.
Widely held firms	This variable takes the value 1 if the ultimate owner is a widely held firm, or 0 otherwise.
First large shareholder's ownership	Ownership rights (i.e., rights on cash flows) of the first large shareholder of the firm.
First large shareholder's control	Control rights (i.e, voting rights) of the first large shareholder of the firm.
Second large shareholder's control	Control rights (i.e, voting rights) of the second large shareholder of the firm.
Pyramidal structure (%)	Is present if a firm is indirectly controlled by a firm or an individual through another firm. This variable takes the value 1 if the ultimate owner control the firm through a pyramidal structure, and zero otherwise.
Cross ownership (%)	This happens when a firm is directly and indirectly controlled by the same entity. This vari- able takes the value 1 if the ultimate owner control the firm through cross ownership, and zero otherwise.
Reciprocal ownership (%)	This happens when a firm X control firm Y, which in turn controls firm X. This variable takes the value 1 if there is a reciprocal holding in the firm's ownership structure, and zero other- wise.
Manager from the family which controls the firm	Takes the value 1 if the firm manager comes from the controlling family, or zero otherwise

Table 2. Distribution of Ownership in Sample Country Firms

The exchange listed sample consists of a total of 1182 stock exchange listed firms. These include the U.S. 500 S&P500 firms, the Canadian 300 TSE300 firms, the French 40 CAC40 firms, the German 55 DAX firms, the Japanese 225 NIKKEI 225 firms, the Hong Kong 32 Hang Seng firms and the Singapore 55 STI firms. In each country, we also consider a full sample of firms, for comparative purposes.

	U	J.S.	Ca	nada	Fi	rance	Ger	rmany	Ja	pan	Hon	g Kong	Sin	gapore
	Index	Country	Index	Country	Index	Country	Index	Country	Index	Country	Index	Country	Index	Country
	N=500	N=3969	N=300	N=1120	N=40	N=607	N=30	N=704	N=225	N=1749	N=32	N=583	N=55	N=266
					Widely	y Held vs. (Concentra	ated Firms						
Widely held firms (%)	60.25	38.97	25.71	17.79	18.75	6.26	17	4.40	6.51	42.00	0	0.6	0	1.4
Concentrated ownership (%)	39.75	60.63	74.29	81.54	81.25	93.74	83	95.60	93.49	58	100	99.4	100	98.6
					Dist	ribution in	Various	Classes						
Family (%)	21.33	38.27	44.08	56.17	21.88	70.44	10	71.64	5.9	13.1	84	64.7	82.76	52
Widely held financial institutions	16.36	19.94	20	17.81	9.37	14.6	38	10.43	85.80	38.5	13	7.1	41.38	10.8
(%)				40.00										
Widely held firms (%)	1.65	4.46	11.48	10.80	3.13	2.66	0	1.21	3	5.3	31	23.9	6.90	12.2
Government (%)	0.21	0.23	5.71	4.42	12.50	5.17	10.00	5.23	2.96	1.1	16	3.7	68.97	23.6
Miscellaneous	60.45	37.10												
						Ultimat	e Owner							
Existence of a unique ulti- mate owner	90.04	77.33	66.12	62.60	76.92	63.82	37.50	66.73	68.55	87.2	55.56	69.1	17.02	37.60



Table 3. Means for Separating Ownership From Control

The exchange listed sample consists of a total of 1182 stock exchange listed firms. These include the U.S. 500 S&P500 firms, the Canadian 300 TSE300 firms, the French 40 CAC40 firms, the German 55 DAX firms, the Japanese 225 NIKKEI 225 firms, the Hong Kong 32 Hang Seng firms and the Singapore 55 STI firms. In each country, we also consider a full sample of firms, for comparative purposes.

	U	l.S.	Ca	nada	Fr	ance	Gei	many	Ja	pan	Hon	g Kong	Sing	gapore
	Index N=500	Country N=3969	Index N=300	Country N=1120	Index N=40	Country N=607	Index N=30	Country N=704	Index N=225	Country N=1749	Index N=32	Country N=583	Index N=55	Country N=266
Pyramidal structure (%)	10.35	8.52	34.84	33.82	11.54	17.75	20.83	24.22	64.50	36.40	37.00	25.10	68.97	55.00
Multiple voting stock (%)	10.86	8.36	23.36	25.98	15.63	2.64	34	17.61	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cross ownership (%)	0.83	1.15	13.93	8.18	0	2.99	12.50	6.84	-	-	-	-	-	-
Reciprocal holding (%)	0.41	0.13	0.369	2.60	0	0	12.5	2.97	-	-	-	-	-	-
Manager coming from the control- ling family (%)	48.96	74.51	11.60	73.46	60	61.99	0	60.40	17.75	37.2	41	53.4	65.52	69.9

Table 4. Image of Minority Shareholders' Expropriation

The exchange listed sample consists of a total of 1182 stock exchange listed firms. These include the U.S. 500 S&P500 firms, the Canadian 300 TSE300 firms, the French 40 CAC40 firms, the German 55 DAX firms, the Japanese 225 NIKKEI 225 firms, the Hong Kong 32 Hang Seng firms and the Singapore 55 STI firms. In each country, we also consider a full sample of firms, for comparative purposes.

	U	J.S.	Ca	nada	Fr	ance	Ger	rmany	Ja	pan	Hon	g Kong	Sing	apore
	Index N=500	Country N=3969	Index N=300	Country N=1120	Index N=40	Country N=607	Index N=30	Country N=500	Index N=225	Country N=1749	Index N=32	Country N=583	Index N=607	Country N=266
Ownership of first large shareholder (%)	6.12	14.62	19.94	25.61	31.03	46.68	19.12	48.54	5.04	6.9	18.44	24.3	17.35	20.19
Control of the first large shareholder (%)	7.31	16.01	29.77	31.56	32.54	48.32	25.28	54.50	7.93	10.33	22.81	28.08	22.93	27.52
Ratio of owner- ship over control of the fist large shareholder	0.83	0.56	0.71	0.67	0.92	0.93	0.74	0.84	0.59	0.60	0.83	0.88	0.77	0.79
Ownership of the second large share- holder (%)	0.92	4.82	4.42	7.04	11.96		8.97	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Control of the second large shareholder (%)	1.16	5.83	7.09	9.73	13.80		13.96	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Ratio of owner- ship over control of the second large shareholder	0.82	0.20	0.66	0.31	0.81		0.62	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Control of the first over the control of the second large shareholder	1.41	3.42	2.30	57.06	1.34	-	1.69	-	1.29	-	2.82	-	1.73	-

VIRTUS

AGENCY COSTS, OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE, AND COR-PORATE GOVERNANCE IN PRE-AND POST-IPO FIRMS

Wallace N. Davidson III*, Amani Khaled Bouresli**, Manohar Singh***

Abstract

Following the approach in Ang, Cole, and Lin (2000), we estimate the impact of CEO ownership on agency costs in pre-IPO firms and again in the post-IPO period when they have become publicly traded companies. We find that CEO ownership is large in both the pre and post-IPO firms. Greater CEO ownership is associated with lower agency costs both before and after the IPO, and CEO ownership in these firms seems to dominate all other agency control mechanisms. Board composition and involvement by venture capital firms does not appear to mitigate agency costs.

Keywords: CEO, ownership, IPOs, agency costs

* Finance Department- Mailcode 4626, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale, IL 62901
 618-453-1429, davidson@cba.siu.edu
 ** Department of Finance, College of Business, Kuwait University, Kuwait
 bouresli@cas.kuniv.edu.kw
 *** Atkinson Graduate School of Management, Willamette University, 900 State Street, Salem, Oregon 97301
 msingh@unr.edu

1. Introduction

There has been considerable research on the effect of agency conflicts on financial decisions, but as Ang, Cole, and Lin (2000), ACL, maintain: "the actual measurement of the principal variable of interest, agency costs, in both absolute and relative terms, has lagged behind" (p. 81). To measure agency costs requires a zero agency-cost firm, where the owner and manager are the same individual(s). ACL utilize a database of small privately held companies to construct a portfolio of zero agency cost firms and find that agency costs are higher when outsiders manage the firm, higher when the number of nonmanager shareholders increase, and are lower when management shareholdings are large. Singh and Davidson (2003), SD, extend the ACL analysis to large firms. They find that managerial ownership is positively related to asset utilization but does not deter excessive discretionary expenditures. Further, they show that smaller boards protect shareholders from agency costs but board composition and blockholder ownership characteristics do not.

We extend the work of ACL and SD by examining agency costs in firms that are about to go public and immediately after they do. The basic issue addressed in this paper is: Does going public increase or alleviate the agency problem and how various deterrent mechanisms influence agency costs? Theoretically it could do either. Going public diffuses ownership and further separates ownership from control, and this may increase agency costs. On the other hand, going public introduces market monitoring along with a more strict disclosure regime, as well as necessitates the need to create additional internal monitoring mechanisms such as an independent board of directors. It could, therefore, decrease agency cost.

We study a sample of 293 IPO firms to compare their pre-IPO and post IPO governance characteristics and investigate the impact of going public on agency costs. As in ACL and SD we measure agency costs in terms of both asset utilization and discretionary expenditures. Our results show that CEO ownership is quite large in IPO firms both before and after the IPO. More importantly, CEO ownership is associated with lower agency costs in both the preand post-IPO periods. Board composition, leverage, and ownership by blockholders and venture capital firms do not seem to mitigate agency costs.

2. Agency Costs and IPO firms

The concept of the separation of ownership and control was first introduced by Berle and Means (1932). Jensen and Meckling (1976) develop a model comparing firms with no agency costs to those run by professional managers. One of the difficulties of measuring agency costs has been finding zeroagency-cost firms as a point of comparison. ACL proxy the zero-agency cost firm using a sample of small businesses that are privately owned. In this paper, we propose that IPO firms may provide a somewhat unique laboratory to measure agency costs. In contrast to the ACL sample, the pre-IPO firm is not a pure owner-managed company. As a result, there may be some possibilities for a pre-IPO CEO to extract rent from other stakeholders. In the pre-IPO firm, ownership is not diffused to the degree of a typical public company, and the CEOs motive to extract rent may not be as strong. The post-IPO firm, on the other hand, is a company that has recently become subject to market forces, and ownership has become more dispersed. However, ownership for the recent IPO firm is likely not as dispersed as in the SD sample. By examining agency costs and governance structure in pre- and post-IPO firms, we straddle the research in ACL (with zero-agency cost firms) and in SD who utilize large publicly traded companies. Before the IPO process, these firms are privately owned. While there is some dispersion of ownership, ownership is concentrated in the hands of a relatively small group of investors. Following the IPO, the firm is now publicly traded with greater dispersion of ownership. One could argue that the agency problems for these firms will increase since the firm is no longer privately owned, creating a greater incongruence of interests of managers and owners. However, the IPO process introduces market monitoring that may offset the agency problems attributable to greater ownership dispersion. We can then observe the changes in monitoring mechanisms designed to reduce agency costs that occur for a firm immediately after going public.

A. Management Ownership

Jensen and Meckling's (1976) argue that managerial ownership helps align the interests of managers and shareholders thus yielding a positive relation between managerial ownership and corporate performance. Empirical research shows that the relation between corporate performance and managerial ownership is more complex than illustrated by Jensen and Meckling (Morck, Shleifer, & Vishny, 1988; McConnell & Servaes, 1990 & 1995; Kole, 1995; Short & Keasey, 1999; Barnhart & Rosenstein, 1998). This research has also shown that managerial ownership's effect on firm value may be non-linear.

In terms of direct measures of agency costs, as in ACL and SD, we expect that agency costs will be inversely related to managerial ownership in general and CEO ownership in particular. A related concept is the founder status of the CEO. When founders stay involved in the corporation, there appear to be fewer agency problems (Reeb and Anderson, 2003). IPO firms are often young firms. As a result the founder often remains active and is commonly the CEO of the firm in the immediate post-IPO period.

B. Blockholder Involvement

Blockholders have the incentive and capability to monitor management. Thus, greater ownership of stock by outside blockholders may result in lower agency conflict. Empirical evidence supports this contention (Holderness & Sheehan, 1985; Barclay & Holderness, 1991; Shome & Singh, 1995; Bethel, Liebeskind & Opler, 1998; Allen & Phillips, 2000).

ACL's sample of small firms does not permit the study of the role of blockholders in reducing agency costs. However, SD find that outside blockholders have limited influence in reducing agency costs. Based on the empirical literature, we expect that agency costs will be inversely related to blockholders ownership.

C. Venture Capital Involvement

Venture capital firms invest in companies and take an active interest in their management (Sahlman, 1990). Barry, Muscarella, Peavy, and Vetsuypens (1990) find that venture capital firms hold about onethird of the board seats in companies they sponsor. Bouresli et al (2004) show that venture capital firms impact the board structure, with insiders controlling fewer board seats when there is venture capital involvement.

In other words, venture capital investors are active monitors (Baker & Gompers, 2000). Since venture capital firms are active monitors, we expect a negative relation between venture capital ownership and agency costs.

In addition, we expect an inverse relation between the proportion of the board comprised of venture capital directors and agency costs. Alternately, in the post IPO period, venture capitalists may actually use their position to further their own interests and extract rent from the corporation's other stakeholders. Thus the impact of venture capitalists on agency costs is somewhat ambiguous.

D. Board Size and Composition

Although, Fama and Jensen (1983) argue that board outsiders are the first line of defense in monitoring managers and guarding shareholder interests, empirical evidence to this effect is mixed. Dalton, Daily, Ellstrand, and Johnson (1998) conclude that there is little evidence that board composition influences firm performance.

In their literature survey, Hermalin and Weisbach (2000) reach the same conclusion. In terms of the relation between agency costs and boards, while ACL did not address this issue, SD, however, did not find a significant relation between board composition and agency costs. Despite the mixed empirical evidence, we hypothesize an inverse relation between the proportion of independent outside directors on IPO firm boards and agency costs.

E. Leverage

Jensen and Meckling (1976) point out that debt financing may restrict excessive managerial perquisite consumption. ACL and SD find evidence that agency costs are inversely related to some measures of leverage. Based on this empirical evidence we hypothe-



size that agency costs will be negatively related to the degree of leverage.

3. Data A. Sample

We obtained our initial sample of IPOs from the SDC database for the 1995-1998. The database lists 3054 IPOs. We first eliminated 203 dual class IPOs, 126 ADRs and ADSs, 36 limited partnerships, 18 spin-offs, and 359 finance, insurance or real estate IPOs. From the remaining 2312 IPOs, we attempted to obtain financial ownership and board data. Due to non-availability of registration and proxy data 1744 firms were eliminated. We eliminated 180 firms not listed, post-IPO, on Compustat, 33 IPOs that were acquired in the first year following IPO and 62 for other missing data. This left 293 IPOs with complete information both before and after the IPO and represents 12.7% of the 2312 corporate IPOs that occurred in this period.

B. Agency Costs

Similar to ACL and SD we use the ratio of annual sales to total assets as our first measure of agency costs. When this ratio is large, it implies that there is a large level of sales for a specific level of assets. On the other hand, if the ratio is low, management has invested in non-productive assets that are not able to generate cash flows. When agency conflicts are higher, we expect firms to have lower asset turnover ratios.

For a second measure of agency costs we utilize selling, general, and administrative expenses, SG&A, standardized by total sales as a proxy for agency cost related to excessive pay and perquisites. When agency costs are high, we expect SG&A to be relatively large. Conversely, when agency costs are low, we expect SG&A expenses to be relatively small.

We designate year 0 as the IPO year. We obtain financial information manually for year -1 from the registration statements for the 293 IPO firms. We obtain financial information for year 1 from Compustat.

-----Insert Table 1 About Here-----

Table 1 contains information on the IPO firms for year -1 and year 1. We do not analyze year 0 because the firm is private for part of the year and publicly traded for the remainder of the year. The table shows that the asset turnover drops from 1.43 in year -1 to 0.99 in year 1. This change is consistent with an increase in agency costs occurring as these IPO firms become publicly traded. On the other hand, the ratio of SG&A to sales decreases. This change is statistically insignificant with a t-test but is significant with the Wilcoxon Z. If agency costs increase following the IPO, we expect this ratio to increase rather than decrease in the post-IPO period.

C. Ownership Structure

We measure ownership as shares held by the CEO, blockholders (outside and non-venture capital stockholders with 5% or more equity holdings), venture capital firms, and directors and officers as percent of total shares outstanding.

As expected, the sample average CEO ownership drops from 28.2% pre-IPO to 16.9% in the post-IPO period. This difference is significant (at the 0.1% level). Even with the reduction in percentage ownership by the CEO, the average CEO continues to own a large proportion of the firm's stock. Similarly, average ownership by venture capital firms drops from 14.6% to 3.7%, with the change being significant (at 0.1%). However, the blockholder ownership does not change significantly following the IPO.

D. Board of Director Structure

We measure board composition in the traditional manner as in Baysinger and Butler (1985) with one modification. Since venture capital firms are involved with IPO firms, we have added them as a fourth category of directors. So our four director categories are insiders, affiliated outsiders, venture capital, and independent outside directors. We categorize directors as venture capital directors if they are employed by or represent a venture capital firm that has supplied capital to the IPO firm. As shown in Table 1 board characteristics change significantly following the IPO. Board size increases, on average from 4.9 to 6.4 members. So the average board adds approximately 11/2 directors when going public. The average number of inside directors falls slightly from 1.85 to 1.75 after the IPO. The number of venture capital directors also falls from an average of 0.98 to 0.67. The largest change is in terms of outside directors, increasing on average from 0.99 to 2.82. In terms of proportional representation, the proportion of inside directors, venture capital directors, and affiliated directors decreases while the proportion of outside directors increases. All of these board changes are statistically significant. In the pre-IPO companies 47.1% of the CEOs are founders while after the IPO this ratio drops to 43.0% (significant at the 5% level).

E. Other Variables

For a levered firm, the fixed commitment to make debt payments may constrain a manager's ability to use cash (Jensen, 1986) in wasteful ventures. We expect a negative relation between the degree of debt financing and managerial agency costs. We measure leverage with the debt to equity ratio. For our sample, the average debt to equity ratio significantly falls from 21.1% in pre-IPO period to 13.8% in the post-IPO period. In our regression models, we control for firm size with the log of total assets. As shown in Table 1, while the average sample firm size as measured by total assets increases from \$60 to \$170

VIRTUS

million from year -1 to year 1 the mean sales revenue increase from \$69 to \$140 million. These differences are significant (at the 0.1% level). We also control for industry effects with a series of 3-digit level SIC dummy variables.

4. Results

To relate ownership and board characteristics to our measures of agency costs, we estimate models with the asset turnover ratio and ratio of SG&A expense to sales as dependent variables with the independent variables as described above.

A. Agency Costs in Terms of Asset Utilization- Pre IPO

Table 2 contains the regression results with year -1 asset turnover ratio as our first proxy for agency costs as the dependent variable. Independent variables include the percent ownership by the CEO, blockholders and venture capital firms, percent independent outside directors, percent inside directors, a dummy variable taking the value of 1 if the CEO is the founder, leverage, the natural log of assets as a proxy for firm size, and industry dummies (industry dummies coefficient not reported).

-----Insert Table 2 About Here-----

The single variable regressions are models 1-8. The estimated coefficient for CEO ownership is positive and significant (at the 0.1% level) as predicted. In the pre-IPO period higher CEO ownership is associated with lower possible conflict of interest and lower agency costs. Recall that these CEOs have a considerable stake in the financial performance of the firm, and our results suggest that greater ownership by CEOs reduces agency costs in firms about to go public. On the other hand, the coefficients for ownership by outside blockholders and venture capital firms have negative estimated coefficients that are significant (at the 5% and 0.1%, respectively). Ownership by these two groups is not associated with lower agency costs and appears to have the opposite effect².

In pre-IPO firms, the estimated coefficients for the percent independent directors and percent venture capital directors are both negative and significant. These results run counter to our predictions in that independent and venture capitalist directors do not seem to be instrumental in lowering agency costs through improving asset quality or utilization³. One explanation is that dominant CEOs replace the need for outsider monitoring. In addition, at this point, the firms are still privately owned and outside director monitoring may be unnecessary.

However, the estimated coefficients for the percent of inside directors and the CEO founder dummy variable are positive. In these privately held companies, insiders on the board and a founding CEO improve asset utilization and reduce agency costs. These results are also consistent with the dominant CEO controlling the company and reducing agency costs. The estimated coefficient for leverage is positive but insignificant. The estimated coefficient for the log of assets is negative and significant at the 5% level. Smaller pre-IPO firms have better asset utiliza-

tion. Regression 9 is a model that includes all of the independent variables. Only the estimated coefficients for CEO ownership and log of assets remain statistically significant. The estimated coefficient for CEO ownership remains positive and significant (at the 1% level), and the estimated coefficient for log of assets is negative (significant at the 0.1% level).

The estimated coefficients for the other independent variables are statistically insignificant in this model. One explanation for the lack of their significance would be that there is multicollinearity in the variables. However, none of the variance inflation factors are above 1.5. An alternate explanation is that since CEOs own such a large proportion of stock in these pre-IPO firms, that CEO control dominates the effect of the other variables in reducing agency costs. Shivdasani and Yermack (1999) find that more powerful CEOs have greater control over the board through selection of directors.

B. Agency Costs in Term of Asset Utilization- Post IPO

Table 3 contains the regression results for the post-IPO firms. The dependent variable is the asset turnover ratio for year 1. We use the post-IPO independent variables that correspond to the pre-IPO independent variables discussed in Table 2.

-----Insert Table 3 About Here-----

Regressions 1-8 are simple regressions with one independent variable included at a time. The estimated coefficient for CEO ownership is positive and significant (at the 0.1% level). Similarly, in regressions 5 and 6 the estimated coefficients for percent inside directors and the CEO founder dummy variables are positive and significant (at the 5% level).

The estimated coefficients for blockholder ownership and percent independent directors are negative and significant (at the 5% and 10% levels, respectively)⁴. The estimated coefficient for firm size is negative as it was pre-IPO. However, the estimated coefficient for leverage is negative and significant. Since the coefficient is negative debt does not appear to mitigate agency costs following the IPO. In regression 9, we include all of the independent variables. Only the estimated coefficients for CEO ownership and percent independent directors are statistically significant. Even after the IPO, CEO ownership remains high, averaging nearly 17% of the sample firms' equity. With such large ownership, the CEOs continue to be a dominant force in reducing agency costs. Board composition, as measured by the percent of independent directors, not only does not produce better asset utilization, but with its negative coefficient seems to result in higher agency costs. When we compare the results for pre-IPO to post-IPO, we find similar results for CEO ownership.



CEOs control a relatively large proportion of the equity before and after the IPO and, larger CEO ownership is associated with a reduced level of agency costs in both periods. Boards composed of a larger proportion of independent directors and/or venture capital directors do not have improved asset utilization. Leverage seems to mitigate the agency costs before the IPO but has no effect (after controlling for other variables) following the IPO. Recall, that leverage ratios drop significantly after the IPO. Our conclusion is that since these CEOs own such a large amount of stock, it is in their own best interests to reduce agency costs. The CEOs in the pre-IPO and post-IPO firms dominate all other agency control mechanisms.

C. Agency Costs in Term of SG&A Expenses – Pre-IPO

The second proxy for agency costs is the ratio of selling, general, and administrative expenses to sales. This ratio for year -1 is the dependent variable in the models in Table 4. The independent variables are the same as in the two earlier tables.

-----Insert Table 4 About Here-----

Models 1-8 are simple regressions with separate estimated models for each independent variable. Ownership by the CEO has a negative estimated coefficient which is significant (at the 5% level). The implication of these findings is that greater ownership by the CEO is associated with a lower ratio of SG&A to sales, and it, therefore, is associated with a lower level of agency costs. These findings are consistent with our earlier results where we measured agency costs in terms of asset turnover ratio. Prior to going public, ownership is not dispersed to the extent that is typical of most publicly traded corporations, and CEOs in these private firms may not have as much of an opportunity to extract private benefits from minority shareholders. More important, however, the pre-IPO CEOs with such a large percentage ownership in the firm have incentives to economize on resources to convince the market to reward a well-managed company at the time of IPO with higher price. Here, higher pre-IPO ownership by CEO would translate into higher IPO value and potential gains for the CEO. Similarly, the estimated coefficient for the percent of inside directors on the board is negative and significant (at the 0.1% level). Boards of the privately held firms that are dominated by insiders are associated with a lower level of agency costs. It may be that their large ownership stake in the company motivates them to act in shareholder interests. The estimated coefficient for ownership by blockholders is statistically insignificant. The estimated coefficient for percentage ownership by venture capital firms is positive and significant (at the 10% level). These results are not consistent with the prediction that ownership by venture capital firms is associated with lower agency costs. Instead, venture capital firms may be pursuing their own goals and

agendas in the pre-IPO firms. Similarly, the estimated coefficient for the percent of independent outsiders on the board is positive and significant (at the 0.05% level)⁵. Regression 9 contains the estimated model with all of independent variables. None of the estimated coefficients are statistically significant.

Overall, these results suggest that after including all of the predictor and the control variables, discretionary expenses are not reduced by CEO ownership nor by the other agency deterrent mechanisms.

D. Agency Costs in Term of SG&A Expenses – Post IPO

We also measure the ratio of SG&A expenses to sales in year 1, following the IPO, and use it as a dependent variable. The independent variables for year 1 are as in the previous tables. These results appear in Table 5.

-----Insert Table 5 About Here-----

Regressions 1-8 are simple regressions with models estimated separately for each independent variable. Only the estimated coefficient for log of assets is significant. In regression 9, we include all independent variables. None of the estimated coefficients are significant.

5. Conclusions

In this paper we examine the extent to which CEO ownership, venture capital involvement, and board of director characteristics influence agency costs before and after IPO firms go public. For our sample firms, CEOs own over 28% of the pre-IPO firms and this ownership seems to dominate all other agency conflict control mechanisms. While average CEO ownership level drops following the IPO, it remains quite high. As a result, CEO ownership is positively related to asset utilization before and after the IPO. Firms having CEOs with higher levels of ownership have lower agency costs. In terms of discretionary expenditures, CEO ownership reduces its level prior to going public but not when the regressions control for other factors. In addition, we do not find this relation post- IPO. In the post IPO period, the CEO may consume more non-pecuniary wealth of the firm, and thus, CEO ownership does not reduce discretionary expenses. Stock ownership by non-insider blockholders as well as by venture capital firms is not associated with better asset utilization or lower discretionary expenses either before or after going public. Board characteristics such as the percentage of outside directors and the percentage of directors representing venture capitalists are not associated with lower agency costs. Our results are, therefore, similar to those in Ang, Cole, and Lin (2000) and Singh and Davidson (2003).

References

1. Allen, J.W., and G.M. Phillips (2000). "Corporate Equity Ownership, Strategic Alliances, and Product Market Relationships." *Journal of Finance*.

VIRTUS

- Ang, J.S., R.A. Cole, and J.W. Lin (2000). "Agency Costs and Ownership Structure." *Journal of Finance*, 55: 81-106.
- 3. Bakers, M. and P.A. Gompers (2000). "The Determinants of Board Structure and Function at the Initial Public Offering." *Harvard Business School*, WP.
- Barclay, M. and C. Holderness (1991). "Control of Corporations by Active Block Investors." *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, 4: 68-77.
- Barnhart, S.C. and S. Rosenstein (1998). "Board Composition, Managerial Ownership, and Firm Performance: An Empirical Analysis." *Financial Review*, 33: 1-16.
- Barry, C., C. Muscarella, J. Perry, and M.R. Vetsuypens (1990). "The Role of Venture Capital in the Creation of Public Companies: Evidence from the Going Public Process." *Journal of Financial Economics*, 27: 447-472.
- Baysinger, B. and H. Butler (1985). "Corporate Governance and the Board of Directors: Performance Effects of Changes in Board Composition." *Journal* of Law, Economics, and Organization. 1: 101-124.
- 8. Berle, A. and G. Means (1932). "The Modern Corporation and Private Property." McMillan, NY.
- Bethel, J., J. Liebeskind, and T. Opler (1998). "Block Share Repurchases and Corporate Performance." *Journal of Finance*, 53: 605-634.
- Bouresli, A.K., W.N. Davidson III, and F.A. Abdulsalam (2004). "Role of Venture Capitalists in IPO Corporate Governance." *Quarterly Journal of Business* and Economics, 41:71-82.
- Dalton, D.R., C.M. Daily, A.E. Ellstrand, and J.L. Johnson (1998). "Meta-Analytic Reviews of Board Composition, Leadership Structure, and Financial Performance." *Strategic Management Journal*, 19.
- Fama, E. and M. Jensen (1983). "Agency Problems and Residual Claims." *Journal of Law and Economics*, 26: 327-350.
- Hermalin, B.E. and M.S. Weisbach (2000). "Boards of Directors as an Endogenously Determined Institution: A Survey of the Economic Literature." University of California, Working Paper.
- Holderness, C. and D. Sheehan (1985). "Raiders or Saviors? The Evidence on Six Controversial Investors." *Journal of Financial Economics*, 14: 555-579.
- Jensen, M. and W. Meckling (1976). "Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure". *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3: 305-360.
- Jensen, M. (1986). "Agency Costs of Free Cash Flow, Corporate Finance, and Takeovers." American Economics Review, 76: 323-329.
- 17. Kennedy, P. (1998). A Guide to Econometrics. 4th edition, MIT Press.
- Kole, S.R. (1995). "Measuring Managerial Equity Ownership: A Comparison of Sources of Ownership Data." *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 1: 413-435.
- McConnel, J. and H. Servaes (1990). "Additional Evidence on Equity Ownership and Corporate Value." *Journal of Financial Economics*, 27: 595-612.
- McConnel, J. and H. Servaes (1995). "Equity Ownership and the Two Faces of Debt." *Journal of Financial Economics*, 39: 131-157.
- Morck, R., A. Shleifer, and R. Vishney (1988). "Management Ownership and Market Valuation: An Empirical Analysis." *Journal of Financial Economics*, 20: 293-316.

- 22. Pearce, J. and S. Zahra (1992). "Board Composition from a Strategic Contingency Perspective." *Journal* of Management Studies, 29: 411-438.
- Pfeffer, J. (1973). "Size, Composition, and Functions of Hospital Boards of Directors: A Study of Organization-Environment Leakage." *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 18: 349-364.
- 24. Reeb, D.M. and Anderson, R.C. (2003). "Founding Family Ownership and Firm Performance: Evidence from the S&P 500." *Journal of Finance*.
- 25. Sahlman, W.A. (1990). "The Structure Governance of Venture-Capital Organizations." *Journal of Financial Economics*, 27: 473-521.
- Shivdasani, A. and D. Yermack (1999). "CEO Involvement in the Selection of New Board Members: An Empirical Analysis." *Journal of Finance*, 54.
- 27. Shome, D., and S. Singh (1995). "Firm Value and External Blockholdings." *Financial Management*, 24.
- Short, H. and K. Keasey (1999). "Managerial Ownership and the Performance of Firms: Evidence from the U.K." *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 5: 79-101.
- Singh, M. and W.N. Davidson III (2003). "Agency Costs, Ownership Structure and Corporate Governance Mechanisms." *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 27: 793-816.

Footnotes

¹ We also estimated an OLS model with non-CEO inside ownership as the independent variable. In simple regressions, its estimated coefficient is negative and significant at the 0.1% level. However, when we include it and CEO ownership in the same estimated models, multicollinearity becomes a significant problem as the correlation coefficient for CEO ownership and non-CEO inside director ownership is -0.89 (significant at the 0.1% level) in year -1 and is -0.85 (significant at the 0.1% level) in year 1.

² The negative relation suggests that venture capital directors do not serve other shareholder interests. The negative relation between blockholder ownership and asset turnover deserves additional attention. First, we tested several nonlinear specifications, but this did not provide a suitable explanation. Then we found blockholder ownership to be significantly (at the 0.1% level) and negatively correlated with CEO ownership, director and officer ownership, and CEO founder status. CEO ownership appears to have the strongest impact on agency costs. So when CEOs own large amounts of stock and are founders, blockholders own less stock. We believe that it is not the blockholders causing greater agency costs, but the lower CEO ownership instead.

³ We expect that in privately held companies independent directors play a very small role in corporate governance. Pre-IPO companies average less than 1 independent director. In our pre-IPO sample, 135 firms (46.1% of the sample) have no independent outside directors. In only 11 firms (3.6% of the sample) independent outsiders constitute a numerical majority on the board.

⁴The signs of these coefficients are not as expected and imply that outside directors do not reduce agency costs in firms that have recently gone public. We tested several things trying to determine the reason for this relation. For example, the percentage of outside directors is not related to the proportion of stock owned by insiders, the CEO, blockholders or venture capital companies. It is unrelated to firm size, leverage or CEO founder status. We attempted



several non-linear specifications, and the relation does not appear to be non-linear. In only 29% of the companies independent outsiders control a numerical majority of board seats. Our conclusion is that these outside directors do not reduce agency costs in newly publicly traded companies. It may be their lack of experience with the company (since most outside director join the company following the IPO), their relatively small numbers on the board, or perhaps these directors are affiliated with management in ways that our categorization procedures do not detect.

⁵As mentioned above, outside directors seem to play a very small role in the pre-IPO company. Nearly half of the pre-IPO companies have no independent directors.

Appendices

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics and Comparisons of Pre-to-Post IPO

		Year -1	Year 1	t statistic	Wilcoxon Z	
Agency Cost Data	Asset Turnover		1.4314	0.9946	6.61***	8.27***
Ownership Data	SG&A to Sales		0.7009	0.5379	1.63	2.89^{**}
	Ownership Percentages:					
	CEO		28.1769%	16.9390%	10.88^{**}	12.08***
	Blockholder		17.4701%	17.8773%	- 0.32	-1.17
	Venture Capital		14.5606%	3.7251%	11.05**	9.65***
	Director & Officer		35.6224%	17.5874%	14.52***	12.07***
Board Data	Board Size		4.9181	6.3652	-12.99***	-10.64***
	Director Numbers:					
	Inside		1.85	1.75	1.97^{*}	2.00^{*}
	Outside		0.99	2.82	-22.00****	-13.46***
	Venture Capital		0.98	0.67	5.90****	5.59***
	Affiliated		1.11	1.12	-0.12	-0.13
	Director Percentages:					
	Inside		45.08%	28.17%	11.37***	10.31***
	Outside		16.51%	44.33%	-21.88***	-13.69***
	Venture Capital		17.82%	10.62%	7.55***	-6.98***
	Affiliated		20.59%	16.88%	7.41***	6.89***
	CEO Founder		47.10%	43.00%	2.47^{*}	2.45^{*}
	Venture Capital on Board					
			47.44%	37.54%	3.86***	3.78***
Other Data	Leverage		21.067%	13.835%	3.79***	5.27***
	Total Assets (millions)		\$60.19	\$170.28	-9.42***	14.39***
	Sales Revenue		\$69.44	\$140.11	-11.35***	14.10***

*** Significant at 0.001 or better, ** Significant at 0.01 or better, * Significant at 0.05 or better

Table 2. Regression Results: Asset Utilization in the Pre-IPO Period

		Pe	ercentage Owners	ship	Percent	Percent	CEO Four		Log of	18 Industry	Adjusted
Reg.	Constant	CEO	Blockholder	<u>Venture-</u> Capital	Directors	Director	<u>r-0</u>	Leverage	Assets	<u>Variables</u>	к <u>(F)</u>
1	0.9797	0.0161		oupruu							11.8% (39.66)***
2	(9.30) 1.5711 $(15.45)^{***}$		-0.0078 $(-2.25)^*$								(39.00) 1.4% (5.1)*
3	1.6583 (16.52)***			-0.0158 (-3.75) ^{****}							4.4% (14.09)***
4	1.6300 $(15.11)^{***}$				-1.2000 (-2.76)**						2.2% (7.63) ^{**}
5	0.7601 (5.25) ^{**}					1.4922 (5.48) ^{****}					9.1% (30.06) ^{****}
6	1.1722 (10.67)****						0.5481 (3.43)***				3.6% (11.74) ^{***}
7	1.3422 (13.65)***							0.0039 (1.49)			0.4% (2.3)
8	1.8966 (8.58) ^{***}								-0.1481 (-2.26) [*]		1.4% (5.12)*
9	2.7231 (6.63)***	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0092 \\ \left(2.85 ight)^{**} \end{array}$	0.0007 (0.20)	-0.0028 (-0.58)	-0.4940 (-1.00)	0.4410 (1.19)	0.1800 (1.01)	0.0036 (1.50)	-0.3622 (- 5.41)***	a	28.8% (5.62) ^{****}

*** Significant at 0.001 or better, ** Significant at 0.01 or better, * Significant at 0.05 or better, † Significant at 0.10 or better

VIRTUS

		P	ercentage Owner	ship	Percent	Percent	CEO- Four		Log of	18 Industry	Adjusted R ²
Reg.	Constant	CEO	Blockholder	<u>Venture-</u> Capital	Directors	Director	<u>r-O</u>	<u>Leverage</u>	Assets	<u>Variables</u>	<u>(F)</u>
1	0.7279	0.0159		<u> </u>							13.0%
	(11.66)***	$(6.68)^{***}$									(44.58)**
2	1.1091		-0.0063								1.3%
	$(15.37)^{***}$		$(-2.22)^*$								$(4.92)^{*}$
3	1.0234			-0.0074							0.2%
	$(18.40)^{***}$			(-1.25)							(1.57)
4	1.2301			· ´	-0.5282						0.7%
	$(8.54)^{***}$				(-1.74) [†]						$(3.02)^{\dagger}$
5	0.7491					0.8774					1.4%
	$(6.27)^{***}$					$(2.28)^{*}$					$(5.22)^{*}$
6	0.9070						0.2071				1.0%
	(13.43)***						$(2.01)^{*}$				$(4.02)^*$
7	1.0542							-0.0045			1.0%
	(17.56)***							(-1.96) [†]			(3.85) [†]
8	1.3582								-		0.8%
	(6.59)****								0.0816 (-1.81)		(3.28) [†]
9	2.0657	0.0127	-0.0005	-0.0009	-0.4711	-0.0199	-0.0065	-0.0032	-	а	35.6%
	(6.11)	(4.58)	(0.20)	(-0.16)	(-1.68)	(-0.05)	(-0.07)	(-1.37)	0.1181 -2.14		(7.12)

Table 3. Regression Results: Asset Utilization in the Post-IPO Period

*** Significant at 0.001 or better, ** Significant at 0.01 or better, * Significant at 0.05 or better, † Significant at 0.10 or better **Table 4.** Regression Results: Discretionary Expenditures in the Pre-IPO Period

		P	ercentage Owner	ship	Percent Outside	Percent Inside	CEO- Four		Log of	18 Industry	Adjusted R ²
<u>Reg.</u>	Constant	CEO	Blockholder	<u>Venture-</u> Capital	Directors	Director	<u>r-0</u>	Leverage	Assets	Variables	<u>(F)</u>
1	0.9480	-0.0084									1.8%
	$(6.52)^{***}$	(-2.45)*									$(6.02)^*$
2	0.6401		0.0035								0.0%
	$(4.89)^{***}$		(0.79)								(0.62)
3	0.5652			0.0099							0.8%
	(4.32)***			$(1.81)^{\dagger}$							(3.29) [†]
4	0.5124				1.1700						1.2%
	$(3.71)^{***}$				$(2.05)^{*}$						$(4.19)^*$
5	1.2755					-1.2433					3.9%
	$(6.55)^{***}$					(-3.49)***					$(12.17)^{**}$
6	0.7704						-0.1511				0.2%
	(5.32)***						(-0.72)				(0.41)
7	0.7852							-0.0039			0.1%
	$(6.03)^{***}$							(-1.08)			(1.16)
8	1.3411							` ´	-		1.5%
	(4.48)***								$\begin{array}{c} 0.2000 \\ (2.29)^{*} \end{array}$		(5.25)*
9	1.0313	-0.0027	-0.0013	0.0692	0.0692	-0.8181	0.1161	-0.0006	-	а	5.9%
	(1.58)	(-0.56)	(-0.18)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(-1.51)	(0.49)	(-0.16)	0.0564		(1.65)*

*** Significant at 0.001 or better, ** Significant at 0.01 or better, * Significant at 0.05 or better, † Significant at 0.10 or better **Table 5.** Regression Results: Discretionary Expenditures in the Post-IPO Period

		Pe	Percentage Ownership			Percent Percent	000 0		Log of	18	Adjusted
Reg.	Constant	CEO	Blockholder	<u>Venture-</u> Capital	Outside Directors	Inside Directors	<u>CEO- Found</u> <u>r-O</u>	Leverage	Assets	Industry Variables	R ² (<u>F)</u>
1	0.8700	-0.0102									0.2%
	(4.10)***	(-1.30)									(1.68)
2	0.6333		0.0035								-0.3%
	(2.84)**		(0.40)								(0.16)
3	0.6632			0.0091							-0.3%
	(3.87)***			(0.49)							(0.24)
4	0.6271				1.1554						-0.3%
	(1.40)				(0.16)						(0.03)
5	0.8380					-0.5020					-0.3%
	(2.35)*					(-0.42)					(0.18)
6	0.5800						0.2640				-0.1%
	(2.75)						(0.83)				(0.68)
7	0.7585							-0.0043			-0.2%
	(4.05)							(-0.61)			(0.37)
8	2.8583								-0.4852		3.8%
	(4.51)								(-		(12.35)
									3.52)		
9	1.5165	-0.0077	0.0034	-0.0029	-0.0428	-0.8343	0.5822	0.0063	-0.2822	а	-0.0428
	(1.21)	(-0.73)	(0.33)	(-0.14)	(-0.04)	(-0.59)	(1.58)	(0.72)	(-1.35)		(1.32)

** Significant at 0.001 or better, ** Significant at 0.01 or better, * Significant at 0.05 or better, † Significant at 0.10 or better



OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE, LARGE INSIDE/OUTSIDE SHAREHOL DERS, AND FIRM PERFORMANCE: EVIDENCE FROM CANADA

Eduardo Schiehll*

Abstract

This study gathers additional evidence on the association between ownership concentration and firm performance, as measured by the firm's Q ratio. Using panel data from a sample of 159 Canadian public firms over a three-year period, I focus on the distinction between large inside shareholders, who directly participate in the management of the firm, and large outside shareholders, who do not. I examine whether direct and indirect monitoring on the part of large shareholders has an impact on the association between ownership concentration and firm performance. Along with the distinction between large inside and outside shareholders, this study also investigates whether concentration of voting rights is associated to firm performance, and whether the identity of the owner affects this association. The findings suggest that large inside shareholdings tend to be negatively associated to firm performance, while no association is found in firms with a majority of large outside shareholdings or firms combining large inside and outside shareholdings in its ownership structure. Concentration of voting rights is negatively associated to firm performance only in firms with a majority of large outside shareholders, suggesting that the market may not discriminate between voting rights and ownership concentration in owner-managed firms. Although the results for the identity of large shareholders are not conclusive, there is evidence that family and institutional large shareholders wield different performance impacts.

Keywords: firm performance, ownership concentration, large shareholders, Canada

* Assistant Professor, HEC Montreal, 3000 ch. Cote-Sainte-Catherine, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3T 2A7 eduardo.schiehll@hec.ca, (514) 340-6516

Financial support from the Chair in Governance and Forensic Accounting – HEC Montreal and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada is gratefully acknowledged. I would also like to thank Howard Thomas, Gilbert Laporte, Denis Chenevert, Robert Clark, Eduardo Fajnzylber, and workshop participants at HEC Montreal and the European Accounting Association Annual Congress 2004 for their helpful comments.

1. Introduction

Considerable attention has been devoted in both the academic literature and the business press to the impact of governance structure on firm performance, with a particular focus on ownership concentration. Theoretically, the presence of large shareholders should reduce agency costs and enhance firm performance (Berle and Means, 1932; Jensen and Meckling, 1976), since large shareholders have the incentive as well as the resources to monitor the firm's performance. The premise is that large shareholders tend to engage in closer monitoring activities, which reduce informational asymmetries between owners and managers as well as between the firm and external investors. The result is an enhanced monitoring structure and increased firm value, to the benefit of all shareholders.

The empirical evidence on the performance impact of large shareholders is, however, inconclusive. Shleifer and Vishny (1986), for example, show that concentrated shareholdings raise firm value. Pagano and Röel (1998) document the existence of a tradeoff between ownership concentration and liquidity. Lehmann and Weigand (2000) suggest that, unless these large shareholders are financial institutions, their presence does not necessarily enhance firm performance. Consistent with the entrenchment perspective, the study by Claessens et al. (2002) finds that firm performance falls when the control rights of the largest shareholder exceed the cash-flow ownership of the shareholder. Overall, these studies suggest that large shareholders can impose costs on firms if they use them to extract private benefits via tunneling¹ or less than optimal investment decisions.

In addition, most studies examining ownership structure and firm performance have been conducted in the US and the UK, which are characterized by ownership dispersion and where most firms follow

¹ Johnson et al. (2000) note that large shareholders create group structures such as pyramids that enable them to transfer assets or profits to other dominated entities. These are called "tunneling" practices. Tunneling can be achieved in various ways, such as excessive compensation for positions held in the firm, advantageous transfer prices, loans at non-market rates, guarantees of other borrowing entities, or merger transactions that enhance the value of other firms in the group.

the one-share, one-vote rule. Recent studies by La Porta et al. (1999), Claessens et al. (2002), Faccio and Lang (2002), and Dyck and Zingales (2004) suggest that these types of ownership structures are not generally the norm in non Anglo-Saxon countries. Most of continental Europe and Asia is characterized by greater ownership concentration in the hands of individuals, families, governments, or industrial groups. Surprisingly, ownership structures in Canada differ from their Anglo-Saxon counterparts by exhibiting high levels of concentration.²

The purpose of this study is to examine the relationship between ownership structure, large shareholdings, and firm performance. Canada offers an interesting setting to examine these issues. On the one hand, the Canadian capital market is characterized by concentrated ownership through mechanisms such as dual-class shares and pyramidal structures (Amoako-Adu and Smith, 2001; Morck et al., 2000). The vast majority of these companies are family controlled. Many large Canadian companies (e.g., Power Corp., Magna Corp., Bombardier Inc., Quebecor Inc.) are still controlled by the founders or their families. On the other hand, Canada retains the corporate governance mechanisms and minority shareholder protections typically found in most Anglo-Saxon countries (La Porta et al., 1998; 1999). Furthermore, there is evidence to suggest that while Canada is believed to offer good protection to minority shareholders, large shareholders are nevertheless able to reap private benefits.³ This study therefore adds to the literature on firm performance and specific ownership structures (La Porta et al., 2002; Claessens et al., 2002; Cronqvist and Nilsson, 2003) and the growing literature on the costs and benefits of concentrated ownership. This investigation focuses on the distinction between the presence of large inside and outside shareholders in the firm's ownership structure. We define a large inside shareholder as an individual shareholder who holds significant⁴ direct or indirect ownership interest-through another company and/or family links-and who is at the same time a member of the firm's management. A large outside shareholder is defined as a person or company that holds significant direct or indirect ownership but does not directly participate in the management of the firm. Similar to the studies by Shleifer and Vishny (1997) and Claessens et al. (2002), I argue that the monitoring role and performance impact of large shareholders depend on the closeness of their association to the firm's management. The ability of large shareholders to pursue private goals unrelated to profit maximization increases with their participation in firm management. Although equity ownership may exert an important incentive to closely monitor management decisions, owner commitment and willingness to intervene may crucially depend on who they are (Lehmann and Weigand, 2000). As such, along with the distinction between large inside and outside shareholders, I differentiate between firms having a single shareholder with voting control and firms having a noncontrolling shareholder, in order to examine whether the performance impact is exacerbated in the presence of a controlling shareholder in the ownership structure. I also contrast different types of large shareholders (family, industrial, and financial institution), since they may have different objectives leading to different costs and benefits. As a means to investigate these issues, I used a panel data set of 159 Canadian non-financial public firms with large shareholders listed in the Financial Post Survey of Industrials from 1997 to 1999. In line with the literature on corporate governance, I used the Q ratio to measure performance (McConnell and Servaes, 1990; Villalonga, 2004), while controlling for other welldocumented inside governance mechanisms such as board composition and incentive structure. The findings suggest that large inside shareholdings tend to be negatively associated to firm performance, while no association is found in firms with a majority of large outside shareholdings or firms combining large inside and outside shareholdings in the ownership structure. As far as large outside shareholding is concerned, ownership concentration in the hands of large inside shareholders is apparently perceived as shareholder entrenchment, which is better able to extract value from firm performance to the detriment of minority shareholders. The negative performance effect of large inside shareholders is mitigated, however, when monitored by large outside shareholders. Concentration of voting rights is negatively associated to firm performance only in firms with a majority of large outside shareholders, suggesting that the market may not discriminate between voting rights and ownership concentration in ownermanaged firms. Although the results for the identity of large shareholders are not conclusive, there is evidence that family and institutional large shareholders wield difference performance impacts. This document is structured as follows. Section two presents the literature review. Section three describes the sample and variables used in the investigation. Section four presents and analyzes the empirical findings. Finally, the document ends with conclusions and suggested avenues for further research.

² See for example Daniels and Halpern (1996) and Craighead et al. (2004) on concentration of ownership in Canada.

³ Despite the legal protections offered by Canadian business law, Ben-Amar (2005) found certain forms of expropriation in Canada.

⁴ Canadian securities regulations require disclosure of individual shareholdings greater than 10 percent. Firms with no individual shareholdings greater than 10 percent are considered to have diffuse ownership structure.

2. Background and hypotheses⁵

The general view is that the presence of a large shareholder in a widely held firm should have a positive effect on firm performance. Large shareholders, as opposed to small shareholders, have greater resources and incentives to acquire information and monitor managers, thus reducing some agency costs (Shleifer and Vishny, 1997). The studies by Demsetz (1983), Pound (1995) and Lehmann and Weigand (2000) have challenged this premise, however, arguing that ownership concentration does not necessarily result in protection against management entrenchment and profit dispersion. They advocate that in some circumstances, large shareholdings can actually be harmful to firm value. Aside from these conflicting perspectives, the empirical evidence on the associations between ownership concentration and firm performance is mixed and almost exclusively based on US and UK evidence.

As LaPorta et al. (1998: 1114) point out: "Law and the quality of its enforcement are potentially important determinants of what rights security holders have and how well these rights are protected." These authors show that common-law countries such as Canada generally have the strongest legal protections for investors. They further show that concentration of share ownership in the largest public companies is negatively related to investor protection. which places Canada in a unique position compared to some of its common-law counterparts.⁶ La Porta et al. (1997, 1998) further developed an "antidirector rights index"⁷ to capture the legal environment. Canada gets the highest score at 5 out of 6, similar to the UK and the US. La Porta et al. (1998) and Dyck and Zingales (2004) also consider the quality of disclosure standards, as measured by the quality of accounting standards and their rule-of-law enforcement, the efficiency of the judicial system, corruption, and the risks of expropriation and contract repudiation. Canada again rates above average, even for the Anglo-Saxon countries. Dyck and Zingales (2004) suggest that extra-legal institutions play an important role in constraining private benefits. They propose measures to capture levels of product market competition, public opinion pressure, internal policing through moral norms, labor as a monitor, and government as a monitor. Once again, Canadian scores are similar to those of the UK and the US.

Nonetheless, widely held firms, although the norm in the US and the U.K, are not prevalent in most other countries. In Canada, closely held firms (usually family controlled but also state controlled or owned by widely held corporations or financial institutions) dominate the economic landscape. La Porta et al. (1999), Claessens et al. (2002), Barca and Becht (2001), Faccio and Lang (2002), and Dyck and Zingales (2004) suggest that the main agency problem outside the US and the UK is not the manager/shareholder conflict but rather the risk of expropriation by the dominant or controlling shareholder at the expense of minority shareholders. Others argue that large shareholder controlled firms make less than optimal investment decisions due to a lack of diversification (they hold a great portion of their wealth in a single company⁸) (Zhang, 1998), the awarding of firm positions to associated members, and the reluctance to undertake the creative destruction of controlled but outdated technologies to make way for innovation (Morck and Yeung, 2003).

Along this line, the studies by Demsetz and Lehn (1985), Shleifer and Vishny (1997), and Schulze et al. (2001), for example, claim that large shareholders can be harmful to minority shareholders if they have the opportunity to pursue private goals unrelated to profit maximization. Further, large shareholders closely associated with management may collude to expropriate minority shareholders. Schulze et al. (2001) suggest that agency problems associated with private ownership and owner management are more difficult to resolve, due to self-regulation and problems engendered by altruism. Hellwig (2000) proposes that large shareholders combined with owner management may collude to keep minority shareholders at bay. Lehmann and Weigand (2000) find that the negative impact of ownership concentration on the firm's profitability intrinsically depends on stock market exposure and the type of control rights. Maury and Pajuste (2004) suggest that a large outside shareholder has the power and incentive to monitor management so as to reduce profit diversion to the benefit of all shareholders, while large inside shareholders may represent a controlling coalition with management or other shareholders to share diverted profits. The evidence supports the argument that potential large shareholder entrenchment and the consequent impact on firm performance may be greater and/or different in firms with predominantly large inside ownership (or ownermanaged firms) than in firms with large outside shareholders.

The potential for negative impact on firm performance is even greater when large shareholders

⁵ A substantial body of articles on the issue of governance in accounting and finance has been published to date. Our review rather focuses on large shareholders. See Shleifer and Vishny (1997) for a broader literature review.

⁶ LaPorta et al. (1998) show that average ownership of the three largest shareholders in the 10 largest Canadian non-financial firms is 40% compared to 28%, 19%, and 20% in Australia, the UK, and the US, respectively. It should be noted that the average for English-origin countries is 43%, making the Canadian level of concentration comparable to that of Ireland, South Africa, New Zealand, and most English-origin Asian countries.

⁷ The index is formed by adding 1 when (i) one share = one vote; (ii) shareholders can mail in a proxy vote; (iii) shares are not blocked before the Annual General Meeting; a cumulative vote is allowed; (iv) an oppressed minority mechanism is in place; (v) a pre-emptive right to new issues exists; and (vi) minimum shareholding to force an extraordinary meeting is less than 10%.

⁸ Fama and Jensen (1985) show that undiversified large shareholders use different capital budgeting decision rules than do welldiversified shareholders.

occupy executive positions in the firm. The appointment of a significant shareholder or shareholder heir as an officer, for example, can wield a significantly negative impact if the individual does not have the talent, expertise, or competency to run the business. These individuals may lack the incentives that professional managers have to ensure their reputation in the executive labor market. The opportunity costs created by a less than optimal appointment are ultimately borne by all shareholders, thereby turning over some private benefits to the large shareholder. Furthermore, effective control of large shareholders means fewer opportunities for corporate buyouts of inefficiently managed firms. For instance, family and owner-managed firms, defined as firms having pools of individuals or families as large shareholders, are widely prevalent in Canada. These individuals and families are often company founders or their heirs who tend to directly participate in firm management. As such, individual and family shareholders are normally considered large inside shareholders, in contrast with institutional/corporate large shareholders, who are considered large outside shareholders⁹ (Lehmann and Weigand, 2000; Klein et al., 2004).

Recent empirical studies have attempted to measure the potential transfer of wealth from minority shareholders and less than optimal investment decisions on the part of firms with concentrated ownership. The results contrast with evidence in the US (Agrawal and Mandelker, 1990) and the UK (Sudarsanam, 1996) showing the benefits of large shareholder monitoring. Dyck and Zingales (2004), for example, find higher benefits of control associated with less developed capital markets and more concentrated ownership in Asia, albeit these benefits are curbed by legal and extra-legal mechanisms, particularly media pressure and tax enforcement. Other studies (Zingales, 1995 and 1995(a); Nenova, 2003) show that legal environment, law enforcement, takeover regulations, and corporate charter provisions can explain cross-country variations in the measure of private benefits. Doidge (2004) further finds that US cross-listing improves the protection afforded to minority shareholders and decreases private benefits. Bertrand et al. (2002) find evidence consistent with significant tunneling in Indian firms via nonoperating transactions. Ben-Amar and André (2005) and Bigelli and Mengoli (2004) find a nonmonotonic relationship between the participation of large shareholders and abnormal returns for bidder shareholders in Canada and Italy, respectively.

Drawing on the literature, this study proposes to re-examine the relationship between ownership structure and firm performance in Canadian firms with large shareholders in the ownership structure. As noted above, the Canadian market offers a particularly apt setting, since it features both high levels of ownership concentration and strong legal protections for investors. More specifically, this study aims to add to the literature by investigating whether the impact of large shareholders on firm performance depends on their identity and closeness to firm management. A key contribution of this study is the attempt to differentiate the monitoring role of large inside and outside shareholders. The rationale is that direct participation in the firm's management by shareholders may represent a higher degree of control at any given level of shareholdings than the control provided by outsiders (Cubbin and Leech, 1983). In line with the previous literature, large inside shareholder is defined as either an individual or family shareholder with significant ownership interest who is also an executive of the firm, or else another company whose owner or a member of the owner's family is also a firm executive. A large outside shareholder is defined as a person or company that does not participate in the management of the firm. This classification aims to distinguish between the indirect external monitoring of large outside shareholders and the direct monitoring, or decisionmaking, of large inside shareholders. Similar to the study by Maury and Pajuste (2004), I take the perspective that large inside shareholders may represent a controlling coalition with management. This reasoning leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1: The association between large shareholdings and firm performance is negative in firms with a majority of large inside shareholders in its ownership structure.

In addition, empirical studies such as La Porta et al. (2002), Claessens et al. (2002), and Cronqvist and Nilsson (2003) provide evidence that the negative effect of large shareholders is magnified when there is a substantial departure from the one-share, onevote rule. Maury and Pajuste (2004) suggest that concentrated voting power may allow for more centralized decision-making and better concealment of profit diversion. Following this reasoning, I propose the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 2: The negative association between the presence of a large controlling shareholder and firm performance is significantly greater in firms with a majority of large inside shareholders.

Finally, I investigate whether the identity of the owner affects the association between large shareholders and firm performance. Consistent with Claessens et al. (2002), the regulatory environment and fiduciary responsibilities of institutional/corporate shareholders render them closer monitors of management decision-making. It is equally possible that the marginal cost of private benefit extraction is higher for companies with a financial institution as a large shareholder. This argument leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 3: The association between large shareholdings and firm performance is affected by the identity of



⁹ The literature also identifies owner-managed and non-ownermanaged firms to differentiate between situations where large shareholders participate in management and where they do not.

the largest shareholder – individual or family, financial institution or industrial.

3. Methodology Sample and data collection

The empirical testing is based on a panel set of 159 Canadian non-financial public companies with large shareholders included in the Financial Post's *Survey of Industrials* listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE) over a three-year period (1997-1999) in the following economic sectors: primary, manufacturing (non-durables), manufacturing (durables), transportation and utilities, wholesalers and retailers, and consumer services. I collected data from two separate sources.

First, information on firm governance was taken from the SEDAR¹⁰ database, as disclosed in the firms' Management Proxy Circulars. Using corporate governance information for a given fiscal year, this database was designed to represent the corporate governance mechanisms present at the beginning and for the duration of that year. Second, to measure firm performance and control variables, financial information was obtained from the Compustat database. Nineteen companies were dropped from the target sample, either because the financial data in the Compustat database for the period under analysis was incomplete or else they were deemed outliers. After eliminating observations where no large shareholdings or governance data were involved, I retained 402 usable firm-year observations.

Firm performance

The dependent variable I examine is firm future performance, as measured by the firm's Q ratio. Firm's future performance (Qt+1), is measured at the end of the subsequent fiscal year for which the firm's governance information was obtained. The Q ratio measures firm performance in terms of company valuation, and is assumed to capture firm performance as a result of managerial decisions and governance structure quality, which tend to be reflected in market price and not in traditional accounting numbers.

The governance literature also maintains that the firm's Q ratio measures the intensity of the alignment between shareholder and manager interests. Similar to the studies by Agrawal and Knoeber (1996), Yermack (1996), and Barnhart and Rosenstein (1998), I calculated the firm's Q ratio as follows:¹¹

STD	=	Book value of short-term debt						
PFD	=	Preferred stock at liquidating value						
CV	=	Book value of convertible debt and						
convertible preferred stock								

ASSETS = Book value of total assets

Ownership structure

Ownership information and other corporate governance data for all the firms in the sample were collected directly from the firms' Management Proxy Circulars, as contained in the SEDAR database for each fiscal year included in this investigation. This database was designed so that the corporate governance information for a given fiscal year would represent the corporate governance mechanisms present at the beginning and for the duration of that year.

Large shareholdings (LSHt) is measured as the proportion of outstanding shares directly or indirectly controlled by a group of large shareholders in the firm's ownership structure. Canadian securities regulations require disclosure of significant shareholders, both individual and institutional, which beneficially own or exercise control at least a 10 percent of the firm's outstanding shares. Therefore, only the identities of large shareholders are disclosed in the firms' Management Proxy Circulars. Two further variables were created to distinguish whether the firm's ownership structure is dominated by large inside or outside shareholders.

As defined earlier, a large inside shareholder is an individual who is also an executive of the firm, or else a company whose owner or member of the owner's family is an executive of the firm. On the other hand, a large outside shareholder is defined as a person or company that does not participate in the management of the firm. For the group of firms, the variable LSH_inst captures the overall percentage of outstanding shares held by large inside shareholders, while the variable LSH_outt captures the overall percentage of outstanding shares held by large outside shareholders. These measures are consistent with much of the prior governance empirical research, such as Coles et al. (2001), Randøy and Goel (2003) and Maury and Pajuste (2004).

It is worth noting that many firms in this sample have multiple large shareholders. For instance, the maximum number of individual large shareholders disclosed by a single firm is four. However, I identified many instances where these multiple large shareholders had family and/or fiduciary links, and were therefore classified as a group of either large inside

¹⁰ The System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) is a Website that has been operated by The Canadian Securities Administration since 1997. It provides filings of publicly available documents for all Canadian public companies, in order to facilitate the electronic filing of securities information as required by the securities regulatory agencies in Canada.

¹¹ The Q ratio is the market value of the firm's assets divided by the replacement value of the firm's assets, and represents the firm's anticipated future earnings. Chung and Pruitt (1994) show that this simplified measure is strongly correlated with the more sophisticated measure of Tobin's Q, and has the added advantages of using information that is more readily available and preventing

unduly restricted sample sizes. However, this measure is also known to produce downward-biased measures, and is prone to rank incorrectly.

 $^{^{12}}$ If a firm has more than one share class listed, I summed the market values of the different share classes.

or outside shareholders. Along with inside/outside classification, I also identified in the sample firms with concentrated voting power in the hands of a single large shareholder.

The indicator variable CONTRt captures firms having a single shareholder with direct or indirect control of over fifty-one percent of the voting capital. The study by Klein et al. (2004) uses a similar cutoff to classify a single controlling shareholder in the ownership structure.

Other control variables

Similar to many governance studies (e.g., Coles et al., 2001; Cotter and Sylvester 2003), I controlled for other governance attributes. The proportion of outside, unrelated directors on the board (OUTt) generally measures the independence of the board and its efforts to monitor top management, particularly the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). In a concentrated ownership context such as Canada, boards also monitor large inside shareholders. It follows that an outside director is independent of and unrelated to management¹³ and is free of any interest and any other business or relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the director's ability to act with a view to the best interests of the company, other than interests and relationships arising from shareholding.¹⁴ The studies by Core et al. (1999), Coles et al, (2001), and Klein et al. (2004) adopt a similar proxy. DUALITY is an indicator variable that captures whether the CEO simultaneously occupies the position of Chairman of the Board. CEO ownership (CEOSHt) is measured by the ratio of the number of shares directly or indirectly controlled by the firm's CEO to the firm's total amount of outstanding shares in the same period. This variable is intended to measure the ownership of professional CEOs, and therefore excludes CEOs who are at the same time large inside shareholders. As such, CEO shareholdings greater than (or close to) 10 percent and CEOs with family links to a large shareholder are considered large inside shareholders (LSH_inst). Consistent with the study by Bushman et al. (1996), the relative importance of CEO performance-contingent compensation (CCOMPt) is measured by the ratio of cash bonus plus stock options granted to the total compensation earned by the CEO in the same period. The CEO's total compensation includes salary, cash bonuses, other compensations, and stock options. Stock options are valued at 25% of their exercise price at the time of the grant.¹⁵

I measured additional variables to control for other factors that have been shown to impact on firm performance. Firm SIZEt is measured by the logarithm of the firm's total assets for each year, and is included in the analysis to account for potential economies of scale and the monitoring complexity that larger firms require.¹⁶ In addition, larger firms have lower growth opportunities, implying a negative correlation between firm size and the measure of firm future performance. Similar to the studies by Agrawal and Knoeber (1996), and Randøy and Goel (2003), I control for firm use of debt financing. Debt financing (DEBTt) is measured by the ratio of the firm's book value of short- and long-term debt to total assets. The use of debt financing is in fact a governance mechanism,¹⁷ and a high level of debt financing is assumed to negatively affect the firm's growth and profitability. A dummy variable (CROSSt) was created to capture Canadian public firms with stock traded on the NYSE, AMEX, and/or NASDAQ. Recent studies, including Doidge (2004), suggest that firms that cross-list in the US also signal their quality and willingness to comply with a stricter set of governance measures. Industries vary widely in the degree of fixed assets they carry and in the degree to which they use debt, with corresponding differences in firm value and financial performance. Accordingly, I also control for industry effects by applying dummies to the one-digit industry groups extracted from the Compustat database.¹⁸

4. Results *Descriptive analysis*

Table 1, Panel A presents the summary statistics for the sample variables using the full sample (N=402), including means, medians, standard deviations, minimums, and maximums. Table 1, Panel B presents the variable means and standard deviations for the following sub-samples: firm-year observations for firms with a majority of large inside shareholders (LSH_inst, N=219) versus firms with a majority of large outside shareholders (LSH_outt, N=183). Column three in Table 1, Panel B presents the results of

¹⁸ Similar to Morck et al. (1988), several authors also include a measure for R&D and marketing expenses. Unfortunately, the allowable capitalization for R&D expenses in Canada makes it difficult to determine this variable. In addition, Canadian firms are not required to post their marketing costs separately in their financial statements. Yermack (1996) also includes measures for current and past performance. The absence of these variables reduces the predictive power of our regression model.



¹³ If any of the following applied to a director of the sampled firms, she/he was not classified as an outside, unrelated director: employee of the company (currently or within the last three years); executive of an affiliated company; director providing legal, auditing, or consulting services to the company; or director with family links to the firm's CEO or a significant shareholder.
¹⁴ Definition used by the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE – 1994),

¹⁴ Definition used by the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE – 1994), Corporate Governance Guidelines.

¹⁵ Murphy (1999) raises some issues related to the evaluation of stock options granted to executives (distinguishing between cost of

options to the firm and value to executives) and to the fact that no recognized valuation methodology has been developed to date. Lambert et al. (1993) state that evaluating options at 25% of their exercise price generates values similar to those obtained with more sophisticated evaluation models. This paper follows the stock option valuation method used by Core et al. (1999).

¹⁶ I also used the logarithm of the sales to measure size, and the results are identical to those presented in the subsequent section. Yermack (1996) also shows robust results with diverse size measures.

¹⁷ Further details on the level of debt financing as an internal governance mechanism can be found in Agrawal and Knoeber (1996).
¹⁸ Similar to Morck et al. (1988), several authors also include a

a test of mean differences between the two subsamples.

Insert Table 1, Panels A and B

The variable measuring firm's future performance (Qt+1) for the full sample of the firms has a skewed distribution with a mean (median) of 1,341 (0,844). For this variable, 25% of the firm-year observations have Qt+1 greater than 1,461, and 25% have Qt+1 lower than 0,606. As expected, most of the observations in the upper 95% percentile (Qt+1= > 5,092) represent firms with two-digit SIC 28 – Chemicals and allied products, classified in the nondurable manufacturing economic sector. Average Qt+1 are 1,235 and 1.468 for firms with a majority of large inside shareholders and large outside shareholders, respectively (Table 1b).

The proportion of shares owned by large shareholders (LSHt - Table 1, Panel A) is normally distributed with a mean (median) of approximately 50.3% (51.7%). Overall ownership by large shareholders and large inside shareholdings is greater in this Canadian sample of public companies than in US studies (e.g., Bushee, 1999). Large inside shareholder ownership is represented by the LSH_inst variable, with an overall mean (median) of 24% (12%). In the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large inside shareholders (N = 219), approximately 122 firms have as the main large shareholder either an individual who is also the CEO and/or board chairman, or else a company related to the CEO and/or board chairman. The variable LSH_outt measures overall ownership by large outside shareholders, with a mean (median) of 26.4% (15.4%). In the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders (N=183), the largest shareholder is either a financial institution (N = 96) or an industrial firm (N= 87). Overall, the variables LSHt, LSH inst and LSH outt document that this sample of Canadian firms has a greater proportion of outstanding shares held by large shareholders than the average US public firm. As mentioned above, this situation offers a unique setting to investigate whether the identity and closeness to management of large shareholders have different performance effects.

The OUTt variable measures the proportion of outside directors on the board. In the full sample (Table 1, Panel A), this variable is normally distributed with a mean (median) of 64.8% (66.7%). In the US, Barnhart and Rosenstein (1998) and Core et al. (1999) obtained results of 60.1% and 64% outside directors, respectively. Magnan et al. (1999) found an average of 66.2% outsiders in a sample comprising 139 of the 150 largest firms listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Table 1, Panel B documents that the average proportion of outside directors is significantly greater (71.1%) in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders than that obtained in the sub-sample with a majority of large inside shareholders (59.5%) (t-test = 6.71). CEO is also the board chair, DUALITYt, in 42.0%

of the firm-year observations. CEO duality is significantly higher (56.2%) in the subgroup of firms with a majority of large inside shareholders than in the subgroup of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders (25.1%) (t-test = 6.28).

As discussed earlier, CEO shareholdings greater than 10 percent and/or CEO shareholdings with family links to a large shareholder are considered large inside shareholdings (LSH_inst). CEO ownership (CEOSHt) in the full sample is skewed with a mean (median) of approximately 0.8% (0%). However, CEOSHt as a measure of professional managerial ownership is meaningful in the sub-sample of companies with a majority of large outside shareholders, with a mean (median) of 1.1% (Table 1, Panel B). This level of managerial ownership is comparable to those found in the studies by Barnhart and Rosenstein (1998) and Core et al. (1999), which found slightly higher levels in the US, with managerial ownership at mean (median) of 2.2% (0%) and 1.5% (0.0%), respectively.

The CCOMPt variable captures the relative importance of CEO performance-contingent compensation. This variable is normally distributed with a mean (median) value of 36.4% (36.5%). Analysis of the percentiles for this variable indicates that almost 17% of our sample observations have values equal (or close) to 0. This means that CEO compensation packages do not include, or have an insignificant proportion of, performance-contingent components for approximately 20% of the sample. Although not reported, note that the average cash bonus in this sample is 28%, while the value of stock options is on average 19% of the CEO's total compensation for the same period.¹⁹ Table 1, Panel B shows no significant difference (t-test = 0.792) in the variable CCOMPt between the two large shareholder sub-samples. The CROSSt variable indicates that 26.6% of firm-year observations, or 35 firms, are cross-listed in the US (20 in the large outside shareholder group and 15 in the large inside shareholder group). The SIZEt variable for the full sample is normally distributed with a mean (median) of 12.47 (12.42). Since the measure of firm performance (Qt+1) is also a function of the firm's total assets, SIZEt is expected to be negatively associated with the Qt+1 ratio. The variable DEBTt is also normally distributed, with a mean (median) of 43.8% (44.9%). As shown in Table 1, Panel B, there are no significant differences in SIZEt among the subgroups, although the large inside shareholder group is more highly indebted DEBTt) than the large outside shareholder group.

Insert Table 2, Panels A and B here

Table 2 compares sub-groups within firms with a majority of large inside (Panel A) and outside (Pa-

¹⁹ This result is similar to that of Magnan et al. (1999), which documents CEO average annual bonus at 31% and stock options at 25% of total compensation during 1994-1996 for the 100 largest Canadian firms.

nel B) shareholder sub-samples. Panel A contrasts large inside shareholdings in the absence of another large outside shareholder (136 of 219, or 62.1% of large inside shareholder observations, and 33.8% of the full sample) with large inside shareholdings in the presence of a large outside shareholder in the ownership structure (83 of 219, or 37.9% of large inside shareholder observations, and 20.6% of the full sample). It should also be noted that the majority of large inside shareholder firms are owned by individuals or families. The only significant difference between these two groups beyond the presence of a large outside shareholder is sole control of the firm by a large family shareholder in 40.4% percent of cases, compared to 22.9% percent when familyowned firms have a large outside shareholder.

Table 2, Panel B breaks down the majority of large outside shareholder sub-sample (183 observations) based on the identity of the largest outside shareholder: financial (96 of 183, or 52.6% of large outside shareholders, and 23.9% of the full sample) versus industrial (87 of 183, or 47.5% of large outside shareholders, and 21.6% of the full sample). These two sub-groups differ significantly. Firms with an industrial largest shareholder outperform the financial firms. Firms with an industrial largest shareholder are also larger and have fewer outsiders on the board, greater CEO contingent compensation, and less CEO duality. Table 3 presents the mean values of the Qt+1 ratio by different levels of large shareholdings for the full sample and for the sub-samples of firms with a majority of large inside and outside shareholders. Table 3 shows a decreasing and monotonic association between Qt+1 and the different levels of large shareholdings. Empirical evidence based on US samples documents a positive performance effect of large shareholders, suggesting that the presence of large shareholders increases the monitoring of managerial decision-making. In the US, however, large shareholder ownership, along with the presence of families, founders, and management among these large shareholders, is much lower than in Canadian public firms (Bushee, 1999). A decreasing and monotonic association between Qt+1 and large shareholding is also observed in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders, while a curvilinear association is observed in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large inside shareholders. In this last sub-sample, firm performance appears to increase when total large inside shareholdings reach fifty percent, or ownership control level.

Insert Table 3 here

Table 4, Panel A presents the Pearson correlation coefficients among the main variables investigated for the full sample. The proportion of ownership by large shareholders, LSHt, is negatively correlated with the measure of firm's future performance Qt+1. Surprisingly, the correlation between firm's future performance and large shareholdings is not statistically significant, for either large insider or large outsider shareholdings. As expected, Qt+1 is positively correlated with the proportion of outsiders on the board (OUTt), cross-traded firms (CROSSt), and the relative importance of CEO performance-contingent compensation (CCOMPt). Also as expected, firm future performance is negatively correlated with firm SIZEt and DEBTt. Table 4, Panel A documents a negative correlation between large inside shareholdings (LSH_inst) and the proportion of outside directors on the board (OUTt). However, this correlation is positive for large outside shareholdings (LSH_outt).

As expected, Table 4, Panel A documents a negative correlation of proportion of outside directors (OUTt) to duality, presence of a controlling shareholder, and CEO ownership. Finally, the dummy variable CROSSt is positively correlated with the relative importance of CEO performance-contingent compensation and firm size, and negatively correlated with firm's level of debt financing. Overall, these univariate results are consistent with empirical evidence in the prior governance literature (e.g., Agrawal and Knoeber, 1996; Barnhart and Rosenstein, 1998). Table 4, Panels B and C present the Pearson correlations for sample variables within the two subsamples of large shareholders. Surprisingly, the correlation between large shareholdings and firm future performance is not significant among the sub-sample of firms with a majority of inside large shareholders. Contrary to expectation, large shareholdings are negatively correlated with firm performance in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders. The positive correlation between the proportion of outside directors (OUTt) and firm performance (Qt+1) remains significant only for the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders (LSH outt). As expected, CEO ownership is positively correlated with firm performance and negatively correlated with large shareholdings in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders (Table 4, Panel C). These results seem to support my argument that the performance effect of large shareholders may depend on their identity and closeness to management.

Insert Table 4, Panels A and B here

Regression analysis

Similar to numerous governance studies (e.g., Claessens et al., 2002; Maury and Pajuste, 2004; Klein et al.; 2004), I estimated the following multivariate regression model:

 $Qit+1 = \alpha + \beta ILSH_insit + \beta 2LSH_outit + \beta 3CEOSHit + \beta 4CONTRit + \beta 5OUTit + \beta 6DUALITYit + \beta 7CCOMPit + \beta 8CROSSit + \beta 9DEBTit + \beta 10SIZEit + Year dummies (Y97, Y98)²⁰ + Industry dummies (IND1 to IND4)²¹ + <math>\varepsilon$

²⁰ As discussed previously, the data used contains firm governance information for three consecutive fiscal years (1997, 1998, and 1999). Two dummy variables, with values of 1 or 0, were created to determine whether governance information relates to fiscal years 1997 and 1998.



where the subscript i = 1, ...159 identifies individual firms, t = 1997, 1998 and 1999 denotes time periods, and Qit+1 =firm i's Q ratio in year t+1

LSH_insit = percentage of outstanding shares held by firm i's large inside shareholders in year t

LSH_outit = percentage of outstanding shares held by firm i's large outside shareholders in year t

CEOSHit = firm i's level of CEO ownership in year t

CONTRit = dummy equals 1 if firm i has a controlling shareholder in year t

OUTt = firm i's percentage of independent board directors in year t

DUALITYit = dummy equals 1 if firm i's CEO and Chairman are the same person in year t

CCOMPit = firm i's relative importance of CEO performance-contingent compensation (total bonus and options/total compensation) in year t

 $\label{eq:cross-traded} CROSSit = dummy \ equals \ 1 \ if \ firm \ i's \ shares \ are \ cross-traded \ in \ year \ t$

DEBTit = firm i's indebtedness in year t

SIZEit = firm i's log of total assets in year t

In order to test the proposed hypotheses, I estimated a panel regression model²² using the General Least Square (GLS) method, with appropriate control for random effects. In a cross-sectional timeseries sample such as this study data set, the Ordinary Least Square (OLS) assumption that all observations are independent can lead to misspecification due to serial correlation of the error terms for observations from the same firm (Baltagi, 2001). The pooled GLS technique, however, allows for cross-sectional heteroscedasticity and serial correlation, while the random-effects estimator is the weighted average effect of omitted variables that may be constant over the sampled firms. Although not reported here, I also estimated the year-by-year regression model using OLS and the pooled sample using clustered OLS. Overall, the results are very similar to the GLS estimation with random effects. Finally, I performed a Hausman test to evaluate whether fixed effects estimators would be more efficient than random effects estimators. The result of the Hausman test ($\chi^2 = 5.42$) leads to the conclusion that the GLS random estimation is as efficient as a fixed effects estimation.

Insert Table 5 here

104

Table 5 presents the GLS results for the regression model, which examines the main effects of large shareholdings along with other governance attributes on firm performance. In Equation (1), I examine the associations using the full sample, and do not distinguish whether the firm's large shareholdings are owned by inside or outside shareholders. In Equations (2), (3) and (4), I examine the proposed associations by looking at firms with a majority of inside large shareholders while distinguishing between inside shareholding with and without the presence of an outside large shareholder in the ownership structure. In equations (5), (6) and (7), I examine the proposed associations by looking at firms with a majority of large outside shareholders while distinguishing between financial and industrial largest shareholder. In all these analyses, the model controls for other internal mechanisms in the firm's governance structure, and proves to have significant predictive power, with adjusted r-squares ranging from 0.15 to 0.46. This compares very favorably with other governance studies, which generally explain from 5% to 10% of the performance variance.

The estimated coefficients reported in Table 5 Equation (1) document that ownership concentration, as measured by overall ownership of large shareholders, including both inside and outside shareholdings, is negatively associated with firm performance.²³ This suggests that large shareholdings tend to be harmful to firm performance in this sample of Canadian publicly-traded firms. This negative association contrasts with evidence found using a US sample (e.g. Shleifer and Vishny, 1997), and may be explained by higher levels of large shareholdings and the presence of multiple large shareholders in the ownership structures in this Canadian sample. This result is consistent, however, with the agency cost of private ownership proposed by Schulze et al. (2001), which suggests that large shareholdings compromise the efficiency of market forces as external governance mechanisms and negatively impact firm performance. In equations (2) and (5) I segment the sample and estimate the model for firms with a majority of large inside and outside shareholders, respectively. In Equation (2), the proportion of ownership by large shareholders is not significant for either large inside (LSH_ins_t) or outside (LSH_out_t) shareholder categories. Similarly, in Equation (5), the proportion of ownership by large outside shareholders is not significantly associated with firm performance. However, support for hypothesis (1) is found when the subsample of firms with a majority of large inside shareholders is segmented into two sub-groups: with and without large outside shareholders - Equations (3) and (4), respectively.

²¹ According to the firms' primary two-digit SIC codes, and following Standard & Poor's Economic Sector classification, the firms included in my final sample were reclassified into six separate economic sectors: (1) Primary, (2) Manufacturing (non-durable), (3) Manufacturing (durable), (4) Transportation and utilities, (5) Wholesales and retailers, and (6) Consumer service. A dummy variable, with values of 1 and 0, was created for each of the first five economic sectors mentioned above.

²² See, Baltagi (2001) for more details on population models that explicitly contain time- and individual-constant unobserved effects. Before performing the regression analyses, I conducted certain diagnostic tests to improve model specification and better interpret further OLS or GSLS estimates. I also performed the Breusch-Pagan (B-P-G) and Goldfeld-Quandttest tests for the null hypothesis of equal error variance in the sample (Homoscedasticity) and the Chow test for structural change.

 $^{^{23}}$ The particular interest of this study is the distinction between large inside and outside shareholders, but to provide a further contrast to the previous literature, I also present the results (Equation 1) with a variable measuring the firms' total large shareholdings.

Interestingly, in Equation (3), the coefficient of large inside shareholdings is negative and significant, while in Equation (4), neither of the large shareholdings coefficients (LSH_inst and LSH_outt) is significantly associated to firm performance. More precisely, Equation (3) in Table 5 indicates that when firms are exclusively controlled by large inside shareholders, a 1% increase in the ownership by insiders leads to an average 2% decrease in firm performance, as measured by firm's Q ratio. Contrastingly, Equation (4) suggests that large inside shareholdings do not have the same performance impact when in the presence of an outside shareholder with a significant interest in the firm. Although these results do not provide direct support for hypothesis (1), the contrast between Equations (2), (3), and (4) corroborates this study's argument that the impact of large shareholdings on firm performance varies by closeness to firm management. The results suggests that ownership concentrated in the hands of large inside shareholders tends to be perceived by the market as entrenched shareholding, and therefore better able to extract value to the detriment of the firm's value to minority shareholders. This is consistent with the evidence found in the studies by Morck et al. (1988) and Claessens et al. (2002). Further, the results contribute to the evidence provided by the study by Maury and Pajuste (2004) on the coalition and performance impact of large family and institutional shareholders. In sum, I interpret these results as evidence that the controlling coalition and negative performance effect of large inside shareholders is mitigated when in the presence of monitoring by outside large shareholders.

In contrast to hypothesis (2), the results in Table 5 suggest that voting control in the hands of a single shareholder is negatively associated to firm performance only in firms with a majority of large outside shareholders in this Canadian sample. More precisely, the coefficient estimated for the variable measuring voting concentration (CONTROL_{it}) in Equations (2), (3), and (4) is not significantly associated to firm performance. However, this coefficient is negative and statistically significant at 90% levels in Equations (5) and (7). Although not reported here, I also estimated equations (2) and (5), making a distinction between the presence of inside and outside controlling large shareholders, with similar results. As such, I interpret the null effect of controlling shareholders on firm performance among firms with a majority of large inside shareholders as evidence that entrenchment and/or voting power concentration is already captured by the variables measuring large inside shareholdings. This is apparently the case for the sub-sample of large inside shareholders (Equation 2), since firms with large individual and family shareholdings very often have a single shareholder with direct or indirect voting control. Moreover, the existence of non-voting or subordinate voting shares is greater in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large inside shareholders than in the sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders. As such, contrasting to hypothesis 2, the lack of association between the variables $CONTROL_{it}$ and Q_{t+1} seems to indicate that the penalty applied to the voting control of large inside shareholders is marginal when compared to firms with a majority of large outside shareholders. Apparently, the market does not discriminate between voting control and ownership concentration in owner-managed firms.

Given that the presence of multiple large shareholders is common in the ownership structure of this Canadian sample, the lack of support for hypothesis 2 may also be interpreted as evidence that voting concentration in the hands of a single shareholder among multiple large inside shareholders may not have the same negative performance impact as it does in a less concentrated ownership structure, such as in the US and the UK. On the other hand, as documented in Table 5, Equation 5, firms with a majority of large outside shareholders are apparently penalized for having a single controlling shareholder in the ownership structure. Nevertheless, the contrast between Equations (6) and (7) suggests that this result is driven by firms with an industrial shareholder as largest shareholder. This difference may be explained by the view that the fiduciary responsibilities of financial institutions make them closer monitors, which may in turn reduce the negative performance impact of voting control.

Along this line of reasoning, hypothesis 3 investigates whether the identity of the largest shareholder affects the association between ownership concentration and firm performance. In order to investigate this hypothesis, I segmented the subsample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders into two complementary sub-groups: firms with a financial institution and firms with an industrial as the largest shareholder in the ownership structure - Equations (6) and (7) respectively. These two categories can be contrasted with Equation (3), which was estimated with firms having individuals and families as the largest shareholder. As discussed earlier, the coefficient of large shareholdings in Equation (3) is negative and statistically significant at 95% level, while these coefficients are not statistically significant (or different) in Equations (6) and (7). Thus, the results document a performance difference between the categories of individual/family and institutional largest shareholder, but no significant difference between the two categories of institutional shareholders, financial and industrial. Although these results may be driven by the limited number of observations in each largest outside shareholder category, the results are similar to the comparison between the performance impact of large inside and outside shareholders. As such, I interpret the results in Equations (3), (6), and (7) as providing no support for hypothesis 3. Apparently, the identity of large shareholders has no effect on the performance impact of either large inside or outside shareholders.



A further contrast among the equations reported in Table 5 provides some interesting results regarding the performance impact of other governance attributes. CEO ownership, for example, has a positive performance impact within the industrial largest shareholder category, while this effect seems to be negative within firms with a financial institution as largest shareholder, and it is not statistically significant within firms with an individual or family as largest shareholder. The relative importance of CEO's performance-contingent compensation and the firm's stock being traded on another stock exchange yield a significant positive association with our measure of firm performance, but only for firms with a majority of large inside shareholders. This mechanism probably plays a counterbalancing effect in closely held firms. A practical implication of this result is that large inside shareholders hoping to reduce agency costs should strengthen alternative governance mechanisms such as those provided by performance-contingent compensation.

Surprisingly, the conventional agency wisdom on the positive performance effect of outside directors is not supported by the results reported in Table 5. This may be interpreted as support for the argument that independent directors may be ineffective monitors when serving on boards dominated by large shareholders. First, despite their impartial status and ability to offer advice on certain decisions, independent directors may have little influence on decisions involving family members or other large inside shareholder matters. Second, large inside shareholders tend to appoint to their boards outside directors who are close friends and/or happen to have a fiduciary relationship with the firm, which may compromise the directors' independence and monitoring efforts.²⁴ Finally, firm's level of debt financing is negatively associated with performance only in firms with a majority of large outside shareholders, confirming the expected greater use of debt financing by this sub-group. As expected, firm's size is, in general, negatively associated with the measure of firm per-formance.²⁵

5. Discussion and conclusions

This study provides evidence of the associations between ownership concentration and firm performance, while distinguishing between the presence of large inside and outside shareholders in the firm's ownership structure. I focused on Canadian public firms with large shareholders because the presence of multiple large shareholders as well as family owners is greater in Canada than in countries with similar levels of legal protection for investors, such as the US and the UK. The empirical results provide several contributions to the literature of ownership concentration in publicly-traded firms. The results for the performance effect of ownership concentration contradict the prior governance literature, which suggests that the presence of large shareholders enhances firm performance by closely monitoring management actions and influencing management decisions to the benefit of all shareholders. The evidence documented in this study suggests the contrary. In this sample of closely held Canadian public firms, large inside shareholdings tend to be negatively associated to firm performance, while no association is found in firms with a majority of large outside shareholdings in their ownership structure. Consistent with the entrenchment perspective, I interpret the results as evidence that firm performance of closely held firms tends to be negatively affected when the presence of large inside shareholders, supported by officers and directors appointed by the dominant shareholder, threatens to capture private benefits to the detriment of residual owners. In addition, given the greater proportion of family owners among the large inside and outside shareholders in this Canadian sample of public firms, the results support the argument that conflicts of interest, combined with the effects of external market failures, threaten market performance in this type of privately held firm. The evidence seems to support the argument that owner management in closely held firms is not the governance panacea that agency theory assumes it to be (Schulze et al., 2001).

As to the distinction between large inside and outside shareholders, this study also investigates whether concentrated voting power in the hands of a single shareholder is associated to firm performance, and whether the identity of the owner affects this association. Concentrated voting power is negatively associated to firm performance only in firms with a majority of large outside shareholders. This could be because, relative to firms without a single controlling shareholder, voting rights by outsiders may represent a coalition between management and shareholders designed to efficiently divert profit to themselves. The results regarding the identity of the owners are not conclusive, but apparently a different performance impact exists between family and institutional large shareholders. Although I believe this study represents an important first step in the examination of the association between ownership concentration and firm performance, while distinguishing between inside and outside large shareholdings, it is important to point out the limitations inherent in this empirical investigation. I assume that large shareholders not directly participating in the firm's management are outsiders, and therefore independent monitors of management decision-making. Thus, a caveat should be noted, since an outside shareholder may have a certain amount of influence in the management through the appointment of managers and participation on the board of directors. Also, given the use of non-voting shares and the presence of multiple large

106



²⁴ See for example the studies by Zeckhauser and Pound (1990) and Barnhart and Rosenstein (1998).

²⁵ For instance, sensitivity analysis shows that debt financing is negatively associated to firm performance only within the subgroup of firms with diffuse ownership and a majority of large outside shareholders.

shareholders in the ownership structure of this Canadian sample, further research might consider refining the classification of large inside and outside shareholders to take into account the different voting rights and fiduciary duties of large shareholders in the ownership structure. Finally, a number of important empirical issues undoubtedly remain to be investigated regarding the potential cost of large shareholders. One interesting extension of this study would be to examine the sensitivity of the firm's performance-contingent payouts to firm performance, while distinguishing between inside and outside control. This may provide some answers to the question of whether entrenched insiders use performance compensation packages to extract nonjustified pecuniary benefits.

References

- Agrawal, A. and Knoeber, C.R. (1996), "Firm Performance and Mechanisms to Control Agency Problems between Managers and Shareholders," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, September, Vol.31, Iss. 3, p. 377-397.
- Agrawal, A. and Mandelker, G. N. (1990), "Large Shareholders and the Monitoring of Managers: the Case of Antitakeover Charter Amendments," *Journal* of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, Vol. 25, 2.
- Amoako-Adu, B. and Smith, B. F. (2001), "Dual class firms: Capitalization, ownership structure and recapitalization back into single class," *Journal of Banking* & *Finance*, June, Vol. 25, Iss. 6, p. 1083-1114.
- 4. Baltagi, Badi H. (2001), "Econometric analysis of panel data," 2nd edition, Chichester, J. Wiley.
- Barca, F. and Becht, M. (2001), "The control of corporate Europe." Oxford University Press.
- Barnhart S. and Rosenstein S. (1998), "Board Composition, Managerial Ownership, and Firm Performance: An Empirical Analysis," *The Financial Review*, Vol. 33, p. 1-16.
- Ben-Amar W. and André P. (2005), "Separation of Ownership from Control and Acquiring Firm Performance: The Case of Family Ownership in Canada," *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting.*
- 8. Berle, A. and Means, G., (1932), "The Modern Corporation and Private Property". Macmillan, N. Y.
- Bertrand, M., Mehta, P. and Mullainathan, S. (2002), "Ferreting out tunneling: An application to Indian business groups," *The Quarterly journal of Economics*, February, Vol. 117, Iss. 1.
- Bigelli, M and Mengoli, S. (2004), "Sub-Optimal Acquisition Decisions under a Majority Shareholder System," *Journal of Management and Governance*, Vol. 8, Iss. 4, p. 373.
- Bushee, B. (1999), "Do Institutional Investors Prefer Near-Term Earnings over Long-Run Value?" Article presented at the 14th Contemporary Accounting Research Conference, Vancouver, October, 37p.
- Bushman R.M., Indjejikian, R.J. and Smith A. (1996), "CEO Remuneration: The Role of individual Performance Evaluation," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 21, p. 161-193.
- Chung K.H., Pruitt S.W. (1994), "A simple approximation of Tobin's Q," *Financial Management*, V. 25.
- 14. Claessens, S. and Djankov, S., Fan, J.P.H., and Lang, L.H.P. (2002), "Disentangling the Incentive and

Entrenchment Effects of Large Shareholdings," *The Journal of Finance*, Vol. LVII, n.6, p.2741-2771.

- Coles J.W., McWilliams V.B. and Sen N. (2001), "An examination of the relationship of governance mechanisms to performance," *Journal of Management*, vol. 27, p. 23-50.
- Core J.E., Holthausen R.W. and Larcker D. (1999), "Corporate governance, chief executive officer remuneration, and firm performance," *Journal of Financial Economics*, March, Vol. 51, no 3, p. 371-406.
- Cotter J., Sylvester M. (2003), "Board and Monitoring Committee Independence," *Abacus* vol. 39.
- Craighead, J. A.; Magnan, M. L., and Thorne, L. (2004), *The impact of mandated Disclosure on performance-Based CEO Compensation*, Contemporary Accounting Research, Vol.21 N.2, pp.369-398.
- Cronqvist, H. and Nilsson, M. (2003), "Agency Costs of Controlling Minority Shareholders," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, December, Vol. 38, Iss. 4, p. 695.
- Cubbin, J. and Leech, D. (1983), "The Effect of Shareholding Dispersion on the Degree of Control in British Companies: Theory and Measurement," *The Economic Journal*, June, Vol. 93, Iss. 370, p.351-370.
- Daniels, R., Halpern, P. (1996), "Too close for comfort: The role of the closely held public corporation in the Canadian economy and the implications for public policy," *Canadian Business Law Journal*, Vol. 26.
- 22. Demsetz H. (1983), "The structure of ownership and the theory of the firm," *Journal of Law and Economics*, Vol. 26.
- 23. Demsetz, H. and Lehn, K. (1985), "The structure of corporate ownership: Causes and Consequences," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 93, no 6.
- 24. Doidge, C. 2004. "U.S. Cross-Listings and the Private Benefits of Control: Evidence from Dual Class Firms," *Journal of Financial Economics* Vol. 72.
- Dyck, A. and Zingales, L. (2004), "Private Benefits of Control: An international Comparison," *The Journal* of Finance, April, Vol. 59, Iss. 2, p. 537-600.
- Faccio, M. and Lang, L. H. P. (2002), "The ultimate ownership of Western European corporations," *Jour*nal of Financial Economics, September, Vol. 65, 3.
- Fama, E. F. and Jensen, M. C. (1985), "Organizational Forms and Investment Decisions," *Journal of Fi*nancial Economics, March, Vol. 14, Iss. 1.
- Hellwig, M. (2000), "On the economics and politics of corporate finance and corporate control," in Xavier Vives, ed., *Corporate Governance*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Jensen, M. and Meckling, W. (1976), "Theory of the firm: Managerial Behaviour, Agency Costs and Ownership structure," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 3, p. 305-360.
- Johnson, S. La Porta. R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., and Shleifer, A. (2000), "Tunneling," *The American Economic Review*, May, Vol. 90, Iss. 2, p.22-28.
- 31. Klein, P., Shapiro, D. and Young, J. (2004), "Corporate governance, family ownership and firm value: the Canadian evidence," Simon Fraser University.
- La Porta, R., Lakonishok, J., Shleifer, A., and Vishny, R. W. (1997), "Good news for value stocks: further evidence on market efficiency," *The Journal of Finance*, June, Vol. 52, Iss. 2, p. 859-874.
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., and Vishny, R. W. (1998), "Law and Finance," *The Journal of political Economy*, December, Vol. 106, Iss. 6.



- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., and Shleifer, A. (1999), "Corporate ownership around the world," *Journal of Finance*, Vol.54, n.2, p.471-517.
- La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., and Vishny, R. W. (2002), "Investor protection and corporate valuation," *The Journal of Finance*, June, Vol. 57, Iss. 3, p. 1147-1170.
- Lambert, R.A., Larcker, D.F. and Weigelt, K. (1993), "The structure of organizational incentives," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, September, Vol. 38, 3.
- Lehmann, E. and Weigand, J. (2000), "Does the governed corporation perform better? Governance structures and corporate Performance in Germany," *European Finance Review*, Vol.4, p. 157-195.
- McConnel, J. and Servaes. H. (1990), "Additional evidence on equity ownership and corporate value," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol., 27, p.595-612.
- Magnan M., St-Onge S. and Calloc'h Y. (1999), "The impact of directors' power on the use of performancecontingent remuneration for CEOs," document de travail – HEC Montreal.
- 40. Maury, B. and Pajuste, A. (2004), "Multiple large shareholders and firm value," *Journal of Banking & Finance*, forthcoming.
- Morck R., Shleifer A. and Vishny R.W. (1988), "Management Ownership and Market Valuation: An Empirical Analysis," *Journal of Financial Economics*, January/March, Vol. 20, no 1-2, p. 293
- 42. Morck, R., Yeung, B., and Yu, W. (2000), "The information content of stock markets: Why do emerging markets have synchronous stock price movements?," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Oct/Nov, Vol. 58, Iss. 1 and 2, p. 215.
- 43. Morck, R. and Yeung, B. (2003), "Agency problems in large family business groups," *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, Summer, Vol. 27, Iss. 4, p. 367.
- 44. Murphy K. J. (1999), "Executive compensation," in Ashenfeleter O. and Card D., *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Vol. 3, North Holland.
- 45. Nenova, T. (2003), "The value of corporate voting rights and control: A cross-country analysis," *Journal of Financial Economics*, June, Vol. 68, Iss. 3, p. 325.
- Pagano, M. and Röell, A. (1998), "The choice of stock ownership structure: Agency costs, monitoring, and the decision to go public," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 113, Iss. 1, p.187-225.
- Pound, J. (1995), "The promise of the governed corporation," *Harvard Business Review*, March-April, Vol. 73, Iss. 2.

- Randøy, T. and Goel, S. (2003), "Ownership structure, founder leadership, and performance in Norwegian SMEs: implications for financing entrepreneurial opportunities," *Journal of Business Venturing*, Vol. 18, Iss. 5, p. 619-637.
- Schulze, W. S., Lubatkin, M. H., Dino, R. N. and Buchholtz, A. K. (2001), "Agency relationship in family firms: Theory and evidence," *Organization Science*, Vol. 12, Iss. 2, p. 99-116.
- Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. (1986), "Large shareholders and corporate control," *Journal of Political Economics*, Vol. 94, Iss. 3, p.461-488.
- Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. (1997), "A survey of corporate governance," *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, Iss. 2, p.737-782.
- Sudarsanam, S. (1996), "Large shareholders, takeovers and target valuation," *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, March, Vol. 23, Iss. 2, p. 295-314.
- 53. TSE Toronto Stock Exchange Committee on Corporate Governance in Canada (1994), "Where were the Directors?" (The Dey Report), Toronto, Canada.
- Villalonga. B. (2004), "Intangible resources, Tobin's q, and sustainability of performance differences," *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, Vol.54, Iss. 2., p. 205-230.
- 55. Yermack D. (1996), "Higher market valuation of companies with a smaller board of directors," *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 40, no 2, p. 185-212.
- Zeckhauser R.J. and Pound J. (1990), "Are Large Shareholders Effective Monitors? An Investigation of Share Ownership and Corporate Performance," in Hubbard R. G., Asymmetric Information, Corporate Finance, and Investment, Chicago, IL: Univ. Of Chicago Press, p. 149-180.
- Zhang, G. (1998), "Ownership concentration, risk aversion and the effect of financial structure on investment decisions," *European Economic Review*, Vol. 42, Iss. 9, p. 1751.
- Zingales, L. (1995), "What determines the value of corporate votes?," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Nov., Vol. 110, Iss. 4; p. 1047-1073.
- Zingales, L. (1995a), "Insider ownership and the decision of go public," *The Review of Economic Studies*, Jul., Vol. 62, Iss. 212; p. 425.

VIRTUS

Appendices

 Table 1 Panel A Descriptive Statistics for a sample of Canadian firms with Large Shareholders from 1997-1999

			1///			
Variables	N	Mean	Median	Std.	Minimum	Maximum
				Deviation		
Q t+1	402	1.341	0.844	1.394	0.033	8.588
LSH _t	402	0.503	0.517	0.247	0.090	0.988
LSH_out t	402	0.264	0.154	0.283	0.097	0.970
LSH_ins _t	402	0.240	0.121	0.278	0.097	0.937
OUTt	402	0.648	0.667	0.181	0.200	1.000
DUALITY _t	402	0.420	0.000	0.494	0.000	1.000
CONTR	402	0.343	0.000	0.475	0.000	1.000
CEOSH t	402	0.008	0.000	0.018	0.000	0.089
CROSS	402	0.266	0.000	0.443	0.000	1.000
CCOMP _t	402	0.364	0.365	0.258	0.000	0.954
SIZE t	402	12.470	12.425	1.699	7.012	17.301
DEBTt	402	0.438	0.449	0.180	0.013	0.799

Panel B. Means and mean difference between the sub-samples of Canadian firms with a majority of large inside shareholders and a majority of large outside shareholders

-									
	Su	b-sample o	f firms	S	ub-sample o	of firms	Mean difference between		
with a majority of					vith a majoı	rity of	firms with a majority of		
		large INS	IDE		large OUTS	SIDE	large INSIDE and OUTSIDE		
	shareholders				sharehold	lers	shareholders		
Variables	N Means Std-Deviation			N Means Std-Deviation			t- statistic	p- value	
Q _{it+1}	219	1.235	1.122	183	1.468	1.657	1.676	0.094	
LSH _t	219	0.524	0.229	183	0.477	0.264	1.907	0.057	
LSH_out t	219	0.087	0.146	183	0.475	0.261	18.804	0.000	
LSH_ins t	219	0.440	0.231	183	-	-	-	-	
OUT _{it}	219	0.595	0.178	183	0.711	0.164	6.710	0.000	
CEOSH _{it}	-	-	-	183	0.011	0.021	-	-	
CCOMP _{it}	219	0.355	0.265	183	0.375	0.250	0.792	0.428	
DEBT _{it}	219	0.474	0.183	183	0.395	0.166	-4.472	0.000	
SIZE _{it}	219	12.471	1.706	183	12.468	1.694	-0.016	0.987	
							z- statistic	p- value	
DUALITY _{it}	219	0.562	0.497	183	0.251	0.435	-6.276	0.000	
CONTR _{it}	219	0.338	0.474	183	0.350	0.478	0.249	0.804	
CROSS _{it}	219	0.242	0.429	183	0.295	0.457	1.199	0.230	

Qit+1 = firm i's Q ratio in year t+1; LSHit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_outit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large of outstanding shares held by large inside shareholders of firm i in year t; OUTt = firm i's percentage of independent directors on the board in year t; DUALITYit = dummy equals 1 if firm i's CEO and Chairman are the same person in year t; CONTRt = dummy equals 1 if firm i has a controlling shareholder in year t; CEOSHt = firm i's level of CEO ownership in year t; CROSSt = dummy equals 1 if firm i's share is cross-traded in year t; CCOMPt = firm i's relative importance of CEO's performance-contingent compensation in year t; SIZEt = firm i's log of total assets in year t; DEBTt = firm i's indebtedness in year t.

VIRTUS

Table 2.

Panel A. Canadian firms with a majority of large inside shareholders: Sample means and tests of difference between the sub-group of firms having only large inside shareholders and the sub-group of firms combining large inside and outside shareholders

Variables	Fir la sł	ms with on arge inside areholders	ly s	large i s	Firms with nside and o hareholders	Mean difference between the two sub-groups		
	N	Means	Std-Deviation	N	Means	Std-Deviation	t- statistic	p- value
Q _{t+1}	136	1.261	1.134	83	1.192	1.107	-0.441	0.659
LSH _t	136	0.504	0.227	83	0.557	0.231	1.659	0.098
LSH_out t	136	-	-	83	0.229	0.155	-	-
LSH_ins t	136	0.506	0.219	83	0.331	0.209	5.836	0.000
OUTt	136	0.594	0.192	83	0.598	0.154	0.200	0.842
CCOMP _t	136	0.366	0.268	83	0.337	0.260	-0.770	0.442
DEBT	136	0.480	0.183	83	0.465	0.185	-0.561	0.576
SIZE	136	12.596	1.809	83	12.265	1.510	-1.396	0.164
							z- statistic	p- value
DUALITY _t	136	0.551	0.499	83	0.578	0.497	0.388	0.698
CONTR	136	0.404	0.493	83	0.229	0.423	-2.664	0.007
CROSS	136	0.279	0.450	83	0.181	0.387	-1.654	0.098

Panel B. Canadian firms with a majority of large outside shareholders: Sample means and tests of difference between the sub-group of firms having a financial institution as largest outside shareholder and the sub-group of firms having an industrial as largest outside shareholder

Variables	l Financ large	Firms with ial Institut st sharehol	ion as der	I	Firms with ndustrial as est sharehol	Mean difference between the two sub-groups			
	N Means		Std-Deviation	N	Means	Std-Deviation	t- statistic	p- value	
Q _{t+1}	96	1.247	1.329	87	1.712	1.935	1.909	0.058	
LSH t	96	0.484	0.286	87	0.469	0.238	0.361	0.718	
LSH_out t	96	0.484	0.286	87	0.469	0.238	0.361	0.718	
OUTt	96	0.741	0.154	87	0.677	0.169	-2.681	0.008	
CEOSHt	96	0.012	0.022	87	0.010	0.019	-0.476	0.634	
CCOMP _t	96	0.329	0.261	87	0.426	0.229	2.664	0.008	
DEBT _t	96	0.382	0.165	87	0.410	0.167	1.138	0.256	
SIZEt	96	12.128	1.626	87	12.844	1.698	2.912	0.004	
							z- statistic	p- value	
DUALITY _t	96	0.302	0.462	87	0.195	0.399	-1.661	0.097	
CONTR	96	0.312	0.466	87	0.391	0.491	1.109	0.267	
CROSS	96	0.323	0.470	87	0.264	0.444	-0.867	0.386	

 $Q_{it+1} =$ firm i's Q ratio in year t+1; LSH_{it} = percentage of outstanding shares held by large shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_out_{it} = percentage of outstanding shares held by large outside shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_ins_{it} = percentage of outstanding shares held by large inside shareholders of firm i in year t; OUT_t = firm i's percentage of independent directors on the board in year t; CEOSH_t = firm i's level of CEO ownership in year t; CCOMP_t = firm i's relative importance of CEO's performance-contingent compensation in year t; DEBT_t = firm i's indebtedness in year t; SIZE_t = firm i's log of total assets in year t; DUALITYit = dummy equals 1 if firm i's CEO and Chairman are the same person in year t; CONTRt = dummy equals 1 if firm i has a controlling shareholder in year t; CROSSt = dummy equals 1 if firm i's share is cross-traded in year t.

Table 3. Q ratio by different levels of large shareholdings

	Q _{it+1} Ratio										
		Sub-sample of firms with a maj									
Level of	Full sample		Large outside		Large inside						
Large			sha	areholders	shareholders						
Shareholdings	(LSH_t)		(LSH_out _t)		(LSH_ins t)						
	Ν		N		Ν						
10-30%	107	1.837	58	1.883	78	1.519					
30-50%	88	1.197	34	1.661	50	0.884					
>50%	207	1.152	91	1.132	91	1.184					
Total N	402		183		219						

 LSH_{it} = percentage of outstanding shares held by large shareholders of firm i in year t; $LSH_{out_{it}}$ = percentage of outstanding shares held by large outside shareholders of firm i in year t; $LSH_{ins_{it}}$ = percentage of outstanding shares held by large inside shareholders of firm i in year t.
	Q t+1	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10,
1. LSH t	-0.173 ***										
	0.001										
2. LSH_inst	-0.077	0.396 ***									
	0.124	0.000									
3. LSH_out	-0.078	0.454 ***	-0.626 ***								
	0.117	0.000	0.000								
4. OUT _t	0.105 **	-0.255 ***	-0.315 ***	0.089 *							
	0.035	0.000	0.000	0.074							
5. DUALITY _t	-0.136 ***	0.068	0.275 ***	-0.198 ***	-0.101 **						
	0.006	0.177	0.000	0.000	0.043						
6. CONTR _t	-0.039	0.658 ***	0.301 ***	0.276 ***	-0.135 ***	-0.021					
	0.437	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.007	0.669					
7. CEOSH	0.079	-0.091 *	-0.108 **	0.002	-0.114 **	0.027	-0.024				
	0.116	0.069	0.031	0.962	0.023	0.594	0.630				
8. CROSS _t	0.195 ***	0.018	0.039	-0.031	0.070	-0.045	0.003	0.100 **			
	0.000	0.716	0.439	0.538	0.160	0.364	0.949	0.046			
9. CCOMP t	0.169 ***	-0.056	-0.005	-0.058	0.068	-0.019	0.001	0.057	0.107 **		
	0.001	0.259	0.918	0.244	0.173	0.712	0.992	0.259	0.033		
10, SIZE	-0.119 **	0.153 ***	0.124 **	0.004	0.089 *	-0.036	0.227 ***	-0.204 ***	0.179 ***	0.367 ***	
	0.017	0.002	0.013	0.934	0.073	0.472	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
11. DEBT,	-0.303 ***	0.101 **	0.192 ***	-0.089 *	-0.091 *	0.100 **	0.032	-0.119 **	-0.164 ***	-0.071	0.317 ***
	0.000	0.043	0.000	0.074	0.068	0.045	0.517	0.017	0.001	0.154	0.000

Table 4 - Pearson Correlation Matrix Panel A – Full sample (N=402)

Table 4 - Pearson Correlation Matrix, continuedPanel B – Sub-sample of firms with a majority of large inside shareholders (N = 219)

	Q 1+1	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10,
1. LSH	-0.054										
	0.424										
2. LSH_ins _t	-0.030	0.762 ***									
	0.658	0.000									
3. LSH_out t	-0.054	0.273 ***	-0.364 ***								
	0.429	0.000	0.000								
4. OUT _t	-0.005	-0.087	-0.143 **	0.096							
	0.945	0.202	0.034	0.156							
5. DUALITY,	-0.144 **	0.101	0.061	0.110	-0.045						
	0.034	0.136	0.372	0.105	0.504						
6. CONTR _t	0.045	0.667 ***	0.688 ***	-0.034	-0.037	-0.011					
	0.504	0.000	0.000	0.619	0.586	0.872					
7. CEOSH t	-0.028	0.052	0.014	-0.027	-0.274 ***	-0.082	0.062				
	0.684	0.443	0.833	0.692	0.000	0.225	0.358				
8. CROSS	0.288 ***	0.163 **	0.196 ***	-0.090	-0.012	0.048	0.205 ***	0.231 ***			
	0.000	0.016	0.004	0.183	0.862	0.480	0.002	0.001			
9. CCOMP	0.124 *	0.079	0.056	-0.009	0.026	-0.063	0.132 *	0.133 **	0.152 **		
	0.068	0.246	0.407	0.901	0.706	0.356	0.050	0.049	0.025		
0, SIZE,	-0.119 *	0.257 ***	0.271 ***	-0.055	0.063	0.001	0.321 ***	-0.098	0.208 ***	0.327 ***	
	0.080	0.000	0.000	0.420	0.357	0.986	0.000	0.151	0.002	0.000	
1. DEBT _t	-0.199 ***	-0.003	0.044	-0.035	-0.019	-0.001	-0.019	-0.101	-0.089	-0.137 **	0.292 ***
	0.003	0.971	0.522	0.610	0.780	0.994	0.776	0.135	0.190	0.043	0.000

 Table 4 - Pearson Correlation Matrix, continued Panel C – Sub-sample of firms with a majority of large outside shareholders (N = 183)

	Q _{t+1}	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10,
1. LSH t	-0.247 ***										
	0.001										
2. LSH_inst											
3. LSH_out	-0.248 ***	1.000 ***									
	0.001	0.000									
4. OUT _t	0.165 **	-0.412 ***		-0.412 ***							
	0.026	0.000		0.000							
5. DUALITY _t	-0.099	-0.032		-0.032	0.063						
	0.182	0.668		0.668	0.397						
6. CONTR _t	-0.110	0.660 ***		0.660 ***	-0.288 ***	-0.029					
	0.138	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.700					
7. CEOSH t	0.127 *	-0.184 **		-0.184 **	-0.070	0.247 ***	-0.108				
	0.086	0.013		0.013	0.348	0.001	0.146				
8. CROSS _t	0.121	-0.112		-0.112	0.135 *	-0.126 *	-0.223 ***	-0.027			
	0.102	0.131		0.131	0.069	0.088	0.002	0.713			
9. CCOMP _t	0.211 ***	-0.199 ***		-0.199 ***	0.104	0.075	-0.166 **	-0.028	0.049		
	0.004	0.007		0.007	0.163	0.313	0.024	0.711	0.509		
10, SIZE t	-0.124 *	0.045		0.045	0.137 *	-0.093	0.116	-0.311 ***	0.148 **	0.419 ***	
	0.094	0.544		0.544	0.065	0.212	0.119	0.000	0.046	0.000	
11. DEBT _t	-0.394 ***	0.182 **		0.182 **	-0.030	0.088	0.109	-0.083	-0.238 ***	0.038	0.368 ***
	0.000	0.014		0.014	0.688	0.239	0.143	0.267	0.001	0.614	0.000

 $Qit+1 = firm i's Q ratio in year t+1; LSHit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_outit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large outside shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_insit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large inside shareholders of firm i in year t; OUTt = firm i's percentage of independent directors on the board in year t; DUALITYit = dummy equals 1 if firm i's CEO and Chairman are the same person in year t; CONTRt = dummy equals 1 if firm i has a controlling shareholder in year t; CEOSHt = firm i's level of CEO ownership in year t; CROSSt = dummy equals 1 if firm i's share is cross-traded in year t; CCOMPt = firm i's relative importance of CEO's performance-contingent compensation in year t; SIZEt = firm i's log of total assets in year t; DEBTt = firm i's indebted to the tedness in year t$



	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
	. /	Firms with	Firms with	Firms with	Firms with	Firms with	Firms with
Independent	Full	a majority of	only	large inside	a majority of	financial institution	industrial
Variables	Sample	large inside	large inside	and outside	large outside	as largest	as largest
		shareholders	shareholders	shareholders	shareholders	shareholder	shareholder
LSH _t	-0.708 **						
	(2.09)						
LSH_ms _t		-0.669	-1.852 **	1.577			
		(1.14)	(2.32)	(1.62)			
LSH_out t		-0.257		0.265	-0.141	0.117	-0.758
		(0.46)		(0.31)	(0.24)	(0.18)	(0.60)
CEOSH _t					20.569 *	-6.679	25.405 *
					(1.85)	(0.850	(1.70)
CEOSH t FIN					-29.927 **		
					(1.98)		
LSH_out t*FIN					0.121		
					(0.48)		
CONTR _t	0.000	0.349	0.353	0.221	-0.511 *	0.049	-0.849 *
	(0.00)	(1.52)	(1.12)	(0.61)	(1.75)	(0.17)	(1.80)
OUTt	0.256	0.171	-0.156	0.398	-0.045	0.597	-1.069
	(0.69)	(0.39)	(0.26)	(0.65)	(0.07)	(0.91)	(0.85)
DUALITY _t	-0.061	-0.199	-0.057	-0.379	0.259	-0.122	0.667 *
	(0.43)	(1.12)	(0.24)	(1.52)	(1.07)	(0.48)	(1.65)
CCOMP _t	0.360 *	0.505 *	0.110	0.685 *	0.175	-0.073	0.53
	(1.72)	(1.89)	(0.29)	(1.68)	(0.56)	(0.31)	(0.76)
CROSSt	0.617 ***	0.774 ***	1.124 ***	0.518	0.200	-0.317	0.663
	(2.73)	(2.96)	(3.52)	(1.21)	(0.54)	(0.79)	(1.040
DEBT _t	-0.357	0.805 *	0.706	0.166	-2.731 ***	-2.312 ***	-3.554 **
	(0.97)	(1.91)	(1.24)	(0.26)	(4.18)	(4.35)	(2.50)
SIZE	-0.159 ***	-0.218 ***	-0.143 *	-0.233 **	0.007	-0.227 **	0.242
	(2.76)	(3.24)	(1.67)	(2.10)	(0.07)	(2.02)	(1.44)
		1	Year and industr	ry dummies varia	bles not reported	l	
Constant	3.02 ***	3.614 ***	3.11 ***	3.721 ***	1.321	3.492 **	2.324
	(4.08)	(4.35)	(2.84)	(2.88)	(0.97)	(2.40)	(0.87)
	. ,						
Number of observ.	402	219	136	83	183	96	87
N of id_cg	159	85	59	40	79	44	41
AdjR-Sq	0.153	0.157	0.217	0.395	0.239	0.321	0.456

Table 5. GLS Regressions on the association between firm performance (Q_{t+1}) and large shareholdings for a
sample of Canadian firms over the period 1997-1999

* significant at the 10 percent level; ** significant at the 5 percent level; *** significant at the 1 percent level.

Table 5, continued

The regressions are performed using a random-effects specification in which all observations within a firm are collapsed into one observation. Numbers in parentheses are t-statistics. Dependent variable is Qit+1 = firm i's Q ratio in year t+1. Independent variables are; LSHit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_insit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large inside shareholders of firm i in year t; LSH_outit = percentage of outstanding shares held by large outside shareholders of firm i in year t; CEOSHt = firm i's level of CEO ownership in year t; CEOSHt*FIN= firm i's level of CEO ownership in year t interacting with a dummy variable for firms with a financial institution as largest shareholder; LSH_outit*FIN= percentage of outstanding shares held by large outside for firms with a financial institution as largest shareholder; CONTRt = dummy equals 1 if firm i has a controlling shareholder in year t; OUTt = firm i's percentage of independent directors on the board in year t; DUALITYit = dummy equals 1 if firm i's CEO and Chairman are the same person in year t; CROSSt = dummy equals 1 if firm i's share is cross-traded in year t; CCOMPt = firm i's relative importance of CEO's performance-contingent compensation in year t; DEBTt = firm i's indebtedness in year t; SIZEt = firm i's log of total assets in year t.

РАЗДЕЛ 3 КОРПОРАТИВНОЕ УПРАВЛЕНИЕ В ГЕРМАНИИ

SECTION 3 NATIONAL PRACTICES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: GERMANY

EXTRATERRITORIAL IMPACTS OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT ON EXTERNAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – CURRENT EVIDENCE FROM A GERMAN PERSPECTIVE*

Axel Haller/Jürgen Ernstberger/Christian Kraus**

Abstract

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) has not only had tremendous impact on the U.S corporate governance system, but also on other countries with companies subject to SOX. The paper analyzes the major direct impacts of SOX on the European Union (EU) and Germany as a Member State. The focus of the analysis is on rules concerning external corporate governance instruments, i.e. the auditing professions' oversight, auditors' independence and auditing standards. Additionally, the paper investigates whether the contemporary regulatory activities in the EU and Germany concerning external corporate governance can be explained as indirect institutional consequences of SOX. Although the EU Commission says for the record that it has an own long-term strategy of modernizing corporate governance, the paper demonstrates that several rules of SOX quite obviously served as a model for the EU regulatory activities. The same phenomenon can be observed for the new German regulations of external corporate governance.

Key words: Sarbanes-Oxley Act, external corporate governance, auditing, Germany

* Earlier versions of the paper were presented at the 28th Annual Congress of the European Accounting Association, Gothenburg/Sweden, 18-20 May 2005 and at the 2005 Annual Meeting of the American Accounting Association, San Francisco/USA, 7-10 August 2005. We are grateful to anonymous referees of the American Accounting Association and to Stephen A. Zeff for their comments on this paper.

** All Chair of Financial Accounting and Auditing, University of Regensburg, Germany, (www.wiwi.uni-r.de/haller), Universitätsstraße 31, D-93053 Regensburg, Germany, T +49 941 943 2690, F +49 941 943 4497, (axel.haller@wiwi.uni-r.de, juergen.ernstberger@wiwi.uni-r.de, christian.Kraus@wiwi.uni-r.de)

Introduction

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) and related rules of the SEC are a direct reaction of the U.S. regulatory system to a series of obvious malfunctioning of the established corporate governance system in the U.S. SOX had a huge impact on companies and auditors in the U.S. However, the focus of the paper is on the extraterritorial impacts. The objective of the paper is to reveal, analyze and explain this impact on the European Union (EU) and on one particular country, namely Germany.

The structure of the paper is determined by the assumption that the impact might be two-fold. First, due to the explicit scope of SOX a direct influence of its rules is obvious on companies listed on the U.S.



securities market as well as on the auditors of such companies. Second, because of its strict and somehow revolutionary content, SOX might be used by national regulators and auditing professions as an example or model to tighten up national corporate governance regulations in order to better protect the interests of share- and stakeholders. This will be referred to as indirect influence.

Based on this view of a direct and indirect impact of SOX the first section investigates the major direct impacts on Germany and uncovers arising conflicts with national regulations. In the second section the regulatory activities in Germany which have been undertaken since the adoption of SOX are depicted. As the regulations of the EU Member States have to comply with the rulings of the EU, the post SOX regulatory activities of the EU are described as well. In order to allow a deeper analysis, the paper focuses only on specific topics regulated in SOX, in particular those which are related to the function of auditing within the external spheres of corporate governance; those are the public oversight over the auditing profession, the auditors' independence and auditing standards. The last section of the paper discusses whether the regulatory activities of the EU and the German regulating institutions may be regarded as "spill over effects" and/or indirect institutional consequences of SOX.

Direct Extraterritorial Impacts of SOX Applicability of SOX

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 applies to any company ("issuer") registered on U.S. stock exchanges under either the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act, irrespective of the country of the company's domicile or incorporation (see Sec. 2(7) of SOX). The Act itself does not contain exemptions for foreign private issuers¹. Therefore, SOX has an impact on all U.S. and non-U.S. companies that are registrants with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (see Perino, 2003, p. 221). Besides the registered companies, SOX addresses the auditors of those companies and financial analysts and covers issues of internal and external corporate governance, financial disclosure and criminal penalties for the concerned companies and people. Figure 1 gives an overview of the major provisions of SOX.

Concerning the auditors, SOX requires that any public accounting firm² involved in the preparation of audit reports of any issuer listed on a U.S. stock exchange is subject to the provisions of the Act and to the oversight of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB). This includes non-U.S. public accounting firms performing auditing services for registrants on the U.S. capital markets (see Sec. 106(a)(1) of SOX). As the extraterritorial impact of SOX may provoke conflicts for non-U.S. companies and auditors with their national regulations, the SEC, and the PCAOB, subject to the approval of the SEC, are empowered to exempt any foreign accounting firm from any provision of SOX when they determine necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors (Sec. 106(c)). Moreover, SOX gives the SEC the authority to promulgate rules and regulations in considerations of the public interest, the protection of investors and the purpose of the Act (Sec. 3(a)). This provision allows for exemptions for foreign private issuers. Nevertheless, there is no specific directive requiring the SEC to create such exemptions. SOX departs from the traditional policy of the SEC to provide accommodations and exemptions for foreign private issuers and their auditors (for details refer to Perino, 2003, p. 8). One reason for this might be that general exemptions for non-U.S. issuers would have created loopholes and therefore were politically unacceptable (see Morrissey, Bostelman and Clayton, 2003, p. 14). Another reason might be that Congress did not consider the impact of SOX on the affected companies, accounting firms and regulators because it wanted to react quickly to the financial breakdowns in the U.S. As evidence for this hypothesis the fast legislative process (29 days) and the very few references to this issue in the Congressional Record (see Perino, 2003, p. 9-11) could be cited. The next section depicts the major impacts of SOX on the German auditing profession as well as German companies and explains resulting conflicts with existing national rules. As already noted, the focus is only on external corporate governance issues covered by SOX: those are rules on the auditing profession's oversight, on auditors' independence and auditing standards. This restriction of the investigation does not mean that all the other issues referred to in SOX have no influence on German entities or do not provoke conflict with national German rules.

Auditors' Profession Oversight

R

SOX established the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), an independent private non-profit organization under the control of the SEC.

¹ The term "foreign private issuer" is defined as any issuer, that does not have more than 50 percent of its outstanding voting securities held by U.S. residents and that does not satisfy any one of the following conditions: (1) the majority of directors or executive officers are U.S. citizens or residents; (2) more than 50 percent of the issuer's assets are located in the U.S.; or (3) the issuer's business is administered principally in the U.S. (see 17 C.F.R. Art. 240.3b-4(c) (2003).

² SOX uses the term "public accounting firm" for any proprietorship, partnership, incorporated association, corporation, limited liability partnership, or other legal entity that is engaged in the practice of public accounting or preparing or issuing audit reports VIRTUS

⁽see Sec. 2(11) of SOX). In contrast the proposed modernization of the 8th Directive of the EU Commission uses the term "audit firm", which means an entity that is approved in accordance with the provisions of the Directive by the competent authorities of a Member State of the EU to carry out statutory audits regardless of its legal form. Both terms, "public accounting firm" and "audit firm", are used synonymously in this paper.



Figure 1. Major provisions of SOX

The remainder of the Sections of SOX covers technical details concerning the resources and the authority of the SEC (Sec. 6), requires several studies to be conducted (Sec. 7) and states a sense of the Senate regarding the singing of corporate tax returns (Sec. 10). Since these Sections do not refer to issues of corporate governance they are omitted in the figure.

As mentioned above, the PCAOB has to oversee the auditors that are engaged to provide audit services for companies subject to the Act or play a substantial role in such audits. The Act clarifies that this applies to U.S. as well as to foreign public accounting firms (see Sec. 106(a)(1) of SOX). These accounting firms are required to register with the PCAOB (see Sec. 102 of SOX). SOX directs the PCAOB to conduct inspections and investigations at least once every three years to assess the degree of compliance of a registered accounting firm with the Act, the rules of the SEC and the PCAOB or professional standards. Thereby the Board has to evaluate the sufficiency of quality control system of the firm and the manner of the documentation and communication of that system and has the authority to impose disciplinary or remedial sanctions (see Sec. 104 and 105 of SOX).

This registration with the PCAOB imposes – in general – a considerable pressure on the particular public accounting firm. A failure results directly in the loss of all clients which are subject to SOX (see Sec. 102(a) of SOX). Additionally the registration and obeying of SOX and PCAOB requirements cause direct costs, which may not completely be outweighed by higher auditing fees. In addition, there may be indirect costs due to conflicts with national rules and standards. Such conflicts arise

concerning the transfer of information and data to the PCAOB, because registration of accounting firms with the PCAOB includes a consent to cooperate and comply with any demand by the Board for testimony or the production of documents in the case of requested information about particular clients (see Sec. 102(b)(3) of SOX). This consent could contravene the German auditors' legal duty to maintain strict confidentiality (see Art. 323 Para. 1 of German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB), Art. 404 Para. 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) and Art. 9 of the German Law Regulating the Profession of Auditors (Wirtschaftsprüferordnung, WPO)). A breach of this duty may result in sanctions being imposed by professional disciplinary proceedings and in fines or imprisonment under Art. 203 of the German Criminal Code (Strafgesetzbuch, StGB), unless the client has given permission to the auditor to disclose the information. Moreover, German auditors are entitled and even have the duty to refuse to give evidence in lawsuits (see Art. 383 Para. 1 of the German Code of Civil Procedure (Zivilprozessordnung, ZPO), Art. 53 Para. 1 of the German Code of Criminal Procedure (Strafprozessordnung, StPO)). The management board of a company can release the auditor from these duties by giving an explicit permission (see Hilber and Har-



tung, 2003, p. 1056). However, the management board is required to balance the benefits and costs of all decisions. Declaring releases for a company's auditors from their duty to maintain strict confidentiality and to refuse evidence in lawsuits could conflict with this requirement of the German Stock Corporation Act in case the company has no direct advantages of the decision, e.g. the company is not an foreign issuer itself but a subsidiary of a foreign issuer (see Kersting, 2003, p. 241).

Another problem might result from the information required to register with the PCAOB about criminal, civil, administrative or disciplinary proceedings against the applicant or its associated persons including employees involved in performing audits at least ten hours for any company subject to SOX during the last calendar year (see PCAOB, Rule No. 001, Section 001-3). The accounting firm has to request such information from its employees and to ask for a written permission to disclose it to the PCAOB according to the Federal Data Protection Act (Bundesdatenschutzgesetz). These requests lead to mandatory involvement of the workers' council which could be a time-consuming process (see IDW and WPK, 2003, p. 6). Moreover, data shall not be given to persons or institutions outside the EU without a guarantee that the data are treated confidential accompanied by an approval by German authorities in charge (see Art. 4b of Federal Data Protection Act). These additional costs and conflicts with national regulations obviously had not been considered and no regulatory counterpart in Europe or elsewhere had been consulted before SOX came into effect on July 30, 2002. Realizing the potential impacts of SOX the EU Commission made an effort to obtain exemptions for EU companies and public accounting firms (see Van Hulle and Lafermann, 2003, p. 103). Due to the lobbying of the EU commission and of single Member States and professional groups of the EU the SEC and the PCAOB promulgated accommodations for foreign companies and public accounting firms (see Engelen, 2004 p. 42-46). Another reason for granting exemptions might be the SEC's delayed perception of the economic and political impacts on the affected parties. Concerning the registration requirements, File-No. PCAOB 2003-3 allows accounting firms to withhold information from its application for registration with the PCAOB when disclosure of the information would force them to violate non-U.S. laws. In this case the applicant has to submit a copy of the relevant portion of the conflicting non-U.S. law, a legal opinion that there would be a conflict and an explanation of the applicant's efforts to eliminate the conflict (see File-No. PCAOB 2003-3, Rule 2105). Furthermore, foreign public accounting firms need to disclose information on criminal, civil and administrative proceedings not for all employees associated with issuers subject to SOX (like U.S. public accounting firm have to). They need to disclose these information only for their proprietors, partners, principals, shareholders, VIRTUS NTERPRESS®

officers or managers providing audit services to issuers (see File No. PCAOB 2003-03, July 16, 2003). In Germany there has been a system of selfregulation carried out by the Chamber of Public Accountants (Wirtschaftsprüferkammer) which operates under the oversight of the Federal Ministry of Economics and Labour. In 2001 a system of external quality assurance came into effect. According to this system, all auditors and public accounting firms have to submit themselves to quality assurance based on peer review methodology every three years (see Art. 57a WPO). Recently, Germany has established a system for the registration and professional oversight of auditors (for details see 3.3.1. of this paper). Therefore, German accounting firms subject to SOX are affected by both the U.S. and the German professional oversight systems. To prevent conflicts of laws the SEC and the PCAOB developed criteria to determine to what extent the PCAOB could rely on a non-U.S. oversight system. Therefore, the PCAOB will evaluate the level of independence and rigor of the non-U.S. oversight systems in the countries of registered auditors. Depending on this evaluation the PCAOB will determine the degree to which it may rely on inspections, investigations and sanctions of particular non-U.S. oversight system (see Release No. 34-50047, July 20 2004). At present the outcome of an assessment of Germany's (new) oversight system by the PCAOB remains unclear.

Independence of Auditors and Auditing Standards

SOX states independence requirements for auditors. According to Section 201, public accounting firms are obliged not to provide certain enumerated nonaudit services contemporaneously with the audit. The list includes, inter alia, bookkeeping, valuation and actuarial services, internal audit as well as legal or human resource services. Other non-listed services, as for example tax services, may be provided only if pre-approved by the audit committee of the particular company. In addition, SOX requires the audit committee of a company to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services. In Germany it is also unlawful for accounting firms to be involved in the bookkeeping and/or preparing of the annual accounts of a client (see Art. 319 Para. 2 No. 5 HGB) and - due to the Accounting Law Reform Act (Bilanzrechtsreformgesetz, BilReG) - in several other services. However, it is not forbidden to provide human resources, and legal services not related to the audit. Therefore German accounting firms have to limit their services provided to companies subject to SOX.

To assure a personal independence within the client-auditor relationship, the Act prescribes a mandatory audit partner rotation. A public accounting firm is not allowed to provide audit services to a company if the lead audit partner, or the audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit, has performed audit services for that company in each of the five previous years (see Section 203 of SOX). Final rules

of the SEC extend this requirement by imposing a five year cooling off period on rotated partner (which means that the rotated partner must step down from the particular audit for a period of at least five years). In addition, the rules require audit partners that have responsibility for significant accounting and auditing matters (e.g. assessment of the internal control system or review of major positions of the annual accounts) to rotate after no more than seven years and they are subject to a cooling off period of two years (see SEC, Release No. 33-8183). Taking into account that in many jurisdictions audit partners until now have not been subject to rotation requirements the SEC has made accommodations to this rotation requirements for foreign public accounting firms. In contrast to U.S. public accounting firms 2004 constitutes the first of the five year rotation period for partners of foreign public accounting firms, without regard to the time period the partners had previously served in a company (see SEC, Release No. 33-8183). According to a new provision of the German Commercial Law (introduced by the BilReG, see section 3.2.), an auditor having expressed an opinion on the financial statements of a listed company more than seven times is not allowed to provide audit services to that company for a cooling off period of three years (Art. 319a Para. 1 No. 4. HGB). Prior to the BilReG an auditor was not allowed to express an opinion more than six times in ten years.

Pursuant to Section 206 of SOX a public accounting firm shall not provide audit services for a company, if a CEO, CFO, CAO or controller of that company was employed by the public accounting firm and performed audit services for that company during a one year period preceding the initiation of the audit. Final Rules of the SEC expand this cooling off period to each member of an audit engagement team that has a direct responsibility for, or oversight of, the preparation of a former client's financial statements and related information (see SEC, Release No. 33-8183). The German Commercial Law prescribes no such cooling off period.

Section 103 of SOX provides that the PCAOB shall amend, modify or alter auditing and attestation standards, quality control standards, and ethics standards for public accounting firms. Based on this authorisation the PCAOB has already promulgated auditing standards. In Germany independence, quality control and ethics standards are specified in the German Commercial Code and especially in the Law Regulating the Profession of Auditors (WPO), the by-laws (Berufssatzung) and the Auditing Standards of the German Institute of Auditors (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer, IDW), which are based on, but in a few respects still not completely equal to the International Standards on Auditing (ISA) of the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), which is an independent standard setting body under the control of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Its mission is to establish worldwide high quality auditing, assurance and

quality control standards. If these standards differ from the requirements that are provided or will be provided by the PCAOB, legal conflicts may arise for German public accounting firms subject to SOX.

Certain requirements are directly stipulated by SOX. For example the PCAOB shall promulgate requirements demanding that each public accounting firm shall prepare and maintain, for a period of at least 7 years, audit work papers, that an audit report is reviewed and approved by a concurring or second partner, and that in each audit report the scope of the auditor's testing of the internal control structure and procedures of the client are described. Moreover, SOX provides a framework for the audit report on an issuer's internal control system and for auditor quality control standards (Sec. 103 of SOX). In Germany similar requirements concerning the review of a second partner, the report on the internal control system and the quality control exist. However, there is no duty to maintain audit work papers for a specified period. Thus, SOX imposes an additional duty on auditors which are registered under PCAOB.

Post SOX Regulatory Activities in the EU and Germany

The EU – a European Regulatory Institution

The European Union (EU) is the result of a political vision to prevent war within Europe and to create a large prosperous economic and social community of separate states. This vision was formally promulgated by the Treaty of Rome in 1957 and has been fostered by a series of subsequent treaties. The number of Member States has augmented from 6 to now 25. Over its existence the Member States have delegated more and more of their sovereignty to "European institutions", although keeping their identities and still a large portion of independence. Therefore, the EU form a political construct, based on treaties between individual countries, which is more than a confederation of countries but less than a federal state. One aim of the EU is to create an equal level playing field for all participants on economic markets in order to reach a single market within Europe with equal competition (European Union, 2002). In order to meet to this objective the EU has gained a vast legislative power during the last almost 50 years of its existence and has exercised this power through three legal instruments, which are Regulations, Directives and Recommendations. Those differ primarily in their degree of binding. Regulations become directly EU law after their approval and are hence automatically binding for the Member States, whereas Directives have to be transformed into national laws by the individual national regulators and very often contain options to allow country specific particularities in this transformation. Finally Recommendations are of a non-binding nature but Member States are encouraged to implement them into national law. The major political institutions,



which are engaged in this legislative process are the EU Commission (detects the necessity of rulings, develop ideas and prepares drafts), the EU Parliament (discusses, and comments and adopt the rules) and the Council of the European Union (gives the final approval to the rules) (for details about the European Union see European Union – Delegation of the European Commission to the United States, 2004). Besides a lot of other areas, the EU published several legislative enactments dealing with accounting, auditing, corporate governance and company law in the past.

EU's Regulatory Initiatives Concerning Auditing

The first official response after SOX was a communication paper headlined "reinforcing the statutory audit in the EU" in May 2003 (see European Commission, 2003, p. 2 -13). The introduction of this publication contains a clear reference to the fact that beside other things SOX forced the EU to reconsider its priorities on statutory audits (see European Commission, 2003a, p. 2). In this communication a ten point action plan was developed which was divided into short term priorities planned to be fulfilled until 2004 and mid term priorities with a planning horizon until 2006.

Short Term Activities (until 2004)	Mid Term Activities (until 2006)
Ensuring a comprehensive, principle based basis for	Introducing and improving a system of disciplinary
statutory audits by modernising the 8th Directive	sanctions for statutory auditors
Reinforcing regulatory infrastructure	Enhancing transparency of international networks of
	audit firms
Strengthening public oversight	Strengthening the role of audit committees and in-
	ternal control systems
Required application of ISA for all statutory audits	Introducing a code of ethics for statutory auditors (in
	dialogue with SEC or PCAOB)
	Removing restrictions constricting the internal mar-
	ket for audit services
	Analysing economic impact of auditor liability

Table 1. Overview Action Plan Statutory Audit

Parallel to the communication concerning statutory audit the EU Commission published another communication titled "Modernising Company Law and Enhancing Corporate Governance in the European Union – A plan to Move Forward" (see European Commission, 2003a). This was the first publication of the European Commission dealing solely with the issue of corporate governance (see Haller and Geirhofer, 2005, p. 18). Basis of the communication is the report of a high level group of company law experts chaired by Jaap Winter (European Commission, 2002a).

In accordance with this so called "Winter Report", the communication points out that there is no need for an EU corporate governance code or precise standardized rulings. However, the Commission considers that a common approach should be adopted by the Member States and only a few essential rules should be established to ensure an adequate coordination of corporate governance within the EU (see European Commission, 2003a, p. 12). A direct result of those two communications of the Commission, which are only political statements without legal effect and which were perceived as essential steps towards restoring confidence in capital markets in the public consultation process (see European Commission, 2004a), is the proposal for a Directive on statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts and amending Council Directives

78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC (so called modernized 8th Directive)³ published on March 16th 2004 (see European Commission, 2004), in which a considerable amount of the short- and mid-term actions of the two plans were incorporated (see Annex 2). The modernized 8th Directive is supposed to be approved by the end of 2005. It is left up to the Member States of the EU to substantiate the regulations and to carry out the options included in the Directive (see Haller and Geirhofer, 2004, p. 24).

Reform of Public Oversight

While public oversight for statutory auditors was not in the focus of pronouncements of the EU prior to SOX, the proposal of a modernized 8th Directive (in the following only referred to as "the proposal") covers this issue (see European Commission, 2004, Articles 31-34) as a consequence of the ten point action plan of 2003.

Article 31 of the proposed Directive defines the principles of public oversight and provides a framework for possible national public oversight systems. As the European Commission does not give a detailed prescription, the Member States will be able to

³ The 8th Directive dates back to the year 1983. The modernization initiative revises and enlarges its content considerably.

create public oversight systems tailor made to their individual legal and economic situation. However, the Member States shall ensure that the cooperation between their national oversight activities is effective (see European Commission, 2004, Article 32).

Although the proposal leaves discretion to the Member States, it nevertheless mentions that exchange of information and cooperate investigation activities are planned as well as the supply of information required for the oversight of statutory audits. Moreover, the public oversight authority of a Member State A should be allowed to communicate the malfunctioning of statutory auditors based in a Member State B to the competent authority in Member State B. How the coordination of the national authorities will be organized and to what extent the coordination will take place is not provided in the proposal (see FEE, 2004).

The public oversight authority shall not only be responsible for approval and registration of statutory auditors but also for the adoption of standards on ethics and internal quality control as well as continuous education and the quality assurance process. The competent authority shall also be in charge of other investigation and sanctions. The activities of the public oversight authority will have to be published annually to ensure transparency.

Finally, the proposal requires that the funding of the authority must safeguard its independence from the auditor profession (see European Commission, 2004, Article 31).

Additionally to the public oversight regime, Article 29 of the proposed Directive obliges the Member States to establish a quality assurance system which is also subject to the public oversight as described above. The quality assurance system is part of the self regulation of auditors but has to assure independence from the reviewed auditor. The quality assurance has to take place at least every six years and a report containing the main conclusions of the review has to be given.

The proposal contains special regulations for statutory audits of public interest entities. Those are "...entities that are of significant public relevance because of the nature of their business, their size or their number of employees, in particular companies governed by the law of a Member State whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of any Member State..., banks and other financial institutions and insurance undertakings" (Article 2 of the proposed Directive).

According to these special regulations, audit firms carrying out statutory audits have to publish an annual transparency report on their website. This report should among other things include an indication when the last quality assurance review took place. Furthermore statutory auditors of public interest entities have to undergo the quality assurance at least every three years (Article 38 of the proposed Directive).

Independence of Auditors and Auditing Standards

The proposal deals with auditor's independence mainly in the Articles 23-25. Member States shall ensure independence of statutory auditors from the audited entity. The proposal does not define activities compromising the independence of statutory auditors, instead it follows a principle based approach (see Schildbach, 2004, p. 252). Thus, any relationship causing possible dependence or bias leads the auditor not to carry out the statutory audit. The statutory auditor shall document possible threats to independence and safeguards to mitigate them in the working papers (in case of a public interest company the auditor has to discuss those with the audit committee and has to confirm its independence to the audit committee annually; see European Commission, 2004, Article 40)).

Statutory auditors (for audit firms the key audit partner responsible for the statutory audit) of public interest entities (only) will be subject to an internal rotation at least in a five years turn or alternatively to an external rotation in a seven year turn. Furthermore, the proposal establishes a "cooling off" period of two years for statutory auditors and respectively key audit partners of audit firms carrying out statutory audits. These persons shall not be allowed to take up a key management position in the audited entity of public interest within the cooling off period.

Another measure to safeguard auditor's independence is the requirement to ensure that audit fees are adequate to allow proper audit quality and are not based on any form of contingency especially not by provision of additional services.

Additionally the audited entity has to disclose fees paid to the statutory auditor for audit and nonaudit services (see European Commission, 2004, Article 50 Nr. 1 a).

The proposal also focuses on auditing standards. According to Article 26 of the proposal, the European Commission shall adopt generally accepted auditing standards. The auditing standards have to pass an endorsement process by the European Commission accompanied by an audit regulatory committee (Article 49 of the proposal).

The explanatory memorandum to the proposal states out that the International Standard on Auditing will be subject to this endorsement process. Member states will be allowed to introduce auditing standards additionally to the ones endorsed only if these follow from specific requirements (Article 26 (3) of the proposal). The Member States have to communicate those measures to the European Commission.

Regulatory Initiatives in Germany

Formally independently from the EU initiatives – which become obvious by the timing – the German government unveiled a ten point program to foster the integrity of companies and investor protection



(10-Punkte-Programm zur Stärkung der Unternehmensintegrität und Anlegerschutzes) on February 25, 2003 (Ministry of Justice, 2003). This plan was a concretion of the government's strategy to establish an effective regulatory framework to improve financial reporting, corporate governance and capital market conditions. It covers various issues like the strengthening of shareholders' rights, enhancing responsibilities of directors and members of the supervisory board, regulation for financial analysts and market transparency, aggravating criminal law for white collar crime. Major contents are the introduction of IFRS into the German accounting system (see for detail Haller and Eierle, 2004), the establishment of an independent enforcement body for German accounting practices and the quality enhancement of statutory audits.

The major portion of the issues covered in the action program of the German government has already been adopted through revision or amendment acts or already published proposals to those acts. Table 2 gives an overview of the recent legal activities in 2004 and 2005.

Table 2. Recent Regulations in Germany Concerning Accounting, Auditing, and Corporate Governance

Accounting Law Reform Act (Bilanzrechtsreformgesetz, BilReG), December 2004						
Financial Reporting Control Act (Bilanzkontrollgesetz, BilKoG), December 2004						
Law on the Supervision of Auditors (Abschlussprüferaufsichtsgesetz, APAG), December 2004						
Law on Model Proceedings concerning Investors' Actions for Damages (Kapitalanleger-						
Musterverfahrensgesetz, KapMuG), July 2005						
Law on Corporate Integrity and Modernization of the Right of Avoidance (Gesetz zur Unternehmensin-						
tregität und Modernisierung des Anfechtungsrechts, UMAG), July 2005						
Law on Publication of Officers' Remuneration (Vorstandsvergütungs-Offenlegungsgesetz, VorstOG), July						
2005						

Reform of Public Oversight

As a direct result of the German government's ten point program, the public oversight of auditors became recently regulated by a law on the supervision of auditors (*Abschlussprüferaufsichtsgesetz*, APAG) which passed the German Parliament unanimously on 3rd December 2004. This law establishes a private board called *Abschlussprüferaufsichtskommission* (APAK), comparable to the PCOAB, and marks the (partial) end of self regulation of the auditor profession in Germany. Although that the modernization of the 8th Directive is not yet approved, the content of APAG anticipates the rulings contained in the proposal (see above).

Previously the Chamber of Public Accountants (WPK) was the authority within the profession to ensure the audit quality. The oversight system was established in the Law Regulating the Profession of *Wirtschaftsprüfer* (WPO). Since a law from 2000 (coming into effect in 2001) statutory auditors haven been obliged to do a peer review by another auditor who is certified by the WPK for being a peer reviewer at least every three years. Because of this, statutory auditors haven been obliged to engage a peer reviewer until 2004. An advisory council for quality assurance was established within the WPK overseeing the self regulation (see Art. 57a-h WPO).

Although slightly modified by the APAG, the quality assurance system established by the WPO remains the same, which means that the statutory auditors have to undergo a peer review at least every three years. Inter alia the modification forces statutory auditors to name three possible peer reviewers to the WPK. Then the WPK is allowed to reject one or more of the proposed peer reviewers.

APAK now replaces the advisory council for quality assurance of the WPK. The members of the APAK are supposed to have experience in either accounting, finance, economics, science or jurisprudence. They must not have been a member of the WPK within the last five years before they became member of the APAK. This measure should obviously ensure the independence of the APAK.

In contrast to the post-SOX U.S. system, the accounting profession through the Chamber of Public Accountants (WPK) is still in charge of the oversight of German statutory auditors in the first step. But the APAK is the final decision authority when it comes to quality assurance of statutory audits. Therefore the APAK has information and inspection rights. The APAK has the right to return decisions back to the WPK with the obligation to modify them.

Furthermore, the APAK is the competent authority for cooperation with public oversight authorities within the EU and other countries. This means the APAK will be the counterpart to the PCAOB for cooperation (see Heininger and Bertram, 2004, p. 1740). Figure 2 gives an overview of the new quality assurance and oversight system for auditors in Germany.





Figure 2. New Quality Assurance and Oversight System for Auditors in Germany

Independence of Auditors and Auditing Standards

The German regulations on auditor independence were substantially modified by the Accounting Law Reform Act (*Bilanzrechtsreformgesetz*, BilReG) from October 2004, which became effective for all fiscal years which begin after 1 January 2005. The BilReG amends the rulings on independence, which are based on a previous Guideline on auditors' independence of the EU Commission (see European Commission, 2002) and also anticipate parts of the modernized 8th Directive.

The German regulator states that an auditor shall not carry out a statutory audit if his business, financial or personnel relationships cause a lack of objectivity. In addition to this general principle the Bil-ReG explicates - in contrast to the modernization proposal of the EU – reasons for disqualifying from carrying out statutory audits. Besides financial interests in or a position in the board of directors (or supervisory board) of the audited entity or its subsidiaries, the following activities will result in preclusion from carrying out a statutory audit: involvement in bookkeeping and/or preparing of the annual accounts, involvement in internal revision, engagement for management or financial services or material actuarial or other valuation services. Apart from these threats of independence the German regulator regards the income structure of auditors as an essential characteristic of the ability to remain independent. Therefore the BilReG restricts auditors from earning more than thirty percent of the total income from one audited entity and its subsidiaries within the last five years.

Like the proposal of the modernized 8th Directive the BilReG distinguishes between "ordinary" entities and "entities of public interest". However, the definition of the latter differs from the one of the EU Commission. Public interest entities in the sense of BilReG are entities raising capital in an organized market. Statutory auditors of those entities will not only be subject to aforementioned regulations but also to even more restrictive specific rules. The income threshold of thirty percent is lowered to fifteen percent for them. Additionally, the prohibited activities will be extended by tax and legal advisory services with material effect on the true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results. Furthermore participation in the development, customization and implementation of accounting software systems within the audited company is not allowed (Art. 1 Nr. 24 BilReG).

Statutory auditors will be subject to internal rotation in a seven years turn (see Art. 1 Nr. 24 Bil-ReG). The auditor might be engaged again after a cooling off period of three years. Again, the German BilReG differs from the proposal of the EU, because as described above, the EU proposes a five years cycle for internal rotation or alternatively seven years with external rotation. In contrast to the proposal of the 8th Directive the BilReG defines a cooling off period which misses in the Directive.

German public interest entities are also obliged to disclose the fees paid to the statutory auditor distinguishing between audit fees, acknowledgment and valuation fees, tax advisory fees and other fees for non-audit services for the audited entity or its subsidiaries (see Art. 1 Nr. 18 BilReG).

Until 2005 there was no explicit binding regulation for using certain auditing standards. However, the auditing standards of the IDW (so called IDW AuS) have been virtually binding, because the WPO (2004) states out that, an auditor has to fulfill the obligations of the profession diligently (Art. 43 WPO). According to the IDW, this diligence can only be achieved by applying the IDW AuS. The IDW is member of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and has therefore begun several years ago to transform ISAs into IDW AuS. The APAK oversees this transformation process (Art. 66 (1) WPO).

Due to the above described proposal for a modernized 8th Directive auditing standards endorsed by the European Commission will be directly applicable in the Member States. Therefore the oversight function of the APAK concerning auditing standards will



be limited to necessary additional standards because of national peculiarities. As another consequence, the IDW AuS will loose to be the basis for diligent auditing in Germany.

Analysis of the Impacts

The EU Commission is eager to point out that it had started to develop a long term strategy to improve financial accounting, auditing and corporate governance rules to safeguard shareholders rights, third party protection and efficiency as well as competitiveness already long before the approval of SOX (Van Hulle and Lanfermann, 2003, p. 102; for an overview of the EU strategy concerning financial reporting see Haller, 2002, p. 153-168). Looking at the chronology of legal pronouncements (see Annex 1) gives some evidence to this position. Although it also becomes obvious that the speed of announcements has increased considerably since the emergence of the American and European accounting and auditing scandals and the subsequent major breakdowns of public listed companies in the U.S. and Europe. Those had put political pressure on the EU as well as the regulators of the Member States to expand on existing regulations concerning auditing and other corporate governance issues (Van Hulle and Lanfermann, 2003, p. 102 and 106). Therefore, some commentators argue that at least some of the regulatory measures taken on the EU and Member State level concerning auditing and corporate governance issues are a direct effect of SOX (see e.g. Kulms, 2004, p. 4).

As a starting point for an examination of this argument the following table synoptically enumerates the major rules concerning external corporate governance in the three jurisdictions and thus summarizes sections 2 and 3.

As can be seen from the table, many of the post-SOX regulations that have been promulgated or will be promulgated by the EU and by Germany resemble or are even identical to the provisions of SOX. Especially the move towards a substantive regulation of the auditors' profession induced by SOX (see Ribstein, 2003, p. 4-8) is acceded by the European and German regulators.

Therefore, it is very obvious that SOX does not only have direct extraterritorial impacts on public accounting firm and the internal corporate governance of companies (as shown in section 2) but also indirect influences on European and German regulators. Consequently, SOX can be regarded as a typical example of regulatory spill-over effects, i.e. regulations in one country have consequences beyond national borders (see Engelen, 2004, p. 43). In the case of SOX these spill-over effects concern market participants (e.g. auditors and companies in Germany) as well as regulators (European Commission and German legislator). Figure 3 illustrates this multiple impact of SOX which is a direct one on companies and auditors as well as on the EU and Member States regulators and at the same time an indirect one on the Member States' legislators through the EU legislation and on auditors and companies within the EU through national and EU legislation.

However, the EU as well as Germany do not intend to give up their rulings and concepts of which they are convinced that they are favourable. In Continental Europe the conceptual view of a firm is still based on the stakeholder concept, notwithstanding the shareholder concept has gained importance due to market pressures.

One example for this assumption is that most of the new auditing rulings are not restricted to audits of "issuing companies" but to all statutory audits. In addition, Germany is not willing to give up its strict rules to protect individual rights concerning personal data or the confidentiality of client related data of auditors. Another major difference is the fact, that the primary professional oversight is still left to the auditors' profession (peer review and WPK), whereas in the U.S. the profession has lost this function totally.

Despite this reluctance of change of the EU and Member States in particular areas, a considerable convergence could be observed between the U.S. on the one hand and the EU and its Member State Germany on the other hand. Concerning the investigated issues of external corporate governance, it is a onesided convergence process with the EU and Germany as a Member State shifting towards the rules of SOX.

Conclusions

The paper demonstrates a two-fold impact of SOX in referring to regulations concerning the auditors' profession oversight, auditor independence and auditing standards.

On the one hand due to the applied market place approach SOX had direct impacts on non-U.S. auditors of companies subject to SOX in terms of conflicts of law and additional costs. The conflicts of law have been lessened by exemptions granted by the SEC and the PCAOB. Nevertheless, the auditors have direct costs in terms of additional duties and restrictions and indirect costs in terms of a high risk because a non-compliance will result in a loss of an auditor's clients subject to SOX.

On the other hand the investigation of external corporate governance issues reveals that SOX has indirect impacts on the German and European legislation serving as a model for new regulations. This finding is to some extent in conflict with the statement of the EU Commission prevailing that it has an own long-term strategy of modernizing corporate governance and therefore does not consider their regulatory activities as direct consequences or even a copy of SOX.

	Sarbanes-Oxley Act	EU	Germany
Public Oversight	Establishes the PCAOB	Requires establishment and	Establishes the APAK
	Registration of all public	cooperation of public oversight	(§ 66a WPO due to the APAG)
	accounting firms subject to	boards in each Member State	Registration of auditors with the WPK (§ $37 f WPO$)
	Investigations by the	8 th Directive):	Investigations and sanctions directly by
	PCAOB to ensure compli-	Registration of statutory audit	the WPK with the APAK as final decision
	ance	firms in a public register (Chap.	body (§§57a, 61a WPO, § 67 pp. WPO)
	(Title I)	3 Art. 15-20 Modernized 8 th	
		General principles for investiga-	
		tions and sanctions (Chap. 8 Art.	
		30 Modernized 8 th Directive)	
Major differences:			
Concerning public oversigh	nt, SOX applies to auditors of p	ublicly listed companies, the Europ	ean and German regulations to all auditors.
In the EU and in Germany	the public oversight is mainly VDV. Hence, the degree of the	based on the performance and resu	alts of the mandatory peer review as well as
than in the U.S	WPK. Hence, the degree of the	involvement of the auditors profe	ssion in the EO and in Germany is stronger
Auditor Independence	Specifies non-audit services	Services that might compromise	Specifies non-audit services for all com-
Prohibited Activities	(bookkeeping, information	the statutory audit firms' inde-	panies (bookkeeping and preparing annual
	systems design, valuation,	pendence (Chap. 5, Art. 23	accounts, internal audit, management,
	management broker or	Review and monitoring non-	tion) (\$ 319 III No 3 HGB due to the
	dealer and legal);	audit services by the audit com-	BilReG);
	pre-approval of all audit	mittee (Chap. 11, Art. 39 Mod-	Other specified material non-audit ser-
	and non-audit services by	ernized 8 th Directive);	vices for public interest companies (mate-
	201 p	No pre-approval is required.	consulting information system) (8 319a
	=01 p.)		HGB due to BilReG);
			No pre-approval is required.
Rotation	Internal rotation after 5	For public interest companies	For public interest companies internal
	years for lead partners and	internal rotation after 5 years or	rotation after / years with a cooling off period of 3 years (8 319a I No. 4 HGB)
	with a cooling off period of	after 7 years with no explicit	period of 5 years (§ 519a TNO. 4 HOB)
	one year	cooling off period	
	(Sec. 203)	(Chap. 11, Art. 40 Modernized	
Cooling Off Period	Prohibits audit services for	Directive) Prohibits for public interest	No cooling off period
Cooling On Feriod	one vear if an auditor	companies key managements	No cooling on period
	becomes a CEO, CFO,	positions for two years if an	
	CAO or controller of a	auditor changes to a client	
	client (Sec. 206)	(Chap. 11, Art. 40 Modernized ^{8th Directive)}	
Maior differences:		8 Dilective)	L
Concerning the prohibited	activities, SOX applies to audi	ts of publicly listed companies, the	European regulations to all statutory audits,
and Germany has a two le	evel approach for audits of pu	blic interest companies (i.e. compa	anies having securities listed) and all other
companies.	endence requirements SOX a	publics to audits of publicly listed co	mpanies, the European and German regula-
tions (if existent) apply to p	public interest companies. Ther	eby, according to the German regul	ations, public interest companies include all
companies having securitie	s listed at a regulated market a	nd according to the European regula	ations, additionally all banks, other financial
institutions and all company	ies that are of significant public	relevance.	
Auditing Standards	PCAOB amends and alters	Requires auditors' compliance	Standards (in accordance with ISA) issued
0	auditing and attestation	with auditing standards adopted	by a private professional body (IDW)
	standards, quality control	by the EU commission and with	approved by the WPK (§ 4 Art. 1 WPO
	standards, and ethics stan-	etnics standards enacted by the Member States and based ar	aue to APAG)
	Specifies certain auditing	standards of the IFAC (Chap 6	
	standards (retention period	Art. 26 Modernized 8 th Direc-	
	of 7 years for audit work	tive)	
	papers, provision of second		
	for internal control system		
	and quality control stan-		
	dards) (Sec. 103);		
NA : 1100	No reference to the ISA.		L
The auditing standards in C	Fermany are only virtually bind	ling, according to SOX and the Fu	opean regulations the standards are manda-
tory.		o, and any to borr and the Eur	r
In contrast to the German	and the European regulations,	the auditing standards promulgate	d by the PCAOB pursuant to SOX are not

Table 3. Com	parison of S	SOX and	Correspo	onding EU	J and	German	Regulations

VIRTUS



Figure 3. Impacts and influences of SOX

Although differences in the concept of the firm and in the concept of stakeholder vs. shareholder orientation prevail, a one-sided process of convergence between the U.S. and Europe is going on with regard to external corporate governance. The indirect influences of SOX on foreign regulations foster a convergence of the Continental European corporate governance systems towards the U.S. system.

References

- Dülfer, E. (1990). "Public Limited Company", Handbook of German Business Management, ed. by Grochla, E. et al., Stuttgart: C.E. Poeschel Verlag: 2041-2054.
- Engelen, K. C. (2004). "Preventing European `Enronitis`", The International Economy, Summer 2004: 40-47.
- European Commission (2002). Statutory Auditors' Independence in the EU: A Set of Fundamental Principles, C(2002) 1873.
- 4. European Commission (2002a). Report of the High Level Group of Company Law Experts on a modern regulatory framework for company law in Europe.
- European Commission (2003), Communication from the commission to the council and the European Parliament – Reinforcing the statutory audit in the EU, Official Journal C 236/2, 02/10/2003.
- European Commission (2003a), Modernising Company Law and Enhancing Corporate Governance in the European Union – A Plan to Move Forward.
- European Commission (2004), Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts and amending Council Directives 78/660/ EEC and 83/349/EEC, COM (2004) 177 final.
- European Commission (2004a), Corporate Governance and Company Law: -Commission announces result of consultation on Action Plan, IP/03/1581.
- 9. European Commission (2004b), Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Preventing and Combating Corporate and Financial Malpractice, COM (2004) 611 final.

- European Commission (2004c), Draft Commission Recommendation on fostering an appropriate regime for the remuneration of directors of listed companies.
- European Commission (2004d), Draft Commission Recommendation on the role of non-executive or supervisory directors and on the committees of the (supervisory) board.
- 12. European Commission (2004e), Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC concerning the annual accounts of certain types of companies and consolidated accounts, available at: <u>http://www.europa.eu.int/comm/internal</u> <u>market/accounting/docs/board/prop-dir_en.pdf</u>.
- European Commission (2004f), Synthesis of the IPM-Consultation, including substantiated comments received beyond, available at: http://www.europa.eu. int/comm/internal_market/accounting/docs/board/200 4-consult-synthesis_en.pdf.
- European Parliament and Council (2002), Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the application of international accounting standards, Official Journal L243, 11/09/2002, p. 1-4.
- European Union (1984), Eighth Council Directive 84/253/EEC of 10 April 1984 based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty on the approval of persons responsible for carrying out the statutory audits of accounting documents, Official Journal L 126, 12/05/1984.
- European Union (2002), Consolidated versions of the Treaty on European Union and of the Treaty establishing the European Community, Official Journal C 325, 24/12/2002.
- European Union Delegation of the European Commission to the United States (2004), The European Union – A Guide for Americans.
- Fédération des Experts Comptables Européens (FEE) (2004), Europe's Accountants ask Commission, Council of Ministers and Parliament to address weakness in proposed EU Audit Directive.
- Fédération des Experts Comptables Européens (FEE) (2004a), Safeguarding Auditors Independence, Press Release PR46.
- Gruson, M. and Kubicek, M. (2003). "Der Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Corporate Governance und das deutsche

VIRTUS

Aktienrecht", Die Aktiengesellschaft, Vol. 48 (2003): 337-352 and 393-406.

- Haller, A. (2002). "Financial Accounting Developments in the European Union, Past Events and Future Prospects", European Accounting Review, Vol. 11, Issue 1, 2002: 153-190.
- Haller, A. and Eierle, B. (2004). "The Adaptation of German Accounting Rules to IFRS: A Legislative Balancing Act", Accounting in Europe, Vol. 1, 2004: 27-50.
- Haller, A. and Walton, P. (2003). "Country differences and harmonization", International Accounting, ed. by Walton, P., Haller, A., and Raffournier, B., 2nd edition, London et. al.: Thomson Learning: 1-34.
- Haller, A. and Geirhofer, S. (2005). "Initiativen der EU zur Verbesserung der Abschlussprüfung und der Corporate Governance", Haller, A., Wirtschaftsprüfung und Corporate Governance in Österreich, 2005: 9-42.
- Heininger K. and Bertram K. (2004). "Neue Anforderungen an Berufsaufsicht und Qualitätskontrolle durch das Abschlussprüferaufsichtsgesetz (APAG)", Der Betrieb, 2004: 1737-1741.
- Hilber, M. and Hartung, J. (2003). "Auswirkungen des Sarbanes-Oxley Act auf deutsche WP-Gesellschaften: Konflikte mit der Verschwiegenheitspflicht der Wirtschaftsprüfer und dem Datenschutzrecht", Betriebs-Berater, Vol. 58 (2003): 1054-1060.
- IDW and WPK (2003). "Gemeinsame Stellungnahme IDW und WPK zu den Registrierungsanforderungen des PCAOB", March 31, 2003.
- Kersting, C. (2003). "Auswirkungen des Sarbanes-Oxley-Gesetzes in Deutschland: Können deutsche Unternehmen das Gesetz befolgen?", ZIP, Vol. 2003.
- Kersting, C. (2003a). "Das Audit Committee nach dem Sarbanes-Oxley-Gesetz – Ausnahmeregelungen für ausländische Emittenten", ZIP, Vol. 44 (2003): 2010-2017.
- Kulms, R. (2004), "European Corporate Governance: a Path to Market Efficiency?", Working paper 2004, available at: http://www.isnie. org/ISNIE04/ Papers/kulms.pdf
- Ministry of Justice (2001). Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex, available at: http://www.bmj.

bund.de/enid/3d7a76c8604b57dbb7b9759a543c80fe,0 /a4.html.

- 32. Ministry of Justice (2003), Bundesregierung stärkt Anlegerschutz und Unternehmensintegrität, available at: http://www.bmj.de/enid/ 74b971960d22e5a8c68d 3108784122ce,0/ai.html
- Morrissey, R., Bostelman, J. and Clayton J. (2003). "US proves flexible on Sarbanes-Oxley for foreigners", International Financial Law Review, Vol. 21 (2003), No. 3: 14-16.
- Perino, Michael A. (2003), "American Corporate Reform Abroad: Sarbanes-Oxley and the Foreign Private Issuer", European Business Organization Law Review (EBOR), Vol. 4 (2003): 213-245.
- 35. Rauchhaus, R. and Sieler, C. (2004). "Anforderungen des Sarbanes-Oxley-Gesetzes", Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 15.11.2004: 21.
- Ribstein, L. (2003). "International Implications of Sarbanes-Oxley: Raising the Rent on U.S. Law", Journal of Corporate Law Studies, Vol. 3 (2003), No. 2.
- Schildbach, T. (2004). "Der Richtlinienvorschlag der EU-Kommission vom 17. Februar zur Prüfung von Jahres- und Konzernabschluß – Weichenstellung für das Enforcement in Europa", Betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung und Praxis 2004: 252–267.
- SEC (2003). Foreign Companies Registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (December 31, 2003), available at: http://www.sec.gov /divisions/corpfin/internatl/geographic.htm.
- Van Hulle, K. and Lanfermann, G. (2003). "Europäische Entwicklungen zur Abschlussprüfung vor dem Hintergrund des Sarbanes-Oxley Act", Die Wirtschaftsprüfung Sonderheft 2003: 102–109.
- 40. Working Group on External Financial Reporting of the Schmalenbach-Gesellschaft-Deutsche Gesellschaft für Betriebswirtschaft: Baetge, J., Berndt, H., Bruns, H., Busse von Colbe, W., Coenenberg, A., Korst, H., Lederle, H., Metze, A., Ordelheide, D., Pfingsten, H., Reinhard, H., Schnicke, C., Schwitters, J., Seeberg, T., Siepe, G., Urban, P., Weber, H., Weismüller, A., and v. Wysocki, K. (1995). "German Accounting Principles: An Institutionalized Framework", Accounting Horizons, Vol. 9 (1995), No. 3.

VIRTUS NTERPRESS

Appendices

Annex 1. Regulations of the EU Concerning Auditing and other Corporate Governance Issues

Year	Title of Pronouncement	Area
1984	Eighth Council Directive 84/253/EEC based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty on the approval of persons responsible for carrying out the statutory audits of accounting documents	Auditing
1998	Commission Communication "Statutory audit in the European Union, the way forward"	Auditing
2000	Commission Recommendation 2001/256/EC on quality assurance for the statutory audit in the European Union	Auditing
2002	Commission Recommendation 2002/590/EC Statutory Auditors' Independence in the EU: A Set of Fundamental Principles	Auditing
2003	Communication COM/2003/286 "Reinforcing the Statutory audit in the European Union"	Auditing
2004	Proposal for a Directive on statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts and amending Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC	Auditing
Year	Title of Pronouncement	Area
1968	First Council Directive 68/151/EEC on co-ordination of safeguards which, for the protection of the interests of members and others, are required by Member States of companies within the meaning of the second paragraph of Article 58 of the Treaty, with a view to making such safeguards equivalent throughout the Community	Corporate Governance
1976	Second Council Directive 77/91/EEC on coordination of safeguards which, for the protection of the interests of members and others, are required by Member States of companies within the meaning of the second paragraph of Article 58 of the Treaty, in respect of the formation of public limited liability companies and the maintenance and alteration of their capital, with a view to making such safeguards equivalent	Corporate Governance
1978	Third Council Directive 78/855/EEC based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty concerning mergers of public limited liability companies	Corporate Governance
1982	Sixth Council Directive 82/891/EEC based on Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty, concerning the division of public limited liability companies	Corporate Governance
1989	Twelfth Council Company Law Directive 89/667/EEC on single-member private limited- liability companies	Corporate Governance
1989	Eleventh Council Directive 89/666/EEC concerning disclosure requirements in respect of branches opened in a Member State by certain types of company governed by the law of another State	Corporate Governance
2001	Directive 2001/86/EC supplementing the Statute for a European company with regard to the involvement of employees	Corporate Governance
2003	Directive 2003/58/EC amending Council Directive 68/151/EEC, as regards disclosure re- quirements in respect of certain types of companies	Corporate Governance
2004	Directive 2004/25/EC on takeover bids	Corporate Governance
2004	Commission Recommendation Directors' pay – Commission sets out guidance on disclosure and shareholder control	Corporate Governance
2004	Commission proposes collective board responsibility and more disclosure on transactions, off-balance sheet vehicles and corporate governance	Corporate Governance
2004	Commission Recommendation to ensure a strong role for independent directors	Corporate Governance
2004	Commission proposes to simplify the formation, maintenance and alteration of companies' capital	Corporate Governance

Subject Matter and Definitions	Subject matter are only statutory audits by community law
(Articles 1 and 2)	Defining auditor and audit firm separately
	Defining public interest entities
Approval, Continuous Education and	Enhancing compatibility with internal market rules and allowing fully integrated EU audit
Mutual Recognition	firms
(Articles 3 to 14)	Prescribing an aptitude test for the approval of statutory auditors from other Member States
(Requiring compulsory training on IFRS and ISA
Registration	Facilitating a public electronic register containing information about statutory auditors and
(Articles 15 to 20)	audit firms
Professional Ethics and Professional	Defining the code of ethics adopted by IFAC as starting point for professional ethics of EU
Secrecy (Article 21 to 22)	statutory auditors and audit firms
Independence	Establishing the principle of independence
(Articles 23 to 25)	Defining independence of audit firms
(Establishing principles for adequate audit fees
Auditing Standards and Audit Report	Establishing uniform audit standards for the EU
(Articles 26 to 28)	Introducing principle of full responsibility of the group auditor for the audit report
Ouality Assurance	Introducing requirements for quality assurance
(Article 29)	Defining criteria for quality assurance systems
Investigations and Sanctions	Setting up general principles of investigation and sanctions
(Article 30)	Demanding effective and dissuasive sanctions and disclosure of sanctions to the public
Public oversight and regulatory arrange-	Introducing a system of public oversight
ments between Member States	Regulating the EU coordination mechanism in terms of public oversight
(Articles 31 to 34)	Establishing principle of mutual recognition of public oversight of Member States
Appointment, Dismissal and Communi-	Regulating appointment to ensure independence
cations	Regulating dismissal for significant reasons
(Articles 35 to 37)	Ensuring documentation of communication between entity and its auditor
Special Provisions for the Statutory	Establishing a transparency report
Audit of Public Interest Entities	Establishing audit committees
(Articles 38 to 43)	Additional regulations on independency
	Additional regulation on quality assurance
	Additional regulation on public oversight
	Assistance of the audit committee during the nomination process
International Aspects	Regulating the mutual recognition of auditors
(Articles 44 to 47)	Regulating registry information for auditors and audit firms of other countries
	Cooperation with authorities of other countries
Transnational and Final Provisions	Founding of an audit regulatory committee
(Articles 48 to 45)	Regulating disclosures of fees paid for audit and non-audit services

Annex 2. Content of the Proposal for a Modernized 8th Directive

VIRTUS NTERPRESS®

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF GERMAN GROWTH COMPANIES. EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE QUAL-ITY AND THE STRUCTURE OF SUPERVISORY BOARDS OF COMPANIES LISTED ON TEC-DAX

Alexander Bassen, Maik Kleinschmidt*, Christine Zöllner

Abstract

This article analyses the importance of corporate governance for growth companies, derives specific requirements for them and evaluates the corporate governance quality for companies listed on Tec-Dax. Growth companies' characteristics imply a comparatively high importance of corporate governance due to a high level of business and agency risk. Several corporate governance elements are therefore particularly important for growth companies. Overall, the empirical results imply a high conformity of the Tec-Dax companies with the GCGC criteria with some exceptions for specific companies and criteria. But the analysis of the quality of their supervisory boards delivers a differentiated result as in some of the analysed companies the effectiveness of the supervisory board is questionable.

Keywords: corporate governance, supervisory board, TEC-DAX

* University of Hamburg, Von Melle Park 9, D-20146 Hamburg Phone: +49 - 40 - 4 28 38 40 63, Fax: + 49 - 40 - 4 28 38 27 80 Email: Maik.Kleinschmidt@wiso.uni-hamburg.de

Introduction

Although corporate governance is of particular importance for growth companies and therefore, also of interest for their investors, most governance research is focused on large and mature organisations (Markman et al. 2001:278; Van den Berghe/Levrau 2002: $(125)^{1}$. In order to foster the progress of knowledge on this topic, this article is aimed at presenting the findings of previous research and new empirical results from Germany. Therefore, the article analyses the particular importance of corporate governance for growth companies and defines specific requirements for the implementation of effective corporate governance in these companies. Furthermore, the implementation of good corporate governance among German growth companies is evaluated. Due to the limited knowledge on the corporate governance of growth companies the article is of an explorative nature.

After this introduction, the theory and existing literature on the corporate governance of growth companies is analysed. First, the comparatively high importance of corporate governance for these companies is explained. It is caused by a high level of business and agency risk, which increases the likelihood of opportunistic behaviour of the managers and the severity of the consequences of wrong decisions alike. From the characteristics of growth companies specific requirements for their corporate governance are derived. These (requirements) enable the realisation of the growth potential and diminish the risk of agency problems. In the next paragraph the corporate governance quality of German growth companies is analysed empirically taking the criteria of the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) as a measure. After this broad perspective, the quality of the supervisory boards is analysed in detail since they represent a core element of corporate governance. In the conclusion the main findings are summarised and discussed.

Importance of Corporate Governance in Growth Companies

The importance of corporate governance is dependent on the probability of both uncertainty and opportunism (Williamson 1975: 20). Thus, the importance of good corporate governance depends on one hand, on the level of business risk that determines uncertainty as well as the likelihood of opportunism and



¹ For an overview of literature on governance of growth companies see Dailey at al. 2002.

on the other hand, on the level of agency risk that determines the possibility of opportunism. (Barney et al. 1989: 64; Van den Berghe/Levrau 2002: 125) Due to their specific characteristics² growth companies possess a relatively high level of business risk as well as agency risk. On this basis, specific requirements for corporate governance in growth companies are derived.

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance is the framework of management and control of a company. (Grundsatzkommission Corporate Governance 2000: 1; Bassen 2002: 20)

Bases are principal-agent-problems between the owner and the manager of a company. They occur because of diverging interests: whereas the owner has the value maximisation of the company as a target, the manager also has personal interest that may interfere with the former. (Jensen/Meckling 1976: 308 ff.) When the agent takes decisions that are inconsistent with the interests of the owners then he is acting opportunistically. (Frederiksen/Klofsten 2001: 204) Opportunistic behaviour is enforced by asymmetric information because the principal cannot recognise the quality of the agents' actions. (Smith/Watts 1992: 275)

Opportunistic behaviour of the managers can cause four generic problems for investors:

- Managers are not working hard to maximize value
- Managers know more about their quality and capabilities than the investors
- Situations in which investors and managers disagree

Important managers could hold-up the investors by threatening to leave the company (Kaplan/ Strömberg 2004: 2177-2178)

Effective corporate governance can reduce these problems that are particularly severe in growth companies as explained in the next paragraphs. Many of their characteristics increase the likelihood of opportunistic behaviour, even the unity of ownership and management.

High Business Risk

Business risk is determined by the probability of survival of a business, which is predominantly determined by its profitability. Therefore, the level of business risk is a function of the uncertainty of profitability, which again is determined by the return on investment (Barney et al. 1989: 64; Porter 2004: 5 ff.). In particular, the following three characteristics of growth companies imply a comparatively high level of business risk. Growth companies normally operate in highly dynamic environments. To succeed in these industries and to realise high growth, constant change is required, which leads to a high degree of internal dynamic. They are often exploring markets where competitive equilibriums among buyers, suppliers, potential entrants, current competitors, and product/service substitutes have not been established (Porter 2004: 215 ff.; Fiet 1995: 555; Küting 2000a: 597). Growth companies normally cannot take advantage of a high profile in the market, which makes them more vulnerable. Additionally, they typically are built on the challenging assessment and government of innovation, which has become even more difficult during the last decades as information technologies and the globalization of industries have blurred industry confines and severed competition. (Prahalad/Hamel 1994: 5 ff)

As the environment of growth companies is so dynamic and their markets are highly competitive, they are required to respond quickly to changing conditions in order to succeed. For this a great extent of flexibility is important, which leads to a high degree of internal dynamic. (McGuire, 2000: 33). The internal processes undergo constant change rather than being firmly established, which increases the risk. (Auge-Dickhut et al. 2000: 4.3.2.1)

Growth companies are highly dependent on their managers. Their management consists in many cases of the founders that still own parts of the company. (Bessler et al. 2001: 254; He/Conyon 2004: 53 ff.) They have specific and unique knowledge about the companies' opportunities and assets as well as the capabilities to exploit them. (Kirzner 1997: 67ff.) Moreover, they possess information about the dayto-day business and the future prospects (Markman et al. 2001: 275). That means that the success of the business is highly dependent on the entrepreneurs or managers and their personal knowledge and experience, which can have four negative consequences: First, the management of growth companies make great demands on the capabilities of the managers. The team is often small and its experiences are limited, but there are always more problems than the managers can handle at any given time. (Fredriksen/Klofsten 2001: 203) Thus, the quality of the managers constitutes an important risk factor for the success of the company. Second, there might be negative consequences if the managers leave the company as they take key knowledge and experiences with them and leave the company without leadership as the organisation is in many cases centred around them. Third, the possibility of opportunistic behaviour is very high, as the managers possess information that the owners lack. (Shane/Cable 2002: 365) They can make use of this information and act against the interest of the outside owners. Finally, the likelihood of opportunism is increased as the managers mainly make the decisions and might be more risk averse than the owners of a company. (Coffee 1987: 18; Jensen/Meckling 1976: 349) This is because managers invest most of their non-



² Growth companies are characterised by the exploitation of new opportunities, high capital requirements, scarce resources, a high degree of intangible assets, a short history, a high dependence on the managers, a high internal and external dynamic and low diversification. (Küting 2002a, Küting 2002b, Hayn 1998)

diversifiable and non-tradable capital in the growth firms, whereas the owners can more easily diversify risk by investing parts of their wealth in different companies. (Markman et al. 2001: 280) So managers might be reluctant to invest in risky but cash flow positive projects. But this risk-averse decisionmaking might lead to lower returns for the owners. (Gomez-Mejia et al. 2000: 9). Growth companies generally have a low level of diversification as they only operate in a small number of business areas, producing and offering few product lines. (Küting 2000a: 600 f.) In high technology firms, new products for example count for more than 50 % of their annual sales. (Schilling/Hill 1998: 67 ff.) This increases the business risk of a company, as its survival is dependent on only a few products. (Küting 2000a: 600 f.). A highly dynamic environment, dependence on the managers, and little diversification are three important factors that cause a high level of business risk. And this business risk enforces the importance of corporate governance not only because of severe consequences of poorer decision making by the managers, but also because of an increased likelihood of opportunistic behaviour by the managers. The next chapter will analyse the high level of agency risk, which facilitates opportunistic behaviour due to asymmetric information between the owners and the managers.

High Agency Risk

Agency risk concerns the probability that managers will make decisions that do not maximise the wealth of the investors. (Jensen/Meckling, 1976: 308f.) Growth companies are built on special opportunities. The entrepreneurs or the management of growth companies must recognise and capitalise on opportunities that others cannot yet see in order to gain high growth (Shane 2000: 448). The very characteristics of growth companies cause their relatively high level of agency risk. More specifically, the following four characteristics of growth companies determine the associated agency risk. The business of growth companies stands out because of its high specificity. As innovation increases, the complexity also increases. This demands higher information processing capabilities, which increases the agency problems (Markman 2001: 289). Owners of companies that lack such high information processing capabilities might not be able to fully understand the business, its associated risks and the information on its development. Additionally, the management is reluctant to fully disclose specific information in order to prevent others from pursuing opportunities the company is building on. (Shane/Cable 2002: 365) This makes it even more difficult to closely follow and control the development of a growth company and thereby facilitates opportunistic behaviour by the managers who possess the specific knowledge.

A comparatively great part of the companies' assets are intangible or difficult to quantify such as patents, rights and specific know-how. (Küting VIRTUS NTERPRESS®

2000b: 674) But a high importance of immaterial assets makes control of the management even more difficult as their existence, value and development is difficult to judge. This increases the possibility of intentional misinformation of the owners by the managers. (Gompers/Lerner 2001: 155)

Due to their short history, growth companies lack a track record and a high profile. (Hayn 1998: 15) That means little information is available about the previous development of a business, making it hard for outside owners to evaluate it. Moreover, without historic information, managers can more easily present a false picture of the business. (Smith/Smith 2000: 399; Achleitner/Bassen 2002: 1194). The characteristic of managerial ownership of growth companies can strengthen or weaken the associated agency risk. There are two different hypotheses - both empirically supported - that predict either positive or negative consequences of a partial ownership of the management.

According to the convergence of interest hypothesis, management ownership should increase a company's value by aligning the interests of owners and managers. (Morck et al. 1988: 294) As the managers are also owners of the company, they should target value maximisation of the company just as the other owners do. Supporting this hypothesis, the likelihood of opportunistic behaviour, especially consumption on the job, increases with the amount of outside equity. (Jensen/Meckling 1976: 346) This shows that the managers have incentives to maximise the firm value when they own a part of the company. In contrast to this, the entrenchment hypothesis predicts that managers with a substantial share in the company can have negative effects on the value of the firm for the owners. By means of influence and voting rights, they can guarantee their employment at attractive conditions rather than increase the value of the company. (Morck et al. 1988: 294) According to this hypothesis, managers prefer to increase their living standards by taking advantage of their employment rather than by increasing the value of their shares of the company. Baker and Gompers (1999) present an overview of different consequences of managerial ownership of the company: The managers might be immune to career concerns (Fama 1980: 288 ff.; Holstrom 1999: 169 ff.), the discipline of the product market (Hart 1983: ff.), monitoring by large shareholders 366 (Shleifer/Vishny 1986: 461 ff.), and value enhancing takeovers (Jensen/Ruback 1983: 5 ff.; Franks/Mayer 1990: 189 ff.). This hypothesis is corroborated by analysing the relationship between the firm value and the managerial voting power that is related to their ownership. It can be shown that the firm value is positively related to voting power if this is small, but negatively related to voting power if it becomes large. (Stulz 1987: 32 f.) Empirically it is shown for large firms that a management ownership has a positive effect on the firm value if the stake is smaller than 5 %; it has a negative effect if the stake is between 5 and 25 % and the effect becomes positive again for stakes over 25 %. This supports the entrenchment hypothesis for stakes between 5 and 25 % as such an ownership level is associated, among others, with increased voting power and dominance of inside directors. (Morck et al. 1988: 300 f.). The specificity of the business, the importance of immaterial assets, the companies' short history and the managerial ownership all cause a high level of agency risk that enforces the possibilities of the managers to act opportunistically. Together with the consequences of the high level of business risk, this explains the great importance of effective corporate governance for growth companies. In the next chapter specific requirements for growth companies are derived.

Specific Requirements

Taking the particular characteristics of growth companies into account, there are specific requirements to for their corporate governance. They concern four specific elements that have a higher importance for these companies compared to the more traditional companies at which most of the recommendations – such as the different national and international corporate governance codes – are targeted. But this does not imply that other corporate governance elements are of minor importance for growth companies.

Figure 1 about here

Effective control by the supervisory board is of utmost importance for growth companies. It constitutes an important and formal mechanism for monitoring top managers. (Fama 1980: 294) Furthermore, it has a consulting function, which is especially important in the case of growth companies where human resources are scarce and the experience of managers limited. (Rössler 2001: 221 f.; Küting 2000a: 597) In order to fulfil these functions effectively, two basic requirements apart from the required effort have to be accomplished: independence and qualification of the supervisory board members. The effort needed for effective monitoring and consulting of the management in growth companies is comparatively high as the work is very demanding. Because of this, it is advised to limit the number of offices of the board members. Four or five offices seem to be a reasonable number for members. (Van den Berghe/Levrau, 2002: 131).

Given the ownership and voting rights of the managers, they might also decide on members of the supervisory board. But effective control requires critical monitoring of the managers, which might not be assured if family members or friends of the managers take over this function. (Grundei/Talaulicar 2003: 194) But also former management board members and representatives of the parent company might not be able to independently monitor and consult the managers. (Du Plessis 2004: 1149)

Moreover, the supervisory board must have comprehensive qualifications in order to be able to monitor and consult the management board. (Markman et al. 2001: 286) Dynamic growth companies cannot be effectively controlled with easily quantified performance objectives but instead require greater knowledge and judgement. (McGuire 2000: 33) Because of the high likelihood and possibility of opportunistic behaviour, the supervisory board also needs experience in controlling managers. Therefore three key qualifications are needed in a company's supervisory board: professionalism, leadership, and control competence. Because of this high importance of qualified supervisory board members, research from countries with a one-tier-system propose a greater number of inside board members as more suitable for growth companies. They possess an indepth knowledge of the firms' capabilities and its environment that is very valuable for the effective control function. (McGuire 2000: 35; Morck et al. 1998: 307; Baysinger/Hoskisson 1990: 76 f.) Members of German supervisory boards are outsiders on the contrary.

Adequate incentives for managers may contribute to the convergence of interests between the managers and outside owners and thereby contribute to a positive business development. There are two reasons for the particular importance of suitable incentive structures for the members of the management board. First, the fixed salary as well as the cash granted is recommended to be adequate to the companies' financial resources. As growth companies especially young ones - often have liquidity as a bottleneck because of their scarce resources and high capital needs, too high fixed cash salaries might worsen the companies' financial situation. (Küting 2000a: 597). A more contingent compensation of the management would increase the business risk of the company. (Kaplan/Strömberg 2004: 2203) Second, incentives for the managers can contribute to the exploitation of the growth potential, which often requires a longer time perspective. Therefore, a stronger emphasis on longer-term incentives could foster the investment in longer-term projects and give managers the flexibility required to exploit such projects. (McGuire 2000: 34) A higher level of longterm pay in the mix of total compensation is said to overcome some of the problems arising from the divergence of interests. (Markman et al. 2001: 281)

In order to decrease the business risk that arises from the very characteristics of growth companies, an effective risk management is of highest importance. The particular risk factors of businesses have to be identified and appropriate ways to measure and track them have to be developed. Because of the high importance of immaterial assets and the great internal and external dynamic, the evaluation of the risk is a difficult task. The continuous monitoring requires effective systems for early detection of threats for the business. (Töpfer 2005: 218; Schneider 2001: 197). Given the high business risk and the high agency risk of the growth companies a high level of transparency is required, both internally in regard to the supervisory board and other members of the company, as well as externally in regard to investors and other stakeholders. On one hand, extensive and detailed information on the development of the company and its markets is important for the stakeholders in order to judge the associated business risk. Given the specificity of the businesses, detailed explanations are often required for their-understanding. Especially the members of the supervisory board depend on a high level of transparency in order to fulfil their control function effectively. (Baysinger/Hoskisson 1990: 77). On the other hand, an open information policy can send a positive signal to the outside owners and potential investors by reducing the information asymmetries. Better information signals that the managers are acting openly and refraining from opportunistic behaviour. This might increase the attractiveness for investors and thereby the chances of the companies to obtain further financing, which is crucial for the exploitation of their growth potentials. (Kurzich/Rautenstrauch 2004: 85 f.). From the characteristics of growth companies effective control by the supervisory board, incentives for the managers, effective risk management, and high transparency have been derived as key corporate governance elements. Particular attention should be paid to their implementation.

Empirical Analysis of the Corporate Governance Quality

In this chapter the corporate governance quality of German growth companies is analysed empirically. Given the high importance of corporate governance for these companies, their ideally high commitment is expected to be reflected in a good corporate governance quality, especially in regard to the four elements that were identified as particularly important. The analysis is done on the basis of the GCGC that is introduced first. Then the conformity with the criteria of this code is analysed in two ways: the level of conformity for single companies is determined as well as critical criteria for all companies. Finally, the quality of the growth companies' supervisory boards is analysed in detail because of their particular importance. The chapter closes with a discussion of the results.

Corporate Governance Code as Instrument

The GCGC is the main instrument for the implementation and evaluation of the corporate governance quality of public German companies. It is aimed at enabling the companies and the capital market alike to implement good corporate governance. In this paragraph its development and elements are introduced. The first internationally accepted standards for good corporate governance are the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance that were published in 1999 and revised in 2004. They describe shareholder rights, equal treatment, disclosure, and transparency. (OECD 1999: 16) Being the basis for other guidelines, national distinctions such as different financial and juridical systems require national adaptations. (Hopt 1999: 901 f.)

For Germany the GCGC³ is the authoritative instrument. Its first version was published in February 2002 by the corresponding government commission. The objective of the code is to enhance the transparency of the German corporate governance structure for national and international investors, and to set standards for good corporate governance. (Government Commission German Corporate Governance Code 2003: 1)

The GCGC covers six chapters and criteria with different levels of binding character: existing law, shall-recommendations, and should-suggestions. Companies can deviate from the shallrecommendations and should-suggestions. In the case of shall-recommendations, companies are legally required to follow the comply-or-explain principle, (§ 161 Stock Corporation Law) meaning the management and supervisory board must disclose deviations yearly. In the case of deviations from should-suggestions, disclosure is voluntary. So the GCGC is not a law but a flexible framework that follows the idea of a responsible organization, which uses the code in a flexible manner for transparent management and control. (Cromme 2003: 139 ff.) Until now the code has been adapted twice: in November 2002 and in May 2003.

The six chapters of the GCGC can be grouped under the following three headings:

Management: This comprises the chapters "Cooperation between the Management Board and Supervisory Board" and "Management Board" and includes criteria that are related to the structure, the incentives and the tasks of the managers. On one hand, criteria concern the supply of information to the supervisory board so that it can effectively control the company. On the other hand, criteria ask for incentives for the management that are aligned to the success of the company. Further criteria concern, for example, the independence of the managers and the publication of a corporate governance report.

Internal Control: The chapter "Management Board" comprises four topics that are grouped under this heading. First, the structure of the supervisory board is a key element. Qualification, independence and continuity should be considered when members are selected. Moreover, the supervisory board should possess comprehensive control and decision rights,

³ After two different initiatives created guidelines for good corporate governance in Germany, namely the German Panel on Corporate Governance and the Berlin Initiative Group, the federal Government established the German Government Commission on Corporate Governance in 2000. This commission proposed a reform of the German corporate governance system including among others the development of a GCGC. (Baums 2001: 63) This was done by the implementation of the Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code that comprised in the majority by managers that were complemented by academics and capital market participants.

for example when it comes to the appointment and the compensation of the managers. The third element is a goal-oriented compensation of the supervisory board members. Finally, the efficiency of the supervisory board should be assured by a good information basis and the implementation of commissions.

External Control: The chapters "Shareholders and the General Meeting", "Transparency", and "Reporting and Audit of the Annual Financial Statements" under this heading include the following four elements: The exercise of information and decision rights by the shareholders at the general meeting should be facilitated by several criteria. A transparent information policy asks for extensive disclosure of information such as information on the shareholdings of managers and members of the supervisory board as well as for equal treatment of all shareholders. The third element concerns accounting according to the rules. Finally, the code asks for an independent annual audit. The GCGC includes many of the criteria that are relevant for growth companies. Nevertheless, the code does not cover all the important aspects or covers them only partially as some criteria are not specific enough to fully capture the described requirements.

The independence of supervisory board members is included in the criteria but it does not, for example, specify the personal relationship to members of the management board as a problem. Furthermore, according to the criteria the compensation of the members of the management board should be appropriate and include variable parts with short and long-term perspectives. But neither the adequacy of the compensation is operationalised nor is the level of fixed compensation to be oriented to the financial power of the company. This could be a limitation in the use of the GCGC for the evaluation of the corporate governance quality of growth companies.

Therefore, a more detailed analysis of the supervisory board is undertaken apart from the analysis of the conformity with the GCGC criteria.

Methodology

The empirical study is undertaken for the German companies listed on Tec-Dax, Deutsche Börse's segment for high-technology companies on the basis of information from the year 2003, if possible from 31.12.2003. The segment of the stock exchange was selected as its listed companies have most of the described characteristics of growth companies. In order to determine the corporate governance quality of growth companies, the conformity with the criteria of the GCGC - in the version from 21.05.2003 as well as further corporate governance information were collected. Only 23 of the 30 companies listed on Tec-Dax are analysed because the other seven companies either did not publish their annual report between 01.06. and 31.12.2003 or did not have their headquarters in Germany so that the underlying version of the GCGC does not apply to them. In order to allow a comparison of the results to those of more mature companies, the same analysis was also undertaken for the 30 German companies listed on the Dax segment and the 43 German companies listed on the M-Dax segment. Assuring maximum objectivity, only publicly available information that informed investors can receive is analysed, like annual reports, corporate governance reports or agendas of annual meetings. The data collection was undertaken following a fixed retrieval strategy. The corporate governance quality is computed as a function of the conformity with all 67 shallrecommendations and 16 should-suggestions. Every single criterion within these two groups possesses the same weighting. For the analysis of the effectiveness of the supervisory boards, the profiles of the members were screened, evaluating their independence and qualifications. As the sample size is very small, it is not possible to use elaborate statistical methods. Furthermore, this article is of an explorative nature as the knowledge on this topic is still very limited. Therefore, only descriptive results can be shown at this point.

Conformity of German Growth Companies

In the next two paragraphs the results of the conformity of German growth companies with the 83 shallrecommendations and should-suggestions are presented. First, the overall level of conformity for the 23 Tec-Dax companies is described. After that, the critical criteria that are not fulfilled by more than 50 % of the companies are addressed.

Level of Conformity

The analysed companies possess an average conformity of 83 % with all criteria of the GCGC. The spread between the companies with the highest level and the lowest level of conformity is 28 points⁴, which indicates that different levels of attention are dedicated to corporate governance among the companies. Three of the companies have a very good corporate governance quality with six or less deviations from the 83 criteria, representing a conformity level of at least 93 %.

These results compare to an average conformity of 90 % in the Dax segment and of 83 % in the M-Dax segment. The higher average corporate governance quality among the more mature and bigger Dax companies can be interpreted twofold: either the commitment of those companies to good corporate governance is higher or the criteria of the GCGC might be more suited for bigger companies.

There are clear differences when looking at the conformity with the criteria in the three areas management, internal control, and external control. The highest average conformity is 93 % for external control, which represents only 2,2 deviations from the 29 criteria under this heading. In contrast to this,

⁴ For detailed information on the results including the rankings for the companies see Bassen et al. 2004.



the average conformity with the criteria in management and internal control is lower with 81 % and 75 % respectively. This means that especially the criteria associated with the effectiveness of the work of the supervisory board - which has a special importance in the case of growth companies - are not comprehensively fulfilled.

This indicates that the overall conformity of Tec-Dax companies is relatively high but two restrictions exist: Particular companies have a low overall conformity and many companies have a low conformity with criteria concerning the internal control. It might be that the commitment to good corporate governance differs between the companies. Some companies attain a very high level of conformity and show their commitment by publishing comprehensive corporate governance reports. In contrast to this, other companies comply only with a number of the criteria, often without a sufficient explanation why they do not fulfil all criteria. There are even some companies that misinterpret the character or the content of criteria, may it be intentional or unintentional. These companies should pay more attention to their corporate governance and the publications on this topic in order to respond to its high importance.

Critical Criteria

A critical criterion is a recommendation or a suggestion that is fulfilled by 50 % or less of the analysed companies. There are eleven of the 83 criteria that are critical for Tec-Dax companies; all of them are should-suggestions. The shall-recommendations have an average fulfilment of 93 %, which means that 1,6 of the 23 companies on average do not fulfil a specific criterion. The lowest level of fulfilment is 52 %. In contrast to this, the fulfilment of the 16 shall-recommendations is much lower with an average of 40 %, which relates to 13,9 companies that do not fulfil a specific criterion. The number of critical criteria is comparatively higher than among the Dax companies, where only four criteria are critical. On the M-Dax the number is equally eleven. Among the critical criteria only one is particularly relevant for growth companies. It concerns the variable compensation of the members of the supervisory board that should include long-term elements with risk character. This relates to the specific requirement that the incentives of the managers are recommended to support a long-term focus. Only 30 % of the companies on the Tec-Dax fulfil this criterion. The other critical criteria are also of importance, but do not concern the specific requirements of growth companies that were introduced in chapter 2.2. Among them are, for example, two criteria that concern the compensation and the structure of the supervisory board, which is important for all companies.

Figure 2 about here

Overall, the analysis of the critical criteria also supports the result that the corporate governance of the Tec-Dax companies is of high quality if meas-VIRTUS

ured by the conformity with the criteria of the GCGC. These findings permit the question if whether the GCGC and the corresponding reporting are well suited for the requirements of growth companies. These doubts arise because the code was primarily targeted at bigger public companies without including specific criteria for particular types of companies. For example, the code asks for the establishment of committees for different topics. But given the small number of members in growth companies' supervisory boards, this requirement can be considered to be inefficient. This example shows that adaptations of the GCGC to the characteristics of growth companies as a whole and to the situation of the specific company are required.

Quality of Supervisory Boards

Because of the high importance of an effective supervisory board in growth companies and the fact that the effectiveness is not fully covered by the GCGC criteria, a more detailed analysis is done on the quality of the supervisory boards of the Tec-Dax companies. The analysis is undertaken based on the particular requirements of the control function of the supervisory boards of growth companies, namely the independence and the qualification of its members.

An effective supervisory board should have independent members that complimentarily possess the three qualifications control, professional and leadership competence. Independence comprises professional, personal and economic independence, which means that the members should not be former members of the management board, family members or friends of the managers or representatives of the parent company. (Markman et al. 2001: 285) Control competence means that the supervisory board members possess experience from supervisory boards outside the group. Professional competence can be proven by a management position in a company in a related industry or from research in a related area. Finally, members with leadership positions in other companies provide competence in leadership, a requirement to be able to evaluate the business development. (The Telecommunication Development Fund 2002: 9 f.) As the members of the board can complement each other, it is sufficient if the different competences are represented by at least one member. A supervisory board is evaluated as being effective if the independent members as a group have control, professional, and leadership competence. Only independent members were screened for the qualifications because dependent members might not effectively execute the monitoring function. (Grundei/Talaulicar 2003: 192 f.; Bassen 2002b: 158 ff.). The results indicate that of the 152 supervisory board members only 18 can be considered limitedly independent. These 18 members are from boards of eleven companies. So the qualifications were analysed only for the remaining 134 fully independent members. The results imply that seven supervisory boards, which represents 30 % of the total, lack at least one of the three competences: One supervisory board does not include a single independent member with control competence, meaning that no member is part of a supervisory board out of the group. In six boards there are no independent members with professional experience, neither from practice nor from research. And three boards lack members with competence in leadership as they do not include an independent member that acts or acted as manager in another company.

Figure 3 about here

These results indicate inefficiencies in a number of supervisory boards, which does not reflect their high importance in growth companies. The high number of boards that lack professional competence is particularly serious as specific knowledge is required to understand and judge growth companies that are associated with a high level of specificity.

The analysis delivers findings that contravene the results from the analysis of the conformity with the GCGC criteria as both, independence and qualification of the supervisory board members were explained to be fulfilled by all companies. As the GCGC does not operationalise the two concepts, different interpretations are possible, which could explain the contradictory results. That leads to the situation that there might be different understandings not only between different companies, but also between the company and the financial markets. There are two possible reasons for this: an imprecise formulation of the recommendations in the GCGC or inefficiencies in the companies' reporting on their corporate governance.

Conclusion: Summary

This article gives an overview on the corporate governance of German growth companies. Because of their very characteristics this topic is of high importance for growth companies. High business risk increases the likelihood of opportunistic behaviour by the managers and at the same time the severity of the consequences of wrong decisions. High agency risk in turn increases the possibilities of opportunistic behaviour. Therefore, the owners of growth companies have a particular interest to implement good corporate governance in their companies. There are different elements that are especially important for these companies, namely effective control by the supervisory board, incentives for the managers to increase the firm value, effective risk management and high transparency. Against this background the corporate governance quality of German growth companies is analysed empirically. The results imply an overall high conformity of the Tec-Dax companies with the GCGC criteria with some exceptions for specific companies and criteria. The results of the empirical analysis indicate that the corporate governance quality of German growth companies measured by the conformity of Tec-Dax companies with the GCGC criteria is relatively high. This is shown by

the average level of conformity of the companies as well as by the analysis of the critical criteria. Looking in detail at the quality of the supervisory board, a differentiated result arises: In some of the analysed companies the effectiveness of the supervisory board is questionable as it may lack sufficient independence and qualifications. Overall, there are great differences between the conformity among the single companies as well as between the fulfilment of specific elements. These restrictions can be explained by two different approaches. They can either be caused by a limited commitment of the companies or by the fact that the GCGC and the relevant reporting by the companies might not be perfectly appropriate for growth companies.

Finally, a possible limitation of the analysis must be noted as Tec-Dax companies best represent growth companies but possibly do not possess all of their characteristics. Moreover, the sample size is rather small so that the generalizability of the results may be questioned.

Outlook

Based on the findings of earlier research and this empirical analysis, no final conclusion on the corporate governance of German growth companies can be drawn. The current level of knowledge does not suffice to precisely define the specific requirements for the corporate governance of growth companies and analyse its quality. Therefore, further research has to undertaken. This article might serve as a basis for the hypothesis of a larger scale analysis.

Apart from the need for action on the part of researchers, the growth companies themselves as well as the policy makers should increase their commitment to this topic. The companies that do not yet possess effective corporate governance should improve their structures and processes in order to secure a positive business development as poor corporate governance might prevent potential investors from investing in the company and thereby weaken its growth potential. Apart from that, policy makers should consider adaptations of the GCGC for growth companies. Better-suited specific recommendations can help companies and the investors alike to better evaluate and improve the corporate governance. This is in the best interest of all, as it might add to a positive business development.

References

- Achleitner, A.-K./Bassen, A. (2002): Controllingsysteme in jungen Wachstumsunternehmen – terra incognita, In: Betriebs-Berater, 57 Jg., 2002.
- Auge-Dickhut, S./Moser, U./Widmar, B. (2000): Praxis der Unternehmensbewertung, Landsberg/Lech 2000.
- Baker, M./Gompers, P. A. (1999): Executive Ownership and Control in Newly Public Firms: The Role of Venture Capitalists, Harvard Business School Working Paper 1999, Boston, MA.



- Barney, J. B./Busenitz, L./Fiet, J. O./Moesel, D. (1989): The Structure of Venture Capital Governance: An Organizational Economic Analysis of Relations Between Venture Capital Firms and New Ventures, In: Best Papers Proceedings of Academy of Management, 1989, pp. 64-68.
- Bassen, A./Kleinschmidt, M./Zöllner, C. (2004): Corporate Governance Quality Study 2004 – Analyse der Corporate Governance deutscher Unternehmen aus Investorensicht, In: FinanzBetrieb, 6. Jg. 2004.
- Bassen, Alexander (2002a): Institutionelle Investoren und Corporate Governance – Analyse der Einflussnahme unter besonderer Berücksichtigung börsennotierter Wachstumsunternehmen, Habil. Wiesbaden 2002.
- Bassen, Alexander (2002b): Ausgestaltung der Corporate Governance bei Start-up-Unternehmen, In: U. Hommel/T. C. Knecht: Wertorientiertes Start-Up-Management, München 2002, pp. 150-162.
- Baysinger, B./Hoskisson, R. E. (1990): The Composition of Board of Directors and Strategic Control: Effects on Corporate Strategy, In: The Academy of Management Review, Vol. 15, 1990, pp. 72-87.
- Bessler, W./Kurth, A./Thies, S. (2001): Gestaltung der Kapital- und Aktionärsstrukturen am Neuen Markt, in: Achleitner, A.-K./Bassen, A. (Ed.): Investor Relations am Neuen Markt, Stuttgart 2001.
- Coffee, J. C. Jr. (1987): Shareholders Versus Managers: The Strain in the Corporate Web, Working Paper # 17, Center for Law and Economic Studies, Columbia Law School.
- Cromme, G. (2003): Development of Corporate Governance in Germany, in G. Cromme (Ed.): Corporate Governance Report 2003, Stuttgart 2003.
- Daily, C. M./McDougall, P. P./Covin, J. G. (2002): Governance and Strategic Leadership in Entpreneurial Firms, In: Journal of Management, Vol. 28, 2002.
- Du Plessis, J. (2004): The German Two-Tier Board and the German Corporate Governance Code, In: European Business Law Review, Vol. 15, 2004.
- Fama, E. (1980): Agency Problems and the Theory of the Firm, In: The Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 88, 1999, pp. 288-307.
- Franks, J./Mayer, C. (1990): Takeovers: Capital markets and corporate control: A study of France, Germany, and the UK, In: Policy: A European Forum, Vol. 10, pp. 189-231.
- Frederiksen, Ø./Klofsten, M. (2001): Venture Capitalists' Governance Of Their Portfolio Companies, In: Journal of Enterprising Culture, Vol. 9, 2001.
- Gomez-Mejia, L. R./Nuñez-Nickel, M./Gutierrez, I. (2001): The Role of Family Ties In Agency Contracts, In: Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 44, 2000, pp. 81-95.
- Gompers, P./Lerner, J. (2001): The Venture Capital Revolution, In: Journal of Economic Perspectives, Vol. 15, 2001, pp. 145-168.
- Grundsatzkommission Corporate Governance (2000): Corporate Governance Grundsätze ('Code of Best Practice') für börsennotierte Gesellschaften, Frankfurt am Main 2000.
- Grundei, J./Talaulicar, T. (2003): Aufsichtsräte in jungen Technologieunternehmen: Ursachen und Implikationen von Überwachsungsdefiziten, In: Finanz-Betrieb, 5. Jg. 2003, pp. 190-202.
- Hart, O. D. (1983): The Market Mechanism as an Incentive Scheme, In: The Bell Journal of Economics, Vol. 14, 1983, pp. 366-382.

136

- 22. Hayn, M. (1998): Bewertung junger Unternehmen, Diss. Berlin 1998.
- He, L./Conyon, M. J. (2004): CEO Compensation, Incentives, And Governance In New Enterprise Firms, In: Journal of Derivatives Accounting, Vol. 1, 2004, pp. 47-60.
- Holstrom, B. (1999): Managerial Incentive Problems: A Dynamic Perspective, In: The Review of Economic Studies, Vo. 66, 1999, pp. 169-182.
- Hopt, K. J. (1998): The German Two-Tier Board: Experience, Theories, Reforms, In: Hopt, K. J./Kanda, H./Roe, M. J./Wymeersch, E./Prigge, S. (Ed.): Comparative Corporate Governance – The State of the Art and Emerging Research, Oxford 1998, pp. 227-258.
- Jensen, M. C./Meckling, W. H. (1976): Theory Of The Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs And Ownership Structure, In: Journal of Financial Economics, Vol. 3, 1976, pp. 305-360.
- Jensen, M./Ruback, R. S. (1983): The market for corporate control: the scientific evidence, In. Journal of Financial Economics, Vol. 11, 1983.
- Kaplan, S.N./Strömberg, P. (2004): Characteristics, Contracts, And Actions: Evidence from Venture Capitalist Analyses, In: Journal of Finance, Vol. 59, 2004, pp. 2177-2420.
- Kirzner, I. M. (1997): Entrepreneurial Discovery and the Competitive Market Process: An Austrian Approach, in: Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. 35, 1997, pp. 60-85.
- Kurzich, M./Rautenstrauch, T. (2004): Investor Relations als Bestandteil von Corporate Governance bei den im Nemax 50 notierten Unternehmen, In: Controlling, 16. Jg., 2004.
- Küting, K. (2000a): Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der Bilanzanalyse am neuen Markt (Teil I), in: Finanz Betrieb, 2. Jg., 2000, pp. 597-605.
- Küting, K. (2000b): Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der Bilanzanalyse am neuen Markt (Teil II), in: Finanz Betrieb, 2. Jg., 2000, pp. 674-683.
- Markman, G. D./Balkin, D. B./Schjoedt, L. (2001): Governing the innovation process in entrepreurial firms, In: Journal of High Technology Management Research, Vol. 12, 2001.
- McGuire, J. (2000): Corporate Governance and Growth Potential: an empirical analysis, In: Corporate Governance, Vol. 8, 2000, pp. 32-42.
- Morck, R./Shleifer, A./Vishny, R. W. (1988): Management Ownership And Market Valuation An Empirical Analysis, In: Journal of Financial Economics, Vol. 20, 1988, pp. 293-315.
- Porter, M. E. (2004): Competitive Strategy Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors, New York 2004.
- Prahalad; C. K./Hamel, G. (1994): Strategy as a field of study: why search for a new paradigm?, In: Strategic Management Journal, Vo. 15, 1994.
- Rössler, S.(2001): Das Audit Komitee als Überwachsungsinstrument des Aufsichtsrats: ein Beitrag zur Verbesserung der Corporate Governance vor dem Hintergrund des Gesetzes zur Kontrolle und Transparenz im Unternehmensbereich (KonTraG), Landsberg/Lech 2001.
- Schilling, M. A./Hill, C. W. L. (1998): Managing the new product development process: strategic imperatives, product introduction in new firms, In: Academy of Management Executive, Vol. 12, 1998, pp.67-75.

VIRTUS

- 40. Schneider, J. (2001): Erfolgsfaktoren der Unternehmensüberwachung, Berlin 2001.
- Shane, S. (2000): Prior Knowledge and the Discovery of Entrepreneurial Opportunities, In: Organizational Science, Vol. 11, 2000.
- Shane, S./Cable, D. (2002): Network Ties, Reputation, and the Financing of New Ventures, In: Management Science, Vol. 48, 2002.
- Shleifer, A./Vishny, R. (1986): Large shareholders and corporate control, In: Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 94, 1986, pp. 461-488.
- 44. Smith, J. K./Smith, R. L. (2000): Entrepreneurial Finance, New York 2000.
- 45. Smith, C.W. and Watts, R.L. (1992): The Investment Opportunity Set and Corporate Financing, Dividends, and Compensation Policies, In: Journal of Financial Economics, Vol. 32, 1992.

- Stulz, R. M. (1987): Managerial Control Of Voting Rights – Financing Policies and the Market for Corporate Control, In: Journal of Financial Economics, Vol. 20, 1988, pp. 25-54.263-292.
- 47. The Telecommunication Development Fund (2002): Building Your Board: A Corporate Governance Guide For Entrepreneurs, Washington 2002.
- Töpfer, A. (2005): Betriebswirtschaftslehre Anwendungs- und prozessorientierte Grundlagen, Heidelberg 2005.
- 49. Van den Berghe, L. A. A./Levrau, A. (2002): The Role of the Venture Capitalist as Monitor of the Company: a corporate governance perspective, In: Corporate Governance, Vol. 10, 2002, pp. 124-135.
- Williamson O. E. (1975): Markets and Hierarchies: Analysis and Antitrust Implications, New York 1975.

Appendices



Figure 1. Derivation of specific requirements

Figure 2. Critical GCGC criteria

Tec-Dax 30 - Critical C	Criteria	
Criteria	Deviations	Fulfilment
Explanation of deviations from "should- suggestions"	21	9 %
Parts of compensation of supervisory board members related to long-time business success	19	17 %
Transmission of entire general meeting over Internet	19	17 %
Staggered supervisory board	19	17 %
Accessibility of the voting representative during general meeting	17	26 %
Chair of audit committee not chairman of supervisory board	17	26 %
Variable compensation of management board members with short- and long-term elements with risk character	16	30 %
Delegation of preparation and decision to commissions of supervisory board	15	35 %
Implementation of commission of supervisory board for appointment and compensation of management board members	14	39 %
Meeting of supervisory board without the management board if required	13	43 %
Existence of commissions for specific topics (strategy, compensation, investments, etc.)	13	43 %
n = 83 criteria Ø	13,9	40 %

Figure 3. Quality of the supervisory boards

Tec-Dax 30 – Quality of Supervisory Boards						
Requirements	Deviations					
n = 23 supervisory boards						
Independence	0 supervisory boards					
Control competence	1 supervisory board					
Professional competence	6 supervisory boards					
Leadership competence	3 supervisory boards					
Deviations from at least one of the four requirements	7 supervisory boards					

VIRTUS

VOLUNTARY ADOPTION OF IFRS IN GERMANY: A REGULATORY IMPACT STUDY

Soledad Moya*, Ester Oliveras**

Abstract

From 2005 onwards, consolidated financial statements of listed European companies have to comply with IFRS (IAS). Many German companies began adopting those standards in the 1990s, on a voluntary basis, because of their need to access international capital markets. A broader and more dispersed investor community could be achieved only by accepting significant regulatory consequences.. The purpose of this paper is to analyse the financial impact of initial IFRS adoption on the statement of changes in equity and the income statement of German companies. Our analysis comprised all non-financial DAX groups applying IFRS plus additional listed companies in two selected industrial sectors. The two sectors are chemical pharmaceutical and fashion where, apart from the DAX companies quoted, we have studied other relevant companies in each sector. The analysis of the reconciliations of the retained earnings and income statement has been developed both from company and type-of-adjustment perspective, classifying items in similar accounting categories. The results are that the impact of initial adoption of IFRS was, both individually and overall, significant. In relation to the specific sectors analysed, impact is also relevant, although not as much as in DAX companies, but differs between the sectors.

Keywords: IFRS adoption, capital market access, Germany, IFRS adjustments, chemicalpharmaceutical sector, fashion industry.

Facultat de Ciències Econòmiques, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Campus Bellaterra, Edifici B, 08193 Bellaterra (Cerdanyola del Vallès), e-mail: soledad.moya@uab.es.

Departament d'Economia i Empresa, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Ramon Trias Fargas 25-27, 08005 Barcelona, e-mail; ester.olivera@upf.edu.

1. Introduction

From the beginning of 2005, public companies in Europe have to apply international accounting standards. However, 2005 is not the first year in which the impact of this change in accounting rules can be assessed. Early adoption on a voluntary basis was observable from the 90s in several EU member countries. This voluntary adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS, including old IAS) is a disclosure choice, which has been studied intensively in recent times. Many scholars have examined the usefulness of accounting information when different accounting principles are adopted. The main focus of these studies is on the implications coming from voluntary adoption on financial market efficiency (e.g. see Verrecchia, 2001 for a literature review on the topic). For instance, Ashbaugh and Pincus (1998) discovered for a sample of non-US firms that adopted IAS between 1990 and 1993 a significant increase in the accuracy of the analysts forecast in the year of adoption. Other researchers emphasize that our understanding of the information asymmetry problem must be based on 138

the institutional framework of the IFRS disclosure as a choice. Several empirical studies distinguish the benefits coming from early adoption for companies traded on the stock market. Evidences suggest that firms adopting IFRS are typically internationally oriented with multiple stock listings and considerable cross-border activities (e.g. Dumontier and Raffournier, 1998).

The focus of this study is on those German companies which voluntary adopted IFRS in the period 1994-2003. In the 1990s some German firms started adopting IFRS as their accounting policy. In 2001, as some studies show (e.g. Renders et al., 2005), German firms which voluntarily reported under IFRS, were predominant amongst voluntary adopters on the European stock market (69 out of 108 firms from Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Italy and the Netherlands). The objective of this empirical study is different from the studies mentioned above. It aims at distinguishing those e accounting items that are most significantly influenced by early IFRS adoption. The underlying idea is that the institutional environment, i.e. national GAAP, is country-specific and national differences



are observable not only on industry, but also on a country-level. For instance, recent studies suggest that the most significant effects of the change to international standards in UK will be the recognition of all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value, restrictions on the use of hedge accounting, the full recognition of pension deficits, and revised accounting for mergers and acquisitions (Cairns, 2004). Although there are numerious empirical arricles on the impact of the institutional framework on the properties of the accounting earnings (e.g. Ball et al, 2000), the rational behind this study is that a careful examination of the national accouting principles is necessary to make a more comprehensive analysis of the IFRS adoption at cross-country level. Since the institutional differences influence the reconciliation effect, we present first a comparison between IFRS and HGB in Section 2. In Section 3 we examine the IFRS effects on German companies in the DAX Index¹. As explained later, the focus on the DAX companies is due to their international importance, high accounting complexity and accounting policy based on transparency. To provide more comprehensive analysis of the IFRS effect on the firm account in Sections 4 and 5 we analyse in details the accounting differences after the reconciliation prepared by the German companies in two key industries: chemical-pharmaceutical and fashion. Section 6 summarises the main conclusi ons^2 .

2. German GAAP (HGB) to IFRS: main differences

Since one of the main objectives of this study is to describe and quantify IFRS effects on German companies, we provide a framework in relation to the main differences³ between IFRS⁴ and German GAAP (including HGB). The difference, which has been widely recognized in the literature, is the origin of both accounting systems. The German accounting model is considered to be more conservative compared to the IFRS accounting model. The latter is clearly based on Anglo-Saxon traditions where the principle of relevance⁵ prevails over others (Lamb et al., 1998). This divergence explains many of the accounting implications drawn below. Accounting regulations in Germany are not as developed as in the count-

ries with Anglo-Saxon legal origins. Often, specific applications of this conservatism do not come from specific legal rules in HGB, but from wellestablished practices. Differences detected can be classified into several different categories (Nobes, 2001). The current empirical study applies a classification developed by Nobes (2001). Some new categories have been added and explained in the context. The results are summarized under two broad categories: a) assets and liabilities: recognition and measurement and b) consolidation procedures.

2.1. Assets and liabilities: recognition and measurement

A careful examination of the HGB accounting rules in comparison with the IFRS has been conducted. The differences in the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities were found to be mainly in those accounting criteria followed by HGB, which do not meet the ones required by IFRS.

Under HGB, trading, available-for-sale and derivative financial assets and trading and derivative liabilities are not marked to market as they are under IFRS. Internally-generated intangible assets, which are expected to provide ongoing service to the company, must not be recognized under HGB, while IFRSs state that they should be recognised as long as they are able to generate profit for the company and they can be reliably quantified. In particular, this applies to development costs. Under HGB, foreign currency monetary balances are generally translated at the worse of transaction and closing rates so as to avoid the recognition of gains on unsettled balances. Under IFRS, positive and negative exchange differences must be recognized in the income statement although they have not yet been settled.

Under HGB, impairment tests on fixed assets are based on market replacement costs and much less on their value in use (net cash flow of the corresponding cash generating unit) due to the absence of an accepted methodology at the time of computing that value. Under IFRS, the higher of net realisable value and value in use is considered.

Leases are normally classified according to tax rules and therefore are seldom considered as finance leases following HGB. IFRS define finance leases widely, including cases where the acquirer does not ultimately buy the asset.

Under HGB inventories can be valued at the lowest of cost, net realizable value and replacement cost and they may include attributable portions of general administrative overheads although traditionally they have included only direct costs. IFRS only refer to cost and realizable value and always include general manufacturing overheads portions in cost.

Start-up costs may be capitalised and amortised under HGB and that is not possible under IFRS.

The recognition of provisions under IFRS is much more restrictive than under HGB.



¹ We have excluded financial companies because of their special features.

² Appendix A lists all the companies analysed together with some key financial data.

³ We have considered only differences in measurement and valuation, which may lead to differences in equity or net income of the companies. We are not going to refer in this section to differences in disclosure as those are not subject for adjustments and therefore are not a purpose of the paper.

⁴ It is worth mentioning that IRFS considered in this section are those endorsed by the EU at the time this paper has been written, that is, those included in 1725/2003 law, published in the EU official Diary on the 13^{th} of October 2003, plus IAS 32 and 39, since they are likely to be endorsed as well.

⁵ See IASB Conceptual Framework (1989).

Under IFRS, pension provisions must be estimated using the projected unit credit method, whereas companies applying HGB use tax determined rates of interest, and do not take into account future salary and pension increases. Actuarial losses are often immediately recognized in Germany while under IFRS they can be deferred. Under HGB, German companies do no take into account all temporary differences (they account only for timing differences), nor tax effects of the tax loss-carryforwards for deferred tax computations (unless compensatable with recognised deferred tax liabilities) or the effects of the other recoverable differences. Recognition of revenues on construction contracts. Under HGB the completed contract method is used while under IFRS the percentage of completion is used.

2.2. Consolidation procedures

We conducted a comparative assessment of the HGB and IFRS accounting principles, which determine the consolidation procedure. The distinction between the models can be summarised as follows:

Under HGB the acquisition date may be identified as the date of first time consolidation of the subsidiary while under IFRS acquisition date is always the date when control becomes effective.

Certain business combinations may be accounted for as pooling of interests under HGB even

though an acquirer can be identified and that is not possible under IFRS. However, in fact this method is used very rarely in Germany.

Consolidation goodwill can be deducted immediately against equity under HGB while under IFRS it must be recognised as an asset, amortized and tested for impairment when considered necessary. Following HGB measurement of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination at their fair values must not exceed the cost of acquisition, while IFRS state that those values exceeding fair value of the items acquired in a business combination must be recognised as negative goodwill.

The recognition of provisions in business combinations following IFRS is more restrictive than under HGB.

3. IFRS effect on German companies: DAX sample 3.1. Sample selection

The empirical analysis of this study is based on a sample of German companies included in the DAX Index that apply IFRS. Currently the index comprises 30 companies, of which 6 provide financial services. The companies in the financial sector were excluded from the data analysis because of their specific accounting principles (For details and sample statistics, see Appendix B).

Table 1. Sample selection: DAX index

Number of all listed companies in DAX	30
Less financial sector	(6)
Final sample	24
Less companies not applying IFRS	(10)
Final sample of IFRS implementing companies	

For the 14 DAX companies in the sample we analysed the IFRS effects at different levels: company, accounting area, and combined for the whole sample.For each company we analysed the IFRS statements of the first year of IFRS application with a special focus on the reconciliation of retained earnings (RE) and income statement (IS).

earnings (RE) and income statement (IS). after The companies in the sample started applying IFRS in different years, from 1994 to 2001. During these

that time IFRS evolved, the evolution has been taken into account in the data analysis. For this purpose, we distinguish and present in the table below three periods: before 1999, 1999-2000 (revised IAS 17 and 19; new IAS 36 to 38; SIC 8) and 2001 (IAS 39). It is worth mentioning that the IFRS evolved further after 2005. Since it does not have an implication on the IFRS effect in the time of adoption, we disregard these amendments in the data analysis.

Table 2. Classification by year of IFRS adoption

Year of IFRS adoption	Company				
Before 1999	TUI, HENKEL, MAN, LUFTHANSA,				
	ALTANA, BAYER, SHERING,				
	DEUSTCHE POST, ADIDAS				
1999-2000	METRO, RWE, WELLA, ESCADA				
2001 on	VW, BMW, LINDE, STADA, HUGO				
	BOSS.				



SIC 8 deals with first-time application of IFRS as the primary basis of accounting, stating that new IFRS statements "should be prepared and presented as if the financial statements had always been prepared in accordance with the Standards and Interpretations effective for the period of first-time application" (paragraph 3). SIC 8 became effective on 1 August 1998. Before SIC 8 there was not specific guidance on first-time application of IFRS. However, IAS 8, paragraphs 46 to 48, referred to changes in accounting policies made on the adoption of an International Accounting Standard. Since SIC 8 uses the same retrospective principle as IAS 8, we understand that all companies in the sample, whether they started applying IFRS before or after August 1998, followed a similar retroactive basis.

IAS 8, paragraph 49, when defining the benchmark treatment of changes in accounting policies (including changes from an adoption of a new International Accounting Standard) states that any resulting adjustment should be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. It is generally understood that, in accordance with the retroactive principle, the adjustment is net of tax effects⁶. Consequently we assume that, unless otherwise specified by the companies, the IFRS effects are shown net of taxes.

3.2. Analysis of the effects by company

Appendix B summarises the RE and IS reconciliations for the 14 DAX companies, and discloses totals and percentages by reconciling item (or adjustment type) and by company. Totals and percentages shown are not homogeneous. However, as discussed below, the effects of those inconsistencies are minor and, thus, do not affect the conclusions of our analyses. As shown on Exhibit 2, the companies started applying IFRS in different years, and so impacts were different. For companies adopting IFRS before 1999 or between 1999 and 2000, we reviewed the impact of subsequently applying the new or revised IAS of 2000 and 2001, respectively, in the statement of changes in equity (exceptionally, in IS), and confirmed that those subsequent effects were, in general, minor (see appendices B, C and D). One of the reasons for the effects of application of new or revised IAS being minor is that often there are transitional rules lessening the degree of retroactivity. However, as shown in appendix B, the application of IAS 39 in 2001 had significant effects. The different starting dates theoretically affect the comparability of the totals by company and adjustment type because of the price changes. However this effect is also considered minor: most companies in the sample started applying IFRS on or after 1998, and, in any case, inflation in Germany has been consistently low. On the other hand, we often measure the IFRS effects in relative terms by reference to RE and IS of the same year without any time factor to consider. Companies

disclose different levels of analysis of the nature and amounts of the reconciling items, and the information is in the form of a reconciling list or in the form of comments in the notes, but never as "double entries" disclosing all the financial statements lines affected⁷. So we could only understand the IFRS effects on a piecemeal basis, and often explanations were very scarce and rather cryptic. We tried to grasp the significance of the IFRS adjustments reading the RE and IS reconciliations together with the full financial statements, specially the disclosures in the notes.

3.2.1. Effects on retained earnings (RE)

We comment below on the numerical information regarding the RE reconciliations disclosed in Appendix B: The quantative effects are very different from company to company. There are some visible general patterns, but company-specific factors were predominant. There is no relationship between the size of the IFRS effects and the year of first application. This reinforces observations made above. The categorisation of companies in the sample by the significance of the net effect (either plus or minus) expressed as a percentage on HGB RE is as follows:

Eight companies in the sample show percentages below 10 %

Three companies, between 14 and 29 %

Three companies show percentages above 50 %. d) However, the analysis must be made also on a gross basis, computing the positive and negative adjustments separately. From that perspective, for example, eight companies had positive effects higher than 30% on RE.

e) The four companies with the highest net effect on RE all disclosed some specific large adjustment, as shown in Exhibit 3. It is worth mentioning that two of the four companies with the highest net effect belong to the automotive industry, and both show a big adjustment for the capitalisation of development costs (IAS 38). The third automobile company in the sample –MAN- did not have such an effect, because it first applied IFRS before IAS 38 went into effect; and, when it adopted it, the effect was minor, either because of circumstantial reasons or because of the transitional provisions of the new standard.

f) Despite the significance of company-specific factors, it is worth considering the combined IFRS effect for the 14 companies. The first application of IFRS by the 14 companies meant a net increase of combined RE by a \in 15.2 billion, representing a 26 % increase on HGB RE.

⁷ For example, part of the adjustment to the provision for pensions might have resulted not in a salary expense, but in an increase in the value of inventories because of the increased labour cost, and this effect is not disclosed separately, but on a net basis.



⁶ See for example PricewaterhouseCoopers (1998), page 12-24.

Company	Positive adjustments	Negative adjustments
TUI	PPE depreciation	Goodwill
VW	R&D	Deferred taxes
	PPE depreciation	Pensions
	Write-back provisions	
BMW	R&D	Financial instruments
	PPE depreciation	
DEUTSCHE POST	Write-back of provisions	Pensions
	1	

 Table 3. Companies with highest IFRS effects (*)

* Both in absolute and in % terms. PPE from now on means Property, Plant and Equipment

3.2.2. Effects on IS

In Appendix B there is also an analysis of the IFRS IS reconciliation⁸, except in the cases when no information was available and could not be estimated. The information was only given for the first year of IFRS application and not for the comparative year. Given the very limited amount of information disclosed, it has not been possible to deepen our analyses of the IS conciliation. Below we make some quantitative remarks at company level, whereas the analysis by adjustment type is presented in the next subsection:

By inspection of the Appendix B, we can see that there is no relationship between the IS and the RE adjustments referred to above. Moreover, in about half of the 9 companies disclosing the IS reconciliations, the sign (positive or negative) of the reconciliation is the same as for the RE reconciliation, and in the other half the sign is different.

The significance of the reconciling items as measured against the HGB net earnings varies sharply from one company to another (from a -16% to a +25%), but they are not as large as for RE.

The distinction between gross/net effects we made in the previous section on RE is valid for IS: all companies disclose a combination of positive and negative IS adjustments.

Two companies disclosed a relatively big positive effect: BMW and RWE for reasons summarised in Appendix B.

The combined net positive IFRS effect for the nine companies totals \notin 411 million, representing a combined increase of 10 % on HGB combined net profits.

Analysis by type of adjustment

We suggest that, for extrapolation purposes, the analysis by type of adjustment is the most useful. As indicated, the adjustments are supposed to be net of the tax effects. Again we note that there might be cases where the same reconciling item affects both assets and liabilities, although the effects are not separately disclosed in the RE conciliations:

Below we summarise the numerical content in Appendix B (RE portion):

Increase in intangible assets from capitalisation of some development costs by $\in 6,3$ billion, basically traceable to VW and BMW as mentioned in the previous subsection. Decrease in PPE accumulated depreciation by $\in 6,4$ billion: a number of companies had applied accelerated tax depreciation methods or rates for HGB purposes. The main adjustments correspond, once again, to VW and BWM, two heavy industrial groups, but also to TUI, a service company. RWE, on the other hand, shows a negative amount, for undisclosed reasons.

Decrease in other provisions by \notin 4,8 billion. The fact that almost all of the companies share this type of adjustment reflects the traditional philosophy of German companies, fuelled by a generous tax system, toward creating hidden reserves by, among other things, inflating provisions. It is not possible to quantify the incremental factor caused by IAS 38 going into force for 2000 beyond the observation that most (although not all) of the companies that started applying IFRS after 1999 disclose higher effects.

Deferred tax also caused a big net effect of \notin 4,6 billion. This originated from different causes: computing all temporary differences regardless of their recurrence or date of reversion, as well as taking into account tax loss-carryforwards (this is the most frequently quoted reason) and other tax recoverable differences. All the companies have foreign subsidia-

⁸ From our point of view, nature and extent of the reconciling items must come from two related causes: original distance between HGB and IFRS and balance sheet IFRS adjustments. For example: companies might have provided for future maintenance expense for HGB purposes. If so, the provision had to be written back following IFRS. The net IFRS effect on IS would then be an increase in the year expense for not having provided for them before, and a decrease for not providing for the next period. Also the IS adjustments are likely to reflect the net effect of a combination of different IFRS impacts. Again an example: the adjustment in the depreciation expense for the year may reflect concurrently or on a net basis the effects of having fair valued the subsidiaries' PPE following an acquisition, and the change of the useful lifes (versus tax allowed estimates) and/or of the depreciation method.

ries with different tax systems: the specific mix of subsidiaries is one of the key factors in determining the adjustment. On the other hand, assuming that the other IFRS adjustments are shown net of taxes, the item should not incorporate the tax consequences of the conversion to IFRS.

Inventories increased by $\notin 2,3$ billion, usually because of the application of full cost. We included under that heading the effect, much less, of applying the percentage of completion method.

Pension liabilities increased by $\in 10,7$ billion, the single most important reconciling item, affecting all companies, except BMW. In relative terms this single item absorbed 18 % of the combined HGB retained earnings. It is not possible to identify the incremental (or decremental) effect of the revision of old IAS 19 that went into effect in 1999. In any case, the reconciliation affects practically all the companies regardless of the year of first application of IFRS. Almost all companies, whether the first application took place before, on or after 1999, adopted the projected unit credit method, changing a number of actuarial assumptions, such as the rate of interest or estimated future increases in salaries and pensions. Companies do not specify whether or not actuarial losses were deferred; however, considering the predominant practice in Germany, we can assume that there was a full recognition of them.

Financial instruments: the companies showing effects from applying IAS 39 were, of course, the ones that started applying IFRS in 2001 onwards (D. Post, that started in 1998, is an exception). Appendix B also details the effect from the subsequent application of IAS 39 by the other companies. The IAS 39 effect varies from company to company for three possible reasons: the circumstantial risk exposure (both in absolute and in hedging terms), fair values prevailing at the end of 2001 and transitional provisions of IAS 39.

As per IS effects, the adjustment types are of the same nature as the ones found in the RE conciliations. We can summarise our comments in subsections 3.2 and 3.3 as follows:

Company-specific factors are predominant when explaining IFRS effects for the 14 DAX companies.

However there are a number of relatively common characteristics, as shown in Appendix B: In ten companies the conversion to IFRS meant an increase in RE, and in the remaining four the net negative adjustment is mostly due to an increase in the pension liability. The basic explanation is simple: HGB accounts reflected the prudent philosophy in German accounting. The combined effect is huge.

That mentality had created hidden reserves in PPE (excess of depreciation), provisions (overstatements), deferred tax assets (exclusion of tax effects of tax-loss carryforwards), inventories (use of direct cost methods), intangible assets (expensing all development cost most notably in the automotive industry). But also it has been found that pension provisions were understated by a big amount.

The financial situation, including working capital, improves under IFRS, and is represented on a more solid basis in IFRS accounts, as compared with the HGB accounts.

Statistical test

This section summarizes the results of the statistical test performed. The objective is to distinguish whether the effect of the international accounting principles is significant for the group in the sample. The main difficulty when performing the test was that the companies under review used a different format for their accounts, i.e. different categories for different revenues and expenses. The difference in the reports does not allow presenting a comprehensive account-by-account comparison for the companies in the sample. However, three accounts have been reported publicly in the same category. The results of the statistical test are presented in the table below. The initial hypothesis, which has been tested with a paired-sample for means, is that the adoption of IFRS does not have a significant effect on the group accounts. For example, several companies reported the year after the enforcement of the international standards an increase in the goodwill value, although for the majority of the companies in the sample the change was negative. The statistical test allows confirmination of a significant effect of IFRS adoption on some accounts, as revealed in the statements of the overall 13 companies (for one company the accounts were not clear enough to include them in the data analysis).

Accounting item:	Mean; standard deviation	p-value (two-tales)
Shareholder's equity	23.05% (0.37)	0.044**
Goodwill	8.26% (0.15)	0.074***
Provisions for pension	-6.49% (0.07)	0.004*

Table 4. Statistical test: before and after the IFRS adoption⁺

⁺ The test has been performed as follows. The percentage increase or decrease of the value has been calculated from the firm's reports. The null hypothesis was that the firm's account before and after the adoption is the same, i.e. the group has been compared with a group, for which mean and standard deviation values are zero.

*Significant at 1%; ** Significant at 5%; *** Significant at 10%;



The conclusion of the statistical test is that a variation for three accounts is observable, i.e. both positive and negative values were registered. However, the difference before and after the introduction of IFRS for the group is significant. The sample is not large enough to make the conclusions more generalizable. The reconciliation data from 13 companies, nevertheless, shows that the change in the shareholder's equity, the goodwill and the provisions for pension after the implementation of international reporting was significant.

4. IFRS effects on chemical and pharmaceutical industry in Germany

As explained in the introductory section, the main criteria for selecting a particular industry for our research was the availability of quoted German companies within the industry that apply IFRS, together with the availability of quoted Spanish companies in the same industry. The chemical and pharmaceutical (Ch&Ph) was one of them. This denomination encompasses a broad set of industrial and trade activities: all types of chemical products for manufacturing and agricultural industries, pharmaceutical, cosmetic and other consumer products. Most of the companies in the sample produce and market a wide range of products in separate business lines. The most visible example is Bayer, with its multiindustry strategy. This breath of products and activities blurs any strong industry feature and makes it less likely that there are major accounting singularities.

4.1. The sample

The sample comprises all seven Ch&Ph quoted companies that used IFRS, of which five belong to the DAX index and, so, have been already analysed in Section 3. Only two non-DAX companies -Stada and Wella- that used IFRS were clearly in the Ch&Ph industry, and are new in the sample. Appendix A lists the companies and supplies some numerical information on them. Appendix C discloses the RE and IS reconciliations using the same format as Appendix B, that was the basis for our analysis in the preceding DAX section. Many observations are similar to the ones arrived at in the preceding section. However, since the companies with the highest reconciling items in the preceding section belong to other industries -automobiles and other- the combined IFRS effects in the Ch&Ph industry are lower than the combined effects in the DAX sample. The net combined effect represents only the 2 % on HGB RE. This effect by company ranges from -6% to 26 %. A characteristic of the sample is the different years of first application (see Exhibit 2). Two companies -Bayer and Schering- pioneered the IFRS application, since 1994. Both disclose the IFRS effects through IS⁹. The reconciling items for both companies are shown as RE adjustments in Appendices B and C for consistency with the other companies in the sample.

4.2. Comments by adjustment type and company

The main effects by adjustment type and company are as follows:

4.2. 1. Goodwill

Goodwill appears as a RE adjustment in three companies¹⁰. Two of them –Linde and Altana- explicitly state that, under HGB, goodwill had been written off against reserves on acquisition, and that, under IFRS, they wrote-back it in the balance sheet on a partial retroactive basis for acquisitions made before 1995 (as permitted by the old version of IAS 22). Consequently with the write back of the goodwill as an asset, in a number of companies there is a charge to IS caused by amortisation of goodwill that appears as a reconciling item in the first year of application.

4.2.2. Development costs

Only three companies in the sample –Linde, Wella and Stada- started applying IFRS when IAS 38 was already in force. Linde and Stada wrote back as intangible assets some previously expensed development costs (maybe because it referred to a business combination). The remaining companies kept expensing those costs, as permitted then. Altana justifies it with reference to uncertainties in clinical approval procedures.

4.2.3. PPE depreciation

Four companies out of the seven disclose that, for IFRS purposes, they changed retroactively the depreciation methods from tax-inspired ones to the straight-line method, although one of them, Linde, does not show any RE reconciling item (probably for reasons of immateriality). The companies disclose different effects on IS, depending –we understand-on the asset mix and their situation regarding their remaining useful life.

4.2.4. Pensions

Only Wella did not mention pensions in the RE reconciliation. All the others revised their pension provision following the application of the projected unit credit method. Linde discloses additionally the preceding method: the age of entry normal method. With one exception, the companies did not disclose the deferral method –if any- of actuarial differences. *4.2.5. Deferred taxes*

The main reason quoted by the five companies in the sample for creating a deferred asset adjustment is the recognition of the tax effects of tax loss-carryforwards.



⁹ Schering claimed to comply with both HGB and IFRS for all topics except pensions, for which it departed from HGB

¹⁰ Bases for GW amortizations differ from company to company: Henkel (15-20 years), Stada (10 years), Altana (5-10 years), Linde (10-20 years except for a recent acquisition with an estimated useful life of 40 years), Schering (10-15 years).

4.2.6. Provisions

For reasons already explained in the Section 3, most companies in the sample reduce the balance of provisions. Wella increased it for the recognition of some tax risks, not recognised before.

4.2.7. Hedge accounting

Henkel, Bayer, Wella and Altana explain in the notes that they hedge risks (usually associated with foreign currency or/and with interest rates) and that they apply some kind of hedging accounting, without supplying further details. Of the two companies – Stada and Linde - that started applying IFRS when IAS 39 was already in force, the second discloses a positive reconciling item in the financial instruments line.

4.3. Final remarks

As explained, most companies in the sample show a wide variety of reconciling items. On a combined basis, most have a positive sign: either increase the value of assets (goodwill and other intangible assets, PPE, inventories, financial instruments, deferred taxes) or reduce the balances of provisions. The main exception is, once more, the pension liability amounting to $\notin 0.9$ billion, and balancing most of the positive net combined adjustments that total $\notin 1,3$ billion.

Although the combined net effect on RE and on IS is minor, individual effects on various items in the balance sheet and the IS are significant: both statements must represent the financial situation and the results in a more meaningful way under IFRS.

The differences in the year of the application (from 1994 to 2001) might have had impacts on the IFRS adjustments, considering that four companies out of the seven started applying IFRS before 1999, when SIC 8 took effect, and considering the fact already mentioned in section 3 that often the application of a new or of a revised standard for a company already using IFRS is softened by transitional provisions. All companies except Wella and Schering disclose net positive RE adjustment

As for development costs few companies believe that they meet the conditions for capitalising them for industry-specific reasons.

5. IFRS effects on fashion industry in Germany 5.1. Specific comments

The fashion industry was selected because there are three German quoted companies applying IFRS and three Spanish quoted companies in the same industry. All companies produce and trade fashion apparel and other goods. Appendix A lists the companies in the sample, and supplies some quantitative information. Appendix D, that has the same structure as Appendices B and C, summarises the RE and IS reconciliations and discloses totals and percentages by company and by adjustment types. Out of the three German companies, only Adidas belongs to the DAX Index and was, therefore, already analysed in Section 3.

As for the reconciliations disclosed in Appendix D, the following points are worth emphasis:

The three companies share few common accounting characteristics. The main common one is that most reconciling items are working capital adjustments, consistent with the industry characteristics. This is the main differentiation from Ch&Ph.

H. Boss and Escada disclose moving from a direct cost to a full cost system for inventory valuation, and adopting the projected unit credit method for pension computation.

Adidas, the biggest company of the sample, has few reconciling items (see final remarks).

Escada, the smallest company, shows a variety of negative adjustments both in IS and in RE reconciliations, as if its conversion to IFRS coincided with a general cleaning exercise.

The negative adjustment in H. Boss affecting intangible assets is the net effect of capitalising some past development costs, minus expensing some expansion costs previously classified as intangible assets. The other two companies in the sample do not mention either development cost or expansion expenses.

Only Escada discloses a reconciling item regarding goodwill.

5. 2. Final remarks

As indicated at the beginning of the section, company-specific features exceed common industry characteristics. Adidas, the biggest in the sample, in theory should generate the biggest IFRS adjustments. However, this is not case. It made the conversion back in 1994 when a number of current IAS were not yet in force. Appendix D indicates that subsequent adjustments were not relevant, probably, again, because of the softening factor represented by transitional provisions of new or revised standards. In any case, disregarding the reclassification of minority interest, Adidas and, to a larger extent, H. Boss show positive adjustments to RE for IFRS purposes, in line with our observations on the DAX sample and on the Ch&Ph industry.

6. Conclusions

Taking the German experience as an example of early adoption of IFRS, the objective of our paper was to assess the IFRS effects in Germany - at a DAX level and for two main industries: Chemical-Pharmaceutical and Fashion.

The IFRS effects on German Corporations were important and often they meant a significant increase in retained earnings in the first year of adoption of IFRS. The main reason for those effects was the highly conservative philosophy of HGB leading to understatements of some assets (namely PPE, inventories, deferred taxes) and to an overstatement of



some provisions. However, most of the German corporations had also understated pension liabilities by a large amount. The specific analysis of the IFRS effects by industry lead to similar conclusions, with some nuances: in the chemical and pharmaceutical industry effects on non-current assets and liabilities were relatively more important, whereas in the fashion industry the effects were mostly on working capital. That would be reasonable taking into account the different balance sheet expected structure of those said sectors.

References

- 1. Amat, O. and J. Perramon (2004). "Normas Internacionales de Contabilidad NIC-NIIF," Gestión 2000.
- Ball, R., S. Kothari and A. Robin (2000). "The Effect Of International Institutional Factors On Properties Of Accounting Earnings," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 29, p. 1-51.
- 3. Cairns, D. (2004). "The implications of IAS/IFRS for UK companies," *International Journal of Disclosure and Governance*, 1, 2.
- 4. Dumontier, P. and B. Raffournier (1998). "Why Firms Comply Voluntarily With IAS: An Empirical Analysis With Swiss Data," *Journal of International Financial Management and Accounting*, 9, 3, p. 216-245.
- European Union (2000). "La Estrategia De La Unión Europea En Materia De Información Financiera: El Camino A Seguir," Comunicación de la Comisión al Consejo y al Parlamento Europeos.
- 6. International Accounting Standards Board (1989). Conceptual Framework.
- 7. Fischer, T. and E. Klopefer (2004). "Evaluation of International Financial Reporting Standards

(IAS/IFRS)," Empirical evidence from listed German Companies, EAA conference, Prague.

- Lamb, M., C. Nobes and A. Roberts (1998). "International variations in the connections between tax and financial reporting," *Accounting and Business Research*, 28, 3.
- 9. Mazars (2003). "The impact that changing to IAS-IFRS will have on European companies: somewhere between opportunities and complexity," Mazars publications.
- Nobes, C. (2001). "GAAP 2001: A Survey Of National Accounting Rules Benchmarked Against International Accounting Standards," IFAD.
- 11. Pricewaterhouse Coopers (1998). "Understanding IAS, "2nd. Edition, Edited by Bath Press, London.
- Renders, A., A. Gaeremynck and M. Willekens (2005). "The Impact of Legal and Voluntary Investor Protection on the Early Adoption of IFRS,"
- Sanchez Fernandez, J. (2003). "Estudios Sobre Los Efectos De La Aplicación De Las Normas Contables Del IASB A Los Sectores Cotizados De La Bolsa Española," Papeles de la fundación nª 3. Fundación de estudios financieros.
- Street, D., S. Gray and S. Bryant (1999). "Acceptance And Observance Of International Accounting Standards: An Empirical Study Of Companies Claiming To Comply With IASs," *The International Journal of Accounting*, 34, 1.
- Tua Pereda, J. (2000). "El Marco Conceptual para la información financiera. Análisis y comentarios," AECA, Madrid.
- 16. Verrecchia, R. (2001). "Essays On Disclosure," Journal of Accounting and Economics, 32.
- Zeff, S. (2000). "La evolución del marco conceptual para las empresas mercantiles en Estados Unidos," El Marco Conceptual para la Información Financiera, p. 51-92.

Company	DAX	Ch-Ph (2)	Fashion	Equity	Sales	Assets	Net Profit
Adidas	х		Х	1.356	6.267	4.188	260
Altana	х	х		1.445	2.735	2.532	345
Bayer	х	х		12.213	28.567	37.445	-1.361
BMW	х			5.254	36.881	19.482	392
Lufthansa	х			2.653	15.957	16.732	-984
Deutsche Post	х			6.106	41.220	155	1.309
Henkel	х	х		3.311	9.436	9.362	530
Linde	х	х		3.851	8.992	11.915	108
Man	х			2.784	15.021	9.955	110
Metro	х			4.161	53.595	26.580	496
RWE	х			7.013	43.875	99.142	953
Schering	х	х		2.902	4.828	5.389	443
TUI	х			2.767	19.215	12.989	275
Volkswagen	х			24.430	87.153	119.136	1.095
Stada		х		613	745	955	44
Wella		х		655	3.312	2.519	122
Hugo Boss			х	399	1.054	755	82
Escada			х	73	621	438	-78

Appendix A. Some key data on selected companies


APPENDIX B-1

IFRS EFFECTS IN GERMAN DAX COMPANIES (million e) - RETAINED EARNINGS

																%	%	%
																effect on	effect on	effect on
	ADIDAS	ALTANA	BAYER	BMW	D. POST	HENKEL	LINDE	LUFTHANSA	MAN	METRO	RWE	SCHERING	TUI	vw	TOTAL	local RE	total Adjst	total Adjst
Year 1st aplication	1.994	1.998	1.994	2.001	1.998	1.997	2.001	1.998	1997/8	1.999	1999 / 00	1.994	1997/8	2.001			(negative)	(positive)
R E per HGB	422	1.302	5.205	4.896	1.671	2.360	4.276	5.339	4.058	4.133	9.453	1.884	3.135	9.811	57.945			
Goodwill		80					12			218			-831		-521	-0,9	4	
Changes in consolidated group								134							134	0,2		0
R & D, and other self devel/format exp				2.054	191		105							3.982	6.332	10,9		23
PPE-gross value		38				173				-301					-90	-0,2		0
Deprec methods			121	669	831					228	-723		1.834	3.483	6.443	11,1		24
Finance leasing (lesse)	3			306				-722		-387					-800	-1,4	7	
Finance leasing (lessor)														1.962	1.962	3,4		7
Inventories			92	691							888			653	2.324	4.0		8
Orders by completion stage							-119		185				271		337	0.6		1
AR, AP, Cash		27		169	-431	-20					274				19	0.0		0
Financial instruments other				-1.074	258		113							897	194	0.3	-2	
Pensions		-74	-274		-3.544	-312	-221	-1.088	-591	-217	-3.250	-65	-358	-633	-10.627	-18.3	87	
Other provisions/deferred income		34	28	673	1.089	5	101	202	185		313		174	2.022	4.826	8.3	.	18
Deferred taxes		74	17	723	835	217	89	568	347	892	2.282		-92	-1.345	4.607	8.0		17
Translation reserve			32												32	0.1	0	
Other	17			325				63	-6	-117			-92	283	473	0.8		2
Reclassifications of minority interest	-19				-229				-					-197	-445	-0.8	4	_
RE per IFRS	423	1.481	5.220	9.432	671	2.423	4.356	4.496	4,178	4.449	9.237	1.819	4.041	20.918	73.144	*,*	100	100
TOTAL EFFECT BY COMPANY	1	179	15	4.536	-1.000	63	80	-843	120	316	-216	-65	906	11,107	15,199			
% EFFECT ON HGB RE	0	14	0	93	-60	3	2	-16	3	8	-2	-3	29	113	26			
								-				Total negativ	ve adjustm	ents	-12,168			
												Total positiv	e adjustm	ents	27.366			
															15,199			
Subsequent impacts																		
Application of IAS 36 to 38	Immaterial	Immaterial	Immaterial	N/A	Immaterial	Immaterial	N/A	Immaterial	Immaterial	N/A	N/A	Immaterial	mmaterial	N/A	0			
Application of IAS 39	-1	7	1.434	N/A	393	13	N/A	375	0	-1	-242	96	12	N/A	2.086			
% EFFECT ON HGB RE (1st apl, year)	0	0	27	N/A	59	1	N/A	8	0	0	-3	5	0	N/A	3			
		0			00			0	v	v	0	0	0		v			

APPENDIX B-2

IFRS EFFECTS IN GERMAN DAX COMPANIES (million) - IS

	ADIDAS	ALTANA	BAYER	BMW	D. POST	HENKEL	LINDE	LUFTHANSA	MAN	METRO	RWE	SCHERING	TUI	VOLKSWAGEN	TOTAL	effect on	effect on	effect on
	1.994	1.998	1.994	2.001	1.998	1.996	2.001	1.998	1997/8	1.999	1999/00	1.994	1997/8	2.001		local IS	total Adjst	total Adjst
Net HGB earnings	128	161	N/A	1.026	N/A	263	289	N/A	612	365	1.130	350	N/A	N/A	4.324		(negative)	(positive)
Goodwill		-10					-6			89					73	2		5
R&D and other intangible assets		33		236			8								277	6		18
Inventories and long term contracts-Cost of sales				69			-33		92		15				143	3		g
Deprec methods PPE		8		198		69	-17			30	411				699	16		46
Finance leasing				242						-1					241	6		16
AR/liabilities - revenue				55					-83						-28	-1	3	
Pensions						-11				-25	-111				-147	-3	13	
Other provisions		11		-485							104				-370	-9	34	
Financial instruments				56											56	1		4
Deferred taxes		-27		-186		-37	-15			-131	-154				-550	-13	50	
Income taxes (tax loss carryforward)									12						12	0		1
Forex adjustments	-5														-5	0	0	
Minority profit share	-3														-3	0	0	
Other	-3			-2			20			-22	20				13	0		1
Net earnings per IFRS	<u>117</u>	176		1.209		284	246		<u>633</u>	<u>305</u>	<u>1.415</u>	350			4.735		100	100
Net effect on P&L	-11	15		183		21	-43		21	-60	285	0			411	1		
% of adjustments on net HGB earnings	-9	9		18		8	-15		3	-16	25	0			10			
												Total neg	ative effect	S	-1.103			
												Total pos	itive effects	5	1.514			
												Net effect	s		411			

APPENDIX C-1

IFRS EFFECTS IN GERMAN CHEMICAL AND PHARMACEUTICAL QUOTED COMPANIES (million @ -RETAINED EARNINGS

									70	70	70
									effect on	effect on	effect on
	ALTANA	BAYER	HENKEL	LINDE	SCHERING	STADA	WELLA	TOTAL	HGB RE	total Adjst	total Adjst
Year 1st aplication	1.998	1.994	1.997	2.001	1.994	2.001	1.999		_	(negative)	(positive)
RE per HGB	1.302	5.205	2.360	4.276	1.884	202	474	15.703			
Goodwill	80			12		40		132	0,8		10
R & D, and other self devel/format exp				105		13		118	0,8		9
Deprec methods	38	121	173					332	2,1		25
Inventories/ Orders by competion stage		92		-119			-1	-28	-0,2	3	
AR, AP, Cash	27		-20			6	-61	-48	-0,3	5	
Financial instruments other				113				113	0,7		8
Pensions	-74	-274	-312	-221	-65	-1		-947	-6,0	91	
Other provisions/deferred income	34	28	5	101			-63	105	0,7		8
Deferred taxes	74	17	217	89		-4	83	476	3,0		36
Conversion reserve		32						32	0,2		2
Other						-1	31	30	0,2		2
Reclassifications of minority interest							-18	-18	-0,1	2	
RE per IFRS	<u>1.481</u>	<u>5.220</u>	<u>2.423</u>	4.356	<u>1.819</u>	<u>255</u>	<u>445</u>	<u>15.999</u>		100	100
TOTAL EFFECT BY COMPANY	179	15	63	80	-65	53	-29	296	1		
% EFFECT ON HGB RE	14	0	3	2	-3	26	-6	2			
	-				Total negat	ive adjust	ments	-1.042			
					Total positi	ve adjustr	nents	1.337			
					Net adjustn	nents		296			
									-		
Subsequent impacts											
Application of IAS 36 to 38	Immaterial	Immaterial	Immaterial	N/A	Immaterial	N/A	N/A	0			
Application of IAS 39	7	1.434	13	N/A	96	N/A	3	1.553			
% EFEECT ON HCB RE (1st and year)	0	27	1	NI/A	5	NI/A	1	10	1		

Application of IAS 36 to 38 Application of IAS 39 % EFFECT ON HGB RE (1st apl. year)

VIRTUS

147

%

РАЗДЕЛ 4 УГОЛОК ПРАКТИКА

SECTION 4 PRACTITIONER'S CORNER

HOW INDEPENDENT SHOULD THE BOARD BE? CORPORATE BOARD STRUCTURE FROM A VOTING PERSPECTIVE

Haiying Huang*

Abstract

This paper proposes a model of corporate voting in which private information and individual preferences of board directors drive the board decisions. The optimal board structure and optimal firm value are solved numerically and their dependence on director and firm characteristics are studied. The optimal board structure is determined by outside and inside directors' relative informedness about the firm, insiders' bias, outsiders' advisory ability as well as the characteristics of the projects that the firm have. Voting rules other than the majority voting rule are considered. It is found that the majority rule often is not the optimal rule and it is optimal for a firm to have more inside directors while adopting a tougher voting rule. By studying strategic voting equilibria theoretically, insights about how board directors vote strategically are also provided.

Keywords: Board Composition, Private Information, Heterogeneous Preferences, Voting Rule, Sincere Voting, Strategic Voting.

* Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL 60208, USA. Email: h-huang1@kellogg.northwestern.edu. The author would like to thank Timothy J. Feddersen, Michael Fishman, Kathleen Hagerty, Donald P. Jacobs, Robert L. McDonald, Alessandro Pavan, and seminar participants at Northwestern for helpful suggestions and comments.

1. Introduction

When the residual claims to a corporation are diffused among many people, it becomes hard for the shareholders to exert their control right on the management of the firm, due to both the difficulty in communication and coordination and the possible conflict of interests. Therefore, as clearly explained in Fama and Jensen (1983), it is the common practice for the shareholders of public modern firms to delegate most of their decision control rights to boards of directors. Corporate boards take on their shoulders such great responsibilities as steering the direction of the corporation, making decisions in mergers and acquisitions and other strategic plans, and firing and hiring of CEO's. For this reason, both researchers and practitioners have been interested in the problem that how corporate boards should be structured so that they protect the best interests of shareholders and maximize the valuation of companies.



Corporate defaults and scandals in 2002 renewed the debates on the functioning of corporate boards. The Congress, through the Sabanes-Oxley act (SOX), and organizations such as the National Association of Corporate Directors and the Business Roundtable, through their publications, made requirement and recommendations on the structure of corporate boards, with one of the best-known recommendation being that corporate boards have a majority of independent directors.

Empirical evidence on the effectiveness of majority-independent boards has been mixed (see endnote 1). In fact, despite the scandals, there are still debates of the effectiveness of the U.S. corporate governance system. Weidenbaum (2005) points out "When it comes to regulating corporate governance, the 'magic of the marketplace' will work just fine". Holmstrom and Kaplan (2003) also casts doubt on the claim that the scandals imply failure of the US corporate governance system.

Theoretical studies on the board structure are therefore useful in clarifying questions about how the board should be constituted. In this work, I construct a model of corporate board based on the following observations.

First, insiders are needed on the board due to their superior knowledge of the firms' operations and projects proposed by CEO's. This is reflected in the model by letting insiders have more accurate private information than outsiders. Secondly, independent directors (outsiders) can provide valuable advice to the CEO, (e.g., see Baker and Gompers (2003) and Lehn, Patro and Zhao (2003)), thanks to their diverse background and expertise. This is reflected in the model by assuming outsiders can improve the distribution of the project that the CEO may propose. Furthermore, outsiders are not influenced by the CEO and their interests are better aligned with shareholders than insiders. This is reflected in the different utility functions of outsiders and insiders. Finally, the board holds a vote to aggregate information and preferences of all directors.

Our first results are about the dependence of optimal board structure and maximum firm value on the characteristics of directors and the firm. These results come with intuitive explanations. For example, the more knowledgeable outsiders are, the more outsiders are needed in the optimal board composition, and the greater the firm value is.

The next result is about the optimal voting rule. Instead of assuming only majority rule, the model can be used to study what is the optimal voting rule for the board. It turns out that majority rule is often not the best. It is often optimal to have a tougher voting rule, which would require more directors to vote yes for the CEO-proposed project to be accepted. And under such a voting rule, the number of insiders are more than that under the majority rule and the firm value increases substantially.

Finally, I carry out a preliminary study of strategic voting for corporate boards. In spirit, the last part is related to theories of games with private information and the strategic voting literature in economics and political sciences (e.g., Austen-Smith and Banks (1996) and Feddersen and Pesendorfer (1997)). I obtain existence of equilibrium and show that in a strategic voting equilibrium, insiders will take a more biased stand and outsiders will take a tougher stand toward the CEO.

In a theoretical and experimental study, Gillette, Noe and Rebello (2003) constructs an information revealing equilibrium by introducing penalties on insiders if their votes differ. Another theoretical work by Raheja (2004) introduces the possibility to succeed the current CEO as an incentive for insiders to reveal information. Their models all assume that insiders have full information and outsiders have no information.

What's new in my approach is that private information of both outsiders and insiders are quantified and are both valuable to the firm. Furthermore, each director votes individually based on private information. So my model put more emphasis on the role of the voting procedure in aggregating information both from insiders and outsiders. This focus is motivated by the observation that no deliberation before voting can eliminate the differences in opinions and preferences of the directors (for example, think about legal or political debates) and thus individual voting is ultimately an important way to express specific opinions. My model also considers the advisory role together with the independence of outsiders.

In an interesting paper, Hermalin and Weisbach (1998) formulate a model that gives board structure as the result of negotiations of existing directors with CEO's, where the bargaining power of the CEO comes from his perceived ability relative to replacement candidates. My model focuses on the internal interactions of the board, instead of the relation between the board and the CEO and thus is complementary to their study.

The structure of this paper is as follows. Section 2 introduces the model setup. Section 3 presents the main results on optimal board composition and optimal voting rules. Section 4 introduces the concept of strategic voting. Section 5 gives theoretical results on strategic voting equilibria. Section 6 concludes.

2. The Model

I will consider a model of the board making a decision on a project proposed by the CEO (see endnote 2). This will cover many of the typical board tasks. This is a two-period model. For simplicity, I assume that everyone (directors and shareholders) is riskneutral and the interest rate is 0. In the first period, the CEO proposes a project, which will generate a cash flow s > 0 in the second period. S is not known precisely to any person. However, in the first period, each director *i* receives a private signal *ti* about *s*. The board then meets together to make decision on



the project, each member casting her vote based on her individual information and preference. The decision is then made according to the majority rule (see endnote 3): if at least half of the directors accept the project, then the project is passed; otherwise, it is rejected.

Before I go into further details of the model, I want to plot out the main features of the model here. Aside from the CEO himself, the other directors are divided into two classes: outsiders (or independent directors) and insiders (or inside directors). From the perspective of firm value maximization, outside and inside directors both have their advantages and drawbacks.

Outside board directors can offer important advice to the management based on their specific expertise, and they are the key in ensuring an independent opinion of the board from the CEO; their disadvantage is that they lack the in-depth knowledge of the firm that insiders and CEO have. Having a superior knowledge of the firm's operations and prospects than outsiders, insiders in the board can contribute to a sensible decision of the board; however, their positions in the firm imply that they would generally not want to ruffle the feathers of CEO's and that will be a problem when the CEO proposes a money-losing project (which can bring private benefits to the CEO either through perks, empirebuilding motives or career embellishments). Since outsiders and insiders have distinct objectives and furthermore, each director has her individual private information, it is only through the voting procedure that their information and preferences are aggregated into a decision of the board as a whole (see endnote 4).

The questions are: given the above consideration, what will be the optimal composition of a board? How the optimal composition is affected by the various factors? Answers to these questions will not only shed light on how regulators should make corporate governance laws, but also provide predictions for empiricists to test. The following gives details of the model setup.

2.1. The Project and the CEO

A project generates a deterministic cash flow s if the project is accepted and implemented. If the project is rejected, the firm has cash flow 0. The project proposed by the CEO has distribution

 $s \sim N(\mu_0, \sigma_0^2),$

i.e., the CEO may have proposed a project with any cash flow *s* from the normal distribution. μ_0 is the expected payoff among all the projects. The cash flow *s* can be either positive or negative, reflecting the CEO's ability and private preference. The standard deviation σ_0 reflects the range of possible projects that the CEO may propose. Assume that '0 has the the following form,

$$\mu_0 = m_0 (1 - \frac{1}{1 + n_B}),$$

where m0 > 0 is a constant and nB is the number of outsiders. Note here μ_0 is increasing with nB, but the marginal increase to μ_0 becomes smaller as nBgets larger. This is motivated by the following. Outside board members can make advice that complements the CEO's knowledge. This advisory role of outsiders increases the "goodness" of the projects that the CEO may propose by increasing μ_0 . However, as the number of outsiders get larger, the increase to project value due to advisory roles of outsiders are likely to decrease. The constant m0 can be thought of as the indicator of outsiders' advisory abilities.

2.2. Insiders

There are *nA* insiders (in addition to the CEO) (see endnote 5), labeled by $i \in \{1, ..., n_A\}$. Each insider has a private signal *ti* of the project

 $t_i = s + \varepsilon_i, \quad \varepsilon_i \sim N(0, \sigma_A^2)$

Hence an insider's information is unbiased and the noisiness of the signal is σ_B . The smaller σ_B is, the more knowledgeable the insider is about the project. Let *{Accept;Reject}* denote the events that the project gets accepted, or rejected respectively. Although they receive unbiased signals, insiders have biases toward the CEO, which is reflected in their utility functions. Insider *j*'s utility function is given by.

$$U_i(Accept; t_i) = E[s+b|t_i] = b + E[s|t_i],$$

and $U_i(Reject; t_i) = 0$

Here b > 0 is a constant and represents the bias of insiders toward the CEO. An insider will OK the CEO's project as long as his perception of the expected cash flow $\bar{s} = E[s|t_i] \ge -b$, i.e., if he thinks that the project will not lose money by more than b dollars.

2.3. Outsiders

There are nB independent directors, labeled by $j \in \{n_A + 1, \dots, n_A + n_B\}$. $n = n_A + n_{Bis}$ the

total number of directors in addition to the CEO. Each outsider receives a private signal *tj* about the project

 $t_j = s + \varepsilon_j, \quad \varepsilon_j \sim N(0, \sigma_B^2)$

In general, $\sigma_B > \sigma_A$ so that insiders have more accurate information about the project than outsiders.

Outsiders' utilities are completely aligned with those of shareholders, i.e., they maximize firm values (see endnote 6). The utility function of outsider i is

$$U_j(Accept; t_j) = E[s|t_j], \text{ and } U_j(Reject; t_j) = 0$$



In contrast with insiders, an outsider will OK the project only if her estimate of the expected cash $flow^{E[s|t_j]} \ge 0$. In addition to being unbiased in judgment, outsiders contribute to the firm in their advisory role, as summarized in (1).

2.4. Valuation of the Firm

Without loss of generality, assume the firm has a single project and the project is the only source of cash flow of the firm. In making decision on the project, the directors cast votes simultaneously and each director votes according to his/her own private information. Therefore, from above and the Bayesian updating formula for normal distributions, an insider i votes for the project if and only if

 $E[s|t_i] = \frac{\sigma_0^2 t_i + \sigma_A^2 \mu_0}{\sigma_0^2 + \sigma_A^2} \ge -b$

i.e.

$$t_i \ge \mu_A = -\mu_0 \frac{\sigma_A^2}{\sigma_0^2} - b(1 + \frac{\sigma_A^2}{\sigma_0^2})$$

Similarly, an outsider *j* will vote for the project if and only if

$$t_j \ge \mu_B = -\mu_0 \frac{\sigma_B^2}{\sigma_0^2}$$

The project is accepted if and only if at least half of the directors vote for the project (see endnote 7). Hence the event the project getting accepted is

$$\begin{aligned} Accept(t_1, \dots, t_n) &= \{ \#\{i : t_i \ge \mu_A, 1 \le i \le n_A \} + \\ \#\{j : t_j \ge \mu_B, n_A + 1 \le j \le n = n_A + n_B \} \ge \frac{n}{2} \} \end{aligned}$$

The firm's value is then given by (as there is no cash flow if the project is rejected)

 $U = U(n_A, n_B; \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, m_0, \sigma_0) = E[s \cdot \mathbf{1}_{Accept(t_1, \dots, t_n)}]$

3. Optimal Board Composition

After setting up the model of a corporate board, the central question that concerns us is to find the optimal board composition that maximizes the firm value. To be precise, we want to solve the following problem.

$$\begin{split} U^* &= U^*(n, \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, m_0, \sigma_0) = \\ \max_{n_A} U(n_A, n_B; \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, m_0, \sigma_0) \\ \text{s.t.} \ n_A + n_B &= n \end{split}$$

Let $n_A^* = n_A^*(n, \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, m_0, \sigma_0)_{be}$ the optimal number of inside directors, fixing other parameters and the size of the board (see endnote 8). The analytical expression of the firm value in (6) is a very complicated multiple integral as the cash flow *s* and the private signals *ti* are correlated random variables. This expression can be written down explicitly but solving the optimization problem (7) using this formula seems impossible. However, the firm value is an expected value and the Monte Carlo method is

well-suited to find such values when there are no easy-to-calculate explicit formula.

Therefore, for a set of parameters $(n, \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, m_0, \sigma_0)$, I solve problem (7) by computing the firm value U for each choice of composition nA by Monte Carlo methods and then finding the maximum value U^* at $n_A = n_A^*$.

In the following, I first report the optimal board composition for a typical set of parameters. Then, I investigate the effects of changing the characteristics of the firm and the directors on the optimal board. Throughout the analysis, we should keep in mind that an optimal board composition will balance the benefits and costs of having insiders and outsiders.

3.1. Choice of Parameters and Methodo- logy

The following table gives my choice of the parameters for the base case and the solution to the optimal board composition problem (7).

U^*	n_A^*	n	σ_A	σ_B	b	m_0	σ_0
0.852	4	10	0.5	2	0.5	0.2	2

The board size *n* (excluding the CEO) is fixed at 10, based on the fact that an average corporate board in the U.S. has 11 members. The accuracy of insiders' and outsiders' information are fixed by setting $\sigma_A = 0.5 < \sigma_B = 2$, meaning insiders have better information about the project than outsiders. The bias of the insider is set at b = 0.5 (if b is too large, then insiders are of no use to the board, as we shall see later). The prior distribution of projects have mean

 $\mu_0 = m_0 \left(1 - \frac{1}{n_B + 1}\right) = 0.2 \left(1 - \frac{1}{n_B + 1}\right)_{\text{and variance}} \sigma_0 = 2$. Here *m*0 is taken at a value so that outsiders have reasonable advisory abilities and $\sigma_0 = 2$ is close to σ_A and σ_B so that the prior distribution have some effects but will not have too much effects on the decision of directors (see endnote 9).

For each *nA*, I simulate N = 100000 observations of the cash flow and directors' private information $\{s, t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_3\}$ based on their joint distribution. In each observation $1 \le k \le N$, whether the project is accepted or not (1Accept;k) is computed and then by Monte Carlo method, the firm value is computed as

$$U(n_A) = E[\mathbf{1}_{Accept}s] = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} s_k \cdot \mathbf{1}_{Accept,k}$$

 U^{x} and $n^{x}A$ are then computed by maximizing U(nA) over nA = 0; ::; n = 10. Next, I will present the effects of changes in firm and director characteristics on the optimal board composition and optimal firm value.

3.2. Informedness of outsiders

More knowledge about the firms' operations of outsiders increases the attractiveness of having more



outsiders sitting on board. Outsiders may be more informed about the firm's operations if they work or have worked in related industries, have sat in the board of other firms in related industries, or have related education background. On the other hand, if outsiders have never had experiences directly related to the firm's specialized field, they will have less knowledge about projects of the firm.

Figure 1 shows the optimal board composition and optimal firm value at different levels of informedness of the outsiders. First, clearly, the firm value (U^{x}) and the optimal number of outsiders (10 $n^{x}A$) increase with the informedness of outsiders ($1/\sigma_B$). Second, note that it is optimal to have no insiders on the board if outsiders have comparable knowledge about the project with insiders. In fact, in Figure 1, if $\sigma_B < 1.4$ (recall that $\sigma_A = 0.5$), the optimal board would be all outsiders. The intuition is simple: when outsiders are about as knowledgeable as insiders, insiders are strictly worse than outsiders due to their biases in preferences.

Third, note that although when outsiders get less informed ($^{\sigma}B$ increases), the optimal number of outsiders decreases, it does not decrease to zero. This is because outsiders have advisory abilities, which cannot be replaced by insiders' more accurate infor-

3.3. Informedness of insiders

mation, no matter how many insiders we add.

Insiders' knowledge about the firm's operations are likely to be better than outsiders in general. The extent of an insider's informedness about the firm may depend on the number of years he has worked in the firm or related firms, his rank and position in the company, his educational background as well as his particular capabilities and achievements. Figure 2 displays the effects of insiders' knowledge about the project on the optimal board composition and the firm value. Firms with more knowledgeable insiders, ceteris paribus, would have an optimal board structure with a higher proportion of insiders. Firm's value also increases with the extent of knowledge of insiders, everything else equal. Intuitions for these facts are similar to those for the effects of outsiders' informedness.

3.4. Bias of insiders

The tendency of insiders to uphold the decision of the CEO can depend on the degree of entrenchment of the CEO, the private benefits to insiders from the project, the concern about the overall health of the company, and the moral characters of insiders. Figure 3 shows the dependence of optimal board composition and firm value on the bias of insiders. The more biased insiders are, the less insiders the optimal board will include, and the less the firm value will be. This is because if the inside board directors are more biased, the CEO's proposal will get passed with higher probability. While some good projects get passed more frequently, which is good for the company, the increase in the probability that a bad project get passed is greater. Thus, the overall effect of increased insiders' biasedness on the firm value is negative and this will cause the optimal board to admit fewer insiders.

3.5. Advisory ability of outsiders

Outsiders have stronger advisory abilities if they have expertise in specialized fields related to the project. By providing advice to the CEO before he make decisions, outsiders can increase the expected profitability of the proposed project. Figure 4 presents the influence of outsiders' advisory function on optimal board structure and the firm's value. The optimal board include more outsiders if they are more capable advisors. However, since the valueenhancing effects of outsiders' advisory role has decreasing returns on the number of outsiders, insiders' superior information is useful when there are already a significant number of outsiders and we do not usually see a board that consists fully of outsiders (see endnote 10).

3.6. Range of available projects

A young, growth, or R&D intensive firm might have a greater range of potential projects to choose from than a mature firm. A wider range of selectable projects can mean both challenge and opportunity. With a capable CEO and an effective board, more profitable projects can be sieved from a wider selection and the firm value is enhanced.

Figure 5 displays the dependence of optimal board composition and firm value on the range of potential projects. The first relationship is not monotone. When the range of projects is very small, the prior knowledge about the project is so precise that insiders' superior information is of little use. Therefore, when the range (σ_0) is small, optimal number of insiders increases with the range. When the range of projects becomes bigger, insiders' information advantage to outsiders becomes less important while insider's bias and outsider's advisory function persist; hence the optimal number of insiders is eventually decreasing with the range. Insiders' superior information is most useful when the range (σ_0) has a moderate value (here around $0.7 \sim 0.8$). Note also from Figure 5 that the firm value is increasing with the range of projects, due to the wider selection of pro-

jects offered by a greater range σ_0 (see endnote 11).

3.7. Flexible voting rules

Majority voting rule is most commonly used in corporate boards. However, other voting rules are not uncommon in reality, e.g., the two-thirds rule in major U.S. Senate decisions and the unanimous rule in jury decisions. So a natural question is, what is the optimal voting rule for corporate boards? Does changing the voting rule help to make the board



more effcient? I define a voting rule to be a number $0 \le \lambda \le 1$. The board makes its decision according to voting rule λ if the project is accepted if and only if at least fraction λ of the board members (aside from the CEO) vote for the project. For example, the majority voting rule would be the voting rule given by $\lambda = 0.5$. And a voting rule $\lambda = 0.6$ in a 10member board (excluding the CEO) would mean that for the project to get accepted, at least 6 board members should vote for the project. This will be a tougher rule than the majority rule from the CEO's point of view. In the flexible voting rules setting, the optimal voting rule λ^* together with the optimal board composition n_A^* are solved. Figure 6 compares the optimal board composition and optimal firm value under the majority voting rule, and under the flexible voting rules. First, we see that the optimal voting rule λ^* is 0.6 for $\sigma_B > 1$, so that the majority voting rule is not optimal when outsiders are not very well informed.

Second, in the optimal board structure, there are more insiders with flexible voting rules than with the majority voting rule. This comes from the following intuition. Under a voting rule $\lambda > 0.5$, the outsiders can veto the project more easily than under the majority rule. Therefore, the negative impact of having more biased insiders on the board are diminished. And due to the positive effect of having more informed insiders, the optimal board will consist of more insiders. Instead of requiring a majority of independent directors on board, we may recommend companies to have a tougher voting rule against the CEO and have more tolerance on the proportion of inside directors. According to the results here, such recommendation will suit the interests of shareholders better. From the second figure in Figure 6, the increase in firm value due to flexible voting rules can be substantial (see endnote 12).

The author also considers the possibility that assigning more voting weights to outsiders than insiders, while maintaining the majority rule, i.e., one vote from an outsider counts more than one vote. This will have somewhat similar effects as the flexible voting rules and indeed produce similar results to above in certain setups (unreported here). However, giving more weight to a director than another seems to be unfair and induce greater incentives for collusion. So it is less practical than allowing flexible voting rules.

4. Strategic Voting

In the setup of the board model, the board members' utility depend on their own private information (see (2) and (3)), but not on the private information of other board members. In other words, we assume board members vote *sincerely*, in the terminology of the voting literature. These assumptions were made to avoid the consideration of complicated equilibrium strategies in games with private information (see

endnote 13). In this section, I will consider the possibility that directors use all available information strategically. To be precise, redefine the utility functions of outsiders and insiders as follows. For an insider i,

$$U_i(Accept; t_i) = E[s + b|Accept, t_i] = b + E[s|Accept, t_i], \text{ and } U_i(Reject; t_i) = 0$$

For an outsider *j*,
$$U_i(Accept; t_i) = E[s|Accept, t_i],$$

and $U_j(Reject; t_j) = 0$

Definition A collection of voting strategies of the board of directors is a *strategic voting equilibrium* if these strategies form a Bayesian Nash Equilibrium, with the utility functions given by (8) and (9).

In strategic voting (pivotal voting), the board members consider the consequences of their voting on the final decision and then on their own utility through the final decision and maximize their expected utility given other members' strategies. Thus, in strategic voting, a board member only cares about the case when he/she is *pivotal*, i.e., when his/her vote changes the final result, given others' votes, because only then his/her action will affect his/her utility. Feddersen and Pesendorfer (1997) shows that strategic voting can fully aggregate information when the number of players goes to infinity and sincere voting does not always aggregate information fully. Therefore, I would like to look at strategic voting equilibrium in the board (see endnote 14).

5. Some results on strategic voting equilibria

In this section I will focus on the existence and properties of the strategic voting equilibria, rather than on the optimal board composition (see endnote 15). The basic assumptions are essentially the same as those in Section 2, except that here I make different assumptions about the distributions of the project's cash flow and private signals of board directors for theoretical convenience. The firm has a project *s* with distribution $s \sim F(s)$. There are $n_A \geq 1$ insiders and $n_B \geq 1$ outsiders on the board and the board votes by majority rule (see endnote 16).

Assumption 1 1) t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_n are independent conditional on *s*.

2) $s, t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_n \in T$, where $T \subset \mathbb{R}$ is bounded.

3) For each *i*, *s* and *ti* satisfy Monotone Likelihood Ratio Property (MLRP).

These are standard assumptions in the theoretical literature. Note that 2) requires that the distributions have bounded support, which is not satisfied by the normal distribution. A (mixed) strategy of director *i* is a function $\pi_i : T \to [0, 1]$. $\pi_i(t_i) = p$ means that *i* vote for the project with probability *p*. A monotone pure strategy is a strategy π_i such that



$$\pi_i(t_i) = \begin{cases} 0, & t_i \le c \\ 1, & t_i > c \end{cases}$$

for some constant c. c is called the cutoff point of the strategy.

Theorem 1 With Assumption 1, there exists a monotone pure strategy strategic voting equilibrium.

The proof uses the usual fixed point theorem. I'll omit it here and refer the reader to the proof in Feddersen and Pesendorfer (1997). A slight modification of their proof will suffice.

Recall that with full information, outsiders will vote for the project if and only if $s \ge 0$, and insiders will vote for the project if and only if $s \ge -b$. For our next result, we need

Assumption 2: There exists 0 < a < b/4 such that for all i, $|t_i - s| < a$.

This assumes that directors have sufficiently accurate signals.

Theorem 2 (1) If nA > nB, then there exists a monotone pure strategy equilibrium in which outsiders always vote sincerely, and insiders use a monotone strategy with a cutoff point $c_A \in (-b - a, -b)$.

(2) If nA < nB, then there exists an equilibrium in which insiders always vote sincerely, and outsiders use a monotone strategy with a cutoff point $c_B \in (0, a)$

(3) If nA = nB, then there exists an equilibrium in which insiders use a monotone strategy with cutoff point $c'_A \in (-b-a, -b)$ and outsiders use a monotone strategy with a cutoff point $c'_B \in (0, a)$.

Proof. 1) Suppose that nA > nB. Consider an outsider *j*. If *j*'s signal *tj* is not in (- *a*; *a*), then by Assumption 2, *j* knows with certainty the sign of *s* (which is the same as the sign of *tj*). Hence *j* will vote according to the sign of *tj* as she needs no further information about the true state *s*. If on the contrary $t_j \in (-a, a)$, then by Assumption 2 *j* knows that^{*s*} $\in (-2a, 2a)$. And *j* also knows that any insider *i*'s signal $t_i > s - a > -3a > -b + a$. Hence *j* knows the project will know with certainty that s > jb and *i* will vote for the project. Now nA > nB, so *j* knows the project will get passed and *j*'s vote doesn't matter. Hence we may assume *j* votes sincerely in this case without harm. In summary, sincere voting will be a best response strategy for *j*.

Now consider an insider *i*. By Assumption 2, he votes sincerely (according to the sign of ti +b) if ti is not in (- b - a; - b + a). When $t_i \in (-b - a, -b + a)$, similar to above, *i* knows that all nB outsiders vote against the project. So *i* is pivotal only when $n_B + k - 1$ or $n_B + k$ other insiders vote against it. He-re $k = [(n_A - n_B)/2]$. But this tells *i* that more insiders voted for than against the project and there is no information from outsiders' voting since they all

vote no here. Hence *i* should accept the project more readily with this additional information and would use a voting strategy with a cutoff point cA < -b.

On the other hand, the cutoff point cA > -b - a, because at ti = -b - a, *i* knows with certainty that the true state $s \leq -b$ and sometimes is greater than *b*, hence he would vote against the project.

2) and 3) may be proved in a similar way. Intuitively, the theorem says that with strategic consideration, the directors adopt a modified voting strategy. Outsiders will adopt a tougher stand in accepting the project and insiders will adopt an easier stand in accepting the project. This kind of phenomena is similar to what happens in negotiations, where both parties of the negotiation initially take stands biased away from their opponents' preferences (see endnote 17).

6. Conclusion

The current work serves as an effort in theoretically modeling the key features of corporate board and study the optimal board composition problem. For further research, it would be interesting to test the predictions of the current model. Indeed, many predictions of this model can already be checked with previous empirical work, e.g., Lehn, Patro and Zhao (2003). One main difficulty in testing such models lies in that we do not know whether firms in the real world choose optimal board structure or not. This problem is partially solved by the methodology of Lehn, Patro and Zhao (2003), in which they look at long-lived firms, which presumably have better governance.

Another difficulty is the measurement and control of the parameters of the model. Suitable proxies should be considered for the various characteristics of board directors and the firm. While the current model incorporate many important factors of corporate board, it is far from complete. The most notable omission is the interaction between the board and the CEO. A natural next step could be to extend the current model to a dynamic model with interactions with CEO, borrowing the ideas of Hermalin and Weisbach (1998). Another possible direction of theoretical extension is further investigation in strategic voting equilibrium, including dynamic models. It is the hope that this work and potential future work in this area will help us, in particular, regulators and business leaders, to understand better the problem of board composition and makebetter regulations and policies.

References

- Austen-Smith, D. and J. Banks, 1996, \Information aggregation, rationality, and the condorcet jury theorem", *American Political Science Review*, 90, 34-45.
- Bhagat, S. and B. Black, 1999, \The Uncertain Relationship between Board Composition and Firm Performance", *Business Lawyer*, 54, 921-963.



- Baker, M. and P. Gompers, 2003, \The Determinants of Board Structure at the Initial Public Offering", *Journal of Law and Economics*, 46, 569-598.
- Demsetz, H. and K. Lehn, 1985, \The Structure of Corporate Ownership: Causes and Consequences", *Journal of Political Economy*, 93 (6), 1155-1177.
- Fama, E. and M. Jensen, 1983, \Separation of Ownership and Control", *Journal of Law and Economics*, 56, 471-500.
- Feddersen, T. J. and W. Pesendorfer, 1997, \Voting behavior and information aggregation in elections with private information", *Econometrica*, 65, 1029-1058.
- Gillete, A.B., T.H. Noe and M.J. Rebello, 2003, (Corporate Board Composition, Protocols, and Voting Behavior: Experimental Evidence", *Journal of Fi-*nance, 58 (5), 1997-2031.

- Holmstrom, B. and S. N. Kaplan, 2003, \The State of U.S. Corporate Governance: What's Right and What's Wrong?", ECGI working paper.
- Hermalin, B.E. and M.S. Weisbach, 1998, \Endogenously Chosen Boards of Directors and their Monitoring of the CEO", *American Economic Review*, 88, 96-118.
- Lehn, K., S. Patro and M. Zhao, 2003, \Determinants of the Size and Structure of Corporate Boards: 1935-2000, working paper.
- 11. Raheja, C.G., 2004, \Determinants of Board Size and Composition: a Theory of Corporate Boards", working paper, Vanderbilt University.
- M. Weidenbaum, \Call Me a SOX Skeptic", Feature Article, Directors and Boards, January 2005, available at http:// directorsandboards.com/ DBEBRIE-FING/January2005/Feature105.html.

Endnotes

1. See Bahgat and Black (1999) for example.

2. While one can imagine that it might be better for the CEO to propose several alternatives and the board selects

the best of them, it is more commonly the case that CEO makes a proposal and the board then makes a yes-or-no decision. 3. The majority rule seems to be the norm for most board decisions. Later I will discuss the possibility of allowing flexible voting rules and its implications.

4. One can imagine other mechanisms of decision-making, say, a game of information revealing and negotiation, and equilibria can be studied in that setting. However, in reality, voting is the preferred mechanism. Voting also has the benefit of being a simple and clean mechanism in multi-person decision making.

5. Since the CEO always vote yes for the project he proposed, we exclude the CEO in the following consideration.

6. Here I ignore the possible agency conflicts between debtholders and shareholders. With such agency conflicts, the board, in maximizing shareholder values, may not be maximizing the firm value. However, this is a secondary issue when we consider optimal board composition and will not affect my argument.

7. For simplicity, assume that n = nA + nB is even, so when there is a tie, the CEO will break the tie and pass the project. The assumption about tie-breaking does not affect the results.

8. In fact, I do not consider any size related costs here, hence a bigger board is always better than a smaller board in my model as there will be more accurate information aggregation. As pointed out in other theoretical and empirical studies (e.g., Lehn et al (2003) and Reheja (2004)), there are size-related costs, such as coordination and free-riding costs. It is easy to extend my model to consider such costs and study optimal board sizes. Such studies are likely to confirm the stylized results. For simplicity, I focus on the composition of board here and keep board size n = nA+nB fixed.

9. Despite the arbitrary nature of the choice of the base parameters, the qualitative results on board composition do not depend on these particular choices.

10. An all-outsider board can be optimal if insiders are too biased to be of any benefits to the board; such a situation may happen but is likely to be rare.

11. Here σ_0 should not be confused with the volatility of a project's cash flow. In fact, each project's cash flow is deterministic, and σ_0 (roughly) represents the range of *all* possible projects.

12. Of course, such recommendations have to be based on relating the parameters in my model to realistic settings. Nevertheless, this points to the possibility of increasing the effectiveness of corporate boards by relaxing the requirements on boards, e.g., by SOX.

13. See Austen-Smith and Banks (1996) for a very nice introduction to strategic voting.

14. However, we should keep in mind that sincere voting is more robust than strategic voting; each board member's decision depends only on his/her opinion and hence is not subject to errors of estimation of parameters of the game. So in reality, considering the difficulty of measuring the parameters precisely, the board of directors may well be voting sincerely. This is also the reason why this paper is mainly focused on sincere voting results. Whether home strategic voting behaviors actually happen in the board room is an empirical issue.

15. The optimal board composition under strategic voting is a more tricky problem as there could be multiple equilibria.

16. Note that in a board with all insiders or all outsiders, everyone will vote sincerely in the equilibrium as they have the same preferences. Hence to study strategic voting I assume there are both outsiders and insiders on the board.

17. Although Assumption 2 is required in the proof of Theorem 2, there is reason to believe that this kind of phenomenon is quite common in strategic voting equilibrium. This is confirmed by unreported Monte Carlo computation of the strategic equilibria.

VIRTUS NTERPRESS®

Appendices

Figure 1: Effects of informedness of outsiders

This figure examines the dependence of the optimal number of insiders (n_A^*) and the optimal firm value (U^*) on the informedness (σ_B) of outsiders about the firm's project. The other parameters of the model are the same as in the base case (see Section 3.1), $(n, \sigma_A, b, m_0, \sigma_0) = (10, .5, .5, .2, 2)$.



Figure 3: Effects of insiders' bias

This figure examines the dependence of the optimal number of insiders (n_A^*) and the project value (U^*) on the bias of insiders (b). The other parameters of the model are the same as in the base case (see Section 3.1), $(n, \sigma_A, \sigma_B, m_0, \sigma_0) = (10, .5, .2, .2, .2)$.



Figure 5: Effects of range of selectable projects

This figure examines the dependence of the optimal number of insiders (n_A^*) and the project value (U^*) on the range of possible projects (σ_0) . The other parameters of the model are the same as in the base case (see Section 3.1), $(n, \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, m_0) = (10, .5, 2, .5, .2)$.



Figure 2: Effects of informedness of insiders

This figure examines the dependence of the optimal number of insiders (n_A^*) and the project value (U^*) on the informedness of insiders (σ_A) . The other parameters of the model are the same as in the base case (see Section 3.1), $(n, \sigma_B, b, m_0, \sigma_0) = (10, 2, .5, .2, 2)$.



Figure 4: Effects of advisory ability of outsiders

This figure examines the dependence of the optimal number of insiders (n_A^*) and the project value (U^*) on the advisory ability of outsiders (m_0) . The other parameters of the model are the same as in the base case (see Section 3.1), $(n, \sigma_A, \sigma_B, b, \sigma_0) = (10, .5, 2, .5, 2)$.



Figure 6: Comparing the majority voting rule with flexible voting rules

This figure compares the dependence of the optimal board composition and optimal firm value on the informedness of outsiders σ_B , under the majority voting rule and flexible voting rules settings. The other parameters of the model are the same as in the base case, $(n, \sigma_A, b, m_0, \sigma_0) =$ (10, .5, .5, .2, 2).





РАЗДЕЛ 5 НОВОСТИ КОРПОРАТИВНОГО МИРА

SECTION 5 CORPORATE WORLD NEWS

USA

January 2006. Board Analyst reports that median Total Board Compensation was \$801,500 for the 2,000 of the largest US corporations based on proxies filed through November 2005, up 19.62% between 2003/04 and fiscal 2004/05. Compensation for individual directors is up 16.5%.

January 2006. The SEC is likely to propose rules requiring discolsure of:

- A total compensation figure for executives
- Dollar value of stock options for top execs in summary conpensation table
- All perks if the total aggregate value is \$10,000 or more (instead of \$50,000 or 10% of total annual salary and bonus)
- Dollar amount of payments agreed to for future change in control or responsibilities
- Table to cover details of retirement plans, including annual payments and benefits
- Director compensation table, similar to exec compensation table, to comprise all payments received by directors in a given year

January 2006. The National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) has released the Report of its twelfth Blue Ribbon Commission, which was chaired by Weil Gotshal senior partner E. Norman Veasey, retired Chief Justice of the Delaware Supreme Court. The Report, entitled Director Liability: Myths, Realities, and Prevention, provides guidance and reassurance to conscientious corporate directors in three major ways:

- clarifying the risks attendant to serving on a board by dispelling common myths about liability, explaining the legal framework in which liability is determined and exploring the ways that directors can serve effectively while protecting against liability risks;
- explicating board roles, organization, information flow and processes that will help directors to navigate the current liability environment to meet and exceed compliance requirements; and
- describing specific best practices that directors may consider adopting to guide their conduct at various stages of board service.

UK

January 2006. London Business School and Oracle announced a center for corporate governance to lead international thinking and serve the needs of business and policymakers. The new center is backed by Oracle, Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer and Prudential, and aims to provide independent research and recommendations of value to policy makers, corporations, investors and other interest groups. The center will examine contentious issues surrounding corporate governance, including shareholder activism, measuring CEO and board effectiveness, valuing corporate social responsibility, and the new demands on boards and how these demands can be improved by information management and systems.

European Union

January 2006. The European Commission has presented a proposal for a Directive to facilitate the cross-border exercise of shareholders' rights in listed companies, through the introduction of minimum standards. The proposed Directive seeks to ensure that shareholders, no matter where in the EU they reside, have timely access to complete information and simple means to exercise certain rights – notably voting rights – at a distance. On average, about one third of the share capital of EU listed companies is held by non-residents.

Japan

January 2006. Wharton finance professors Ayako Yasuda and Franklin Allen write about changes in Japanese corporate governance in How Two Young Japanese Internet Companies Are Shaking Up Corporate Governance in Japan. Japan's Pension Fund Association voted against 25% of all proposals at shareholders' meetings in the past year. Whereas 46% of all listed Japanese equities were held as cross-shareholdings by related companies in 1992. By 2004, cross-shareholdings had dropped to 24%. During the same period, equities held by foreigners rose from 6% to 22%.



SUBSCRIPTION FORM

TO "CORPORATE OWNERSHIP & CONTROL" AND "CORPORATE BOARD: ROLE, DUTIES & COMPOSITION"

Copy this form and follow guidelines to fill it up. I would like to buy (underline what you choose):

For individual subscribers:

1. Journal of Corporate Ownership & Control:

- 1.1. Printed version of the journal and version on CD US\$228 / €210.
- 1.2. Printed version of the journal and its electronic version US\$198 / €190.
- 1.3. Printed version of the journal US\$188 / €180.
- 1.4. Version on CD US\$140 / €130.
- 1.5. Electronic version US\$125 / €120.
- 2. "Corporate Board: role, duties & composition":
 - 2.1. Printed version of the journal and version on CD US\$210 / €200.
 - 2.2. Printed version of the journal US\$165 / €160.
 - 2.3. Version on CD US\$102 / €95.
 - 2.4. Electronic version US\$95 / €90.

For institutional subscribers:

1. Journal of Corporate Ownership & Control:

- 1.1. Printed version of the journal and version on CD US\$590 / €570.
- 1.2. Printed version of the journal US\$518 / €510.
- 1.3. Printed version of volume 3, and back issues of volume 2 US\$780 / €740.
- 1.3. Version on CD US\$300 / €282.
- 2. "Corporate Board: role, duties & composition":
 - 2.1. Printed version of the journal and version on CD US\$480 / €460.
 - 2.2. Printed version of the journal US\$460 / €430.
 - 2.3. Version on CD US\$290 / €260.

Underline one of the payment methods you prefer, and write amount to pay (if you prefer, you can pay by one cheque/bank transfer to subscribe to both journals):

1. I enclose a cheque for US/

2. Send me an invoice for US\$ / €_____ (indicate currency correctly).

Write your contact details here:

 Name______

 Position______

 Institution______

 Address_______

 E-mail_______

 Tel_______

 Fax_______

 Places_send this form (with a shaque if you prefer to pay by shaque) at:

Please, send this form (with a cheque if you prefer to pay by cheque) at:

Dr. Alexander Kostyuk Publishing house "Virtus Interpress" Kirova Str. 146/1, office 20 Sumy 40021 Ukraine

Ask for invoice by fax at +38-542-288365 (if you want to pay by bank transfer).

Enter our web-site to download the subscription form at www.virtusinterpress.org.

If you prefer, you can subscribe through our global subscription agent – SWETS INFORMATION SERVICES. Purchase of the journal in Italy can be done either directly at us or through our representative *Globo Libri*. Via Piacenza, 187 r. Genova, 16168, Italy.

